# World Journal of Biological Chemistry

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 1-101





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

# World Journal of Biological Chemistry

A peer-reviewed, online, open-access journal of biological chemistry

## Editorial Board

2014-2017

The *World Journal of Biological Chemistry* Editorial Board consists of 473 members, representing a team of worldwide experts in biochemistry and molecular biology. They are from 47 countries, including Argentina (1), Australia (9), Austria (4), Belgium (5), Brazil (10), Canada (12), Chile (1), China (44), Cyprus (1), Czech Repoublic (1), Egypt (3), Finland (1), France (16), Germany (12), Greece (6), Hungary (1), India (8), Iran (3), Ireland (1), Israel (7), Italy (36), Jamaica (1), Japan (27), Jordan (1), Lebanon (1), Malaysia (2), Mauritius (1), Mexico (2), Netherlands (1), New Zealand (3), Norway (2), Pakistan (1), Poland (1), Portugal (3), Puerto Rico (1), Qatar (1), Romania (1), Russia (6), Singapore (2), South Korea (32), Spain (21), Sweden (3), Turkey (1), United Arab Emirates (1), United Kingdom (18), United States (157), Venezuela (1).

#### EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Jingfang Ju, Stony Brook

#### GUEST EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Kuan-Chih Chow, *Taichung* Yi-Ren Hong, *Kaohsiung* Kuei-Sen Hsu, *Tainan* Wei-Chien Huang, *Taichung* Chi-Ching Hwang, *Kaohsiung* Jiiang-Huei Jeng, *Taipei* Jyh-Cherng Ju, *Taichung* Po-Lin Kuo, *Kaohsiung* Hsin-Chen Lee, *Taipei* Yung-Feng Liao, *Taipei* Ho Lin, *Taichung* Song-Kun Shyue, *Taipei* Yeu Su, *Taipei* Chih-Hsin Tang, *Taichung* Chuen-Mao Yang, *Kwei-San* 

#### MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL BOARD



Angel Catala, La Plata

\* • Australia

Tracey J Brown, *Melbourne* Russell Diefenbach, *Westmead* Sue M Firth, *St Leonards* Hong He, *Melbourne* Nijat Imin, *Canberra* Evan Ingley, *Perth*  Kuldip S Sidhu, Sydney Hong You, Herston Xiaoqing Zhang, Melbourne



Martin Gauster, Graz Alfons Lawen, Melbourne Roland Malli, Graz Guenther Witzany, Buermoos



#### Belgium

Han Asard, Antwerp Teresinha Leal, Brussels Philippe AG Lysy, Brussels Dirk Saerens, Brussel Ive De Smet, Gent



Celio G Freire-De-Lima, Rio de Janeiro Vanessa M Freitas, Sao Paulo Jorg Kobarg, Campinas Lucia Mendonca-Previato, Rio de Janeiro Rossana CN Melo, Juiz de Fora Pedro M Pimentel-Coelho, Rio de Janeiro Rodrigo Resende, Belo Horizonte Martha Ribeiro, Sao Paulo André Santos, Rio de Janeiro Adriane R Todeschini, Rio de Janeiro



Stephane M Gagne, Quebec

Ashok K Grover, Hamilton Simon Labbe, Sherbrooke Hoyun Lee, Sudbury Ki-Young Lee, Calgary Clifford A Lingwood, Toronto Marek Michalak, Edmonton Anie Philip, Montreal David Picketts, Ottawa Danuta Radzioch, Montreal Zhixiang Wang, Edmonton Xi-Long Zheng, Calgary



Maria-Paz Marzolo, Santiago



Xin-Bo Chen, Changsha Yiu-Loon Chui, Hong Kong Yong-Ping Cui, Taiyuan Hai-Hua Gu, Wenzhou Qing-Hua Hu, Wuhan Hong Jiang, Qingdao Wing Hung Ko, Hong Kong Jung Joon Lee, Yanji Stephanie Ma, Hong Kong Guan-Bin Song, Chongqing Hai-Han Song, Shanghai Xue-Jun Sun, Shanghai Kai-Fu Tang, Wenzhou Hai-Yang Wang, Beijing Hong-Xia Wang, Beijing Ping Wang, Shanghai Kong-Ming Wu, Wuhan Xing-Zhong Wu, Shanghai Shu-Yang Xie, Yantai



Xing-Zhi Xu, Beijing Wei-Hua Yan, Linhai Jin-Liang Yang, Chengdu Yi Yu, Wuhan Jian-Bo Yue, Hong Kong Wei-Yuan Zhang, Beijing Xue-Wu Zhang, Guangzhou Guang-Hua Zhao, Beijing Xiao-Fei Zheng, Beijing Xiao-Feng Zheng, Beijing



Apostolos Zaravinos, Nicosia



Michal Stros, Brno



Tarek Aboul-Fadl, *Assiut* Heba F Pasha, *Zagazig* El-Refaie Kenawy, *Tanta* 



Tiina A Salminen, Turku



Ez-Zoubir Amri, Nice Hèlène Baubichon-Cortay, Lyon Stephane Dedieu, Reims Jean Demarquoy, Dijon Sylvie Friant, Strasbourg Philippe Gervois, Lille Kamel Laghmani, Paris Patrick Legembre, Rennes Maxime Lehmann, Illkirch Dominique Leprince, *Lille* Florian Lesage, Valbonne Luciano Pirola, Oullins-Marc Poirot, Toulouse Harald Putzer, Paris Mohamed Rholam, Paris Marylin Vantard, Grenoble

#### Germany

Patrick C Baer, Frankfurt Maik Behrens, Nuthetal Klaus Brandenburg, Borstel Peter Brenneisen, Düsseldorf Frank G Echtermeyer, Hannover Martin Gotte, Münster Thomas Günther, Freiburg Dirk Heitzmann, Münster Matthias Ocker, Berlin Mehdi Shakibaei, Munich Tanja Waldmann, Konstanz Robert Weissert, Regensburg



Vassilis Bouriotis, Heraklion Theodora Choli-Papadopoulou, Thessaloniki Hippokratis Kiaris, Athens Paraskevi Moutsatsou, Athens Despina Sanoudou, Athens Photini-Effie C Tsilibary, Agia Paraskevi





Santasabuj Das, Kolkata Jimut K Ghosh, Lucknow Gangenahalli U Gurudutta, Delhi Sunil K Lal, New Delhi MRS Rao, Bangalore Charu Sharma, Chandigarh S Shivaji, Hyderabad Shio K Singh, Varanasi

India



Mohammad Hashemi, Zahedan Seyed J Mowla, Tehran Zohreh Rahimi, Kermanshah

Iran





Sharona Even-Ram, Jerusalem Yona Kassir, Haifa Shaul Mordechai, Beer Sheva Zvi Naor, Tel Aviv Drorit Neumann, Tel Aviv Yaakov Pollack, Beer-Sheva Saul Yedgar, Jerusalem



Elena Adinolfi, Ferrara Andrea Battistoni, Roma Annamaria Bevilacqua, Milan Santina Bruzzone, Genova Donatella Del Bufalo, Rome Gaetano Cairo, Milano Vittorio Calabrese, Catania Nazzareno Capitanio, Foggia Clotilde Castaldo, Naples Melchiorre Cervello, Palermo Fabrizio Chiti, Firenze Silvia Deaglio, Turin Rosario Donato, Perugia Armando Di Donato, Genova Mirco Fanelli, FANO (PU) Ferdinando Febbraio, Naples Stefania Galdiero, Napoli Vittorio Gentile, Naples

Domenico Grieco, Naples Ciro Isidoro, Novara Fabrizio Loreni, Roma Enrica Migliaccio, Milan Mariarosaria Miloso, Monza Alessandra Montecucco, Pavia Fabiola Moretti, Roma Luca Munaron, Torino Antonio Musarò, Rome Giovanni Musci, Pesche (Isernia) Pasquale Pagliaro, Orbassano Ennio Prosperi, Pavia Roberto Scatena, Rome Maurizio Sorice, Rome Maria P Stoppelli, Naples Maria G Tozzi, Pisa Carlo Ventura, Bologna Pasquale Vito, *Benevento* 



Jean-Pierre Louboutin, Mona



Hiroyoshi Ariga, Sapporo Noriko Fujiwara, Nishinomiya Masahiko Harata, Sendai Sadayuki Hashioka, Izumo Satoshi Hirohata, Okayama Yasuyuki Igarashi, Sapporo Koji Ikegami, Hamamatsu Ken-ichi Isobe, Nagoya Hiroaki Itamochi, Yonago-City Hideaki Itoh, Akita Seiichi Kitagawa, Osaka Tomohiko Maehama, Tokyo Ichiro Maruyama, Onna-son Taro Masuda, Uji Akihisa Matsuyama, Wako Noriyuki Nagahara, Tokyo Takanobu Nakazawa, Osaka Jun Sakurai, Tokushima Toshiyasu Sasaoka, Toyama Honoo Satake, Osaka Hiroshi Shibuya, Tokyo Toshiaki Tanaka, Yokohama Hiroshi Uyama, Suita Nobutaka Wakamiya, Asahikawa Michiaki Yamashita, Yokohama Kiyotsugu Yoshida, Tokyo Shin-ichi Yusa, Himeji



Adnan S Abu-Surrah, Zarqa







Yew-Hoong Cheah, Ampang Rajesh Ramasamy, Serdang



WJBC www.wjgnet.com



Theeshan Bahorun, Mauritius



Manuel Soriano-Garcia, México City Rosalva Rangel-Corona, México City

**Netherlands** Erik AC Wiemer, *Rotterdam* 



New Zealand

Alexander V Peskin, Christchurch Thomas Proft, Auckland Xiaolin Sun, Palmerston North



Azzam A Maghazachi, Oslo Kristian Prydz, Oslo



Rahmat A Khan, Bannu



Aleksander F Sikorski, Wroclaw

Portugal



Hassan Bousbaa, Gandra PRD Carlos Conde, Porto Sílvia C Socorro, Covilha



Kazim Husain, Ponce



Dietrich Busselberg, Doha



Alexandrina Burlacu, Bucharest

#### Russia

Vladimir S Bondar, Krasnoyarsk Ilya Demidyuk, Moscow Oxana V Galzitskaya, Pushchino Valery A Pospelov, Saint Petersburg Yuri N Utkin, Moscow Sergei L Kiselev, Moscow

#### **(**\*\*

#### Singapore

South Korea

Ruowen Ge, *Singapore* Jianhua Liu, *Singapore* 



Sang-Gun Ahn, Gwangju Kwang-Hyun Baek, Seongnam Wonchae Choe, Seoul Jene Choi, Seoul Joohun Ha, Seoul Ho Jae Han, Seoul Young-Hoon Han, Seoul Ki-Chul Hwang, Seoul Byeong-Churl Jang, Daegu Byeong Hwa Jeon, Daejeon Junghyo Jo, Pohang Jin Sup Jung, Yangsan Si Chul Geun Kim, Seoul Young-Myeong Kim, Chuncheon You-Sun Kim, Suwon Jong Ho Lee, Seoul Kangseok Lee, Seoul Seong-Wook Lee, Yongin Sung Joong Lee, Seoul Younghee Lee, Cheongju Yuseok Moon, Yangsan Yunbae Pak, Jinju Chae Gyu Park, Seoul Joo-Cheol Park, Seoul Dong-Kwon Rhee, Su-Won Deug Y Shin, Cheonan Minho Shong, Daejeon Kiwon Song, Seoul Woo Keun Song, Gwangju Kyoungho Suk, Daegu Soo-Jong Um, Seoul Kweon Yu, Daejeon



Juan C Alonso, Madrid Joaquin Arino, Cerdanyoloa del Valles Maria Carmen Collado, Valencia Carmen Dominguez, Barcelona Antonio Felipe, Barcelona Jose Maria Frade, Madrid Fausto G Hegardt, Barcelona Tino Krell, Granada Dora B Krimer, Madrid Angel Manteca, Oviedo Oscar H Martinez-Costa, Madrid Francisco J Martin-Romero, Badajoz Juan J Moreno, Barcelona Veronika E Neubrand, Armilla Maria A Pajares, Madrid Jose R Regueiro, Madrid Joan C Rodriguez, Barcelona Francisco J Rodriguez-Jimenez, Valencia Bartolome Sabater, Alcala de Henares Victor Sanchez-Margalet, Seville Patricia Sancho, Madrid



Lisa U Magnusson, Gothenburg

Ludmilla A Morozova-Roche, *Umea* Jian Zhao, *Stockholm* 





M Emdadul Haque, Al Ain



Wayne G Carter, Derby Susan Currie, Glasgow Mark Ditzel, Edinburgh Christine Ecker, London Paul C Evans, Sheffield Kevin L Gaston, Bristol Lin-Hua Jiang, Leeds Aleksandar Jovanovic, Dundee Matthew D Lloyd, Bath Kefah Mokbel, London Mark A Pook, London Dipak P Ramji, Cardiff Dieter Riethmacher, Southampton Francisco Rivero, Hull Dongmin Shao, London Susan G Shawcross, Manchester Bing Song, Cardiff David J Timson, Belfast



Seth L Alper, Boston Istvan Arany, Jackson Dimitris Argyropoulos, Raleigh Craig S Atwood, Madison Said Audi, Milwaukee Alexander Awgulewitsch, Charleston Xiaowen Bai, Milwaukee Guang Bai, Baltimore Alakananda Basu, Fort Worth Sanjay Batra, Baton Rouge Alexey M Belkin, Baltimore Sanjoy K Bhattacharya, Miami Xin Bi, Rochester Juraj Bies, *Bethesda* Miroslav Blumenberg, New York C haya Brodie, Detroit Bo Cen, Charleston Dhyan Chandra, Buffalo Yung-Fu Chang, Ithaca Yie-Hwa Chang, Saint Louis Brahim Chaqour, Brooklyn Shuo Chen, San Antonio Yuzhi Chen, Little Rock Guangping Chen, Atlanta Seng H Cheng, Framingham Katalin Csiszar, Honolulu Chang-Yi Cui, Baltimore Mariana D Dabeva, Bronx Mu-Shui Dai, Portland Celine DerMardirossian, La Jolla Wei-Qun Ding, Oklahoma City Amie J Dirks-Naylor, Wingate Krag, DN, Burlington



Sinisa Dovat, Hershey Yansheng Du, Indianapolis Wenzhen Duan, Baltimore Joseph L Evans, Saint Louis Ying-Xin Fan, Bethesda Ye Fang, Corning S Hossein Fatemi, Minneapolis Alexey I Fomenkov, Ipswich Richard T Frank, San Diego Michael D Garrick, Buffalo Antonio Giordano, Philadelphia David W Goodrich, Buffalo Vsevolod V Gurevich, Nashville Duygu D Harrison-Findik, Omaha Wei-Qi He, Chicago Paul J Higgins, Albany Ye-Shih Ho, Detroit Chien-An A Hu, Albuquerque Yan Huang, Charleston Shile Huang, Shreveport Liquan Huang, Philadelphia Hieronim Jakubowski, Newark Yinduo Ji, St Paul Jianhang Jia, Lexington Lixin Kan, Chicago Masao Kaneki, Charlestown Anil Karihaloo, New Haven Yoon-Seong Kim, Orlando Tatsuya Kobayashi, Boston Firas H Kobeissy, Gainesville Kristen L Kroll, Saint Louis Raj Kumar, Scranton Beth S Lee, Columbus Benfang Lei, Bozeman Jianyong Li, Blacksburg Pin-Lan Li, Richmond Qingdi Quentin Li, Bethesda Chengyu Liang, Los Angeles Daiqing Liao, Gainesville Li Liao, Newark Lih-Ling Lin, Concord Kui Lin, South San Francisco Jialing Lin, Oklahoma City

Runqing Lu, Omaha Vladimir V Lupashin, Little Rock Yuri L Lyubchenko, Omaha Gabriel Mbalaviele, St. Louis Bradley K McConnell, Houston Shreya Mitra, Houston Ramachandran Murali, Los Angeles Deepak Nihalani, Philadelphia Andres M Norambuena, Charlottesville Timothy R O'Connor, Duarte Sergei Pletnev, Chicago Nemani V Prasadarao, Los Angeles Ximing Qin, Nashville Jun Qin, Cleveland Hongmin Qin, College Station Kota V Ramana, Galveston Pranela Rameshwar, Newark Tirumalai Rangasamy, Rochester Federico Sesti, Piscataway Manish Shah, La Jolla Rong Shao, Springfield Wen-Jun Shen, Palo Alto Yanhong Shi, Duarte Arun K Shukla, Durham Patricia J Simpson-Haidaris, Rochester Brij B Singh, Grand Forks Bal R Singh, Dartmouth Mohan Sopori, *Albuquerque* James Stockand, San Antonio Emanuel Strehler, Rochester Jiyuan Sun, Houston Xiao-Hong Sun, Oklahoma City Eva Surmacz, Philadelphia Suren Tatulian, Orlando David M Terrian, Greenville John S Torday, Los Angeles Eric A Toth, Rockville Luis Ulloa, Newark Anny Usheva, Boston Purva Vats, Farmington K Vinod Vijayan, Houston Panagiotis I Vlachostergios, Brooklyn Lori A Walker, Aurora

Qianben Wang, Columbus Qi-En Wang, *Columbus* Yong-Xiao Wang, Albany Gan Wang, Detroit Yuqi Wang, St. Louis Franklin West, Athens Shiyong Wu, Athens Mei X Wu, Boston Masayoshi Yamaguchi, Atlanta Hsin-Sheng Yang, Lexington Hong Yang, Nashville Xiangli Yang, Nashville Samantha M Yeligar, Decatur Kam C Yeung, Toledo P Renee Yew, San Antonio Lei Yin, Ann Arbor Zhong Yun, New Haven Baolin Zhang, Bethesda Guolong Zhang, Stillwater Hongtao Zhang, Philadelphia Jiandi Zhang, Fairfax Lei Zhang, Minneapolis Wenzheng Zhang, Houston Yu-Wen Zhang, Grand Rapids Zhaojie Zhang, Laramie Chao Zheng, Groton Jing Zheng, Chicago Lei Zheng, Baltimore Binhua P Zhou, Lexington Ming-Ming Zhou, New York Qun Zhou, *Baltimore* Shuanhu Zhou, Boston Yong Zhou, Birmingham Ronghua Zhuge, Worcester Chunbin Zou, Pittsburgh Ming-Hui Zou, Oklahoma City Wenquan Zou, Cleveland



Jose Bubis, Miranda



WJBC www.wjgnet.com

World Journal of Biological Chemistry

#### Contents

Quarterly Volume 8 Number 1 February 26, 2017

#### **EDITORIAL**

- 1 Role of a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionic acid receptor receptor regulation in stressinduced pain chronification Liu S, Tao F
- 4 Modern trends in animal venom research - omics and nanomaterials Utkin YN
- 13 Biochemical strategies for the detection and detoxification of toxic chemicals in the environment Febbraio F
- 21 Biochemical changes in the injured brain Sahu S, Nag DS, Swain A, Samaddar DP

#### **REVIEW**

- 32 Retroviral integrase protein and intasome nucleoprotein complex structures Grawenhoff J, Engelman AN
- 45 Role of microRNAs in translation regulation and cancer Oliveto S, Mancino M, Manfrini N, Biffo S
- 57 Challenges in the chemotherapy of Chagas disease: Looking for possibilities related to the differences and similarities between the parasite and host Sueth-Santiago V, Decote-Ricardo D, Morrot A, Freire-de-Lima CG, Lima MEF

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

81 Use of thyroglobulin as a tumour marker Indrasena BSH

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Basic Study**

86 L-carnitine protects C2C12 cells against mitochondrial superoxide overproduction and cell death Le Borgne F, Ravaut G, Bernard A, Demarquoy J

#### **Case Control Study**

95 Device-associated infection rates, mortality, length of stay and bacterial resistance in intensive care units in Ecuador: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium's findings Salgado Yepez E, Bovera MM, Rosenthal VD, González Flores HA, Pazmiño L, Valencia F, Alquinga N, Ramirez V, Jara E, Lascano M, Delgado V, Cevallos C, Santacruz G, Pelaéz C, Zaruma C, Barahona Pinto D



Contents	world Journal of Biological Chemistry Volume 8 Number 1 February 26, 2017	
ABOUT COVER	Editorial Board Member of <i>World Journal of Biological Chemistry</i> , Dr. Wayne G Carter, BSc, PhD, Academic Research, Assistant Professor, Division of Medical Sciences and Graduate Entry Medicine, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, Derby DE22 3DT, United Kingdom	
AIM AND SCOPE	<ul> <li>World Journal of Biological Chemistry (World J Biol Chem, WJBC, online ISSN 1949-8454, DOI: 10.4331), is a peer-reviewed open access (OA) academic journal that aims to guide clinical practice and improve diagnostic and therapeutic skills of clinicians.</li> <li>WJBC is to rapidly report the most recent developments in the research by the close collaboration of biologists and chemists in area of biochemistry and molecular biology, including: general biochemistry, pathobiochemistry, molecular and cellular biology, molecular medicine, experimental methodologies and the diagnosis, therapy, and monitoring of human disease.</li> <li>We encourage authors to submit their manuscripts to WJBC. We will give priority to manuscripts that are supported by major national and international foundations and those that are of great basic and clinical significance.</li> </ul>	
INDEXING/ABSTRACTING	World Journal of Biological Chemistry is now ind	lexed in PubMed, PubMed Central.
FLYLEAF I-IV	Editorial Board	
EDITORS FOR Response THIS ISSUE Proofing	sible Assistant Editor: Xiang Li     Re       sible Electronic Editor: Dan Li     Pr       g Editor-in-Chief: Lian-Sheng Ma     Pr	esponsible Science Editor: Jin-Xin Kong roofing Editorial Office Director: Xin-Xia Song
NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Biological Chemistry ISSN ISSN 1949-8454 (online) LAUNCH DATE July 26, 2010 FREQUENCY Quarterly EDITOR-IN-CHIEF Jingfang Ju, PhD, Associate Professor, Director, Department of Pathology and Stony Brook University Cancer Center, Stony Brook University-SUNY, Stony Brook, NY 11794, United States EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS All editorial board members resources online at http:// www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/editorialboard.htm	World Journal of Biological Chemistry Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-2238242 Fax: +1-925-2238243 E-mail: editorialoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.wignet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wignet.com <b>PUBLISHER</b> Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.wignet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wignet.com	COPYRIGHT © 2017 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. Articles pub- lished by this Open-Access journal are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non- commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non commercial and is otherwise in compliance with the license. <b>SPECIAL STATEMENT</b> All articles published in journals owned by the Baishideng Publishing Group (BPG) represent the views and opin- ions of their authors, and not the views, opinions or policies of the BPG, except where otherwise explicitly indicated. <b>INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS</b> http://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
EDITORIAL OFFICE Xiu-Xia Song, Director	PUBLICATION DATE February 26, 2017	ONLINE SUBMISSION http://www.wignet.com/esps/



## **Biological Chemistry**

Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.1

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 1-3

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Role of $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor regulation in stress-induced pain chronification

#### Sufang Liu, Feng Tao

Sufang Liu, Feng Tao, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Texas A&M University College of Dentistry, Dallas, TX 75246, United States

Sufang Liu, Department of Physiology, Zhengzhou University School of Medicine, Zhengzhou 450003, Henan Province, China

Feng Tao, Center for Craniofacial Research and Diagnosis, Texas A&M University College of Dentistry, Dallas, TX 75246, United States

Author contributions: Liu S and Tao F wrote the manuscript.

Supported by The National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research Grants, Nos. R01 DE022880 and K02 DE023551.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflict of interests.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Feng Tao, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Texas A&M University College of Dentistry, 3302 Gaston Avenue, Dallas, TX 75246, United States. tao@tamhsc.edu Telephone: +1-214-8288272 Fax: +1-214-8744538

Received: July 7, 2016 Peer-review started: July 14, 2016 First decision: September 12, 2016 Revised: October 29, 2016 Accepted: December 7, 2016 Article in press: December 9, 2016 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

Persistent postsurgical pain is a serious issue in public health, which has received increased interest in recent years. Previous studies have reported that psychological factors promote the development of chronic postsurgical pain. However, it is unclear how chronification of postsurgical pain occurs. The  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionic acid receptor (AMPA) phosphorylation in the central nervous system plays a critical role in synaptic plasticity and contributes to central sensitization and chronic pain development. Here, we discuss the role of AMPA receptor regulation in stress-induced pain chronification after surgery.

Key words:  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor phosphorylation; Stress; Pain chronification

© The Author(s) 2017. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor phosphorylation contributes to stress-induced pain chronification after surgery.

Liu S, Tao F. Role of  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor regulation in stress-induced pain chronification. World J Biol Chem 2017; 8(1): 1-3 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/1.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.1

#### PAIN CHRONIFICATION AFTER SURGERY

After surgery, patients experience either short-term or long-lasting pain. In some patients, pain post-surgery can persist even after surgical incision has recovered. Chronic postsurgical pain is primarily neuropathic in nature. As we



know, acute postoperative pain is an adaptive response to surgical damage, but chronic postsurgical pain is maladaptive since it is not protective. However, the central mechanisms underlying pain chronification after surgery remain to be illustrated<sup>[1]</sup>.

Pain chronification after surgery is a process involving multiple biological systems<sup>[2]</sup>. Chronic postsurgical pain provides a special opportunity to understand pathogenic mechanisms for the transition from acute to chronic pain. Previous studies have indicated that psychological factors promote the development of chronic postsurgical pain<sup>[3,4]</sup>. Psychological stress can disturb the physiological homeostasis of an organism<sup>[5,6]</sup>. People who experience stress in their early life or even before birth may have chronic susceptibility to developing pain in their whole life<sup>[7]</sup>. Thus, it is very possible that early stress could cause permanent changes in pain signaling in the central nervous system. In addition, surgery produces the release of inflammatory mediators, such as prostaglandins and cytokines<sup>[8]</sup>, which can sensitize primary sensory afferents. Stress might increase sensitivity to the hyperalgesic effects of proinflammatory cytokines<sup>[9]</sup>. Moreover, stressinduced hyperalgesic priming, a neuroplastic change in primary afferent nociceptors, has been implicated in chronic generalized pain syndromes and other chronic pain conditions<sup>[10-15]</sup>. Therefore, stress may be involved in the development of chronic pain after surgery.

#### STRESS ENHANCES AMPA RECEPTOR REGULATION AND SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY

Psychological stress produces physiological and behavioral changes that cause long-term adaptive responses<sup>[5]</sup>. Two major reactions can occur in response to stress. One reaction after stress is rapid activation of the autonomic nervous system and subsequent release of the stress hormones epinephrine and norepinephrine<sup>[16]</sup>. Norepinephrine can activate cAMP-dependent protein kinase and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase  $II^{[17,18]}$ , which can phosphorylate  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor subunit GluA1 at the Ser845 and Ser831 sites, respectively<sup>[19-21]</sup>. Targeted mutant mice with the mutations of these phosphorylation sites that block phosphorylation at Ser845 and Ser831 sites of GluA1 display impairment in synaptic plasticity and learning<sup>[22]</sup>. Thus, stress through releasing the stress hormone norepinephrine can induce GluA1 phosphorylation at the Ser831 and Ser845 sites and then facilitate longterm potentiation induction<sup>[23]</sup>. Phosphorylation at these sites is sufficient to reduce the threshold for GluA1 synaptic incorporation during long-term potentiation<sup>[23]</sup>. Another reaction after stress is the stimulation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis and subsequent release of the stress hormone glucocorticoids (a type of corticosteroid hormone) from the adrenal glands<sup>[16]</sup>. Glucocorticoids are able to bind to two types of receptors in the central nervous system: Mineralocorticoid receptors and glucocorticoid receptors. Mineralocorticoid receptors have a high affinity for corticosterone (the main glucocorticoid in rodents) and are bound when the hormone level is low. Glucocorticoid receptors have a lower affinity for corticosterone than do mineralocorticoid receptors, which are activated only when the hormone level is high enough<sup>[16]</sup>. Both mineralocorticoid receptors and glucocorticoid receptors are expressed in the central nervous system<sup>[16,24]</sup>. By activating the two receptor subtypes, corticosterone rapidly and persistently regulates AMPA receptor GluA2 trafficking, which plays an important role in synaptic transmission and plasticity<sup>[5,25]</sup>. Therefore, the stress hormone corticosterone can effectively enhance the synaptic content of AMPA receptors and then produce synaptic potentiation<sup>[5,25]</sup>.

#### MECHANISMS UNDERLYING STRESS-INDUCED PAIN CHRONIFICATION AFTER SURGERY

After injury and injury-induced pain, a "supersystem" consisting of nervous system, endocrine system, and immune system may act together to regulate the functional activities in these systems<sup>[26]</sup>. Thus, the development of chronic postsurgical pain could be caused by dysregulation of the supersystem. For instance, the nervous system and endocrine system can cooperate in the response to stress, which has been referred to as the neuroendocrine stress response<sup>[26]</sup>. Recently, we have utilized these concepts to develop a new animal model to study acute-to-chronic pain transition after surgery. In this model, we found that social defeat stress enhances plantar incision-induced spinal AMPA receptor phosphorylation and thereby prolongs incisional pain and that stress hormones regulate AMPA receptor activities in the spinal cord during the pain prolongation<sup>[27]</sup>. We also found that the social defeat stress not only increases GluA1 membrane expression, but also enhances GluA2 intracellular expression in the spinal dorsal horn neurons<sup>[27]</sup>. Our study identifies stress as a risk factor for pain chronification after surgery. Our recent study indicates that intrathecal injection of a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-permeable AMPA receptor blocker significantly inhibits the stressinduced postsurgical pain prolongation (unpublished data). Therefore, we hypothesize that by releasing two types of stress hormones (norepinephrine and corticosterone), stress regulates AMPA receptor activities (such as phosphorylation and trafficking), which leads to GluA1 membrane insertion and GluA2 internalization and causes a switch from Ca<sup>2+</sup>-impermeable (GluA2-containing) to Ca<sup>2+</sup>-permeable (GluA2-lacking) AMPA receptors. This switch will enhance Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and further activate Ca<sup>2+</sup>dependent protein kinases, thereby promoting AMPA receptor phosphorylation and other phosphorylationtriggered activities (Figure 1). This positive feedback loop may contribute to the molecular mechanisms that underlie stress-induced pain chronification after surgery.



Figure 1 Mechanisms underlying stress-induced pain chronification after surgery. Note that  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionic acid (AMPA) receptor switch from Ca<sup>2+</sup>-impermeable (GluA2-containing) to Ca<sup>2+</sup>-permeable (GluA2-lacking) will enhance Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and further activate Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent protein kinases, thereby promoting AMPA receptor phosphorylation and other phosphorylation-triggered activities.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 **Mifflin KA**, Kerr BJ. The transition from acute to chronic pain: understanding how different biological systems interact. *Can J Anaesth* 2014; **61**: 112-122 [PMID: 24277113 DOI: 10.1007/ s12630-013-0087-4]
- 2 McGreevy K, Bottros MM, Raja SN. Preventing Chronic Pain following Acute Pain: Risk Factors, Preventive Strategies, and their Efficacy. *Eur J Pain Suppl* 2011; 5: 365-372 [PMID: 22102847 DOI: 10.1016/j.eujps.2011.08.013]
- Katz J, Seltzer Z. Transition from acute to chronic postsurgical pain: risk factors and protective factors. *Expert Rev Neurother* 2009; 9: 723-744 [PMID: 19402781 DOI: 10.1586/ern.09.20]
- 4 Kehlet H, Jensen TS, Woolf CJ. Persistent postsurgical pain: risk factors and prevention. *Lancet* 2006; 367: 1618-1625 [PMID: 16698416 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68700-X]
- 5 Krugers HJ, Hoogenraad CC, Groc L. Stress hormones and AMPA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2010; 11: 675-681 [PMID: 20820185 DOI: 10.1038/ nrn2913]
- 6 Kim JJ, Diamond DM. The stressed hippocampus, synaptic plasticity and lost memories. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2002; **3**: 453-462 [PMID: 12042880 DOI: 10.1038/nrn849]
- 7 Maneyapanda SB, Venkatasubramanian A. Relationship between significant perinatal events and migraine severity. *Pediatrics* 2005; 116: e555-e558 [PMID: 16199683 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2005-0454]
- 8 Clark JD, Qiao Y, Li X, Shi X, Angst MS, Yeomans DC. Blockade of the complement C5a receptor reduces incisional allodynia, edema, and cytokine expression. *Anesthesiology* 2006; 104: 1274-1282 [PMID: 16732100 DOI: 10.1097/00000542-200606000 -00024]
- 9 Reichling DB, Levine JD. Critical role of nociceptor plasticity in chronic pain. *Trends Neurosci* 2009; 32: 611-618 [PMID: 19781793 DOI: 10.1016/j.tins.2009.07.007]
- 10 Van Houdenhove B, Egle UT. Fibromyalgia: a stress disorder? Piecing the biopsychosocial puzzle together. *Psychother Psychosom* 2004; 73: 267-275 [PMID: 15292624 DOI: 10.1159/000078843]
- 11 Affleck G, Tennen H, Urrows S, Higgins P. Person and contextual features of daily stress reactivity: individual differences in relations of undesirable daily events with mood disturbance and chronic pain intensity. J Pers Soc Psychol 1994; 66: 329-340 [PMID: 8195989 DOI: 10.1037/0022-3514.66.2.329]
- 12 Coutinho SV, Plotsky PM, Sablad M, Miller JC, Zhou H, Bayati AI, McRoberts JA, Mayer EA. Neonatal maternal separation alters stress-induced responses to viscerosomatic nociceptive stimuli in rat. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2002; 282: G307-G316

#### Liu S et al. AMPA in stress-induced pain chronification

[PMID: 11804852 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00240.2001]

- 13 Amital D, Fostick L, Polliack ML, Segev S, Zohar J, Rubinow A, Amital H. Posttraumatic stress disorder, tenderness, and fibro-myalgia syndrome: are they different entities? *J Psychosom Res* 2006; **61**: 663-669 [PMID: 17084145 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.20 06.07.003]
- 14 Cohen H, Neumann L, Haiman Y, Matar MA, Press J, Buskila D. Prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder in fibromyalgia patients: overlapping syndromes or post-traumatic fibromyalgia syndrome? *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2002; **32**: 38-50 [PMID: 12219319 DOI: 10.1053/sarh.2002.33719]
- 15 Dina OA, Khasar SG, Alessandri-Haber N, Green PG, Messing RO, Levine JD. Alcohol-induced stress in painful alcoholic neuropathy. *Eur J Neurosci* 2008; 27: 83-92 [PMID: 18093169 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1460-9568.2007.05987.x]
- 16 de Kloet ER, Joëls M, Holsboer F. Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2005; 6: 463-475 [PMID: 15891777 DOI: 10.1038/nrn1683]
- 17 Hall RA. Beta-adrenergic receptors and their interacting proteins. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2004; 15: 281-288 [PMID: 15125891 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2003.12.017]
- 18 Wang W, Zhu W, Wang S, Yang D, Crow MT, Xiao RP, Cheng H. Sustained beta1-adrenergic stimulation modulates cardiac contractility by Ca2+/calmodulin kinase signaling pathway. *Circ Res* 2004; **95**: 798-806 [PMID: 15375008 DOI: 10.1161/01. RES.0000145361.50017.aa]
- 19 Barria A, Muller D, Derkach V, Griffith LC, Soderling TR. Regulatory phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by CaM-KII during long-term potentiation. *Science* 1997; 276: 2042-2045 [PMID: 9197267 DOI: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2042]
- 20 Mammen AL, Kameyama K, Roche KW, Huganir RL. Phosphorylation of the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole4propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit by calcium/calmodulindependent kinase II. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 32528-32533 [PMID: 9405465 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.272.51.32528]
- 21 Roche KW, O'Brien RJ, Mammen AL, Bernhardt J, Huganir RL. Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. *Neuron* 1996; 16: 1179-1188 [PMID: 8663994 DOI: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80144-0]
- 22 Lee HK, Takamiya K, Han JS, Man H, Kim CH, Rumbaugh G, Yu S, Ding L, He C, Petralia RS, Wenthold RJ, Gallagher M, Huganir RL. Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell* 2003; **112**: 631-643 [PMID: 12628184 DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00122-3]
- 23 Hu H, Real E, Takamiya K, Kang MG, Ledoux J, Huganir RL, Malinow R. Emotion enhances learning via norepinephrine regulation of AMPA-receptor trafficking. *Cell* 2007; 131: 160-173 [PMID: 17923095 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.09.017]
- 24 Joëls M, Pu Z, Wiegert O, Oitzl MS, Krugers HJ. Learning under stress: how does it work? *Trends Cogn Sci* 2006; 10: 152-158 [PMID: 16513410 DOI: 10.1016/j.tics.2006.02.002]
- 25 Groc L, Choquet D, Chaouloff F. The stress hormone corticosterone conditions AMPAR surface trafficking and synaptic potentiation. *Nat Neurosci* 2008; 11: 868-870 [PMID: 18622402 DOI: 10.1038/ nn.2150]
- 26 Chapman CR, Tuckett RP, Song CW. Pain and stress in a systems perspective: reciprocal neural, endocrine, and immune interactions. *J Pain* 2008; 9: 122-145 [PMID: 18088561 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpain. 2007.09.006]
- 27 Li C, Yang Y, Liu S, Fang H, Zhang Y, Furmanski O, Skinner J, Xing Y, Johns RA, Huganir RL, Tao F. Stress induces pain transition by potentiation of AMPA receptor phosphorylation. *J Neurosci* 2014; **34**: 13737-13746 [PMID: 25297100 DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2130-14.2014]

P-Reviewer: Chandra D, Fang YR, Wang Y S- Editor: Qiu S L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D





WJBC www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.4

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 4-12

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

EDITORIAL

## Modern trends in animal venom research - omics and nanomaterials

#### Yuri N Utkin

Yuri N Utkin, Laboratory of Molecular Toxinology, Shemyakin-Ovchinnikov Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry, 117997 Moscow, Russia

Yuri N Utkin, National University of Science and Technology MISiS, 119049 Moscow, Russia

Author contributions: Utkin YN performed all activities related to the intellectual preparation and writing of this paper.

Supported by The Russian Foundation for Basic Research, No. 15-04-01843; the Ministry of Science and Education of the Russian Federation, No. RFMEFI58414X0006.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** Utkin YN declares no conflict of interest related to this publication.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. Yuri N Utkin, PhD, Professor, Laboratory of Molecular Toxinology, Shemyakin-Ovchinnikov Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry, Miklukho-Maklaya 16/10, V-437, 117997 Moscow, Russia. utkin@mx.ibch.ru Telephone: +7-495-3366522 Fax: +7-495-3366522

Received: September 27, 2016 Peer-review started: September 28, 2016 First decision: October 26, 2016 Revised: December 20, 2016 Accepted: December 27, 2016 Article in press: December 28, 2016 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

Animal venom research is a specialized investigation field, in which a number of different methods are used and this array is constantly expanding. Thus, recently emerged omics and nanotechnologies have already been successfully applied to venom research. Animal venoms have been studied for quite a long time. The traditional reductionist approach has been to isolate individual toxins and then study their structure and function. Unfortunately, the characterization of the venom as a whole system and its multiple effects on an entire organism were not possible until recent times. The development of new methods in mass spectrometry and sequencing have allowed such characterizations of venom, encompassing the identification of new toxins present in venoms at extremely low concentrations to changes in metabolism of prey organisms after envenomation. In particular, this type of comprehensive research has become possible due to the development of the various omics technologies: Proteomics, peptidomics, transcriptomics, genomics and metabolomics. As in other research fields, these omics technologies ushered in a revolution for venom studies, which is now entering the era of big data. Nanotechnology is a very new branch of technology and developing at an extremely rapid pace. It has found application in many spheres and has not bypassed the venom studies. Nanomaterials are quite promising in medicine, and most studies combining venoms and nanomaterials are dedicated to medical applications. Conjugates of nanoparticles with venom components have been proposed for use as drugs or diagnostics. For example, nanoparticles conjugated with chlorotoxin - a toxin in scorpion venom, which has been shown to bind specifically to glioma cells - are considered as potential glioma-targeted drugs, and conjugates of neurotoxins with fluorescent semiconductor nanoparticles or quantum dots may be used to detect endogenous targets expressed in live cells. The data on application of omics and nanotechnologies in venom research are systematized concisely in this paper.



WJBC | www.wjgnet.com

Key words: Animal venom; Proteomics; Peptidomics; Transcriptomics; Nanotechnology; Genomics; Quantum dots; Nanoparticles; Metabolomics

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** A number of different methods are used in animal venom research, and this array is constantly expanding. The development of new methods in mass spectrometry and sequencing have allowed for the characterization of venom at different levels, ranging from identification of new toxins to profiling the changes in metabolism of an envenomed organism. The various omics technologies-proteomics, peptidomics, transcriptomics, genomics and metabolomics-have played key roles, as has nanotechnology. Nanomaterials are promising in medicine, and most studies combining venoms and nanomaterials are directed to medical applications, with conjugates of nanoparticles and venom components being proposed for use as drugs or diagnostics.

Utkin YN. Modern trends in animal venom research - omics and nanomaterials. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 4-12 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/4.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.4

#### INTRODUCTION

Animal venoms are complex mixtures of toxic substances, which are used to defend against predators and/ or to hunt. They are extremely rich and complex natural sources of biologically active molecules, having a variety of molecular targets and functions. Venoms are aqueous solutions containing a large number of components, mostly protein and peptide in nature. Several hundred different substances, including toxins, may be found in venom from a single animal. Exposure of an envenomed organism to a toxin leads to significant dysfunction of the nervous, cardiovascular and muscular systems. The best known venomous animals are snakes, scorpions and spiders, and their toxins are used widely in research as molecular tools. Because toxin molecules often have a very strong potential for clinical structural optimization, some have been developed into new drugs (based on the optimized structures).

In attempts to understand the basis of venom biological activity, scientists have used a reductionist approach to venom composition and aimed to isolate the active compounds. Traditionally, this activitydriven approach was applied for purification of toxins. Having been initiated several decades ago, the present biochemical venom studies have advanced a long way from use of standard chemical fractionation methods, based in particular on differences in solubility, to modern high-performance liquid chromatography methods.

Most recently, venom research was revolutionized by the introduction of new mass spectrometry (MS) methods and the development of "omics" technologies, including but not limited to genomics, proteomics and metabolomics. These English-language neologisms specify fields of study in biology that deal with very large-scale data collection and analysis, in particular characterization and quantification of pools of biological molecules<sup>[1]</sup>. In molecular biology, the suffix - ome refers to a "totality of some sort" and is used to address the objects of omics studies, such as the genome, proteome or metabolome.

Three main categories within omics technologies are genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics/metabonomics. Genomics techniques are used to analyze the structure and function of genomes, while proteomic techniques deal with cellular and tissue-wide protein expression and metabolomics techniques are concerned with the identification and quantification of all the metabolites in a biological system. Within or in addition to these main techniques, some other omics techniques exist, such as transcriptomics, peptidomics, *etc.*, Several omics techniques have already been applied to venom studies, resulting in more comprehensive characterization of venoms and their effects on organisms.

Another modern technology that carries substantial promise for having a high impact on venom studies is nanotechnology. Nanotechnology handles materials at the nanometer size level. Nanomaterials represent physical objects possessing size between 1 nm and 150 nm, in at least one dimension. This scale reduction results in significant changes of typical physical and chemical properties of materials, making them very attractive for novel and innovative applications in various fields, and they have garnered particular interest in medicine, pharmacy and medical diagnostics. Indeed, nanomaterials have been used successfully in magnetic and fluorescent bioimaging, as carriers for drugs, and even as medicines themselves (*e.g.*, antimicrobial agents).

Among the different methodological directions being taken in venom studies, the development of new drugs based on venom components is the most prospective and rewarding. The combination of venom components with nanomaterials, and their application in treatment, diagnostics and disease prevention, will benefit the health and quality of human life. However, only the first steps considered in this Editorial have been made in this direction, thus far.

#### **OMICS IN VENOM RESEARCH**

In their quest to better understand the nature of venoms, researchers are constantly looking for new analytical methods of investigation. The recently emerged powerful analytical approaches united by the term "omics" have been successfully applied for venom studies. The relationship within "omics" technologies in venom studies is summarized in Figure 1.

Among all omics technologies, proteomics has been the most frequently used in venom research. The first publication<sup>[2]</sup> on venom proteomics appeared at the



Utkin YN. Modern trends in animal venom research



Figure 1 The relationship between "omics" technologies.

beginning of the millennium, and since then the number of works using this technology for venom studies has increased steadily. The special term "venomics" was introduced<sup>[3]</sup>, which refers to omics methods applied to venom studies. Considering this rapid growth, a key question emerges: What are the main advantages of proteomics over traditional methods? One of the major benefits is that proteomics gives a complete description of all the polypeptides present in a venom sample. This data may contribute to a deeper comprehension of the nature of a venom's toxic effects. Quantitative proteomics is especially beneficial for this purpose, as it not only describes the polypeptide array but determines their amounts as  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{well}}^{[4]}$  , yielding an exhaustive catalog of the toxins present in the venom. Information about the toxins can be used in several ways; for example, some toxins are valuable molecular tools for studying physiological processes and may be applied for basic research. Venom proteomes also represent great potential for clinical diagnosis and development of new medicines for clinical use.

Proteomics contributes greatly to the development of antivenoms, which are currently the most efficient medications available for the treatment of bites or stings. The new term "antivenomics" was invented to specify an omics method used to identify venom proteins bearing epitope(s) that is(are) recognized by an antivenom<sup>[5]</sup>. The basis of antivenomics is immunoaffinity chromatography, through which toxins bound to immobilized antivenom are identified by proteomics and in parallel the venom components that failed to raise antibodies in the antivenom, or which triggered the production of low-affinity antibodies and therefore remain unbound to antivenom, are identified. Antivenomics provides qualitative as well as quantitative data on both the toxins inducing antibodies with high affinity and those toxins exhibiting poor immunoreactivity.

It should be noted that proteomic analysis is capable of revealing many toxin variants belonging to known toxin families. In addition to this, several toxins of protein families not found in earlier venom studies have been identified and characterized by proteomics. For example, two proteins recently identified in a venom analysis of the dog-faced water snake Cerberus rynchops showed sequence homology to ficolin, a mammalian protein with collagen-like and fibrinogen-like domains<sup>[6]</sup>. These proteins were named as ryncolin 1 and ryncolin 2 (rynchops ficolin), and this new family of snake venom proteins was called veficolins (venom ficolins). The authors speculated that the ryncolins may induce platelet aggregation and/ or initiate complement activation in the envenomed organism. Similarly, investigation of the venom proteome of the rear-fanged snake Thamnodynastes strigatus lead to the discovery of a new kind of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) that is unrelated to the classical snake venom metalloproteinases found in all snake families<sup>[7]</sup>. In that study, a protein related to lactadherin was newly identified and suggested to be a venom component<sup>[7]</sup>. Finally, investigation of the venom of a cryptic Australian elapid snake Drysdalia coronoides resulted in the discovery of a new structural type of toxin from the three-finger toxin superfamily, and a new family phospholipase B was identified as well<sup>[8]</sup>. These data highlight the great potential of proteomics in the discovery of new toxins and toxin families.

As was mentioned earlier in this Editorial, animal venoms are complex mixtures of different substances, but mostly proteins and peptides. In some venoms, the content of peptides is quite high; this is especially true for spider venoms<sup>[9]</sup>. The proteomic approach is also used to study peptide components of the venom. This peptide-aimed type of study was given the name "peptidomics". Thus far, peptidomics has been used mostly for peptide profiling of invertebrate venoms and its application has resulted in the discovery of several new toxins<sup>[10,11]</sup>.

Despite having been successfully used for many studies of venoms, proteomics continues to present several unresolved challenges. The usual first step in a proteomic venom study is the application of tandem MS/MS and database searching for the identification of protein and peptide toxins. In this so-called bottom-up approach, the comparison of experimentally determined sequences produced by MS/MS analysis with those obtained by in silico digestion of proteins present in a given database is performed. The problems encountered at this step, however, are the absence of tryptic cleavage or miscleavage at sites that differ from the classical trypsin sites. The absence of tryptic cleavage might be explained by post-translational modifications proximal to a tryptic cleavage site, which may result in the loss of trypsin activity. The activity of venom proteases might also result in the loss of some trypsin cleavage sites; such activity could also produce an artificial venom peptidome<sup>[5]</sup>.

Another challenge in proteomic studies is related to the absence of comprehensive databases containing venom protein sequences. To address this, several specialized toxin databases have been generated and released during the last decade. For example, the Animal Toxin Database supported by the Hunan Normal University<sup>[12]</sup> contains more than 9000 toxins, while the ArachnoServer, a manually-curated database containing information on the toxins derived from spider venom<sup>[13]</sup> contains more than 1500 entries and the most recent Kalium database of potassium channel toxins from scorpion venom<sup>[14]</sup> contains about 200 entries. Moreover, in the last UniProt release, the current number of entries for the query "snake venom" was around 29000 (UniProt release 2016\_07). Nevertheless, this mass of information is still not sufficient and to describe the proteome of any particular venom completely and precisely, and as such transcriptomic and/or genomic data are necessary.

Genomics represents another versatile omics technology that is used widely in the life sciences. By definition "genomics is a discipline in genetics that applies recombinant DNA, DNA sequencing methods, and bioinformatics to sequence, assemble, and analyze the function and structure of genomes"<sup>[15]</sup>. Yet, genomics has not been so widely applied as proteomics in venom studies. The genomes of poisonous animals that have been sequenced so far include the honeybee Apis mellifera<sup>[16]</sup>, the Chinese scorpion Mesobuthus martensii<sup>[17]</sup>, the Brazilian whiteknee tarantula Acanthoscurria geniculata<sup>[18]</sup> and the King cobra Ophiophagus hannah<sup>[19]</sup>. The rapid progress in sequencing methods has resulted in cost effective highthroughput sequencing (or next-generation sequencing) technologies that allow for the obtainment of millions of sequences at once. This makes the use of genomics more attractive for scientists involved in venom studies. And, according to a search of the up-to-date publicly available literature, among the snake species, the genomes of more than 10 are currently being studied<sup>[20]</sup>.

Venom proteins are produced by the venom gland, wherein translation of the information encoded by messenger (m)RNA takes place. This means that the data about venom protein composition can be obtained from an array of mRNA present in the venom gland. This approach is the basis of transcriptomic studies. Regarded sometimes as a part of genomics, transcriptomics can be defined as the study of the expression level of mRNAs in a given cell population, often by using high-throughput techniques. Transcriptomics has been embraced by venom researchers and its application has provided valuable information on the anticipated protein array in a given venom gland under a given biological condition. However, the presence of a given mRNA in the gland does not mean that it is guaranteed to be translated to a protein. Moreover, the transcriptomics approach does not give any information about the post-translational modification of a protein.

Nevertheless, compared to proteomics, which requires some initial data for protein identification, transcriptomics has a greater potential for discovery of new toxins. Thus, the transcriptomic approach has been applied to investigations of the composition of venom gland peptides from the *Hadogenes troglodytes* scorpion<sup>[21]</sup>. A total of 121 novel peptides were discovered, including 20 new-type peptides cross-linked with 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 or 7 disulfide bridges, 11 novel K<sup>+</sup>-channel toxin-like peptides, 2 novel ryanodine receptors-

specific toxin-like peptides, a unique peptide containing the cysteine knots of spider toxins, 15 novel La1like toxins, 3 novel TIL-domain containing peptides, 5 novel peptides with atypical cysteine patterns, 19 novel antimicrobial peptides, 6 novel cysteine-free peptides and 39 new-type cysteine-free peptides<sup>[21]</sup>. These data demonstrate the great potential of transcriptomics for discovery of toxins.

The main disadvantage of the transcriptomic approach is the necessity to sacrifice the animal under investigation. However, it has been shown that mRNAencoding toxins can be recovered from the venom of several species<sup>[22]</sup>. Subsequent studies have supported this finding and showed its applicability to RNA-based venom studies<sup>[23,24]</sup>.

Venoms have a great impact on the vital system in the prey organism that should result in substantial changes in the metabolism of the envenomed organism, which in principle may be revealed by metabolomics. The aims of metabolomics are the identification and quantification of all the metabolites in a biological system (cell, tissue, organ, organism) under given conditions. Metabonomics, in contrast, focus on the dynamic metabolic response of living systems to some biological stimuli. The task therein is to understand systemic change through time in complex multicellular systems. However, only a few publications in the literature to date report on the changes in prey metabolism after envenomation. One of these studies aimed to assess the response to a honeybee venom by analyzing serum levels of 34 free amino acids<sup>[25]</sup>. To achieve this, serum samples were collected from 27 beekeepers within 3 h after they had been stung and after a minimum of 6 wk following the last sting. The two analyzed groups showed statistically significant differences in serum levels of L-glutamine, L-glutamic acid, L-methionine and 3-methyl-L-histidine. Moreover, L-glutamine and L-glutamic acid were found to be the most important metabolites for distinguishing the beekeepers who had been tested shortly after a bee sting from those who had been tested at least 6 wk later. The results obtained may contribute to better understanding of the human body's response to the honeybee sting<sup>[25]</sup>.

In other work, the toxic mechanism of scorpion *Hemiscorpius lepturus* venom was investigated by metabolome profiling of the victims using proton nuclear magnetic resonance (commonly known as 1H NMR)<sup>[26]</sup>. In parallel, the physiological effects of this venom on biochemical pathways and organs were investigated. The results obtained showed that the most affected pathways were pyrimidine, histidine and tyrosine metabolisms, and steroid hormone biosynthesis. The crude venom was found to affect mostly the pancreas and spleen. Mitochondria and nerve cells were attacked, resulting in acute seizures that resembled the early markers of myocardial injury and seizure disorders<sup>[26]</sup>.

The data discussed above indicate that omics technologies have contributed greatly to increasing our understanding of different aspects of venom's impact on a living organism. The application of these tech-



nologies in venom studies is constantly increasing, and the popularity of omics in venom study is evidenced by the fact that, to date, among the snake venoms alone over 150 species have already been examined by these techniques.

#### NANOMATERIALS IN VENOM RESEARCH

Most investigations of venom composition using analytical "omics" methods, as discussed in the previous section, are not goals in and of themselves, but are aimed at finding new compounds that can be of practical use. From this perspective, any enhancements that may improve the useful properties and applicability of these compounds will be of great value. One of these is the combination of venoms or toxins with nanomaterials.

Nanomaterials have numerous applications and are used in many areas, including research, technology and medicine. They can be used alone or in combination with other materials, such as venoms or toxins, as has been accomplished in magnetic and fluorescent bioimaging, as carriers for drugs, and as medicines.

The unusual properties of nanoparticles (NPs) can be exploited to improve the pharmacologic and therapeutic properties of drugs. While larger molecules may be eliminated from the body in a relatively short period of time, the cells can capture NPs very efficiently. To study the effectiveness of NP-based drug delivery to a biological target, hydrophilic NPs such as chitosan, nanogold, nanosilver and dendrimers, to name a few, were conjugated to potent animal toxins. Both crude venoms and isolated toxins have been used for this purpose.

#### Nanoparticles loaded with crude venoms

Cobra *Naja naja oxiana* venom was encapsulated in chitosan NPs, and such NPs were evaluated for their antigen delivery potential<sup>[27]</sup>. The authors concluded by suggesting the possible application of chitosan NPs as an alternative to the currently used adjuvants.

In another study, poly(D,L-Lactide)-based NPs were combined with toxic fractions obtained from *Androctonus australis hector* and *Buthusoccitanus tunetanus* scorpions' venoms in order to safely vaccinate animals to induce production of sera with neutralizing activity and achieve an immunoprotection outcome<sup>[28]</sup>. The results obtained showed that polylactide NPs coated with toxic venom fraction preserve antigenicity and enhance immune response to weakly immunogenic toxins. This method can be easily extrapolated for horse therapeutic immune sera production, thereby reducing production costs. Moreover, PLA-NPs could be used for prophylactic purposes, as a biodegradable adjuvant to promote long-lasting immune protection against accidental envenomation of humans in hazardous areas<sup>[28]</sup>.

NPs loaded with anticancer agents have also shown great promise for the treatment of cancer. To study the effects of venom extracted from the cobra *Walterinnesia aegyptia* (WEV) on the proliferation and apoptosis of human breast cancer cells, either the venom alone or in combination with silica NPs (WEV+NP) were investigated through monitoring caspase activity and free radical levels<sup>[29]</sup>. Cells that had been isolated from female patients clinically diagnosed with breast cancer were used. It was found that both WEV and WEV+NP inhibited the growth of breast cancer cells in dose- and time-dependent manners, with the WEV+NP combination showing greater efficacy against the cancer cells. Thus, the combination of NPs with WEV significantly increased the antitumor effects of the venom.

To enhance the medicinal activity of bee venom (BV) acupuncture, it was loaded into biodegradable poly(D,L-Lactide-co-glycolide) NPs (BV-PLGA-NPs). The BV-PLGA-NPs were found to prolong the analgesic effect of BV in formalin-induced pain test in rats. PLGA-encapsulation of BV was also found to be effective in alleviating edema induced by allergens in BV<sup>[30]</sup>.

The above data indicate that NPs can significantly improve therapeutic potential of animal venoms. This improvement was more evident when individual toxins were used.

#### Nanoparticles conjugated with individual toxins

As was mentioned in the previous section, crude venoms are very complex mixtures of different compounds, some of which may show beneficial effects while others may show adverse effects. Thus, it is evident that the use of isolated compounds with beneficial effects may greatly enhance their potential.

Bombesin, the peptide isolated from the poisonous skin of the frog *Bombina bombina*, shows high affinity for the gastrin-releasing peptide (GRP)-receptors, which are widely represented in prostate cancer cells, breast cancer cells and small cell lung cancer *in vivo*. When bombesin was conjugated with gold NPs and radioisotope label was attached to these conjugates<sup>[31]</sup>, a high degree of specific binding to GRP-receptor and a high selectivity for the GRP-receptors of prostate tumor cells in mice was attained. The intraperitoneal drug delivery method was found to be effective for the bombesin-gold conjugate, avoiding absorption by the reticuloendothelial system of healthy organs and facilitating a concomitant increase in uptake of the drug by tumor cells.

The cytolytic peptide melittin, which is derived from BV, is considered a good candidate for cancer control. To overcome its main disadvantages - toxicity to non-targeted cells, non-specificity and unfavorable pharmacokinetic - the melittin nanoconjugate was developed, whereby the toxin has been inserted into the outer monolayer of perfluorocarbon NPs<sup>[32]</sup>. This nano-carrier approach allows melittin to accumulate in tumors *in vivo* in mice and significantly reduce the tumor growth without any visible signs of envenomation. Moreover, such nanocarriers are capable of delivering melittin selectively to several tumor targets through the polydiffusion mechanism when the integrity of the cell membrane is maintained.

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor of alpha7 type (a7-



nAChR) is among several receptors that are regarded as tumor targets owing to expression specificity and significancy for cancer. The venom isolate alpha-conotoxin ImI from the cone snail Conus imperialis possesses high affinity for  $\alpha$ 7-nAChR and has been used to increase targeted drug delivery to a7-nAChR-overexpressing tumors. In particular, the toxin was conjugated to the polyethylene glycol-grafted distearoylphosphatidylethanolamine micelles (ImI-PMs), forming spherical NPs of about 20 nm size with high drug encapsulation potential<sup>[33]</sup>. To evaluate the targeting efficacy, the anti-tumor drug paclitaxel, which is frequently used in clinical for the treatment of breast cancer, was loaded in ImI-PMs. It was found that paditaxelloaded ImI-PMs exhibited greater cytotoxicity and induced more cell apoptosis in vitro, as well as displayed stronger antitumor efficacy in MCF-7 tumor-bearing mice. Thus, the alpha-conotoxin ImI-modified nanocarrier showed great potential for targeting  $\alpha$ 7-nAChR-overexpressing tumors.

Snake venom toxin NKCT1 (GNP-NKCT1) tagged to gold NPs was studied as a potential anticancer agent using the human leukemic U937 and K562 cell lines as targets. Treatment of cells with GNP-NKCT1 resulted in the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and a strong increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS). The conjugate induced apoptosis in leukemic cells, but upon suppression of apoptosis an alternative cell death pathway (in the form of autophagy) was observed<sup>[34]</sup>.

Fluorescent nanocrystals, otherwise known as quantum dots (QDs), have received great attention during the last year due to their outstanding properties. Recent advances in QD technology have made it possible to track the motion of individual molecules. Thus, the QDs have been used to monitor the receptors and ion channels in neuronal synapses, in particular in tracking movements of diffuse acetylcholine receptors on the surface of cultured myocytes<sup>[35]</sup>. In cultured myocytes, acetylcholine receptors often form clusters in the absence of stimulation. These clusters can be easily visualized by alpha-bungarotoxin (a neurotoxin isolated from the venom of the Bungarus multicinctus krait) that is fluorescently labeled with organic fluorophores. However, this method was unable to detect the individual acetylcholine receptors that are diffusely distributed throughout the cell surface. To visualize such diffuse receptors, the myocytes were labeled with biotinylated alpha-bungarotoxin and then with streptavidin-conjugated QDs. In this manner, both clusters and individual acetylcholine receptors on the surface of the myocytes were finally able to be observed.

#### Chlorotoxin nanoconjugates - the best example of nanomaterials in venom studies

Chlorotoxin (CTX) found in the Israeli *Leiurus quinquestriatus* scorpion's venom binds preferentially to glioma cells, as compared with non-neoplastic cells or normal brain cells. This finding has allowed for the development of new methods for the treatment and diagnosis of several types of cancer with CTX-targeted NPs now being used fairly often for imaging and therapy of gliomas<sup>[36]</sup>.

Using supermagnetic iron oxide as a nano-vector, a CTX conjugate with methotrexate was obtained<sup>[37]</sup>. This conjugate demonstrated preferential accumulation in and high cytotoxicity against glioma cells *in vitro*. Moreover, the prolonged retention of this NP conjugate was observed in tumor cells *in vivo*.

In another study, CTX conjugated with an aminefunctionalized polysilane and supermagnetic iron oxide NPs was developed<sup>[38]</sup>. As a result, there was an increased uptake of the toxin conjugate into cancer cells and the tumor invasiveness was retarded compared to cells treated with the unconjugated CTX (98% *vs* 45% respectively). Moreover, the CTX-conjugates deactivated membrane-bound MMP2 and caused an increase in the internalization of lipid rafts. Because of its therapeutic action, this type of conjugate is considered a possible candidate for use both in non-invasive diagnosis and in treatment of various tumors.

A CTX-conjugate with near-infrared fluorophore and iron oxide particles coated with a biocompatible polyethylene glycol-modified chitosan was obtained<sup>[39]</sup>. This conjugate was able to cross the blood-brain barrier, capable of mainly targeting brain tumor cells. The obtained compound showed no toxic properties and remained for a long time in the tumor cells.

Polyethyleneglycol-mediated synthesis was used to create highly stable iron oxide NPs. These NPs were conjugated to CTX and Cy5.5 fluorescent dye of near-infrared range. Near-infrared fluorescence imaging showed the specific accumulation of this conjugate in mice glioblastoma cells<sup>[40]</sup>.

CTX was also used to develop the upconversion nanoprobes that have proven useful for tumor targeting and visualization in living animals. Polyethyleniminecoated hexagonal-phase NaYF(4):Yb,Er/Ce NPs were prepared and conjugated with recombinant CTX<sup>[41]</sup>. The resultant conjugates were visualized by laser scanning upconversion fluorescence microscopy. Animal studies provided high-contrast images, demonstrating highly specific tumor binding and direct tumor visualization with bright red fluorescence under 980 nm near-infrared irradiation. The high sensitivity and specificity of the CTX nanoconjugate represent substantial improvements that will benefit the diagnostic and therapeutic approaches for patients suffering from cancer.

Thus, using different conjugation methods, CTX can be tethered to iron oxide NPs, QDs, and upconversion NPs for targeted imaging of gliomas. In addition, CTX nanoconjugates can also be used as carriers to deliver anticancer drugs to gliomas.

The data about application of nanomaterials for the venom research are summarized in Table 1.

#### Potential adverse effects of nanomaterials

Although nanomaterials have numerous applications and possess great advantages over the traditional materials, they can have dangerous properties, which have not yet



#### Table 1 The application of nanomaterials in venom research

Nanomaterial	Toxin/Venom	Application
Polyethylenimine-coated hexagonal-phase	CTX from Leiurus quinquestriatus scorpion's venom	Glioma visualization by laser scanning
NaYF(4):Yb,Er/Ce NPs		upconversion fluorescence microscopy
Highly stable iron oxide NPs conjugated to CTX	CTX	Near-infrared fluorescence imaging
and Cy5.5 fluorescent dye		
Amine-functionalized polysilane and	CTX	Antitumor drug retarding tumor invasiveness and
supermagnetic iron oxide NPs		deactivating membrane-bound MMP2
Supermagnetic iron oxide conjugated with	CTX	Antitumor drug with high cytotoxicity against
methotrexate and CTX		glioma cells in vitro
Streptavidin-conjugated QDs	Biotinylated alpha-bungarotoxin from Bungarus	Visualization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in
	multicinctus krait's venom	the myocytes
Gold NPs	Snake venom toxin NKCT1	Potential anticancer agent
Polyethylene glycol-grafted distearoylphosphat	Alpha-conotoxin ImI from the cone snail Conus	Targeted antitumor drug
idylethanolamine NPs conjugated with ImI and	imperialis	
loaded with paclitaxel		
Perfluorocarbon NPs	The cytolytic peptide melittin, derived from bee	Antitumor drug with reduced acute toxicity
	venom	
Gold NPs with radioisotope label	Bombesin from the frog Bombina bombina	Increase in uptake of the drug by tumor cells
Biodegradable poly(D,L-Lactide-co-glycolide) NPs	Bee venom	Prolonged analgesic effect of the venom
Silica NPs	Walterinnesia aegyptia cobra's venom	Significantly increased antitumor effects of the
		venom
Poly(D,L-Lactide)-based NPs	Toxic fractions obtained from Androctonus australis	Enhanced immune response to weakly
	hector and Buthusoccitanus tunetanus scorpions'	immunogenic toxins
	venoms	
Chitosan NPs	Cobra Naja naja oxiana venom	Alternative to the currently used adjuvants

CTX: Chlorotoxin; NPs: Nanoparticles; QDs: Quantum dots; MMP: Matrix metalloproteinase.

been completely studied and can cause adverse effects in humans. NPs can enter the human body through several routes, including inhalation, ingestion, skin penetration or injection<sup>[42,43]</sup>. After entering the body, NPs can interact with different components and localize in various organs, wherein they may remain intact or be subjected to modification or metabolism. NPs can cross cell boundaries, accumulating within the cells. Once in the cell, they may bind to DNA or proteins and interfere with normal cell functions or trigger an inflammatory response. The production of excess ROS<sup>[44]</sup>, including free radicals, which can cause oxidative stress, inflammation and other cellular damage, is one of the main known toxicity mechanisms of NPs. Similar to the toxicity of the NPs' parent bulk materials, the NPs themselves have toxicity that is determined by their chemical composition; however, size, surface chemistry, shape, and/or surface smoothness or roughness may enhance the toxicity profile of an NP, and all of these features can be altered substantially. While some negative NP effects have become understandable through detailed research, considerable efforts are still needed to study the physiological effects of acute and chronic exposure to NPs. Concerning the safety of NP conjugates with venoms or toxins, their application in vivo should be carried out with great care, keeping in mind the toxicity of starting materials.

#### CONCLUSION

Modern technologies, namely omics and nanotechnology, have made a great impact on the development of different branches of science and have contributed substantially to recent advancements in the field of venom research. Application of omics technologies have led to a better understanding of venom composition and of the roles played by different toxins in a given venom's effects. Preparation of conjugates of animal toxins with NPs opens a new path to creation of novel and innovative effective drugs, having better therapeutic potential and biocompatibility, as well as to the generation of more advanced systems to better deliver these drugs. However, NPs can generate ROS and induce apoptosis in the affected cells. These effects, on the one hand, may kill cancer cells, while, on the other hand, they may produce negative effects on normal cells. Thus, the possible adverse effects of NPs on human health should be taken into account when considering their application.

#### REFERENCES

- Omics: Diagram illustrating genomics, 2016. Available from: URL: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Omics
- 2 Pimenta AM, Stöcklin R, Favreau P, Bougis PE, Martin-Eauclaire MF. Moving pieces in a proteomic puzzle: mass fingerprinting of toxic fractions from the venom of Tityus serrulatus (Scorpiones, Buthidae). *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2001; **15**: 1562-1572 [PMID: 11713783 DOI: 10.1002/rcm.415]
- Juárez P, Sanz L, Calvete JJ. Snake venomics: characterization of protein families in Sistrurus barbouri venom by cysteine mapping, N-terminal sequencing, and tandem mass spectrometry analysis. *Proteomics* 2004; 4: 327-338 [PMID: 14760702 DOI: 10.1002/ pmic.200300628]
- 4 Kovalchuk SI, Ziganshin RH, Starkov VG, Tsetlin VI, Utkin YN. Quantitative Proteomic Analysis of Venoms from Russian Vipers of Pelias Group: Phospholipases A<sub>2</sub> are the Main Venom Components. *Toxins* (Basel) 2016; 8: 105 [PMID: 27077884 DOI:

10.3390/toxins8040105]

- 5 Calvete JJ, Sanz L, Angulo Y, Lomonte B, Gutiérrez JM. Venoms, venomics, antivenomics. *FEBS Lett* 2009; 583: 1736-1743 [PMID: 19303875 DOI: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.03.029]
- 6 OmPraba G, Chapeaurouge A, Doley R, Devi KR, Padmanaban P, Venkatraman C, Velmurugan D, Lin Q, Kini RM. Identification of a novel family of snake venom proteins Veficolins from Cerberus rynchops using a venom gland transcriptomics and proteomics approach. *J Proteome Res* 2010; **9**: 1882-1893 [PMID: 20158271 DOI: 10.1021/pr901044x]
- 7 Ching AT, Paes Leme AF, Zelanis A, Rocha MM, Furtado Mde F, Silva DA, Trugilho MR, da Rocha SL, Perales J, Ho PL, Serrano SM, Junqueira-de-Azevedo IL. Venomics profiling of Thamnodynastes strigatus unveils matrix metalloproteinases and other novel proteins recruited to the toxin arsenal of rear-fanged snakes. *J Proteome Res* 2012; **11**: 1152-1162 [PMID: 22168127 DOI: 10.1021/pr200876c]
- 8 Chatrath ST, Chapeaurouge A, Lin Q, Lim TK, Dunstan N, Mirtschin P, Kumar PP, Kini RM. Identification of novel proteins from the venom of a cryptic snake Drysdalia coronoides by a combined transcriptomics and proteomics approach. *J Proteome Res* 2011; 10: 739-750 [PMID: 21133350 DOI: 10.1021/pr1008916]
- 9 Vassilevski AA, Kozlov SA, Grishin EV. Molecular diversity of spider venom. *Biochemistry* (Mosc) 2009; 74: 1505-1534 [PMID: 20210706 DOI: 10.1134/S000297909130069]
- 10 Dias NB, de Souza BM, Gomes PC, Brigatte P, Palma MS. Peptidome profiling of venom from the social wasp Polybia paulista. *Toxicon* 2015; 107: 290-303 [PMID: 26303042 DOI: 10.1016/ j.toxicon.2015.08.013]
- 11 Abreu TF, Sumitomo BN, Nishiyama MY, Oliveira UC, Souza GH, Kitano ES, Zelanis A, Serrano SM, Junqueira-de-Azevedo I, Silva PI, Tashima AK. Peptidomics of Acanthoscurria gomesiana spider venom reveals new toxins with potential antimicrobial activity. *J Proteomics* 2016; **151**: 232-242 [PMID: 27436114 DOI: 10.1016/j.jprot.2016.07.012]
- 12 He QY, He QZ, Deng XC, Yao L, Meng E, Liu ZH, Liang SP. ATDB: a uni-database platform for animal toxins. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2008; 36: D293-D297 [PMID: 17933766 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkm832]
- 13 Herzig V, Wood DL, Newell F, Chaumeil PA, Kaas Q, Binford GJ, Nicholson GM, Gorse D, King GF. ArachnoServer 2.0, an updated online resource for spider toxin sequences and structures. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2011; **39**: D653-D657 [PMID: 21036864 DOI: 10.1093/ nar/gkq1058]
- 14 Kuzmenkov AI, Krylov NA, Chugunov AO, Grishin EV, Vassilevski AA. Kalium: a database of potassium channel toxins from scorpion venom. *Database* (Oxford) 2016; 2016; pii: baw056 [PMID: 27087309 DOI: 10.1093/database/baw056]
- 15 Genomics: Biology portal Molecular and cellular biology portal, 2016. Available from: URL: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Genomics
- 16 The Honeybee Genome Sequencing Consortium. Insights into social insects from the genome of the honeybee Apis mellifera. *Nature* 2006; 443: 931-949 [PMID: 17073008 DOI: 10.1038/ nature05260]
- 17 Cao Z, Yu Y, Wu Y, Hao P, Di Z, He Y, Chen Z, Yang W, Shen Z, He X, Sheng J, Xu X, Pan B, Feng J, Yang X, Hong W, Zhao W, Li Z, Huang K, Li T, Kong Y, Liu H, Jiang D, Zhang B, Hu J, Hu Y, Wang B, Dai J, Yuan B, Feng Y, Huang W, Xing X, Zhao G, Li X, Li Y, Li W. The genome of Mesobuthus martensii reveals a unique adaptation model of arthropods. *Nat Commun* 2013; 4: 2602 [PMID: 24129506 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms3602]
- 18 Sanggaard KW, Bechsgaard JS, Fang X, Duan J, Dyrlund TF, Gupta V, Jiang X, Cheng L, Fan D, Feng Y, Han L, Huang Z, Wu Z, Liao L, Settepani V, Thøgersen IB, Vanthournout B, Wang T, Zhu Y, Funch P, Enghild JJ, Schauser L, Andersen SU, Villesen P, Schierup MH, Bilde T, Wang J. Spider genomes provide insight into composition and evolution of venom and silk. *Nat Commun* 2014; **5**: 3765 [PMID: 24801114 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms4765]
- 19 Vonk FJ, Casewell NR, Henkel CV, Heimberg AM, Jansen HJ, McCleary RJ, Kerkkamp HM, Vos RA, Guerreiro I, Calvete JJ,

Wüster W, Woods AE, Logan JM, Harrison RA, Castoe TA, de Koning AP, Pollock DD, Yandell M, Calderon D, Renjifo C, Currier RB, Salgado D, Pla D, Sanz L, Hyder AS, Ribeiro JM, Arntzen JW, van den Thillart GE, Boetzer M, Pirovano W, Dirks RP, Spaink HP, Duboule D, McGlinn E, Kini RM, Richardson MK. The king cobra genome reveals dynamic gene evolution and adaptation in the snake venom system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2013; **110**: 20651-20656 [PMID: 24297900 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1314702110]

- 20 Richardson MK, Kini RM. Commentary: The Promise of Snake Genomics. In: Utkin YN, Krivoshein AV. Snake Venoms and Envenomation: Modern Trends and Future Prospects. Hauppauge: Nova Science Publishers, 2016: 283-287
- 21 Zhong J, Zeng XC, Zeng X, Nie Y, Zhang L, Wu S, Bao A. Transcriptomic analysis of the venom glands from the scorpion Hadogenes troglodytes revealed unique and extremely high diversity of the venom peptides. *J Proteomics* 2017; **150**: 40-62 [PMID: 27519694 DOI: 10.1016/j.jprot.2016.08.004]
- 22 Chen T, Bjourson AJ, Orr DF, Kwok H, Rao P, Ivanyi C, Shaw C. Unmasking venom gland transcriptomes in reptile venoms. *Anal Biochem* 2002; **311**: 152-156 [PMID: 12470674 DOI: 10.1016/ s0003-2697(02)00404-9]
- 23 Modahl CM, Mackessy SP. Full-Length Venom Protein cDNA Sequences from Venom-Derived mRNA: Exploring Compositional Variation and Adaptive Multigene Evolution. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2016; **10**: e0004587 [PMID: 27280639 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0004587]
- 24 Whiteley G, Logan RA, Leung KY, Newberry FJ, Rowley PD, Dunbar JP, Wagstaff SC, Casewell NR, Harrison RA. Stabilising the Integrity of Snake Venom mRNA Stored under Tropical Field Conditions Expands Research Horizons. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2016; 10: e0004615 [PMID: 27280729 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd. 0004615]
- 25 Matysiak J, Dereziński P, Klupczyńska A, Matysiak J, Kaczmarek E, Kokot ZJ. Effects of a honeybee sting on the serum free amino acid profile in humans. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e103533 [PMID: 25072247 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103533]
- 26 Arjmand M, Akbari Z, Taghizadeh N, Shahbazzadeh D, Zamani Z. NMR-based metabonomics survey in rats envenomed by Hemiscorpius lepturus venom. *Toxicon* 2015; 94: 16-22 [PMID: 25478805 DOI: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2014.12.003]
- Mohammadpourdounighi N, Behfar A, Ezabadi A, Zolfagharian H, Heydari M. Preparation of chitosan nanoparticles containing Naja naja oxiana snake venom. *Nanomedicine* 2010; 6: 137-143 [PMID: 19616121 DOI: 10.1016/j.nano.2009.06.002]
- 28 Ayari-Riabi S, Trimaille T, Mabrouk K, Bertin D, Gigmes D, Benlasfar Z, Zaghmi A, Bouhaouala-Zahar B, Elayeb M. Venom conjugated polylactide applied as biocompatible material for passive and active immunotherapy against scorpion envenomation. *Vaccine* 2016; 34: 1810-1815 [PMID: 26902547 DOI: 10.1016/ j.vaccine.2016.02.030]
- 29 Badr G, Sayed D, Maximous D, Mohamed AO, Gul M. Increased susceptibility to apoptosis and growth arrest of human breast cancer cells treated by a snake venom-loaded silica nanoparticles. *Cell Physiol Biochem* 2014; 34: 1640-1651 [PMID: 25401286 DOI: 10.1159/000366366]
- 30 Jeong I, Kim BS, Lee H, Lee KM, Shim I, Kang SK, Yin CS, Hahm DH. Prolonged analgesic effect of PLGA-encapsulated bee venom on formalin-induced pain in rats. *Int J Pharm* 2009; 380: 62-66 [PMID: 19577620 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2009.06.034]
- 31 Chanda N, Kattumuri V, Shukla R, Zambre A, Katti K, Upendran A, Kulkarni RR, Kan P, Fent GM, Casteel SW, Smith CJ, Boote E, Robertson JD, Cutler C, Lever JR, Katti KV, Kannan R. Bombesin functionalized gold nanoparticles show in vitro and in vivo cancer receptor specificity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010; **107**: 8760-8765 [PMID: 20410458 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1002143107]
- 32 Soman NR, Baldwin SL, Hu G, Marsh JN, Lanza GM, Heuser JE, Arbeit JM, Wickline SA, Schlesinger PH. Molecularly targeted nanocarriers deliver the cytolytic peptide melittin specifically to tumor cells in mice, reducing tumor growth. *J Clin Invest* 2009; 119: 2830-2842 [PMID: 19726870 DOI: 10.1172/JCI38842]

- 33 Mei D, Lin Z, Fu J, He B, Gao W, Ma L, Dai W, Zhang H, Wang X, Wang J, Zhang X, Lu W, Zhou D, Zhang Q. The use of α-conotoxin ImI to actualize the targeted delivery of paclitaxel micelles to α7 nAChR-overexpressing breast cancer. *Biomaterials* 2015; 42: 52-65 [PMID: 25542793 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.11.044]
- 34 Bhowmik T, Gomes A. NKCT1 (purified Naja kaouthia protein toxin) conjugated gold nanoparticles induced Akt/mTOR inactivation mediated autophagic and caspase 3 activated apoptotic cell death in leukemic cell. *Toxicon* 2016; **121**: 86-97 [PMID: 27527270 DOI: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2016.08.004]
- 35 Geng L, Zhang HL, Peng HB. The formation of acetylcholine receptor clusters visualized with quantum dots. *BMC Neurosci* 2009; 10: 80 [PMID: 19604411 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2202-10-80]
- 36 Zhao L, Shi X, Zhao J. Chlorotoxin-conjugated nanoparticles for targeted imaging and therapy of glioma. *Curr Top Med Chem* 2015; **15**: 1196-1208 [PMID: 25858130 DOI: 10.2174/156802661 5666150330110822]
- 37 Sun C, Fang C, Stephen Z, Veiseh O, Hansen S, Lee D, Ellenbogen RG, Olson J, Zhang M. Tumor-targeted drug delivery and MRI contrast enhancement by chlorotoxin-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine* (Lond) 2008; **3**: 495-505 [PMID: 18694312 DOI: 10.2217/17435889.3.4.495]
- 38 Veiseh O, Gunn JW, Kievit FM, Sun C, Fang C, Lee JS, Zhang M. Inhibition of tumor-cell invasion with chlorotoxin-bound superparamagnetic nanoparticles. *Small* 2009; 5: 256-264 [PMID: 19089837 DOI: 10.1002/smll.200800646]

- 39 Veisch O, Sun C, Fang C, Bhattarai N, Gunn J, Kievit F, Du K, Pullar B, Lee D, Ellenbogen RG, Olson J, Zhang M. Specific targeting of brain tumors with an optical/magnetic resonance imaging nanoprobe across the blood-brain barrier. *Cancer Res* 2009; 69: 6200-6207 [PMID: 19638572 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472]
- 40 Sun C, Du K, Fang C, Bhattarai N, Veiseh O, Kievit F, Stephen Z, Lee D, Ellenbogen RG, Ratner B, Zhang M. PEG-mediated synthesis of highly dispersive multifunctional superparamagnetic nanoparticles: their physicochemical properties and function in vivo. ACS Nano 2010; 4: 2402-2410 [PMID: 20232826 DOI: 10.1021/nn100190v]
- 41 Yu XF, Sun Z, Li M, Xiang Y, Wang QQ, Tang F, Wu Y, Cao Z, Li W. Neurotoxin-conjugated upconversion nanoprobes for direct visualization of tumors under near-infrared irradiation. *Biomaterials* 2010; **31**: 8724-8731 [PMID: 20728213 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterial s.2010.07.099]
- 42 Gwinn MR, Vallyathan V. Nanoparticles: health effects--pros and cons. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114: 1818-1825 [PMID: 17185269]
- 43 Sharifi S, Behzadi S, Laurent S, Forrest ML, Stroeve P, Mahmoudi M. Toxicity of nanomaterials. *Chem Soc Rev* 2012; 41: 2323-2343 [PMID: 22170510 DOI: 10.1039/c1cs15188f]
- 44 Syed S, Zubair A, Frieri M. Immune response to nanomaterials: implications for medicine and literature review. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep* 2013; 13: 50-57 [PMID: 22941559 DOI: 10.1007/ s11882-012-0302-3]

P- Reviewer: Cairo G, Carter WG, Chang KA S- Editor: Song XX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.13

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 13-20

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

EDITORIAL

## Biochemical strategies for the detection and detoxification of toxic chemicals in the environment

#### Ferdinando Febbraio

Ferdinando Febbraio, Institute of Protein Biochemistry, National Research Council, 80131 Naples, Italy

Author contributions: Febbraio F contributed the total content of this paper.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** Febbraio F declares that he has no conflict of interest related to this publication.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Ferdinando Febbraio, PhD, Researcher, Institute of Protein Biochemistry, National Research Council, *via* P. Castellino 111, 80131 Naples, Italy. f.febbraio@ibp.cnr.it Telephone: +39-081-6132611 Fax: +39-081-6132611

Received: August 28, 2016 Peer-review started: August 30, 2016 First decision: November 11, 2016 Revised: December 12, 2016 Accepted: January 16, 2017 Article in press: January 18, 2017 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

Addressing the problems related to the widespread presence of an increasing number of chemicals released into the environment by human activities represents one of the most important challenges of this century. In the last few years, to replace the high cost, in terms

of time and money, of conventional technologies, the scientific community has directed considerable research towards the development both of new detection systems for the measurement of the contamination levels of chemicals in people's body fluids and tissue, as well as in the environment, and of new remediation strategies for the removal of such chemicals from the environment, as a means of the prevention of human diseases. New emerging biosensors for the analysis of environmental chemicals have been proposed, including VHH antibodies, that combine the antibody performance with the affinity for small molecules, genetically engineered microorganisms, aptamers and new highly stable enzymes. However, the advances in the field of chemicals monitoring are still far from producing a continuous realtime and on-line system for their detection. Better results have been obtained in the development of strategies which use organisms (microorganisms, plants and animals) or metabolic pathway-based approaches (single enzymes or more complex enzymatic solutions) for the fixation, degradation and detoxification of chemicals in the environment. Systems for enzymatic detoxification and degradation of toxic agents in wastewater from chemical and manufacturing industries, such as ligninolytic enzymes for the treatment of wastewater from the textile industry, have been proposed. Considering the high value of these research studies, in terms of the protection of human health and of the ecosystem, science must play a major role in guiding policy changes in this field.

**Key words:** Biosensors; Biomonitoring; Bioremediation; Toxic compounds; Chemicals pollution; Human health; Environmental pollutants

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** The increasing focus on the presence of hazardous chemicals in the environment is directing scientific research towards the development of new and eco-sustainable strategies for their control. Such



advances in technology are enabling scientists to improve the detection limits of these substances, in the environment, in food and the human body, as well as to develop new strategies for their removal from their surroundings. However, further research is required to achieve the goal of a continuous monitoring of the environment and of providing, in real time, information on its current state.

Febbraio F. Biochemical strategies for the detection and detoxification of toxic chemicals in the environment. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 13-20 Available from: URL: http://www. wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/13.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.13

#### INTRODUCTION

Addressing the issue of chemicals in the environment is not easy. The world's chemical production increased 400 fold in the last century, leading to the introduction of an increasing number of toxic substances into the environment, all directly related to technological progress and improvements in agricultural and industrial methods. The 2014 inventory of the Environmental Protection Agency includes approximately 85000 different chemicals available for use in just the United States<sup>[1]</sup>, and only a small subset of these chemicals has been sufficiently characterized in order to draw conclusions about their toxicity<sup>[2,3]</sup>. While some chemicals may be harmless, others can be very toxic for human health. In particular, special attention has been focused on chemicals that persist in the environment and can accumulate in the human body, interfering with hormones (endocrine disruptors), causing cancer or damaging DNA.

In 2009, the "Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals" of the Department of Health and Human Services (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention - National Center for Environmental Health - United States)<sup>[4]</sup>, aimed at bio-monitoring the United States population by measuring the chemicals in people's urine and blood, revealed for the first time the presence of 75 new toxic chemicals in the United States population. The update of this report in August 2014 (Updated Tables, July 2014)<sup>[5]</sup> presents data relating to 35 additional chemicals.

The priority list of hazardous substances (https:// www.atsdr.cdc.gov/spl/) includes more than 700 compounds, belonging to groups such as Metals and Metalloids, Disinfection By-Products, Environmental Phenols, Phthalates, Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons, Volatile Organic Compounds, Fungicides, Herbicides and Pesticides (Carbamates, Organochlorines and Organophosphates).

#### IMPACT ON HUMAN HEALTH OF LOW LEVEL EXPOSURE TO TOXIC CHEMICALS

The toxic effects of several chemicals on human health

and on the environment (animals and plants) are well known. For instance, phthalates, causing epigenetic alterations, play an important role in adverse offspring neurodevelopment and in complex diseases such as cancers and diabetes<sup>[6,7]</sup>.

Considerable legislation, in many countries of Europe, America and Asia, is aimed at regulating the relative amounts that can be released into the environment and the human exposure time in relation to the majority of these chemicals. Recommended limit values of exposure to chemicals in the environment in terms of time and quantity have been determined following toxicological studies best suited to the evaluation of health risks<sup>[8-10]</sup>. These limits are not absolute, but subject to change depending on advances in scientific knowledge. Unfortunately, this approach has resulted in potentially dangerous practices, such as the massive introduction of chemicals insufficiently characterized from a toxicological point of view, as well as the use of complex mixtures in which all the individual components are under the threshold but their combination may be hazardous. However, the effects of a prolonged exposure to low concentrations of these chemicals, as well as the cumulative effects of mixtures of these substances, even in traces, still remain unclear. Recently, the failure to explain the vast majority of chronic diseases afflicting an increasing percentage of the population<sup>[11]</sup> by means of genome-wide association studies, together with the reported transformation in developed countries of many infectious diseases into chronic diseases, has led to a fundamental reconsideration of the health impact of environmental exposure to chemicals<sup>[12]</sup>. In a recent article, Bijlsma and Cohen highlight the growing awareness that several chemicals present at low concentrations in the environment (in air, water, soil, food, buildings and household products) contribute to the contraction of many of the chronic diseases typically seen in routine medical practice<sup>[13]</sup>.

#### TOBACCO SMOKING: A BAD HABIT CONTRIBUTING TO CHEMICAL POLLUTION

Although it may sound excessive, a bad habit, such as cigarette smoking, may introduce over 4500 chemicals to the environment, including metals<sup>[14]</sup>, *via* cigarette particulate matter and mainstream smoke<sup>[15]</sup>, contributing to an increase in the level of harmful compounds in more populated areas. In particular, tobacco product waste contains all the toxins, nicotine, and carcinogens found in tobacco products, and becomes a public pollution problem because chemicals can leach into aquatic environments and are toxic to aquatic micro-organisms and fish<sup>[16,17]</sup>.

In spite of the undeniable evidence of harm associated with cigarette smoking, which can affect male fertility<sup>[18]</sup>, induce oxidative stress and pro-inflammatory responses<sup>[19,20]</sup>, promote cancer and other pulmonary and cardiovascular diseases<sup>[21]</sup>, the habit remains unacceptably prevalent in both developed and developing countries.

In relation to tobacco smoking, in order to avoid the



introduction of harmful chemicals other than those that are really necessary to maintain the current technological status, we should simply reduce, or even better stop, the consumption of cigarettes.

In conclusion, we must agree with Vassallo  $et al^{[22]}$  in their opinion that cigarette smoking is a leading cause of preventable mortality in the world.

#### THE CASE OF PESTICIDES

Currently, the most dangerous chemical pollution is represented by pesticides. The fact that five of the nine new persistent organic pollutants (POPs)<sup>[23-25]</sup>, which bioaccumulate in humans and animals, are pesticides (https://www.environment.gov.au/protection /chemicalsmanagement/pops/new-pops), highlights the importance that must be attached to the presence of these substances in the environment. Differently from other harmful chemicals, introduced into the environment by natural processes, or produced as by-products of industrial processes and other human activities, pesticides are designed to be toxic and are used as poisons to kill organisms. They are extensively applied over large areas in agriculture and in urban settings, becoming the most diffuse form of chemical pollution in the world, and one which is also very difficult to control. In the last 20 years the number of publications relating to pesticides has doubled to up to one thousand per year, and the majority of these articles concern their negative effects on human health, and focus, in particular, on neurological diseases in children<sup>[26-31]</sup>. Recently, Science, a high impact factor journal, has addressed the problems relating to pesticides in a special issue entitled "Smart pest control"<sup>[32]</sup>. The articles in this issue focus on many topics including the increasing use of pesticides in Asia, South America and Europe, their widespread diffusion and transformation in the environment, their involvement with neurodegenerative diseases and cognitive deficits in developing age, new strategies to reduce their negative impacts, the development of new synthetic chemicals with less collateral damage, and above all the major role that science could play in guiding policy changes in this field.

### STATE OF THE ART IN CHEMICAL DETECTION AND DEGRADATION

The detection and monitoring of toxic compounds has improved significantly in the last few years. Technological advances, such as Surface-Activated Chemical Ionization<sup>[33,34]</sup> which increases the sensitivity and accuracy of GC-LC-MS measurements, in association with methodologies, such as Quick Easy Cheap Effective Rugged and Safe<sup>[35]</sup>, allow the identification of hundreds of these substances in a single shot. However, their detection in the environment still remains difficult, because toxic chemicals are so widely distributed in the world and can be found in locations as diverse as pristine forests and the blood of arctic animals, wind, rain and other weather phenomena contributing to their diffusion.

The use of biomarkers in combination with sampling from water and soil will facilitate the tracking of the amount of chemicals in the environment<sup>[36-38]</sup>. However, any analysis using the technology currently available, although it is very powerful, generally requires several weeks to complete. In fact, it is necessary to collect many samples in order to have an accurate representation of an environment (randomly from air, soil, water, foods and human and animal fluids or tissues, such as the blood and urine). These samples must be transferred and stored for the necessary time for their analysis in authorized centers, without considering the possibility that very often an extraction and/or derivatization of the samples is also required. All this infrastructure has too high a cost in terms of money and time to allow a continuous monitoring of the environment or of the population.

In agreement with the United States Environmental Protection Agency<sup>[39]</sup>, *in vitro* screening using biological pathway-based approaches has become central to 21<sup>st</sup> century toxicity testing. Furthermore, I would suggest that the establishment of a capillary network of environmental sensors for the on-line and real-time monitoring of toxic chemicals and the development of new eco-sustainable methodologies for the removal of these toxic compounds from the environment should now be considered among the most important challenges for the future.

In fact, the current chemical remediation methodologies are unsuitable because most of them use chemical or physical approaches which either simply shift the problem into the future (such as the storage of nerve agents in military bases, or the sequestration and storage of obsolete pesticides in inadequate facilities, particularly in third world countries) or introduce other harmful compounds into the environment, such as through the incineration of pesticides or the inactivation of reactive groups of chemicals using strong alkaline (sodium hydroxide) or acidic solutions<sup>[40-43]</sup>. Moreover, due to the wide heterogeneity of chemical pollution, none of the strategies currently employed is totally satisfactory. Therefore, the development of new environmentally-friendly strategies to support the current methodologies has become crucial.

#### BIOCHEMICAL STRATEGIES TO DETECT CHEMICALS

The research into new technologies to replace conventional GC- and LC-MS methodologies for the environmental detection of chemicals has been intensifying in recent years. In particular, the development of sensors and biosensors for the precise detection and estimation of hazardous chemicals in different samples (water, human fluids and tissue, *etc.*) has been gaining momentum.

The advantages of biosensors compared to the current technological approaches could be summarized in a few words: Easiness, cheapness, and speediness.

Biosensors are characterized by a "bioreceptor",



which is the biological part recognizing the substance, a "transducer", that transforms the biological interaction into a measurable signal, and a "reader/recorder", that displays the results. Sometimes an "amplifier" can be used to amplify the signal improving the sensitivity of the biosensor  $^{\left[ 44,45\right] }.$  Biological scientists can play an important role in the development of biosensors, in that biosensors for toxic chemicals can be based on animals, microorganisms, antibodies, enzymes, and nucleic acids<sup>[46-48]</sup>. The limit of detection (LOD) of a number of these biosensors is comparable with, if not greater than, standard technologies<sup>[49-52]</sup>. Further details on the characteristics of the most recent biosensors and on the advances in the development of these technologies can be found in several recent articles<sup>[44-46,48,53-55]</sup>. We can distinguish between two different applications of these biosensors, namely for diagnostic use in clinical settings and for the environmental monitoring of chemicals. The recent development of diagnostic biosensors permits us to hypothesize about their possible use in the near future for the measurement of chemicals in routine clinical analysis<sup>[56-58]</sup>.

New emerging biosensors for the analysis of environmental chemicals have been proposed in order to offer a simple alternative means of assessment approach, such as VHH antibodies (the antigen binding fragment of heavy chain antibodies) that combine the comparable performance of conventional antibodies with the affinity for small molecules<sup>[59]</sup>, or genetically engineered microbial whole-cells, that respond to target chemicals and produce detectable output signals<sup>[60]</sup>. However, these advances in the field of environmental chemical monitoring are still far from producing a continuous real-time and on-line system for their detection.

In conclusion, it is necessary to highlight the fact that the use of biosensors is crucial not only for the detection of the presence of chemicals, but also for the detoxification monitoring which should always be used to evaluate the efficiency of a treatment technique.

#### DETECTION OF NEUROTOXIC CHEMICALS

Excluding neurotoxic poisons produced by certain fish, insects and reptiles (such as Bungarotoxin, Chlorotoxin, Conotoxin, and Tetrodotoxin), or by certain plants, algae and bacteria (such as Anatoxin-a, Tetanus and the Botulinum toxins), as well as some metals, such as lead and mercury, that can affect the activities of the nervous system, the most diffuse synthetic chemicals that impair the central nervous system are nerve agents, certain pesticides (for example, the organophosphates) and some organic solvents, such as hexane. These neurotoxins affect the transmission of chemical signals between neurons, causing a number of disorders and even fatality. In particular, the majority (the nerve agents and organophosphate pesticides) act as inhibitors of acethylcholinesterase activity<sup>[61]</sup>. Acethylcholinesterases are enzymes belonging to the carboxylesterase family,

involved in the regulation of nerve signal transmission at the chemical synapses, by hydrolyzing acethylcholine and other choline ester neurotransmitters. The inactivation of this enzyme causes paralysis and even death. As this result, indeed, is the specific target of the above mentioned toxic chemicals, this family of enzymes remains the one most extensively studied for use as bioreceptors in the development of biosensors for neurotoxic chemicals<sup>[62-64]</sup>. The principles of acethylcholinesterase biosensors are based on the measurement of the residual activity of the enzyme using different substrates, such as acethylcholine and thiocholine, that can be monitored using potentiometric, amperometric and optical devices<sup>[62-64]</sup>. The LODs that can be obtained using acethylcholinesterase activities, in particular from insects, for the detection of these neurotoxic compounds, remain among the highest obtainable<sup>[65]</sup>.

Recently, new alternative bioreceptors have been proposed, including new enzymes, microorganisms, antibodies, and aptamers<sup>[66-69]</sup>, which represent a possible alternative to overcome the limitations involved in the use of acethylcholinesterases.

#### **BIOREMEDIATION OF CHEMICALS**

Exploiting the bioremediation lessons that the ecosystem teaches us, we advance to the development of strategies which use organisms (microorganisms, plants and animals) or metabolic pathway-based approaches (single enzymes or more complex enzymatic solutions) for the fixation, degradation and detoxification of chemicals in the environment.

In particular, microbial remediation strategies for soil ecology have attracted increasing interest since they are environmentally friendly and cost-effective<sup>[70]</sup>. Several examples of such strategies can be found in literature, but none are totally satisfactory. A limitation in the use of strains isolated from the environment or genetically engineered in the laboratory, for the treatment of soil contaminated with chemicals, is related to their reduced growth capacity when sharing the environment with other microorganisms that use better substrates. Indeed, differently from results obtained in the laboratory where these microorganisms grow in optimized conditions and in the absence of competitors, the yields in chemical remediation are weak in operative conditions. A valid alternative is represented by the use of plants, but the introduction of new species into the environment requires considerable time before any significant results are obtained.

A different approach that overcomes the limitation consisting in the length of time required for decontamination using organisms could be the use of enzymes, which can bind with a high affinity the chemical compounds and catalyze their hydrolysis in hours if not minutes. Unfortunately, the use of enzymes in soil remediation is often handicapped by the large amount of enzyme required, by the absence of a sufficient quantity of water, generally needed for the solubilization and the hydrolysis



of substrates, by the low stability of enzymes outside cells, and by the presence of microorganisms, that inactivate them. For these reasons the bioremediation of ground represents one of the most important challenges of our century, but, unfortunately, we are still far from achieving important results.

A different situation applies in relation to the treatment of contaminated water, since it is possible to extract a large quantity of water from watercourses or lakes, transferring it into bioreactors containing enzymes and reducing the number of contaminants in a short time. The use of very stable enzymes, genetically engineered to be resistant to proteases or to the presence of organic solvents and detergents, and produced in a large quantity at a low cost by over-expression in an appropriate host, could be the right answer to the problem. A formulation of different enzymatic activities or a number of bioreactors containing different enzymes and connected in a series could treat several chemicals at the same time. In particular, as proposed for the detoxification by ligninolytic enzymes of wastewater from the textile industry with a yield from 69% up to 87%<sup>[71]</sup>, the enzymatic detoxification and degradation of toxic agents in wastewater from the chemical industry could possibly be used to reduce drastically the quantity of chemicals released into the environment.

#### **BIOREMEDIATION OF NEUROTOXIC**

#### COMPOUNDS

For the bioremediation of neurotoxic compounds, such as organophosphates, other and efficient enzymes have recently been studied. Differently from the activities of acethylcholinesterase that are inhibited by neurotoxins, some enzymes belonging to the Aryldialkylphosphatase family, such as the Pseudomonas diminuta phosphotriesterase<sup>[72]</sup> and *Sulfolobus solfataricus* paraoxonase<sup>[73,74]</sup>, are able to hydrolyze these chemicals. Considering the importance of this field, in particular in relation to the possible use of enzymes in the decontamination of nerve agents in military actions, all the enzymes are under patent, and some have already been commercialized individually or in formulation. Despite the great potential of these enzymes, several limitations still remain. Indeed, mesophilic enzymes, that show a high activity towards several nerve agents, have at the same time a very low stability and lose their activity in minutes in the environment. Differently, alternative enzymes isolated from thermophilic organisms, showing a high stability not only towards temperature but also towards organic solvents, detergents and proteases, present a lower catalytic performance, if compared to the mesophilic ones<sup>[74]</sup>.

Although the production of nerve agents should be discontinued, large amounts already produced during the cold war are still stored and require degradation into less dangerous chemicals. Moreover, some of these enzymes are also active on a number of pesticides, and therefore developments in this field are undoubtedly much needed.

#### CONCLUSION

Human activity has resulted in severe environmental pollution, which has now emerged as a major global issue. However, it is a utopian idea to hope for a world without any chemical pollutants, as technological and scientific progress requires an extensive use of chemicals. Therefore, the requirement is not to reduce industrial activities, but to realize that we must optimize current technologies in order to reduce the quantity of contaminants released. An example could be the amount of pesticides used on crops, which could be significantly diminished simply by monitoring the quantity still present in the field, so avoiding an excessive use. On the other hand, we need to develop new eco-sustainable processes of production in order to avoid a massive introduction of harmful chemicals into the environment. Meanwhile, the use of metabolic pathways present in or extracted from microorganisms and plants could be the right approach for future strategies of bioremediation. To achieve this goal, it will be necessary to strengthen the current scientific engagement, enabling scientists from different fields to collaborate in the development of innovative strategies to address the problems related to toxic chemicals.

To put it simply, we should arguably have had an antidote before introducing a poison into the environment. That antidote may well be enzymes, which catalyze almost all of the reactions on the Earth.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 2014. Tox21. Available from: URL: http://www.epa.gov/ncct/ Tox21/
- 2 Judson R, Richard A, Dix DJ, Houck K, Martin M, Kavlock R, Dellarco V, Henry T, Holderman T, Sayre P, Tan S, Carpenter T, Smith E. The toxicity data landscape for environmental chemicals. *Environ Health Perspect* 2009; **117**: 685-695 [PMID: 19479008 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.0800168]
- 3 Landrigan PJ, Goldman LR. Chemical safety, health care costs and the Affordable Care Act. *Am J Ind Med* 2014; 57: 1-3 [PMID: 24136096 DOI: 10.1002/ajim.22268]
- 4 The Fourth Report. Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals, Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Environmental Health USA. 2009. Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/exposurereport/fourthreport.pdf
- 5 Updated Tables to the Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Environmental Health USA. 2014. Available from: URL: http://www.cdc. gov/exposurereport/fourthreport\_updatedtables\_aug2014.pdf
- 6 Ponsonby AL, Symeonides C, Vuillermin P, Mueller J, Sly PD, Saffery R. Epigenetic regulation of neurodevelopmental genes in response to in utero exposure to phthalate plastic chemicals: How can we delineate causal effects? *Neurotoxicology* 2016; **55**: 92-101 [PMID: 27208563 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2016.05.011]
- Singh S, Li SS. Epigenetic effects of environmental chemicals bisphenol A and phthalates. *Int J Mol Sci* 2012; 13: 10143-10153 [PMID: 22949852 DOI: 10.3390/ijms130810143]
- 8 Bolt HM, Thier R. Biological monitoring and Biological Limit



#### Febbraio F. Detection and detoxification of toxic chemicals

Values (BLV): the strategy of the European Union. *Toxicol Lett* 2006; **162**: 119-124 [PMID: 16326051 DOI: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2005. 09.015]

- 9 Bolt HM, Huici-Montagud A. Strategy of the scientific committee on occupational exposure limits (SCOEL) in the derivation of occupational exposure limits for carcinogens and mutagens. *Arch Toxicol* 2008; 82: 61-64 [PMID: 18008062 DOI: 10.1007/s00204-007-0260-z]
- 10 Bruinen de Bruin Y, Koistinen K, Kephalopoulos S, Geiss O, Tirendi S, Kotzias D. Characterisation of urban inhalation exposures to benzene, formaldehyde and acetaldehyde in the European Union: comparison of measured and modelled exposure data. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2008; **15**: 417-430 [PMID: 18491156 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-008-0013-4]
- 11 Reichard A, Gulley SP, Rasch EK, Chan L. Diagnosis isn't enough: Understanding the connections between high health care utilization, chronic conditions and disabilities among U.S. working age adults. *Disabil Health J* 2015; 8: 535-546 [PMID: 26082321 DOI: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.04.006]
- 12 Laborde A, Tomasina F, Bianchi F, Bruné MN, Buka I, Comba P, Corra L, Cori L, Duffert CM, Harari R, Iavarone I, McDiarmid MA, Gray KA, Sly PD, Soares A, Suk WA, Landrigan PJ. Children's health in Latin America: the influence of environmental exposures. *Environ Health Perspect* 2015; **123**: 201-209 [PMID: 25499717 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.1408292]
- 13 Bijlsma N, Cohen MM. Environmental Chemical Assessment in Clinical Practice: Unveiling the Elephant in the Room. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016; 13: 181 [PMID: 26848668 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13020181]
- 14 Pinto E, Cruz M, Ramos P, Santos A, Almeida A. Metals transfer from tobacco to cigarette smoke: Evidences in smokers' lung tissue. *J Hazard Mater* 2017; **325**: 31-35 [PMID: 27914289 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.11.069]
- 15 Slaughter E, Gersberg RM, Watanabe K, Rudolph J, Stransky C, Novotny TE. Toxicity of cigarette butts, and their chemical components, to marine and freshwater fish. *Tob Control* 2011; 20 Suppl 1: i25-i29 [PMID: 21504921 DOI: 10.1136/tc.2010.040170]
- 16 Novotny TE, Slaughter E. Tobacco Product Waste: An Environmental Approach to Reduce Tobacco Consumption. *Curr Environ Health Rep* 2014; 1: 208-216 [PMID: 25152862 DOI: 10.1007/ s40572-014-0016-x]
- Lee W, Lee CC. Developmental toxicity of cigarette butts An underdeveloped issue. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 2015; 113: 362-368 [PMID: 25531833 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.12.018]
- 18 Juul A, Almstrup K, Andersson AM, Jensen TK, Jørgensen N, Main KM, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Toppari J, Skakkebæk NE. Possible fetal determinants of male infertility. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 2014; 10: 553-562 [PMID: 24935122 DOI: 10.1038/nrendo.2014.97]
- 19 Kroening PR, Barnes TW, Pease L, Limper A, Kita H, Vassallo R. Cigarette smoke-induced oxidative stress suppresses generation of dendritic cell IL-12 and IL-23 through ERK-dependent pathways. J Immunol 2008; 181: 1536-1547 [PMID: 18606709 DOI: 10.4049/ jimmunol.181.2.1536]
- 20 Vassallo R, Kroening PR, Parambil J, Kita H. Nicotine and oxidative cigarette smoke constituents induce immune-modulatory and proinflammatory dendritic cell responses. *Mol Immunol* 2008; 45: 3321-3329 [PMID: 18533267 DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2008.04.014]
- 21 Zhou Z, Chen P, Peng H. Are healthy smokers really healthy? *Tob Induc Dis* 2016; 14: 35 [PMID: 27891067 DOI: 10.1186/s12971-016-0101-z]
- 22 Vassallo R, Wang L, Hirano Y, Walters P, Grill D. Extracts from presumed "reduced harm" cigarettes induce equivalent or greater toxicity in antigen-presenting cells. *Toxicology* 2015; 335: 46-54 [PMID: 26169828 DOI: 10.1016/j.tox.2015.06.012]
- 23 Weber R, Gaus C, Tysklind M, Johnston P, Forter M, Hollert H, Heinisch E, Holoubek I, Lloyd-Smith M, Masunaga S, Moccarelli P, Santillo D, Seike N, Symons R, Torres JP, Verta M, Varbelow G, Vijgen J, Watson A, Costner P, Woelz J, Wycisk P, Zennegg M. Dioxin- and POP-contaminated sites--contemporary and future relevance and challenges: overview on background, aims and

scope of the series. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2008; **15**: 363-393 [PMID: 18597132 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-008-0024-1]

- 24 Ribeiro C, Ribeiro AR, Tiritan ME. Occurrence of persistent organic pollutants in sediments and biota from Portugal versus European incidence: A critical overview. *J Environ Sci Health B* 2016; **51**: 143-153 [PMID: 26671606 DOI: 10.1080/03601234.201 5.1108793]
- 25 Wang X, Gong P, Wang C, Ren J, Yao T. A review of current knowledge and future prospects regarding persistent organic pollutants over the Tibetan Plateau. *Sci Total Environ* 2016; **573**: 139-154 [PMID: 27565527 DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.08.107]
- 26 Stein LJ, Gunier RB, Harley K, Kogut K, Bradman A, Eskenazi B. Early childhood adversity potentiates the adverse association between prenatal organophosphate pesticide exposure and child IQ: The CHAMACOS cohort. *Neurotoxicology* 2016; **56**: 180-187 [PMID: 27474229 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2016.07.010]
- 27 Trueblood AB, Shipp E, Han D, Ross J, Cizmas LH. Pesticide-Related Hospitalizations Among Children and Teenagers in Texas, 2004-2013. *Public Health Rep* 2016; 131: 588-596 [PMID: 27453604 DOI: 10.1177/0033354916662218]
- 28 Ueker ME, Silva VM, Moi GP, Pignati WA, Mattos IE, Silva AM. Parenteral exposure to pesticides and occurence of congenital malformations: hospital-based case-control study. *BMC Pediatr* 2016; 16: 125 [PMID: 27520287 DOI: 10.1186/s12887-016-0667-x]
- 29 Febvey O, Schüz J, Bailey HD, Clavel J, Lacour B, Orsi L, Lightfoot T, Roman E, Vermeulen R, Kromhout H, Olsson A. Risk of Central Nervous System Tumors in Children Related to Parental Occupational Pesticide Exposures in three European Case-Control Studies. J Occup Environ Med 2016; 58: 1046-1052 [PMID: 27525525]
- 30 Lyall K, Croen LA, Sjödin A, Yoshida CK, Zerbo O, Kharrazi M, Windham GC. Polychlorinated Biphenyl and Organochlorine Pesticide Concentrations in Maternal Mid-Pregnancy Serum Samples: Association with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Intellectual Disability. *Environ Health Perspect* 2016 Aug 23; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 27548254]
- 31 Wang N, Huang M, Guo X, Lin P. Urinary Metabolites of Organophosphate and Pyrethroid Pesticides and Neurobehavioral Effects in Chinese Children. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016; 50: 9627-9635 [PMID: 27524288]
- 32 Enserink M, Hines PJ, Vignieri SN, Wigginton NS, Yeston JS. Smarter pest control. The pesticide paradox. Introduction. *Science* 2013; 341: 728-729 [PMID: 23950523 DOI: 10.1126/ science.341.6147.728]
- 33 Flamini R, Vedova AD, De Rosso M, Panighel A. A new sensitive and selective method for analysis of ochratoxin A in grape and wine by direct liquid chromatography/surface-activated chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2007; 21: 3737-3742 [PMID: 17952890 DOI: 10.1002/ rcm.3275]
- 34 Cristoni S, Rubini S, Bernardi LR. Development and applications of surface-activated chemical ionization. *Mass Spectrom Rev* 2007; 26: 645-656 [PMID: 17471584 DOI: 10.1002/mas.20143]
- 35 Payá P, Anastassiades M, Mack D, Sigalova I, Tasdelen B, Oliva J, Barba A. Analysis of pesticide residues using the Quick Easy Cheap Effective Rugged and Safe (QuEChERS) pesticide multiresidue method in combination with gas and liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometric detection. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2007; **389**: 1697-1714 [PMID: 17909760 DOI: 10.1007/s00216-007-1610-7]
- 36 van der Oost R, Beyer J, Vermeulen NP. Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol* 2003; 13: 57-149 [PMID: 21782649 DOI: 10.1016/S1382-6689(02)00126-6]
- 37 Brain RA, Cedergreen N. Biomarkers in aquatic plants: selection and utility. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* 2009; 198: 49-109 [PMID: 19253039 DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-09647-6\_2]
- 38 Schoenaers S, Vergauwen L, Hagenaars A, Vanhaecke L, AbdElgawad H, Asard H, Covaci A, Bervoets L, Knapen D. Prioritization of contaminated watercourses using an integrated



biomarker approach in caged carp. *Water Res* 2016; **99**: 129-139 [PMID: 27153115 DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2016.04.059]

- 39 McPartland J, Dantzker HC, Portier CJ. Building a robust 21st century chemical testing program at the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency: recommendations for strengthening scientific engagement. *Environ Health Perspect* 2015; **123**: 1-5 [PMID: 25343778 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.1408601]
- 40 Lysychenko G, Weber R, Kovach V, Gertsiuk M, Watson A, Krasnova I. Threats to water resources from hexachlorobenzene waste at Kalush City (Ukraine)--a review of the risks and the remediation options. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2015; 22: 14391-14404 [PMID: 26286800 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-015-5184-1]
- 41 Xiao Y, Jiang J, Huang H. Chemical dechlorination of hexachlorobenzene with polyethylene glycol and hydroxide: dominant effect of temperature and ionic potential. *Sci Rep* 2014; 4: 6305 [PMID: 25200551 DOI: 10.1038/srep06305]
- 42 Li Y, Wang Q, Huang Q, He J. The primary evaluation and characterization of obsolete DDT pesticide from a precalciner of a cement kiln. *Environ Technol* 2014; 35: 2805-2812 [PMID: 25176484 DOI: 10.1080/09593330.2014.923515]
- 43 Bai Y, Bao YB, Cai XL, Chen CH, Ye XC. Feasibility of disposing waste glyphosate neutralization liquor with cement rotary kiln. *J Hazard Mater* 2014; 278: 500-505 [PMID: 25010454 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.06.017]
- 44 Bhalla N, Jolly P, Formisano N, Estrela P. Introduction to biosensors. *Essays Biochem* 2016; 60: 1-8 [PMID: 27365030 DOI: 10.1042/EBC20150001]
- 45 Liébana S, Drago GA. Bioconjugation and stabilisation of biomolecules in biosensors. *Essays Biochem* 2016; 60: 59-68 [PMID: 27365036 DOI: 10.1042/EBC20150007]
- 46 Jung IY, Lee EH, Suh AY, Lee SJ, Lee H. Oligonucleotide-based biosensors for in vitro diagnostics and environmental hazard detection. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2016; 408: 2383-2406 [PMID: 26781106 DOI: 10.1007/s00216-015-9212-2]
- 47 Lim JW, Ha D, Lee J, Lee SK, Kim T. Review of micro/nanotechnologies for microbial biosensors. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol* 2015;
   3: 61 [PMID: 26029689 DOI: 10.3389/fbioe.2015.00061]
- 48 Ko Ferrigno P. Non-antibody protein-based biosensors. Essays Biochem 2016; 60: 19-25 [PMID: 27365032 DOI: 10.1042/ EBC20150003]
- 49 Kim JH, Hong SG, Sun HJ, Ha S, Kim J. Precipitated and chemically-crosslinked laccase over polyaniline nanofiber for high performance phenol sensing. *Chemosphere* 2016; 143: 142-147 [PMID: 26294327 DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.08.011]
- 50 Sharma A, Catanante G, Hayat A, Istamboulie G, Ben Rejeb I, Bhand S, Marty JL. Development of structure switching aptamer assay for detection of aflatoxin M1 in milk sample. *Talanta* 2016; 158: 35-41 [PMID: 27343575 DOI: 10.1016/j.talanta.2016.05.043]
- 51 Shanmugam NR, Muthukumar S, Selvam AP, Prasad S. Electrochemical nanostructured ZnO biosensor for ultrasensitive detection of cardiac troponin-T. *Nanomedicine* (Lond) 2016; 11: 1345-1358 [PMID: 27193337 DOI: 10.2217/nnm-2016-0048]
- 52 Tang Y, Long F, Gu C, Wang C, Han S, He M. Reusable splitaptamer-based biosensor for rapid detection of cocaine in serum by using an all-fiber evanescent wave optical biosensing platform. *Anal Chim Acta* 2016; 933: 182-188 [PMID: 27497011 DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2016.05.021]
- 53 Damborský P, Švitel J, Katrlík J. Optical biosensors. Essays Biochem 2016; 60: 91-100 [PMID: 27365039 DOI: 10.1042/ EBC20150010]
- Hammond JL, Formisano N, Estrela P, Carrara S, Tkac J. Electrochemical biosensors and nanobiosensors. *Essays Biochem* 2016;
   60: 69-80 [PMID: 27365037 DOI: 10.1042/EBC20150008]
- 55 Lim MC, Kim YR. Analytical Applications of Nanomaterials in Monitoring Biological and Chemical Contaminants in Food. *J Microbiol Biotechnol* 2016; 26: 1505-1516 [PMID: 27363472 DOI: 10.4014/jmb.1605.05071]
- 56 Rocchitta G, Spanu A, Babudieri S, Latte G, Madeddu G, Galleri G, Nuvoli S, Bagella P, Demartis MI, Fiore V, Manetti R, Serra PA. Enzyme Biosensors for Biomedical Applications: Strategies

for Safeguarding Analytical Performances in Biological Fluids. *Sensors* (Basel) 2016; **16**: pii: E780 [PMID: 27249001 DOI: 10.3390/s16060780]

- 57 Palchetti I. New Trends in the Design of Enzyme-based Biosensors for Medical Applications. *Mini Rev Med Chem* 2016; 16: 1125-1133 [PMID: 27337970 DOI: 10.2174/13895575166661606 23101511]
- 58 Lee J, Kim J, Kim S, Min DH. Biosensors based on graphene oxide and its biomedical application. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2016; 105: 275-287 [PMID: 27302607 DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2016.06.001]
- 59 Bever CS, Dong JX, Vasylieva N, Barnych B, Cui Y, Xu ZL, Hammock BD, Gee SJ. VHH antibodies: emerging reagents for the analysis of environmental chemicals. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2016; 408: 5985-6002 [PMID: 27209591 DOI: 10.1007/s00216-016-9585-x]
- 60 He W, Yuan S, Zhong WH, Siddikee MA, Dai CC. Application of genetically engineered microbial whole-cell biosensors for combined chemosensing. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 2016; 100: 1109-1119 [PMID: 26615397 DOI: 10.1007/s00253-015-7160-6]
- 61 Chen Y. Organophosphate-induced brain damage: mechanisms, neuropsychiatric and neurological consequences, and potential therapeutic strategies. *Neurotoxicology* 2012; 33: 391-400 [PMID: 22498093 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2012.03.011]
- Manco G, Nucci R, Febbraio F. Use of esterase activities for the detection of chemical neurotoxic agents. *Protein Pept Lett* 2009; 16: 1225-1234 [PMID: 19508179 DOI: 10.2174/09298660978907 1252]
- 63 Pundir CS, Chauhan N. Acetylcholinesterase inhibition-based biosensors for pesticide determination: a review. *Anal Biochem* 2012; 429: 19-31 [PMID: 22759777 DOI: 10.1016/j.ab.2012.06.025]
- 64 Songa EA, Okonkwo JO. Recent approaches to improving selectivity and sensitivity of enzyme-based biosensors for organophosphorus pesticides: A review. *Talanta* 2016; 155: 289-304 [PMID: 27216686 DOI: 10.1016/j.talanta.2016.04.046]
- 65 Sotiropoulou S, Fournier D, Chaniotakis NA. Genetically engineered acetylcholinesterase-based biosensor for attomolar detection of dichlorvos. *Biosens Bioelectron* 2005; 20: 2347-2352 [PMID: 15797338 DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2004.08.026]
- 66 Durrieu C, Ferro Y, Perullini M, Gosset A, Jobbágy M, Bilmes SA. Feasibility of using a translucid inorganic hydrogel to build a biosensor using immobilized algal cells. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2016; 23: 9-13 [PMID: 26201654 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-015-5023-4]
- Jolly P, Estrela P, Ladomery M. Oligonucleotide-based systems: DNA, microRNAs, DNA/RNA aptamers. *Essays Biochem* 2016;
   60: 27-35 [PMID: 27365033 DOI: 10.1042/EBC20150004]
- 68 Carullo P, Cetrangolo GP, Mandrich L, Manco G, Febbraio F. Fluorescence spectroscopy approaches for the development of a real-time organophosphate detection system using an enzymatic sensor. *Sensors* (Basel) 2015; 15: 3932-3951 [PMID: 25671511 DOI: 10.3390/s150203932]
- 69 Yan C, Qi F, Li S, Xu J, Liu C, Meng Z, Qiu L, Xue M, Lu W, Yan Z. Functionalized photonic crystal for the sensing of Sarin agents. *Talanta* 2016; **159**: 412-417 [PMID: 27474325 DOI: 10.1016/j.talanta.2016.06.045]
- 70 Chakraborty J, Das S. Molecular perspectives and recent advances in microbial remediation of persistent organic pollutants. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2016; 23: 16883-16903 [PMID: 27234838 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-016-6887-7]
- 71 Bilal M, Iqbal M, Hu H, Zhang X. Mutagenicity, cytotoxicity and phytotoxicity evaluation of biodegraded textile effluent by fungal ligninolytic enzymes. *Water Sci Technol* 2016; 73: 2332-2344 [PMID: 27191553 DOI: 10.2166/wst.2016.082]
- 72 Masson P, Josse D, Lockridge O, Viguié N, Taupin C, Buhler C. Enzymes hydrolyzing organophosphates as potential catalytic scavengers against organophosphate poisoning. *J Physiol Paris* 1998; **92**: 357-362 [PMID: 9789837 DOI: 10.1016/S0928- 4257(99) 80005-9]
- 73 Mandrich L, Merone L, Manco G. Hyperthermophilic phosphotriesterases/lactonases for the environment and human health. *Environ Technol* 2010; 31: 1115-1127 [PMID: 20718294 DOI:

#### Febbraio F. Detection and detoxification of toxic chemicals

10.1080/09593331003789529]

74 **Jacquet P**, Daudé D, Bzdrenga J, Masson P, Elias M, Chabrière E. Current and emerging strategies for organophosphate decon-

tamination: special focus on hyperstable enzymes. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2016; **23**: 8200-8218 [PMID: 26832878 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-016-6143-1]

> P- Reviewer: Chang YH, Hang B, Malli R, Slomiany BL S- Editor: Kong JX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.21

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 21-31

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Biochemical changes in the injured brain

Seelora Sahu, Deb Sanjay Nag, Amlan Swain, Devi Prasad Samaddar

Seelora Sahu, Deb Sanjay Nag, Amlan Swain, Devi Prasad Samaddar, Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care, Tata Main Hospital, Jamshedpur 831001, India

Author contributions: All the authors contributed to the manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare no conflicts of interest regarding this manuscript.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. Deb Sanjay Nag, Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care, Tata Main Hospital, C Road West, Northern Town, Bistupur, Jamshedpur 831011, India. debsanjay@gmail.com Telephone: +91-943-1166582 Fax: +91-657-2224559

Received: August 30, 2016 Peer-review started: September 1, 2016 First decision: September 29, 2016 Revised: October 23, 2016 Accepted: December 13, 2016 Article in press: December 14, 2016 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

Brain metabolism is an energy intensive phenomenon involving a wide spectrum of chemical intermediaries. Various injury states have a detrimental effect on the biochemical processes involved in the homeostatic and electrophysiological properties of the brain. The biochemical markers of brain injury are a recent addition

in the armamentarium of neuro-clinicians and are being increasingly used in the routine management of neuropathological entities such as traumatic brain injury, stroke, subarachnoid haemorrhage and intracranial space occupying lesions. These markers are increasingly being used in assessing severity as well as in predicting the prognostic course of neuro-pathological lesions. S-100 protein, neuron specific enolase, creatinine phosphokinase isoenzyme BB and myelin basic protein are some of the biochemical markers which have been proven to have prognostic and clinical value in the brain injury. While S-100, glial fibrillary acidic protein and ubiquitin C terminal hydrolase are early biomarkers of neuronal injury and have the potential to aid in clinical decisionmaking in the initial management of patients presenting with an acute neuronal crisis, the other biomarkers are of value in predicting long-term complications and prognosis in such patients. In recent times cerebral microdialysis has established itself as a novel way of monitoring brain tissue biochemical metabolites such as glucose, lactate, pyruvate, glutamate and glycerol while small non-coding RNAs have presented themselves as potential markers of brain injury for future.

Key words: Biomarkers; Brain injuries; Brain ischemia; Epilepsy; Subarachnoid hemorrhage

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** The biochemical markers of brain injury are being increasingly used to assess the severity and prognosis in the injured brain. While S-100, glial fibrillary acidic protein and ubiquitin C terminal hydrolase have been used as early biomarkers to aid in clinical decisionmaking and initial management, other biomarkers help in long-term prognosis. Cerebral microdialysis is a novel way of monitoring brain tissue biochemical metabolites and each component gives an idea about the severity and type of pathologic process in the brain. In addition, small non-coding RNAs have presented themselves as potential markers of brain injury for future research.



Sahu S, Nag DS, Swain A, Samaddar DP. Biochemical changes in the injured brain. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 21-31 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/21.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.21

#### INTRODUCTION

The brain is one of the most energy intensive organs of the body, utilizing around 60% of the available energy for the fulfillment of electrophysiological function, and the remaining 40% is expended in the homeostasis of the internal milieu of the brain cells<sup>[1]</sup>. Brain metabolism is an energy intensive phenomenon involving a wide spectrum of chemical intermediaries and their consequent usage in brain energy production.

The evolution of techniques to monitor brain metabolism started in the late 19<sup>th</sup> century<sup>[2]</sup>. However, major strides in the understanding of the cerebral metabolic processes have happened only in the last 50 years and have greatly contributed to our understanding of the processes governing the myriad and complex activities of the central nervous system in general and the brain in particular.

In this editorial we focus on the basics as well as perturbations of brain metabolism in the different clinical scenarios of neurological injury such as traumatic brain injury (TBI), stroke and subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). The aim of this review is also to discuss the means at our disposal to monitor such deviations and the practical clinical applications of such techniques<sup>[2]</sup>.

#### BRAIN METABOLISM AND BIOCHEMISTRY

As mentioned earlier, brain metabolism is peculiar for being a highly energy intensive process. Although it contributes approximately (only) 2%-2.5% of the total body weight, it receives approximately 20% of the total blood supply and 25% of the total oxygen supply<sup>[3]</sup>.

The biochemical processes in the brain exhibit various peculiarities with ramifications in brain injury. First is the presence of a blood brain barrier formed by endothelial cell layers of the brain vessels<sup>[4-6]</sup>, which plays an important role in the maintenance of homeostasis in relation to the electrolytes and energy substrates such as glucose, glutamate and ketone bodies<sup>[7-9]</sup>. Nerve impulse propagation is the key function within the brain and is basically an amalgamation of electrical and chemical processes. The electrical processes are responsible largely for impulse propagation within a neuron whereas chemical reactions influence signal transmission from one neuron to another as well as at the effector cells and axon ends in the synapse<sup>[10]</sup>. The synapses perform the critical function of transferring electrical impulses across the synaptic cleft or for further impulse propagation on to another neuron or muscle for a particular desired

action. Impulse transmission through a synaptic cleft is a complex biochemical process involving neurotransmitters like glutamate and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid as well as the activation of various ion channels. Sodium and potassium are the major ions involved in the generation of action potentials, especially in the process of hyperpolarization and depolarization of neurons<sup>[11-14]</sup>. The enormity of the biochemical processes involved in the signal transduction of neural impulse can be gauged from the fact that while a single neuron has 1000 to 20000 synapses, there are around 90 billion neurons in an adult human brain<sup>[15]</sup>. Brain injured states such as stroke and head injury have a detrimental effect on the biochemical processes involved in the aforesaid homeostatic and electrophysiological properties of the brain.

#### **BIOCHEMISTRY OF THE INJURED BRAIN**

The biochemical basis of brain injury can be explained on the basis of either one or a combination of the following broad pathological mechanisms<sup>[16]</sup>: Ischemia; traumatic brain injury; epileptogenesis.

#### Ischemic brain injury

Ischemia and resultant hypoxia lead to the derangement of energy intensive processes critical to homeostasis in the brain. Dysfunctional ATP dependent ion pumps result in consequent disequilibrium in sodium, calcium and potassium ion homeostasis, culminating in the release of excitatory amino acids such as glutamate<sup>[17,18]</sup>. Glutamate plays a pivotal role in the ensuing excitotoxicity by activating  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid, N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) and metabolic receptors. Calcium, free radicals and phospholipase activation also contribute significantly in the cellular damage of the brain.

An important aspect of ischemic injury in the brain is the nature of ischemia. Global ischemia of the brain follows events such as cardiac arrest, whereas focal ischemic changes are seen after events such as episode of stroke. In focal ischemia there exists a penumbra region which is responsive to brain resuscitation measures albeit within a critical time frame of a few minutes. In the scenario of ongoing global ischemia, the severity of brain damage is dependent on the time until re-establishment of brain circulation as well as the differential susceptibility of the various regions of the brain to hypoxia<sup>[19,20]</sup>.

#### Traumatic brain injury

Primary injury following trauma to the brain consists of direct concussional neuronal damage, herniation of important structures as well as ischemic injury because of damage to blood vessels. Reversal of primary injury is impossible. However, amelioration of secondary effects is possible. The biochemical processes detailed previously play a pathologic role in traumatic brain injury and calcium is an important ion implicated in traumatic brain injury at the cellular level<sup>[21,22]</sup>.



#### Epileptogenic injury

Epilepsy is defined as sudden and excessive electrical discharge from neurons and occurs from a plethora of causes such as electrolyte and metabolic perturbations, temperature disturbances, and structural insults such as tumors, trauma and infections. The mechanism of epileptiform damage resembles ischemia and involves the previously detailed sequences culminating in gluta-mate excitotoxicoty and NMDA and metabotropic nerve activation<sup>[23,24]</sup>.

The ongoing process of cellular injury in the injured brain leaves in its wake a multitude of biochemical markers. An ideal marker for injury should be specific to the brain, pick up brain injury within a reasonable and defined time frame and exhibit low variation with age and sex<sup>[25,26]</sup>. However, the search for such a marker remains elusive till date.

#### BIOCHEMICAL MARKERS OF BRAIN INJURY

The biochemical markers of brain injury are a recent addition in the armamentarium of neuro-clinicians and are being increasingly used in the routine management of neuro-pathological entities such as traumatic brain injury, stroke, SAH, and intracranial space occupying lesions. The use of such markers in the brain via-a-vis their use in the heart had been limited by various factors such as the heterogeneity of different cell types in the brain, the differential integrity of the blood brain barrier as well as the multimodal mechanisms contributing to neuronal death. However, they are recently being increasingly used in assessing severity as well as in predicting the prognostic course of neuropathological lesions. S-100 protein, neuron specific enolase (NSE), creatinine phosphokinase isoenzyme BB (CPK-BB) and myelin basic protein (MBP) are some of the biochemical markers which have been proven to have prognostic and clinical value in the brain injury and are dealt henceforth in a detailed perspective.

#### S-100 PROTEIN

S-100 is a calcium binding protein with a molecular weight of 21 kDa and is present in two isoforms - " $\alpha$ " (25%) and " $\beta$ " (75%). While S-100 " $\alpha$ " protein is found in melanocytes, S-100  $\beta$  isoform is found predominantly in glial cells and Schwann cells of the peripheral nervous system and central nervous system. Although the  $\beta$  isoform is found in adipocytes and chondrocytes, the concentration of S-100  $\beta$  in non-neural tissue (100-200 ng/mg of soluble brain protein) is minimal as compared with glial and Schwann cells (3500 ng/mg of brain protein)<sup>[26,27]</sup>.

S-100  $\beta$  protein is metabolized and excreted by the kidneys, has a  $t_{1/2}$  of 2 h and a mean serum level of 0.050  $\pm$  0.081 g/L<sup>[28]</sup>. S-100  $\beta$  protein levels have been found to increase especially following brain tissue injury in various experimental models<sup>[29]</sup>.

**S-100**  $\beta$  **in head injury:** Elevated levels of S-100  $\beta$  have been found in patients after minor and major head injury<sup>[26,30-36]</sup>. In patients with mild head injury (GCS 13-15) where initial computed tomography (CT) scans of their brain do not exhibit any abnormality, S-100  $\beta$  levels have been found to be high, especially in the golden hour following trauma<sup>[26]</sup>. Elevated levels of S-100  $\beta$  in serum following head injury have also been associated with impaired cognition score<sup>[37]</sup>.

In severe head injury an increased serum S 100  $\beta$  level of > 2 g/L just after and during evolution of TBI has been found to be associated with a high mortality rate. Persistent elevations of S-100  $\beta$  have shown an association with ongoing secondary brain damage following the primary insult. S-100  $\beta$  has exhibited correlations with CT pathologies, with lower values being more common in diffuse type I and type II injuries. As a marker of clinical outcome following TBI, S-100  $\beta$  has shown promising results<sup>[33-36,38-42]</sup>.

Hence S-100  $\beta$  in TBI can be concluded to be of clinical utility in assessing the extent of primary and secondary brain injury. It also has a role in predicting the time course of recovery and probability of an improved clinical outcome.

**S-100** β **protein in SAH:** Plasma concentration of S-100 β in patients with SAH has shown a correlation with the severity of hemorrhagic affliction in the early phase of the disease as well as with the incidence of delayed cerebral ischemic events. There is also evidence correlating S-100 β levels with the severity of long-term neurological impairment as well as Glasgow outcome scores. Similar results have been observed with ventricular cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) S-100 β concentrations. There is significant evidence to suggest that S-100 β in CSF may show a superior correlation with CT and single-photon emission CT findings in addition to being predictive for outcome in patients with cerebral aneurysm<sup>[43-46]</sup>.

#### NSE

As an isoenzyme of enolase enzyme involved in glycolysis, NSE was thought to be a relevant marker of neuronal injury<sup>[47]</sup>. However, it has also concurrently evolved as a marker for neuro-endocrine malignancies such as small cell lung cancer and neuroblastoma and hence it specificity for neural tissues is doubtful<sup>[48]</sup>. Serum levels are in the range of 5-12 ng/mL and CSF levels normally are less than 2 ng/mL<sup>[49]</sup>.

**NSE in TBI:** In experimental model studies on cortical contusion, the highest concentration of NSE was observed at around 7.5 h following injury. This coincides with the primary mechanism of injury to the brain parenchyma and could be explained on the basis of extrusion of the cytoplasmic protein into the CSF from damaged neural and glial tissue. A secondary peak in the NSE levels was observed at around 1.5 d and in all probability reflects secondary ischemic damage to the contused



brain<sup>[29]</sup>. An experimental TBI model in rats clearly demonstrated that CSF NSE is a more accurate motor of ongoing neuronal damage than serum NSE levels<sup>[50]</sup>.

There have been a plethora of studies on the correlation of serum and CSF NSE levels with head injury as well as their prediction of long-term outcome<sup>[33,37,39,40,51-54]</sup>. Serum NSE levels showed a significant correlation with an identifiable contusion on CT scan and also predicted the incidence of long-term mortality and persistent vegetative state in patients with TBI<sup>[51]</sup>.

#### NSE in SAH

NSE in SAH patients had been found to be an excellent predictor of delayed cerebral ischemic events and poor perioperative outcome. However, the correlation of serum NSE levels with the clinical grade of SAH patients at the time of admission is a contentious issue with various studies giving different levels<sup>[55-57]</sup>.

#### NSE in stroke

Experimental studies in cerebral ischemia models and animal studies have unequivocally demonstrated that NSE levels in CSF correlate with the degree of severity of cerebral ischemia. In addition they have been found to be increased before irreversible brain cell damage, hence offering the promise of being used as a marker of guidance of cerebro-protective measures in stroke<sup>[58-60]</sup>. In human studies examining the correlation of CSF with serum NSE levels, NSE has been found to have a positive correlation with infarct size and volume<sup>[61-66]</sup>. In a study by Cunningham et al<sup>[67]</sup>, serum NSE levels in patients with ischemic stroke were higher when compared with hemorrhagic stroke, and the highest levels in ischemia was observed at 48 to 96 h. NSE had also been found to correlate with and help in differentiation between reversible and irreversible brain damage in survivors of cardiac arrest<sup>[68-71]</sup>. In such patients, serum NSE levels post resuscitation care are a reliable predictor of neurologic outcome and they also aid in prognostication of such patients.

#### CPK-BB

Of the three isoenzymic forms of creatinine phosphokinase, the CPK-BB isoform is found in the brain<sup>[48]</sup>. CPK-BB levels in various pathological entities of brain injury such as stroke, TBI, post cardiac arrest and SAH have shown a correlation with the extent of injury and have also shown to be able to predict outcome<sup>[72-78]</sup>.

#### MBP

MBP originates from oligodendroglial cells and binds with myelin<sup>[79]</sup>. In TBI it is released into CSF and serves as a useful marker predicting the clinical course and outcome<sup>[52,80-84]</sup>.

In addition there are various other proteins which are less established *via-a-vis* their role in predicting severity and outcome in the brain injured states.

#### TAU PROTEIN

Tau is a protein arising from the microtubules, which offers theoretical promise as a marker of brain injury and has been especially studied in TBI states<sup>[85,86]</sup>. However, recent evidence has been very conflicting and the evidence on the diagnostic and prognostic value of tau protein and its correlation with abnormal CT findings in TBI has been very limited<sup>[87-90]</sup>.

#### **GLIAL FIBRILLARY ACIDIC PROTEIN**

As a major component of astroglia, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) offers the promise of exclusivity to the central nervous system<sup>[91-93]</sup>. There have been numerous studies in TBI sub-population such as severe or moderate TBI wherein GFAP concentration has shown a positive correlation with severity of injury, outcomes as well as CT and MRI findings<sup>[94-98]</sup>. In a study comparing GFAP and S-100  $\beta$ , GFAP exhibited characteristics of being a more sensitive marker of neural injury. It also had higher value for predicting return to work *via-a-vis* S-100  $\beta$  especially in patients with severe head injury<sup>[99]</sup>.

#### **UBIQUITIN C TERMINAL HYDROLASE**

Ubiquitin c terminal hydrolase (UCH-L1) is a neuron specific protein comprising 1%-5% of total brain protein, which has been implicated in neuron repair in pathological and degenerative conditions of the brain<sup>[100-102]</sup>. There is a release of UCH-L1 into CSF and blood in brain injury and elevated levels have exhibited a correlation with severity and outcome in TBI populations<sup>[103]</sup>.

## WHICH BIOMARKER TO CHOOSE AND WHEN?

The preceding discussion indicates that the different biomarkers in brain injury do not exactly fit into the "one size fits all" algorithm. Evidence in the field is an evolving process and it seems increasingly probable that neuroclinicians will rely more and more on a combination of different biomarkers as an aid in diagnosis, severity scoring, prognostication and interventional decisions in brain injured patients<sup>[101,104]</sup>. S-100, GFAP and UCH-L1 are early biomarkers of neuronal injury and have the potential to aid in clinical decision-making in the initial management of patients presenting with an acute neuronal crisis such as stroke, TBI and SAH. The other biomarkers are of value in predicting long-term complications and prognosis in such patients.

#### INTRICACIES OF SAMPLE COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

While CSF levels of biomarkers reflecting CNS injury are more accurate, in acute settings such as TBI and stroke, collection of blood samples represents a more convenient



#### Table 1 Serum and cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of cerebral injury

	Structure effected	Find	Findings in brain injury	
		Cerebro spinal fluid	Blood/serum	
Tau protein	Axon	Levels peak 4-8 d after injury <sup>[111,112]</sup>	Elevated levels in hypoxic injury <sup>[113,114]</sup>	
Myelin basic protein	Axon	Precise measurement difficult <sup>[115]</sup>	Elevated levels in brain injury <sup>[116]</sup>	
γ-enolase	Neuron	Confounded by blood contaminated CSF <sup>[117]</sup>	Serum levels are very sensitive to lysis of RBC in blood	
			contaminated CSF <sup>[117]</sup> , elevated levels in brain injury <sup>[116]</sup>	
S-100 β	Astrolglial cells	Elevated levels but less sensitive <sup>[108]</sup>	Confounded by release from extracerebral tissue <sup>[118]</sup>	
GFAP	Astroglial cells	Elevated levels but less sensitive <sup>[107,108]</sup>	Serum levels correlate with changes in brain imaging <sup>[119]</sup> , no	
			extracerebral sources detected <sup>[120]</sup>	
UCH-L1	Neuron	NA	Only one pilot study <sup>[98]</sup>	

GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic protein; UCH-L1: Ubiquitin c terminal hydrolase; NA: Not available; CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid; RBC: Red blood cell.

Table 2 The components monitored by cerebral microdialysis and their clinical implications			
Variable	Normal levels (at a flow rate of 0.3 $\mu\text{L/min})$	Clinical implications	
Lactate	$2.9 \pm 0.9 \text{ mmol/L}$	Increased levels seen in ischemia and hyperglycolysis <sup>[121-123]</sup>	
Pyruvate	$166 \pm 47 \mu mol/L$	Decreased levels seen in ischemia and hypoxic conditions <sup>[124,125]</sup>	
L/P ratio	Normal value-20	Value > 25 - metabolic crisis <sup>[124]</sup>	
		Type 1-lactate increased, pyruvate decreased, signifying ischemia	
		Type 2-raised LPR due to primarily decreased pyruvate level, seen in glycolysis failure or	
		shunting of glucose to alternative metabolic pathways <sup>[125]</sup>	
Glycerol	$82 \pm 4 \mu mol/L$	One of the constituents of the cell membranes	
		An increase in levels signifies cell damage <sup>[124]</sup>	
Glutamate	$16 \pm 16 \mu mol/L$	Marker of excitotoxicity <sup>[124]</sup>	
Glucose	$1.7 \pm 0.9 \text{ mmol/L}$	Changes in blood flow or metabolism cause disproportionate changes in brain glucose	
		Affected by ischaemia, hyperaemia, hyperglycaemia, hypermetabolism and	
		hypometabolism <sup>[124]</sup>	

and practical approach. In recent times there have been enormous strides in the field of standardization of methods by which samples are being collected for the measurement of the neuronal biomarkers<sup>[105,106]</sup>. Recently there have been attempts to isolate the aforementioned biomarkers from urine and saliva of patients to preclude non-invasiveness and ease collection<sup>[107]</sup>.

#### LIMITATIONS

The widespread use of neuro-pathological markers is limited by variability and discrepancies in the values indicating significant levels of these biomarkers. The results of various studies paint a very inconsistent picture and this could be attributed to flaws and variation in study design as well as non-standardization of techniques in collection, handling and assay of such biomarkers. To summarize, the data till date on biomarkers of the injured brain can be described as a work in progress. There is a need for robust multicentric studies which will go a long way in the determination of reference points for guidance of care in patients presenting with neurological injury.

#### **NEW DEVELOPMENTS**

In addition to serum and CSF assays of biomarkers of brain injury, there has been a variety of neuro-chemical methods which have been of use in brain tissue biochemistry. These methods have gradually progressed from analysis of post mortem samples to advent of newer and sophisticated methods such as cerebral microdialysis (CMD).

CMD was a modification of the push-pull cannula technique and was invented by Delgado *et al*<sup>[108]</sup> with subsequent modifications and popularization by Ludvig *et al*<sup>[109]</sup> and Ungerstedt *et al*<sup>[110]</sup>. It is a novel way of monitoring brain tissue biochemical metabolites such as glucose, lactate, pyruvate, glutamate and glycerol wherein the monitoring of each component gives an idea about the severity and type of pathologic process in the brain. Table 1 summarizes all the commonly used serum and CSF biomarkers of cerebral injury with their clinical implications<sup>[111-120]</sup>. Table 2 summarizes components monitored by cerebral microdialysis and their clinical implications<sup>[121-125]</sup>.

CMD is being increasingly used as a research tool and as a component of multi-modality monitoring in the brain injured states such as TBI, SAH, brain tumors, stroke and epilepsy. Table 3 illustrates the clinical implications of cerebral microdialysis in various scenarios<sup>[126-151]</sup>.

Proteomic analysis of potential new CSF biomarkers for TBI has not yet identified any such markers that can be used in clinically useful tests<sup>[152]</sup>. A number of proteomic studies on potential biomarkers of TBI in peripheral blood have been published. These studies have replicated the findings from targeted analyses of specific candidate biomarkers, but as yet none of



rable 5 Cerebral microdialysis implications in clinical scenarios		
Clinical condition	CMD implications	
Traumatic brain injury	Helpful in optimising therapy in neuro-ICUs as a component of multi-modality monitoring	
	Helpful in indivisualising management on the basis of cerebral perfusion pressure targets and assessment of response to	
	medical and surgical interventions <sup>[126,127]</sup>	
	Predictor of severity, neurological outcome and long-term anatomical aberrations in the injured brain <sup>[128-130]</sup>	
	Detection and management of glycemic perturbations of the injured brain <sup>[131,132]</sup>	
	Predicting long-term anatomical alteration <sup>[133]</sup>	
Subarachnoid haemorrhage	Detection of ischemic changes during aneurysm clipping <sup>[134]</sup>	
	Specific for the detection of delayed ischaemic neurological deficit <sup>[135-138]</sup>	
	Prognostication of SAH patients <sup>[139,140]</sup>	
Acute ischaemic stroke	Detecting development of oedema of the infarcted tissue <sup>[141]</sup>	
	Monitoring effects of decompression hemicraniectomy and hypothermia in stroke patients <sup>[142,143]</sup>	
Brain tumours	Neuro-biochemistry of brain tumours <sup>[144,145]</sup>	
	Biochemical changes during treatment	
	Drug pharmacokinetics study <sup>[146]</sup>	
	Monitoring of drug effect	
	Development of tumor drug delivery systems <sup>[147,148]</sup>	
Epilepsy	Study of biochemical milieu of epileptic focus <sup>[149]</sup>	
Other applications	Study of the perihaemorrhagic zone in intracranial hemorrhage <sup>[150,151]</sup>	
	Study of biochemical changes and novel therapeutic options in neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's and	
	Alzheimer's disease	

CMD: Cerebral microdialysis; SAH: Subarachnoid hemorrhage; ICU: Intensive care unit.

the novel biomarker profiles identified in these studies as being associated with TBI has been validated in independent studies using unrelated, non-proteomic or genomic techniques<sup>[153]</sup>. Exciting preliminary data on the expression profiles of small non-coding RNAs in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from military personnel exposed to mild TBI have been reported; three small RNAs seem to be primarily associated with mild TBI, but the results require replication<sup>[154]</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

To conclude, biochemical markers of brain injury have witnessed major developments in acquisition and processing of samples, with cerebral microdialysis and expression of non-coding RNAs being the most recent modality to analyze such changes. Use of such biomarkers, while not as popular as their cardiac counterparts, is slowly but surely being established both in the realms of basic research as well as in management, severity scoring and prognostication of patients with neurological injury. There is abundant potential in the regular use of such biomarkers and efforts are underway to integrate such biomarkers into clinical practice in TBI, SAH and stroke.

#### REFERENCES

- Patel PM, Drummond JC, Lemkuil BP. Cerebral physiology and the effects of anaesthetic drugs. In: Miller RD, editor. Miller's Anaesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2015: 387-409
- 2 Finlay JM, Smith GS. A Critical Analysis of Neurochemical Methods for Monitoring Transmitter Dynamics in the Brain, 2000. Available from: URL: http://www.acnp.org/g4/GN401000004/ CH004 html
- 3 Schoenemann PT. Evolution of the size and functional areas of the human brain. Annu Rev Anthropol 2006; 35: 379-406 [DOI: 10.1146/annurev.anthro.35.081705.123210]

- 4 Allsopp G, Gamble HJ. An electron microscopic study of the pericytes of the developing capillaries in human fetal brain and muscle. J Anat 1979; 128: 155-168 [PMID: 422476]
- 5 Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M. Anatomic analysis of blood vessels in germinal matrix, cerebral cortex, and white matter in developing infants. Pediatr Res 2004; 56: 117-124 [PMID: 15128918 DOI: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000130472.30874.FF]
- 6 Cristante E, McArthur S, Mauro C, Maggioli E, Romero IA, Wylezinska-Arridge M, Couraud PO, Lopez-Tremoleda J, Christian HC, Weksler BB, Malaspina A, Solito E. Identification of an essential endogenous regulator of blood-brain barrier integrity, and its pathological and therapeutic implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013; 110: 832-841 [PMID: 23277546 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.1209362110]
- 7 Löscher W, Potschka H. Blood-brain barrier active efflux transporters: ATP-binding cassette gene family. NeuroRx 2005; 2: 86-98 [PMID: 15717060 DOI: 10.1602/neurorx.2.1.86]
- Yin B, Loike JD, Kako Y, Weinstock PH, Breslow JL, Silverstein 8 SC, Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase regulates Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis by macrophages maintained in glucose-deficient medium. J Clin Invest 1997; 100: 649-657 [PMID: 9239412 DOI: 10.1172/JCI119576]
- 9 Seyfried TN, Kiebish MA, Marsh J, Shelton LM, Huysentruyt LC, Mukherjee P. Metabolic management of brain cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011; 1807: 577-594 [PMID: 20804725 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.08.009]
- 10 Marieb EN, Hoehn K. Human Anatomy & Physiology, 8th ed. San Francisco, CA: Benjamin Cummings, 2010: 385-428
- Murai T, Müller U, Werheid K, Sorger D, Reuter M, Becker T, 11 von Cramon DY, Barthel H. In vivo evidence for differential association of striatal dopamine and midbrain serotonin systems with neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson's disease. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 2001; 13: 222-228 [PMID: 11449029 DOI: 10.1016/ S1566-2772(00)00005-0]
- 12 Hajjawi OS. Human Brain Biochemistry. Ame J BioS 2014; 2: 122-134 [DOI: 10.11648/j.ajbio.20140204.13]
- 13 Sherwood L. Human Physiology from Cells to Systems. 8th ed. Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning, 2012: 105-115
- 14 Marois R, Ivanoff J. Capacity limits of information processing in the brain. Trends Cogn Sci 2005; 9: 296-305 [PMID: 15925809 DOI: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.04.010]
- 15 Crick FHC. The Astonishing Hypothesis: The Scientific Search for the Soul. New York, NY: Macmillan Publishing Company,

1994: 81-90

- 16 Kass IS, Cottrell JE, Lei B. Brain metabolism, the pathophysiology of brain injury, and potential beneficial agents and techniques. In: Cottrell JE, Young WL. Cottrell and Young's Neuroanesthesia. Philadelphia: Elsevier, 2010: 1-16
- 17 Rothman SM, Olney JW. Glutamate and the pathophysiology of hypoxic--ischemic brain damage. *Ann Neurol* 1986; 19: 105-111 [PMID: 2421636 DOI: 10.1002/ana.410190202]
- 18 Choi DW. Excitotoxic cell death. J Neurobiol 1992; 23: 1261-1276 [PMID: 1361523 DOI: 10.1002/neu.480230915]
- 19 Zola-Morgan S, Squire LR, Amaral DG. Human amnesia and the medial temporal region: enduring memory impairment following a bilateral lesion limited to field CA1 of the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* 1986; 6: 2950-2967 [PMID: 3760943]
- 20 Wang J, Lei B, Popp S, Meng F, Cottrell JE, Kass IS. Sevoflurane immediate preconditioning alters hypoxic membrane potential changes in rat hippocampal slices and improves recovery of CA1 pyramidal cells after hypoxia and global cerebral ischemia. *Neuroscience* 2007; 145: 1097-1107 [PMID: 17291693 DOI: 10.1016/j.neu roscience.2006.12.047]
- 21 Lawrence T, Helmy A, Bouamra O, Woodford M, Lecky F, Hutchinson PJ. Traumatic brain injury in England and Wales: prospective audit of epidemiology, complications and standardised mortality. *BMJ Open* 2016; 6: e012197 [PMID: 27884843 DOI: 10.1016/ S0733-8627(05)70319-9]
- 22 **Prough DS**. Management of head trauma. 1997 Annual Refresher Course Lectures. *Ame Soc Anest* 1997: **253**: 1-7
- 23 Hacke W, Albers G, Al-Rawi Y, Bogousslavsky J, Davalos A, Eliasziw M, Fischer M, Furlan A, Kaste M, Lees KR, Soehngen M, Warach S. The Desmoteplase in Acute Ischemic Stroke Trial (DIAS): a phase II MRI-based 9-hour window acute stroke thrombolysis trial with intravenous desmoteplase. *Stroke* 2005; 36: 66-73 [PMID: 15569863 DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.0000149938.08731.2c]
- 24 Hacke W, Furlan AJ, Al-Rawi Y, Davalos A, Fiebach JB, Gruber F, Kaste M, Lipka LJ, Pedraza S, Ringleb PA, Rowley HA, Schneider D, Schwamm LH, Leal JS, Söhngen M, Teal PA, Wilhelm-Ogunbiyi K, Wintermark M, Warach S. Intravenous desmoteplase in patients with acute ischaemic stroke selected by MRI perfusiondiffusion weighted imaging or perfusion CT (DIAS-2): a prospective, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Lancet Neurol* 2009; 8: 141-150 [PMID: 19097942 DOI: 10.1016/ S1474-4422(08)70267-9]
- 25 Bakay RA, Sweeney KM, Wood JH. Pathophysiology of cerebrospinal fluid in head injury: Part 2. Biochemical markers for central nervous system trauma. *Neurosurgery* 1986; 18: 376-382 [PMID: 3010171 DOI: 10.1227/00006123-198603000-00026]
- 26 Ingebrigtsen T, Waterloo K, Jacobsen EA, Langbakk B, Romner B. Traumatic brain damage in minor head injury: relation of serum S-100 protein measurements to magnetic resonance imaging and neurobehavioral outcome. *Neurosurgery* 1999; 45: 468-475; discussion 475-476 [PMID: 10493368 DOI: 10.1097/00006123-19 9909000-00010]
- 27 Nygaard O, Langbakk B, Romner B. Age- and sex-related changes of S-100 protein concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid and serum in patients with no previous history of neurological disorder. *Clin Chem* 1997; 43: 541-543 [PMID: 9068602 DOI: 10.1016/ s0303-8467(97)81581-8]
- 28 Wiesmann M, Missler U, Hagenström H, Gottmann D. S-100 protein plasma levels after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1997; 139: 1155-1160 [PMID: 9479422 DOI: 10.1007/BF01410976]
- 29 Hårdemark HG, Ericsson N, Kotwica Z, Rundström G, Mendel-Hartvig I, Olsson Y, Påhlman S, Persson L. S-100 protein and neuron-specific enolase in CSF after experimental traumatic or focal ischemic brain damage. *J Neurosurg* 1989; **71**: 727-731 [PMID: 2809727 DOI: 10.3171/jns.1989.71.5.0727]
- 30 Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B, Kongstad P, Langbakk B. Increased serum concentrations of protein S-100 after minor head injury: a biochemical serum marker with prognostic value? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1995; 59: 103-104 [PMID: 7608699 DOI: 10.1136/

jnnp.59.1.103-a]

- 31 Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B. Serial S-100 protein serum measurements related to early magnetic resonance imaging after minor head injury. Case report. *J Neurosurg* 1996; 85: 945-948 [PMID: 8893737 DOI: 10.3171/jns.1996.85.5.0945]
- 32 Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B, Trumpy JH. Management of minor head injury: the value of early computed tomography and serum protein S-100 measurements. *J Clin Neurosci* 1997; 4: 29-33 [PMID: 18638920 DOI: 10.1016/S0967-5868(97)90007-2]
- 33 Raabe A, Grolms C, Keller M, Döhnert J, Sorge O, Seifert V. Correlation of computed tomography findings and serum brain damage markers following severe head injury. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1998; 140: 787-791; discussion 791-792 [PMID: 9810445 DOI: 10.1007/s007010050180]
- 34 Raabe A, Menon DK, Gupta S, Czosnyka M, Pickard JD. Jugular venous and arterial concentrations of serum S-100B protein in patients with severe head injury: a pilot study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1998; 65: 930-932 [PMID: 9854976 DOI: 10.1136/ jnnp.65.6.930]
- 35 Raabe A, Grolms C, Sorge O, Zimmermann M, Seifert V. Serum S-100B protein in severe head injury. *Neurosurgery* 1999; 45: 477-483 [PMID: 10493369 DOI: 10.1097/00006123-199909000-0 0012]
- 36 Raabe A, Seifert V. Fatal secondary increase in serum S-100B protein after severe head injury. Report of three cases. *J Neurosurg* 1999; 91: 875-877 [PMID: 10541249 DOI: 10.3171/jns.1999.91.5.0875]
- 37 Waterloo K, Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B. Neuropsychological function in patients with increased serum levels of protein S-100 after minor head injury. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1997; 139: 26-31; discussion 31-32 [PMID: 9059708 DOI: 10.1007/BF01850864]
- 38 Woertgen C, Rothoerl RD, Holzschuh M, Metz C, Brawanski A. Comparison of serial S-100 and NSE serum measurements after severe head injury. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1997; 139: 1161-1164; discussion 1165 [PMID: 9479423 DOI: 10.1007/BF01410977]
- 39 Rothoerl RD, Woertgen C, Holzschuh M, Metz C, Brawanski A. S-100 serum levels after minor and major head injury. *J Trauma* 1998; 45: 765-767 [PMID: 9783618 DOI: 10.1097/00005373-1998 10000-00025]
- 40 Herrmann M, Curio N, Jost S, Wunderlich MT, Synowitz H, Wallesch CW. Protein S-100B and neuron specific enolase as early neurobiochemical markers of the severity of traumatic brain injury. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* 1999; 14: 109-114 [PMID: 12671254]
- 41 Herrmann M, Jost S, Kutz S, Ebert AD, Kratz T, Wunderlich MT, Synowitz H. Temporal profile of release of neurobiochemical markers of brain damage after traumatic brain injury is associated with intracranial pathology as demonstrated in cranial computerized tomography. *J Neurotrauma* 2000; **17**: 113-122 [PMID: 10709869 DOI: 10.1089/neu.2000.17.113]
- 42 Raabe A, Grolms C, Seifert V. Serum markers of brain damage and outcome prediction in patients after severe head injury. *Br J Neurosurg* 1999; 13: 56-59 [PMID: 10492686 DOI: 10.1080/0 2688699944195]
- 43 Persson L, Hårdemark H, Edner G, Ronne E, Mendel-Hartvig I, Påhlman S. S-100 protein in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage: a potential marker of brain damage. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1988; 93: 116-122 [PMID: 3177026 DOI: 10.1007/BF01402892]
- 44 Hårdemark HG, Almqvist O, Johansson T, Påhlman S, Persson L. S-100 protein in cerebrospinal fluid after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: relation to functional outcome, late CT and SPECT changes, and signs of higher cortical dysfunction. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1989; **99**: 135-144 [PMID: 2788973 DOI: 10.1007/ BF01402322]
- 45 Takayasu M, Shibuya M, Kanamori M, Suzuki Y, Ogura K, Kageyama N, Umekawa H, Hidaka H. S-100 protein and calmodulin levels in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* 1985; 63: 417-420 [PMID: 4020469 DOI: 10.3171/ jns.1985.63.3.0417]
- 46 Satoh H, Ikeda Y, Ohashi K. Measurement of S-100b in cerebrospinal fluid among SAH cases: prediction of outcome. 29th



Annual Meeting of Japanese Society of Surgery for Stroke, 2000

- 47 Schoerkhuber W, Kittler H, Sterz F, Behringer W, Holzer M, Frossard M, Spitzauer S, Laggner AN. Time course of serum neuron-specific enolase. A predictor of neurological outcome in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. *Stroke* 1999; 30: 1598-1603 [PMID: 10436107 DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.30.8.1598]
- 48 Ikeda Y, Mochizuki Y, Nakamura Y, Dohi K, Matsumoto H, Jimbo H, Hayashi M, Matsumoto K, Yoshikawa T, Murase H, Sato K. Protective effect of a novel vitamin E derivative on experimental traumatic brain edema in rats--preliminary study. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* 2000; **76**: 343-345 [PMID: 11450040]
- 49 Marangos PJ, Schmechel DE. Neuron specific enolase, a clinically useful marker for neurons and neuroendocrine cells. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 1987; 10: 269-295 [PMID: 3551759 DOI: 10.1146/annurev. ne.10.030187.001413]
- 50 Uzan M, Hanci M, Güzel O, Sarioğlu AC, Kuday C, Ozlen F, Kaynar MY. The significance of neuron specific enolase levels in cerebrospinal fluid and serum after experimental traumatic brain damage. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1995; 135: 141-143 [PMID: 8748804 DOI: 10.1007/BF02187758]
- 51 Kuroiwa T, Tanabe H, Takatsuka H, Arai M, Nagasawa S, Ohta T. [Significance of serum neuron-specific enolase levels after head injury]. *No Shinkei Geka* 1993; 21: 1021-1024 [PMID: 8255376]
- Yamazaki Y, Yada K, Morii S, Kitahara T, Ohwada T. Diagnostic significance of serum neuron-specific enolase and myelin basic protein assay in patients with acute head injury. *Surg Neurol* 1995; 43: 267-270; discussion 270-271 [PMID: 7540773 DOI: 10.1016/0 090-3019(95)80012-6]
- 53 Ross SA, Cunningham RT, Johnston CF, Rowlands BJ. Neuronspecific enolase as an aid to outcome prediction in head injury. *Br J Neurosurg* 1996; 10: 471-476 [PMID: 8922706 DOI: 10.1080/0 2688699647104]
- 54 Ergün R, Bostanci U, Akdemir G, Beşkonakli E, Kaptanoğlu E, Gürsoy F, Taşkin Y. Prognostic value of serum neuron-specific enolase levels after head injury. *Neurol Res* 1998; 20: 418-420 [PMID: 9664588 DOI: 10.1080/01616412.1998.11740541]
- 55 Kacira T, Kemerdere R, Atukeren P, Hanimoglu H, Sanus GZ, Kucur M, Tanriverdi T, Gumustas K, Kaynar MY. Detection of caspase-3, neuron specific enolase, and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels in both cerebrospinal fluid and serum of patients after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* 2007; 60: 674-679; discussion 679-680 [PMID: 17415204 DOI: 10.1227/01. NEU.0000255394.77538.BB]
- 56 Kuroiwa T, Tanabe H, Arai M, Ohta T. [Measurement of serum neuron-specific enolase levels after subarachnoid hemorrhage and intracerebral hemorrhage]. *No Shinkei Geka* 1994; 22: 531-535 [PMID: 8015673]
- 57 Hårdemark HG, Persson L, Bolander HG, Hillered L, Olsson Y, Påhlman S. Neuron-specific enolase is a marker of cerebral ischemia and infarct size in rat cerebrospinal fluid. *Stroke* 1988; 19: 1140-1144 [PMID: 3413812 DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.19.9.1140]
- 58 Horn M, Seger F, Schlote W. Neuron-specific enolase in gerbil brain and serum after transient cerebral ischemia. *Stroke* 1995; 26: 290-296; discussion 296-297 [PMID: 7831703 DOI: 10.1161/01. STR.26.2.290]
- 59 Barone FC, Clark RK, Price WJ, White RF, Feuerstein GZ, Storer BL, Ohlstein EH. Neuron-specific enolase increases in cerebral and systemic circulation following focal ischemia. *Brain Res* 1993; 623: 77-82 [PMID: 8221097 DOI: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)90012-C]
- 60 Steinberg R, Gueniau C, Scarna H, Keller A, Worcel M, Pujol JF. Experimental brain ischemia: neuron-specific enolase level in cerebrospinal fluid as an index of neuronal damage. *J Neurochem* 1984; 43: 19-24 [PMID: 6726246 DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1984. tb06673.x]
- Royds JA, Davies-Jones GA, Lewtas NA, Timperley WR, Taylor CB. Enolase isoenzymes in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with diseases of the nervous system. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1983; 46: 1031-1036 [PMID: 6317805 DOI: 10.1136/jnnp.46.11.1031]
- 62 Hay E, Royds JA, Davies-Jones GA, Lewtas NA, Timperley WR, Taylor CB. Cerebrospinal fluid enolase in stroke. *J Neurol*

*Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1984; **47**: 724-729 [PMID: 6747647 DOI: 10.1136/jnnp.47.7.724]

- 63 Jacobi C, Reiber H. Clinical relevance of increased neuronspecific enolase concentration in cerebrospinal fluid. *Clin Chim Acta* 1988; 177: 49-54 [PMID: 3052937 DOI: 10.1016/0009-8981( 88)90306-3]
- 64 Kawasaki H, Wakayama Y, Okayasu H, Takahashi1 H, Shibuya S. Levels of serum and cerebrospinal fluid enolase in patients with cerebral vascular disease and other neurological diseases. *Stroke* 1988; 10: 313-318 [DOI: 10.3995/jstroke.10.313]
- 65 Vermuyten K, Lowenthal A, Karcher D. Detection of neuron specific enolase concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with neurological disorders by means of a sensitive enzyme immunoassay. *Clin Chim Acta* 1990; **187**: 69-78 [PMID: 2317937 DOI: 10.1016/0009-8981(90)90332-M]
- 66 Mokuno K, Kato K, Kawai K, Matsuoka Y, Yanagi T, Sobue I. Neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein levels in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with various neurological diseases. *J Neurol Sci* 1983; 60: 443-451 [PMID: 6355398 DOI: 10.1016/0022-510X(83) 90155-7]
- 67 Cunningham RT, Watt M, Winder J, McKinstry S, Lawson JT, Johnston CF, Hawkins SA, Buchanan KD. Serum neurone-specific enolase as an indicator of stroke volume. *Eur J Clin Invest* 1996; 26: 298-303 [PMID: 8732487 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2362.1996.129282.x]
- 68 Dauberschmidt R, Zinsmeyer J, Mrochen H, Meyer M. Changes of neuron-specific enolase concentration in plasma after cardiac arrest and resuscitation. *Mol Chem Neuropathol* 1991; 14: 237-245 [PMID: 1958265 DOI: 10.1007/BF03159939]
- 69 Stelzl T, von Bose MJ, Hogl B, Fuchs HH, Flugel KA. A comparison of the prognostic value of neuron-specific enolase serum levels and somatosensory evoked potentials in 13 reanimated patients. *Eur J Emerg Med* 1995; 2: 24-27 [PMID: 9422176 DOI: 10.1097/00063110-199503000-00006]
- 70 Martens P, Raabe A, Johnsson P. Serum S-100 and neuron-specific enolase for prediction of regaining consciousness after global cerebral ischemia. *Stroke* 1998; 29: 2363-2366 [PMID: 9804649 DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.29.11.2363]
- 71 Fogel W, Krieger D, Veith M, Adams HP, Hund E, Storch-Hagenlocher B, Buggle F, Mathias D, Hacke W. Serum neuron-specific enolase as early predictor of outcome after cardiac arrest. *Crit Care Med* 1997; 25: 1133-1138 [PMID: 9233737 DOI: 10.1097/0000324 6-199707000-00012]
- 72 Tirschwell DL, Longstreth WT, Rauch-Matthews ME, Chandler WL, Rothstein T, Wray L, Eng LJ, Fine J, Copass MK. Cerebrospinal fluid creatine kinase BB isoenzyme activity and neurologic prognosis after cardiac arrest. *Neurology* 1997; 48: 352-357 [PMID: 9040720 DOI: 10.1212/WNL.48.2.352]
- 73 Pfeiffer FE, Homburger HA, Yanagihara T. Creatine kinase BB isoenzyme in CSF in neurologic diseases. Measurement by radioim-munoassay. *Arch Neurol* 1983; 40: 169-172 [PMID: 6830458 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.1983.04050030063012]
- 74 Ikeda Y, Nakazawa S, Tsuji Y, Mori H. [Sequential changes in serum creatine phosphokinase isoenzyme activity and correlation with prognosis in patients with acute head injuries]. *Neurol Med Chir* (Tokyo) 1987; 27: 90-96 [PMID: 2441305 DOI: 10.2176/ nmc.27.90]
- 75 Cooper PR, Chalif DJ, Ramsey JF, Moore RJ. Radioimmunoassay of the brain type isoenzyme of creatine phosphokinase (CK-BB): a new diagnostic tool in the evaluation of patients with head injury. *Neurosurgery* 1983; 12: 536-541 [PMID: 6866236 DOI: 10.1227/0 0006123-198305000-00010]
- Skogseid IM, Nordby HK, Urdal P, Paus E, Lilleaas F. Increased serum creatine kinase BB and neuron specific enolase following head injury indicates brain damage. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1992; 115: 106-111 [PMID: 1605077 DOI: 10.1007/BF01406367]
- 77 Coplin WM, Longstreth WT, Lam AM, Chandler WL, Mayberg TS, Fine JS, Winn HR. Cerebrospinal fluid creatine kinase-BB isoenzyme activity and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Arch Neurol* 1999; 56: 1348-1352 [PMID: 10555654 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.56.11.1348]

- 78 Bell RD, Khan M. Cerebrospinal fluid creatine kinase-BB activity: a perspective. *Arch Neurol* 1999; 56: 1327-1328 [PMID: 10555649 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.56.11.1327]
- 79 Johnsson P. Markers of cerebral ischemia after cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 1996; 10: 120-126 [PMID: 8634377 DOI: 10.1016/S1053-0770(96)80187-X]
- 80 Bakay RA, Sweeney KM, Wood JH. Pathophysiology of cerebrospinal fluid in head injury: Part 1. Pathological changes in cerebrospinal fluid solute composition after traumatic injury. *Neurosurgery* 1986; 18: 234-243 [PMID: 2421195 DOI: 10.1227/0 0006123-198602000-00023]
- 81 Noseworthy TW, Anderson BJ, Noseworthy AF, Shustack A, Johnston RG, Petruk KC, McPherson TA. Cerebrospinal fluid myelin basic protein as a prognostic marker in patients with head injury. *Crit Care Med* 1985; 13: 743-746 [PMID: 4028768 DOI: 10.1097/00003 246-198509000-00010]
- 82 Thomas DG, Palfreyman JW, Ratcliffe JG. Serum-myelin-basicprotein assay in diagnosis and prognosis of patients with head injury. *Lancet* 1978; 1: 113-115 [PMID: 87549 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(78)90415-4]
- 83 Thomas DG, Rabow L, Teasdale G. Serum myelin basic protein, clinical responsiveness, and outcome of severe head injury. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (Wien) 1979; 28: 93-95 [PMID: 90450 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-7091-4088-8 20]
- 84 Alling C, Karlsson B, Vällfors B. Increase in myelin basic protein in CSF after brain surgery. *J Neurol* 1980; 223: 225-230 [PMID: 6157784 DOI: 10.1007/BF00313336]
- 85 Zemlan FP, Rosenberg WS, Luebbe PA, Campbell TA, Dean GE, Weiner NE, Cohen JA, Rudick RA, Woo D. Quantification of axonal damage in traumatic brain injury: affinity purification and characterization of cerebrospinal fluid tau proteins. *J Neurochem* 1999; 72: 741-750 [PMID: 9930748 DOI: 10.1046/j.1471-4159. 1999.0720741.x]
- 86 Zemlan FP, Jauch EC, Mulchahey JJ, Gabbita SP, Rosenberg WS, Speciale SG, Zuccarello M. C-tau biomarker of neuronal damage in severe brain injured patients: association with elevated intracranial pressure and clinical outcome. *Brain Res* 2002; 947: 131-139 [PMID: 12144861 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02)02920-7]
- 87 Bazarian JJ, Zemlan FP, Mookerjee S, Stigbrand T. Serum S-100B and cleaved-tau are poor predictors of long-term outcome after mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj* 2006; 20: 759-765 [PMID: 16809208 DOI: 10.1080/02699050500488207]
- 88 Bulut M, Koksal O, Dogan S, Bolca N, Ozguc H, Korfali E, Ilcol YO, Parklak M. Tau protein as a serum marker of brain damage in mild traumatic brain injury: preliminary results. *Adv Ther* 2006; 23: 12-22 [PMID: 16644603 DOI: 10.1007/BF02850342]
- 89 Ma M, Lindsell CJ, Rosenberry CM, Shaw GJ, Zemlan FP. Serum cleaved tau does not predict postconcussion syndrome after mild traumatic brain injury. *Am J Emerg Med* 2008; 26: 763-768 [PMID: 18774039 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2007.10.029]
- 90 Kavalci C, Pekdemir M, Durukan P, Ilhan N, Yildiz M, Serhatlioglu S, Seckin D. The value of serum tau protein for the diagnosis of intracranial injury in minor head trauma. *Am J Emerg Med* 2007; 25: 391-395 [PMID: 17499655 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2006.10.008]
- 91 Eng LF, Vanderhaeghen JJ, Bignami A, Gerstl B. An acidic protein isolated from fibrous astrocytes. *Brain Res* 1971; 28: 351-354 [PMID: 5113526 DOI: 10.1016/0006-8993(71)90668-8]
- 92 Missler U, Wiesmann M, Wittmann G, Magerkurth O, Hagenström H. Measurement of glial fibrillary acidic protein in human blood: analytical method and preliminary clinical results. *Clin Chem* 1999; 45: 138-141 [PMID: 9895354]
- 93 Webster MJ, Knable MB, Johnston-Wilson N, Nagata K, Inagaki M, Yolken RH. Immunohistochemical localization of phosphorylated glial fibrillary acidic protein in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus from patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression. *Brain Behav Immun* 2001; 15: 388-400 [PMID: 11782105 DOI: 10.1006/brbi.2001.0646]
- 94 Vos PE, Jacobs B, Andriessen TM, Lamers KJ, Borm GF, Beems T, Edwards M, Rosmalen CF, Vissers JL. GFAP and S100B are biomarkers of traumatic brain injury: an observational cohort study.

Neurology 2010; **75**: 1786-1793 [PMID: 21079180 DOI: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181fd62d2]

- 95 Mondello S, Papa L, Buki A, Bullock MR, Czeiter E, Tortella FC, Wang KK, Hayes RL. Neuronal and glial markers are differently associated with computed tomography findings and outcome in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a case control study. *Crit Care* 2011; 15: R156 [PMID: 21702960 DOI: 10.1186/cc10286]
- 96 Vos PE, Lamers KJ, Hendriks JC, van Haaren M, Beems T, Zimmerman C, van Geel W, de Reus H, Biert J, Verbeek MM. Glial and neuronal proteins in serum predict outcome after severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurology* 2004; 62: 1303-1310 [PMID: 15111666 DOI: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000120550.00643.DC]
- 97 Pelinka LE, Kroepfl A, Leixnering M, Buchinger W, Raabe A, Redl H. GFAP versus S100B in serum after traumatic brain injury: relationship to brain damage and outcome. *J Neurotrauma* 2004; 21: 1553-1561 [PMID: 15684648 DOI: 10.1089/neu.2004.21.1553]
- 98 Papa L, Lewis LM, Falk JL, Zhang Z, Silvestri S, Giordano P, Brophy GM, Demery JA, Dixit NK, Ferguson I, Liu MC, Mo J, Akinyi L, Schmid K, Mondello S, Robertson CS, Tortella FC, Hayes RL, Wang KK. Elevated levels of serum glial fibrillary acidic protein breakdown products in mild and moderate traumatic brain injury are associated with intracranial lesions and neurosurgical intervention. *Ann Emerg Med* 2012; **59**: 471-483 [PMID: 22071014 DOI: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2011.08.021]
- 99 Metting Z, Wilczak N, Rodiger LA, Schaaf JM, van der Naalt J. GFAP and S100B in the acute phase of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurology* 2012; 78: 1428-1433 [PMID: 22517109 DOI: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e318253d5c7]
- 100 Lincoln S, Vaughan J, Wood N, Baker M, Adamson J, Gwinn-Hardy K, Lynch T, Hardy J, Farrer M. Low frequency of pathogenic mutations in the ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase gene in familial Parkinson's disease. *Neuroreport* 1999; **10**: 427-429 [PMID: 10203348 DOI: 10.1097/00001756-199902050-00040]
- 101 Larsen CN, Price JS, Wilkinson KD. Substrate binding and catalysis by ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolases: identification of two active site residues. *Biochemistry* 1996; 35: 6735-6744 [PMID: 8639624 DOI: 10.1021/bi960099f]
- 102 Kobeissy FH, Ottens AK, Zhang Z, Liu MC, Denslow ND, Dave JR, Tortella FC, Hayes RL, Wang KK. Novel differential neuroproteomics analysis of traumatic brain injury in rats. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2006; **5**: 1887-1898 [PMID: 16801361 DOI: 10.1074/ mcp.M600157-MCP200]
- 103 Papa L, Lewis LM, Silvestri S, Falk JL, Giordano P, Brophy GM, Demery JA, Liu MC, Mo J, Akinyi L, Mondello S, Schmid K, Robertson CS, Tortella FC, Hayes RL, Wang KK. Serum levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase distinguish mild traumatic brain injury from trauma controls and are elevated in mild and moderate traumatic brain injury patients with intracranial lesions and neurosurgical intervention. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* 2012; **72**: 1335-1344 [PMID: 22673263 DOI: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3182491e3d]
- 104 Mondello S, Jeromin A, Buki A, Bullock R, Czeiter E, Kovacs N, Barzo P, Schmid K, Tortella F, Wang KK, Hayes RL. Glial neuronal ratio: a novel index for differentiating injury type in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* 2012; 29: 1096-1104 [PMID: 22165978 DOI: 10.1089/neu.2011.2092]
- 105 Manley GT, Diaz-Arrastia R, Brophy M, Engel D, Goodman C, Gwinn K, Veenstra TD, Ling G, Ottens AK, Tortella F, Hayes RL. Common data elements for traumatic brain injury: recommendations from the biospecimens and biomarkers working group. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2010; **91**: 1667-1672 [PMID: 21044710 DOI: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.05.018]
- 106 Teunissen CE, Petzold A, Bennett JL, Berven FS, Brundin L, Comabella M, Franciotta D, Frederiksen JL, Fleming JO, Furlan R, Hintzen RQ, Hughes SG, Johnson MH, Krasulova E, Kuhle J, Magnone MC, Rajda C, Rejdak K, Schmidt HK, van Pesch V, Waubant E, Wolf C, Giovannoni G, Hemmer B, Tumani H, Deisenhammer F. A consensus protocol for the standardization of cerebrospinal fluid collection and biobanking. *Neurology* 2009; 73: 1914-1922 [PMID: 19949037 DOI: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e 3181c47cc2]
- 107 Hallén M, Karlsson M, Carlhed R, Hallgren T, Bergenheim M. S-100B in serum and urine after traumatic head injury in children. *J Trauma* 2010; 69: 284-289 [PMID: 20734463 DOI: 10.1097/ TA.0b013e3181ca060b]
- 108 Delgado JM, DeFeudis FV, Roth RH, Ryugo DK, Mitruka BM. Dialytrode for long term intracerebral perfusion in awake monkeys. *Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther* 1972; 198: 9-21 [PMID: 4626478]
- 109 Ludvig N, Potter PE, Fox SE. Simultaneous single-cell recording and microdialysis within the same brain site in freely behaving rats: a novel neurobiological method. *J Neurosci Methods* 1994; 55: 31-40 [PMID: 7891459 DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-444-81194-3.50006-X]
- 110 Ungerstedt U. Measurement of neurotransmitter release by intracranial dialysis. In: Marsden CA, ed. Measurement of Neurotransmitter Release In Vivo. IBRO Handbook Series: Methods in the Neurosciences. New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 1984: 81-105
- 111 Zetterberg H, Hietala MA, Jonsson M, Andreasen N, Styrud E, Karlsson I, Edman A, Popa C, Rasulzada A, Wahlund LO, Mehta PD, Rosengren L, Blennow K, Wallin A. Neurochemical aftermath of amateur boxing. *Arch Neurol* 2006; 63: 1277-1280 [PMID: 16966505 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.63.9.1277]
- 112 Neselius S, Brisby H, Theodorsson A, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Marcusson J. CSF-biomarkers in Olympic boxing: diagnosis and effects of repetitive head trauma. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e33606 [PMID: 22496755 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033606]
- 113 Mörtberg E, Zetterberg H, Nordmark J, Blennow K, Catry C, Decraemer H, Vanmechelen E, Rubertsson S. Plasma tau protein in comatose patients after cardiac arrest treated with therapeutic hypothermia. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2011; 55: 1132-1138 [PMID: 22092212 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2011.02505.x]
- 114 Randall J, Mörtberg E, Provuncher GK, Fournier DR, Duffy DC, Rubertsson S, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Wilson DH. Tau proteins in serum predict neurological outcome after hypoxic brain injury from cardiac arrest: results of a pilot study. *Resuscitation* 2013; 84: 351-356 [PMID: 22885094 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2012.07.027]
- 115 Gupta MK. Myelin basic protein and demyelinating diseases. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 1987; 24: 287-314 [PMID: 2436854]
- 116 Borg K, Bonomo J, Jauch EC, Kupchak P, Stanton EB, Sawadsky B. Serum Levels of Biochemical Markers of Traumatic Brain Injury. *ISRN Emergency Medicine* 2012; 2012 [DOI:10.5402/2012/ 417313]
- 117 Ramont L, Thoannes H, Volondat A, Chastang F, Millet MC, Maquart FX. Effects of hemolysis and storage condition on neuronspecific enolase (NSE) in cerebrospinal fluid and serum: implications in clinical practice. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2005; **43**: 1215-1217 [PMID: 16232088 DOI: 10.1515/CCLM.2005.210]
- 118 Fazio V, Bhudia SK, Marchi N, Aumayr B, Janigro D. Peripheral detection of S100beta during cardiothoracic surgery: what are we really measuring? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; 78: 46-53 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.athoracsur.2003.11.042]
- 119 Pelinka LE, Kroepfl A, Leixnering M, Buchinger W, Raabe A, Redl H. GFAP Versus S100B in Serum after Traumatic Brain Injury: Relationship to Brain Damage and Outcome. *J Neurotr* 2004; 21: 1553-1561 [PMID: 15684648 DOI:10.1089/neu.2004.21.1553]
- 120 Mayer CA, Brunkhorst R, Niessner M, Pfeilschifter W, Steinmetz H, Foerch C. Blood Levels of Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) in Patients with Neurological Diseases. Kleinschnitz C, ed. *PLoS ONE* 2013; 8: e62101 [DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0062101]
- 121 Bergsneider M, Hovda DA, Shalmon E, Kelly DF, Vespa PM, Martin NA, Phelps ME, McArthur DL, Caron MJ, Kraus JF, Becker DP. Cerebral hyperglycolysis following severe traumatic brain injury in humans: a positron emission tomography study. J Neurosurg 1997; 86: 241-251 [PMID: 9010426 DOI: 10.3171/ jns.1997.86.2.0241]
- 122 Reinstrup P, Ståhl N, Mellergård P, Uski T, Ungerstedt U, Nordström CH. Intracerebral microdialysis in clinical practice: baseline values for chemical markers during wakefulness, anesthesia, and neurosurgery. *Neurosurgery* 2000; 47: 701-709; discussion 709-710 [PMID: 10981758 DOI: 10.1227/00006123-200009000-00035]

- 123 Tisdall MM, Smith M. Cerebral microdialysis: research technique or clinical tool. *Br J Anaesth* 2006; **97**: 18-25 [PMID: 16698861 DOI: 10.1093/bja/ael109]
- 124 Ungerstedt U, Rostami E. Microdialysis in neurointensive care. Curr Pharm Des 2004; 10: 2145-2152 [PMID: 15281890 DOI: 10.2174/1381612043384105]
- 125 Hillered L, Persson L, Nilsson P, Ronne-Engstrom E, Enblad P. Continuous monitoring of cerebral metabolism in traumatic brain injury: a focus on cerebral microdialysis. *Curr Opin Crit Care* 2006; 12: 112-118 [PMID: 16543785 DOI: 10.1097/01.ccx.0000 216576.11439.df]
- 126 Timofeev I, Czosnyka M, Carpenter KL, Nortje J, Kirkpatrick PJ, Al-Rawi PG, Menon DK, Pickard JD, Gupta AK, Hutchinson PJ. Interaction between brain chemistry and physiology after traumatic brain injury: impact of autoregulation and microdialysis catheter location. *J Neurotrauma* 2011; 28: 849-860 [PMID: 21488707 DOI: 10.1089/neu.2010.1656]
- 127 Timofeev I, Carpenter KL, Nortje J, Al-Rawi PG, O'Connell MT, Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Pickard JD, Menon DK, Kirkpatrick PJ, Gupta AK, Hutchinson PJ. Cerebral extracellular chemistry and outcome following traumatic brain injury: a microdialysis study of 223 patients. *Brain* 2011; **134**: 484-494 [PMID: 21247930 DOI: 10.1093/brain/awq353]
- 128 Sala N, Suys T, Zerlauth JB, Bouzat P, Messerer M, Bloch J, Levivier M, Magistretti PJ, Meuli R, Oddo M. Cerebral extracellular lactate increase is predominantly nonischemic in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 2013; 33: 1815-1822 [PMID: 23963367 DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.2013.142]
- 129 Sahuquillo J, Merino MA, Sánchez-Guerrero A, Arikan F, Vidal-Jorge M, Martínez-Valverde T, Rey A, Riveiro M, Poca MA. Lactate and the lactate-to-pyruvate molar ratio cannot be used as independent biomarkers for monitoring brain energetic metabolism: a microdialysis study in patients with traumatic brain injuries. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e102540 [PMID: 25025772 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0102540]
- 130 Bullock R, Zauner A, Woodward JJ, Myseros J, Choi SC, Ward JD, Marmarou A, Young HF. Factors affecting excitatory amino acid release following severe human head injury. *J Neurosurg* 1998; 89: 507-518 [PMID: 9761042 DOI: 10.3171/jns.1998.89.4.0507]
- 131 Rostami E. Glucose and the injured brain-monitored in the neurointensive care unit. *Front Neurol* 2014; 5: 91 [PMID: 24936196 DOI: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00091]
- 132 Oddo M, Schmidt JM, Carrera E, Badjatia N, Connolly ES, Presciutti M, Ostapkovich ND, Levine JM, Le Roux P, Mayer SA. Impact of tight glycemic control on cerebral glucose metabolism after severe brain injury: a microdialysis study. *Crit Care Med* 2008; 36: 3233-3238 [PMID: 18936695 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31818f4026]
- 133 Marcoux J, McArthur DA, Miller C, Glenn TC, Villablanca P, Martin NA, Hovda DA, Alger JR, Vespa PM. Persistent metabolic crisis as measured by elevated cerebral microdialysis lactate-pyruvate ratio predicts chronic frontal lobe brain atrophy after traumatic brain injury. *Crit Care Med* 2008; **36**: 2871-2877 [PMID: 18766106 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318186a4a0]
- 134 Bhatia R, Hashemi P, Razzaq A, Parkin MC, Hopwood SE, Boutelle MG, Strong AJ. Application of rapid-sampling, online microdialysis to the monitoring of brain metabolism during aneurysm surgery. *Neurosurgery* 2006; 58: ONS-313-ONS-20; discussion ONS-321 [PMID: 16582655 DOI: 10.1227/01. NEU.0000208963.42378.83]
- 135 Unterberg AW, Sakowitz OW, Sarrafzadeh AS, Benndorf G, Lanksch WR. Role of bedside microdialysis in the diagnosis of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* 2001; **94**: 740-749 [PMID: 11354405 DOI: 10.3171/jns.2001.94.5.0740]
- 136 Ulrich CT, Fung C, Vatter H, Setzer M, Gueresir E, Seifert V, Beck J, Raabe A. Occurrence of vasospasm and infarction in relation to a focal monitoring sensor in patients after SAH: placing a bet when placing a probe? *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e62754 [PMID: 23658768 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062754]
- 137 Sarrafzadeh AS, Sakowitz OW, Kiening KL, Benndorf G,

#### Sahu S et al. Biochemical changes in the injured brain

Lanksch WR, Unterberg AW. Bedside microdialysis: a tool to monitor cerebral metabolism in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients? *Crit Care Med* 2002; **30**: 1062-1070 [PMID: 12006804 DOI: 10.1097/00003246-200205000-00018]

- 138 Skjøth-Rasmussen J, Schulz M, Kristensen SR, Bjerre P. Delayed neurological deficits detected by an ischemic pattern in the extracellular cerebral metabolites in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* 2004; 100: 8-15 [PMID: 14743906 DOI: 10.3171/jns.2004.100.1.0008]
- 139 Sarrafzadeh A, Haux D, Küchler I, Lanksch WR, Unterberg AW. Poor-grade aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: relationship of cerebral metabolism to outcome. *J Neurosurg* 2004; 100: 400-406 [PMID: 15035274 DOI: 10.3171/jns.2004.100.3.0400]
- 140 Schmidt JM, Ko SB, Helbok R, Kurtz P, Stuart RM, Presciutti M, Fernandez L, Lee K, Badjatia N, Connolly ES, Claassen J, Mayer SA. Cerebral perfusion pressure thresholds for brain tissue hypoxia and metabolic crisis after poor-grade subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* 2011; 42: 1351-1356 [PMID: 21441155 DOI: 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.596874]
- Berger C, Annecke A, Aschoff A, Spranger M, Schwab S. Neurochemical monitoring of fatal middle cerebral artery infarction. *Stroke* 1999; 30: 460-463 [PMID: 9933288 DOI: 10.1161/01. STR.30.2.460]
- 142 Berger C, Kiening K, Schwab S. Neurochemical monitoring of therapeutic effects in large human MCA infarction. *Neurocrit Care* 2008; 9: 352-356 [PMID: 18415031 DOI: 10.1007/s12028-008-9093-8]
- Berger C, Schäbitz WR, Georgiadis D, Steiner T, Aschoff A, Schwab S. Effects of hypothermia on excitatory amino acids and metabolism in stroke patients: a microdialysis study. *Stroke* 2002;
  33: 519-524 [PMID: 11823663 DOI: 10.1161/hs0102.100878]
- 144 Roslin M, Henriksson R, Bergström P, Ungerstedt U, Bergenheim AT. Baseline levels of glucose metabolites, glutamate and glycerol in malignant glioma assessed by stereotactic microdialysis. J Neurooncol 2003; 61: 151-160 [PMID: 12622454 DOI: 10.1023/ A:1022106910017]
- 145 Xu W, Mellergård P, Ungerstedt U, Nordström CH. Local changes in cerebral energy metabolism due to brain retraction during routine neurosurgical procedures. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 2002; 144: 679-683 [PMID: 12181701 DOI: 10.1007/s00701-002-0946-1]

- 146 Blakeley J, Portnow J. Microdialysis for assessing intratumoral drug disposition in brain cancers: a tool for rational drug development. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol* 2010; 6: 1477-1491 [PMID: 20969450 DOI: 10.1517/17425255.2010.523420]
- 147 Ronquist G, Hugosson R, Sjölander U, Ungerstedt U. Treatment of malignant glioma by a new therapeutic principle. *Acta Neurochir* (Wien) 1992; 114: 8-11 [PMID: 1561943 DOI: 10.1007/ BF01401106]
- 148 Bergenheim AT, Roslin M, Ungerstedt U, Waldenström A, Henriksson R, Ronquist G. Metabolic manipulation of glioblastoma in vivo by retrograde microdialysis of L-2, 4 diaminobutyric acid (DAB). *J Neurooncol* 2006; 80: 285-293 [PMID: 16773220 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-006-9186-1]
- 149 Ronne-Engström E, Hillered L, Flink R, Spännare B, Ungerstedt U, Carlson H. Intracerebral microdialysis of extracellular amino acids in the human epileptic focus. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 1992; 12: 873-876 [PMID: 1506452 DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.1992.119]
- 150 Qureshi AI, Ali Z, Suri MF, Shuaib A, Baker G, Todd K, Guterman LR, Hopkins LN. Extracellular glutamate and other amino acids in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: an in vivo microdialysis study. *Crit Care Med* 2003; **31**: 1482-1489 [PMID: 12771622 DOI: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000063047.63862.99]
- 151 Orakcioglu B, Kentar MM, Schiebel P, Uozumi Y, Unterberg A, Sakowitz OW. Perihemorrhagic ischemia occurs in a volume-dependent manner as assessed by multimodal cerebral monitoring in a porcine model of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* 2015; 22: 133-139 [PMID: 25052158 DOI: 10.1007/s12028-014-0027-3]
- 152 Ottens AK, Kobeissy FH, Golden EC, Zhang Z, Haskins WE, Chen SS, Hayes RL, Wang KK, Denslow ND. Neuroproteomics in neurotrauma. *Mass Spectrom Rev* 2006; 25: 380-408 [PMID: 16498609 DOI: 10.1002/mas.20073]
- 153 Mondello S, Muller U, Jeromin A, Streeter J, Hayes RL, Wang KK. Blood-based diagnostics of traumatic brain injuries. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* 2011; 11: 65-78 [PMID: 21171922 DOI: 10.1586/erm.10.104]
- 154 Pasinetti GM, Ho L, Dooley C, Abbi B, Lange G. Select noncoding RNA in blood components provide novel clinically accessible biological surrogates for improved identification of traumatic brain injury in OEF/OIF Veterans. *Am J Neurodegener Dis* 2012; 1: 88-98 [PMID: 22737634]

P-Reviewer: Tian YF S-Editor: Qiu S L-Editor: Wang TQ E-Editor: Li D







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.32

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 32-44

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

REVIEW

## Retroviral integrase protein and intasome nucleoprotein complex structures

Julia Grawenhoff, Alan N Engelman

Julia Grawenhoff, Alan N Engelman, Department of Cancer Immunology and Virology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA 02215, United States

Julia Grawenhoff, Alan N Engelman, Department of Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, United States

Author contributions: Grawenhoff J and Engelman AN conceived the review and wrote the manuscript.

Supported by United States National Institutes of Health grant, No. R01AI070042.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Alan N Engelman, PhD, Professor of Medicine, Department of Cancer Immunology and Virology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, 450 Brookline Avenue, CLS-1010, Boston, MA 02215, United States. alan\_engelman@dfci.harvard.edu Telephone: +1-617-6324361 Fax: +1-617-6324338

Received: November 1, 2016 Peer-review started: November 4, 2016 First decision: December 14, 2016 Revised: December 24, 2016 Accepted: January 11, 2017 Article in press: January 14, 2017 Published online: February 26, 2017

## Abstract

Retroviral replication proceeds through the integration of a DNA copy of the viral RNA genome into the host cellular genome, a process that is mediated by the viral integrase (IN) protein. IN catalyzes two distinct chemical reactions: 3'-processing, whereby the viral DNA is recessed by a di- or trinucleotide at its 3'-ends, and strand transfer, in which the processed viral DNA ends are inserted into host chromosomal DNA. Although IN has been studied as a recombinant protein since the 1980s, detailed structural understanding of its catalytic functions awaited high resolution structures of functional IN-DNA complexes or intasomes, initially obtained in 2010 for the spumavirus prototype foamy virus (PFV). Since then, two additional retroviral intasome structures, from the  $\alpha$ -retrovirus Rous sarcoma virus (RSV) and  $\beta$ -retrovirus mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV), have emerged. Here, we briefly review the history of IN structural biology prior to the intasome era, and then compare the intasome structures of PFV, MMTV and RSV in detail. Whereas the PFV intasome is characterized by a tetrameric assembly of IN around the viral DNA ends, the newer structures harbor octameric IN assemblies. Although the higher order architectures of MMTV and RSV intasomes differ from that of the PFV intasome, they possess remarkably similar intasomal core structures. Thus, retroviral integration machineries have adapted evolutionarily to utilize disparate IN elements to construct convergent intasome core structures for catalytic function.

Key words: DNA integration; 3-dimensional structure; Integrase; Intasome; Mouse mammary tumor virus; Retrovirus; Rous sarcoma virus; Prototype foamy virus; Human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immune deficiency syndrome

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



WJBC | www.wjgnet.com

**Core tip:** This review examines the history of retroviral integrase structural biology and covers the currently available high-resolution structures of retroviral intasomes in detail. We in particular focus on the similarities and differences among the intasome structures of prototype foamy virus, Rous sarcoma virus and mouse mammary tumor virus.

Grawenhoff J, Engelman AN. Retroviral integrase protein and intasome nucleoprotein complex structures. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 32-44 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/32.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/ wjbc.v8.i1.32

## **INTRODUCTION**

Retroviral replication requires the incorporation of the viral genetic information into the host cellular genome, which occurs via two main steps: (1) the reverse transcription of single-stranded viral RNA into linear double-stranded DNA; and (2) the integration of this DNA into a host chromosome. These steps occur in the context of two subviral nucleoprotein complexes: The reverse transcription complex (reviewed in<sup>[1]</sup>) and the pre-integration complex (PIC)<sup>[2]</sup>, each of which consists of a variety of cellular and viral proteins including reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN)<sup>[3-7]</sup>. In the cytoplasm, RT mediates the synthesis of a linear viral DNA (vDNA) molecule that harbors a copy of the viral long-terminal repeat (LTR) at each end $^{[8-10]}$ . In the confines of the PIC, vDNA is trafficked toward the nucleus, where its integration into host cell target DNA (tDNA) is promoted by IN. Here, we discuss the current knowledge of IN structural determinants and intasome function, highlighting both key similarities and differences among the retroviruses.

## **REACTIONS CATALYZED BY IN**

Retroviral IN performs two biochemically and temporally distinct bimolecular nucleophilic substitution (SN2) reactions<sup>[11]</sup>: 3'-processing and strand transfer (Figure 1). During 3'-processing, a di- or trinucleotide is hydrolytically cleaved from each 3' vDNA end<sup>[12-14]</sup>, exposing reactive hydroxyl groups of invariant CA dinucleotides. These groups act as nucleophiles for subsequent strand transfer whereby the newly processed 3' vDNA ends are covalently inserted into a major groove of tDNA in a staggered fashion. The product of the second reaction is an integration intermediate that is characterized by unjoined 5' vDNA overhangs<sup>[15,16]</sup>. Following disassembly of the associated strand transfer complex (STC, Figure 1), a DNA polymerase, 5' flap endonuclease, and DNA ligase are required to fill in the single-strand gap regions in tDNA, excise 5' vDNA overhangs, and join the vDNA 5' ends to host DNA strands, respectively (reviewed in<sup>[17]</sup>). During this process, short target site duplications are generated, which flank the integrated provirus. Depending on the genus of retrovirus, the size of these target site duplications ranges from 4-6 base pairs (bp). Whereas spumavirus prototype foamy virus (PFV)<sup>[18,19]</sup> and lentivirus human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1)<sup>[20,21]</sup> integration yield 4 bp and 5 bp target site duplications, respectively, mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV)<sup>[22]</sup> and Rous sarcoma virus (RSV)<sup>[23,24]</sup> INs cleave tDNA phosphodiester bonds that are separated by 6 bp.

## RETROVIRAL IN DOMAIN ORGANIZATION

Retroviral IN proteins consist of approximately 275-470 amino acid residues. The INs to be discussed in detail in this review amount to 288 (HIV-1), 392 (PFV), 286 (RSV), and 319 (MMTV) residues<sup>[25-27]</sup>. Retroviral INs comprise three domains common to all genera: The N-terminal domain (NTD), the catalytic core domain (CCD), and the C-terminal domain (CTD)<sup>[28-32]</sup>, which connect to one another via flexible linkers that vary in length across the viruses (Figure 2). The NTD adopts a helix-turn-helix fold and harbors two pairs of Zn<sup>2+</sup>-coordinating histidine and cysteine residues (HHCC motif), which are additionally conserved in retrotransposon INs and are involved in the recognition of the viral LTRs<sup>[30,31,33-35]</sup>. Accordingly, Zn<sup>2+</sup> binding triggers HIV-1 IN multimerization and increases its catalytic activity<sup>[36,37]</sup>. The CCD adopts an RNase H fold and coordinates two Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions via the invariant Asp and Glu amino acid residues that comprise the D, DX<sub>35</sub>E catalytic triad motif<sup>[28,29,38-40]</sup>. The coordination of Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions chemically activates the nucleophiles for 3'-processing (water) as well as for strand transfer (3'-OH groups of vDNA) and destabilizes the respective scissile phosphodiester bonds<sup>[41-43]</sup>. The CTD is the least conserved among the shared IN domains, however, the tertiary structures of resolved CTDs show similar characteristics: They adopt a Src homology 3 fold<sup>[44,45]</sup>, are involved in DNA binding<sup>[46]</sup>, and promote IN multimerization<sup>[47,48]</sup>. Some retroviruses, namely spuma-, <sub>E</sub>and y-retroviruses, harbor an additional NTD extension domain (NED) that precedes the NTD<sup>[26,40,49]</sup> and engages vDNA in the context of the intasome structure<sup>[40]</sup>. These IN proteins accordingly are larger than their lenti-,  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ and  $\delta$ -retroviral cousins that lack the NED.

## MULTIMERIZATION OF IN

Numerous biochemical studies revealed that the active form of retroviral IN is a multimer that engages vDNA and tDNA in the confines of a nucleoprotein complex<sup>[50-58]</sup>. Bacteriophage Mu-mediated PCR footprinting of PICs extracted from infected cells revealed the protection of several hundred bp at the vDNA ends, and the associated complex was termed "intasome" to distinguish it from the larger PICs<sup>[59,60]</sup>. Subsequently, the intasome term was adopted by structural biologists who constructed and purified distinct, functional IN-DNA complexes capable



Grawenhoff J et al. Structural analysis of retroviral integrase and intasomes



Figure 1 Integrase catalytic functions and intasome complexes. A multimer of integrase (IN) (depicted simply by blue oval) engages the end regions of the linear vDNA molecule (yellow), forming the stable synaptic complex (SSC). During 3'-processing, IN hydrolyzes the vDNA ends adjacent to invariant CA dinucleotides, revealing a set of reactive 3'-hydroxyl groups in the confines of the cleaved donor complex (CDC). After nuclear localization, the target capture complex (TCC) is formed upon tDNA (black) capture. Strand transfer, whereby IN employs the 3' hydroxyl groups as nucleophiles to attack the tDNA, marks the transition to the strand transfer complex (STC).

of efficient concerted integration of two synapsed oligonucleotide vDNA ends, the structures of which were solved by X-ray crystallography<sup>[40,43,61-63]</sup> or single particle cryo-electron microscopy (EM)<sup>[26]</sup>. Although retroviral INs have been studied for decades, the 3-dimensional structures of PFV intasomes greatly aided the elucidation of the details of 3'-processing and strand transfer reaction mechanisms<sup>[40,43,62]</sup>.

The "intasome" term today applies to the family of nucleoprotein complexes that are known to mediate retroviral DNA integration (Figure 1), which encompasses the stable synaptic complex (SSC)<sup>[43]</sup>, the cleaved donor complex (CDC) or cleaved intasome<sup>[40,43]</sup>, the target capture complex (TCC)<sup>[43,62]</sup>, and the STC<sup>[62,63]</sup> (Figure 1). The SSC forms upon IN binding to the vDNA ends<sup>[5,40,55, 57-60,64,65]</sup>. The hydrolytic cleavage of a di- or trinucleotide from each 3'-end marks the transition to the CDC. The TCC forms when the CDC engages tDNA, whereas the STC is formed when the vDNA ends are inserted into tDNA and thus strand transfer is completed<sup>[57,58,61-64,66]</sup>. The PFV system has importantly afforded high-resolution structures for each of these complexes<sup>[40,43,62,63]</sup>.

## APPROACHES TO STUDY THE THREE-DIMENSIONAL STRUCTURES OF RETROVIRAL IN PROTEINS

Mechanistic studies of retroviral DNA integration began



Figure 2 Integrase domain organization and representative secondary structures. Starting and ending residues for integrase (IN) domains are indicated above the boxes, and interdomain linker lengths as well as C-terminal tail lengths are indicated below the lines. Crystal structures of N-terminal domains (NTDs), catalytic core domains (CCDs), and C-terminal domains (CTDs) are provided underneath the corresponding schematic IN representation. Crystal structures in the absence of DNA are not available for the PFV NTD extension domain (NED), NTD, or CTD, as well as for the RSV NTD. PDB accession codes: HIV-1 (NTD, 1K6Y; CCD, 1BIU; CTD, 1EX4), PFV (CCD, 3DLR), RSV (CCD, 1C0M; CTD, 1C0M) and MMTV (NTD, 5CZ2; CCD, 5CZ1; CTD, 5D7U). HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; RSV: Prototype foamy virus; RSV: Rous sarcoma virus; MMTV: Mouse mammary tumor virus.

in earnest in the late 1980s and early 1990s when PICs partially purified from infected cells were shown to promote correct DNA integration in vitro<sup>[5,14,60,67-70]</sup>. Nearly parallel biochemical studies, which utilized purified avian, murine, and human retroviral proteins, importantly showed that IN alone was sufficient to catalyze both the 3'-processing and strand transfer of recombinant vDNA substrates<sup>[71-77]</sup>. The results of these experiments opened up a new field dedicated to the structural and functional analysis of retroviral INs. Initial work on HIV-1 IN guickly revealed the relatively poor solubility of the full-length enzyme in vitro, which limited further biochemical and thus structural characterization<sup>[48]</sup>. To date, there is no high-resolution structure of a full-length retroviral IN in the absence of DNA, which is likely attributable to the inherent flexibility of the interdomain linkers<sup>[78-80]</sup>. In essence, the intertwined architecture of IN with vDNA in the context of the intasome complex necessarily "locks down" the inherently flexible enzymes, which afforded platforms for their detailed structural analyses.

## STRUCTURES OF INDIVIDUAL DOMAIN AND TWO-DOMAIN IN CONSTRUCTS

Initial structures of individual IN domains or two-domain constructs in the absence of DNA (reviewed in<sup>[81,82]</sup>) (Figure 2) turned out to be challenging in many cases, and were only possible for the HIV-1 IN protein with the help of solubility-enhancing mutations. By systematically replacing hydrophobic residues in the HIV-1 IN CCD, Phe185 was identified as a solubility-limiting residue<sup>[83]</sup>: Substituting either Lys or His for Phe185 dramatically

improved HIV-1 IN protein solubility<sup>[48,84]</sup>. Although the F185K change enabled the determination of the HIV-1 CCD X-ray structure<sup>[85]</sup>, it conferred a lethal viral phenotype due to deficiencies in virus particle assembly and reverse transcription in addition to defective vDNA integration<sup>[48]</sup>. Indeed, the vast majority of IN mutations elicit such pleotropic defects on HIV-1 replication (reviewed in<sup>[86]</sup>). In contrast, the F185H change was tolerated by the virus, and importantly enabled crystallization of the CCD<sup>[84,87]</sup>. In both cases, the positively charged substituent residue reaches across the CCD dimerization interface and makes a hydrogen bond contact with the main chain carbonyl of Ala105 of the partner IN monomer. The F185K and F185H changes are therefore likely to dramatically increase HIV-1 IN solubility by removing a surface exposed aromatic residue that may nucleate protein aggregation, as well as by enhancing multimerization by adding two hydrogen bonds per IN dimer. Even greater solubility of the HIV-1 CCD was achieved by mutating the tryptophan at position 131 to glutamic acid in the context of the F185K change<sup>[88]</sup>. Simultaneous to the work on the HIV-1 IN CCD, the X-ray structure of the avian sarcoma virus (ASV) IN CCD was solved<sup>[89]</sup>. Of note, ASV IN harbors His at the position analogous to Phe185 in HIV-1 IN, and solubilityenhancing mutations accordingly were not required to crystallize the ASV IN CCD. Succeeding structures of HIV-1<sup>[88,90-93]</sup> and ASV<sup>[94-97]</sup> IN CCDs elucidated binding sites for metal ion cofactors as well as for early inhibitors. NTD and CTD structures of HIV-1 IN and HIV-2 IN, which were solved by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy<sup>[34,35,44,45,98,99]</sup>, suggested functions of the NTDs in metal ion coordination and the binding of the CTD to vDNA, each of which is required for integration.

Two-domain IN constructs were initially studied as an approach to understand how individual IN domains might interact to form an active nucleoprotein complex. Three different CCD-CTD two-domain structures for HIV-1, simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), and avian sarcomaleukosis virus (ASLV) were reported in 2000<sup>[100-102]</sup>. Each construct harbored at least one solubility-enhancing mutation: C56S, W131D, F139D, F185K, and C280S for HIV-1, F185H for SIV, and F199K for ASLV, the latter two of which are analogous to the F185K change in HIV-1. The HIV-1 CCD-CTD structure revealed an extended a-helix for the CCD-CTD linker region<sup>[100]</sup>. Whereas the SIV IN CCD-CTD linker could not be traced<sup>[101]</sup>, the RSV IN CCD-CTD linker had a rather extended, non-helical form compared to the HIV-1 IN CCD-CTD linker<sup>[102]</sup>. The appearance of three different linker configurations in three different IN CCD-CTD constructs led some to suggest that such configurations may result from crystal packing and therefore represent limited physiological relevance<sup>[82]</sup>.

Crystallization of a HIV-1 IN NTD-CCD construct was achieved in 2001 by including W131D, F139D and F185K solubility-enhancing mutations<sup>[103]</sup>. The resulting X-ray structure revealed possible interactions between two of the NTDs with two CCDs of opposing NTD-CCD molecules, which was of potential physiological relevance due to the fact that it was known from prior biochemical studies that the NTD functioned *in trans* with the CCD<sup>[51-53]</sup>. However, the inability to trace the NTD-CCD linker regions limited the confidence of this interpretation. Importantly, the domain sharing arrangement suggested by this structure was later confirmed by additional NTD-CCD structures and mutagenesis<sup>[104]</sup>, and ultimately through the elucidation of intasome structures (see below).

## LENTIVIRAL IN-LEDGF CO-CRYSTAL STRUCTURES

In the early 2000s, a host factor implicated in the nuclear retention of HIV-1 IN, lens epithelium-derived growth factor/transcriptional co-activator p75 (LEDGF/p75), was reported to increase the solubility of HIV-1 IN through its tight binding interaction<sup>[105-107]</sup>. LEDGF/p75 is a lentiviral-specific IN-binding protein<sup>[105,108,109]</sup> that tethers vDNA integration to transcriptionally active regions of the host genome (reviewed in<sup>[110,111]</sup>). LEDGF/p75 engages lentiviral IN *via* its C-terminally located IN-binding domain (IBD)<sup>[112]</sup>. Although the HIV-1 IN CCD was sufficient for LEDGF/p75 binding, the NTD was required for the high efficiency interaction<sup>[107]</sup>. LEDGF/p75 binding stabilizes lentiviral IN tetramerization<sup>[104,113]</sup>, which is likely related to its ability to enhance the solubility of the viral proteins.

Crystal structures of lentiviral INs in complex with LEDGF/p75 include an HIV-1 IN F185K CCD construct<sup>[114]</sup> as well as HIV-2<sup>[115]</sup> and maedi-visna virus (MVV) IN NTD-CCD two-domain fragments<sup>[104]</sup>. Though HIV-2 and MVV INs harbor hydrophobic residues at the positions analogous to Phe185 in HIV-1 IN (Phe and Ile, respectively), the favorable solubility properties of lentiviral IN-LEDGF/ p75 complexes likely dispelled the need for solubilityenhancing mutations for the crystallization of these constructs. The LEDGF/p75 IBD is a PHAT domain composed of two helix-hairpin-helix motifs<sup>[116]</sup>, with Asp366 at the tip of the N-terminal hairpin nestling into a binding cleft at the HIV-1 IN CCD dimerization interface and contacting the main chain amides of IN residues Glu170 and His171 via hydrogen bonds<sup>[114]</sup>. A novel class of potent anti-HIV compounds, known as LEDGINs (LEDGF-IN inhibitors) or ALLINIs (allosteric IN inhibitors), structurally mimic the role of Asp366 in their binding to HIV-1 IN, which accounts for their abilities to compete for LEDGF/p75 binding to IN (reviewed in<sup>[117]</sup>). The two domain NTD-CCD constructs revealed the structural basis for the IN NTD interaction with the LEDGF/p75 IBD, which was ionic in nature. Interestingly, the polarities of the participating salt bridges were functionally reversible, such that HIV-1 particles carrying NTD reverse charge substitutions that were otherwise dead regained partial activity in the presence of the complementary reverse charge LEDGF/ p75 partner protein<sup>[115,118]</sup>.

## PFV INTASOME STRUCTURE

Although the aforementioned individual and two-domain

constructs provided insight into retroviral IN function, the field sorely required the structural determination of a functional intasome. The sole class of clinically approved HIV-1 IN inhibitors, known as IN strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIS), displays little if any binding affinity for free IN protein; their clinical target is the IN-vDNA complex<sup>[119]</sup>. Fortuitously, INSTIs are active against most types of retroviruses<sup>[120-122]</sup>, so intasome structures derived from basically any retroviral genus would have in theory provided a backdrop for understanding the structural basis for INSTI action and the clinical emergence of drug resistance.

Due to the poor solubility of HIV-1 and other early studied retroviral INs, the search for an enzyme with more favorable biochemical properties for in vitro experimentation and crystallography was initiated. Though early work had revealed that relatively short oligonucleotide substrates, which modeled the vDNA ends, supported IN 3' processing and strand transfer activities<sup>[72-77]</sup>, not all enzymes behaved similarly. Most critical for intasome structural biology was the ability for the IN multimer to coordinate the binding of two vDNA ends, and insert these in concerted fashion into opposing strands of tDNA. Critically, PFV IN was discovered to promote efficient concerted integration of oligonucleotide vDNA ends<sup>[121]</sup>. By contrast, HIV-1 IN had revealed the tendency to insert just one vDNA end at a time<sup>[77]</sup>. Subsequent modifications of HIV-1 IN expression systems, including protein purification under relatively dilute conditions to prevent IN aggregation<sup>[123]</sup>, or by fusing the small Sso7d DNA binding domain from Sulfolobus solfataricus to the IN N-terminus to mimic the NED that naturally exists in PFV IN<sup>[124]</sup>, yielded proteins that supported efficient concerted integration activity. Such modifications might eventually prove useful to characterize HIV-1 intasomes structurally<sup>[123,124]</sup>.

Functional PFV-vDNA complexes assembled by differential salt dialysis migrated as a distinct species on gel filtration columns, and remained intact and active following challenge with high salt concentrations<sup>[40]</sup>. The initial X-ray crystal structure of the PFV intasome, representing the CDC, was reported in 2010<sup>[40]</sup> (Figure 3). To date, 37 PFV intasome structures composed of wildtype IN or mutant variants that contain clinically relevant amino acid substitutions have been solved by X-ray crystallography or cryo-EM, representing complexes in the presence of divalent metal ion cofactors, tDNA/ nucleosomes, and INSTIs<sup>[40,43,62,63,125-130]</sup>. The INSTIbound structures elucidated the mechanism of drug action: The halo-benzyl chemical group common to these compounds assumes the position of the invariant 3' deoxyadenylate in vDNA with its critical hydroxyl group, thus ejecting the strand transfer nucleophile from the enzyme active site and disarming the nucleoprotein  $\operatorname{complex}^{[40]}$ .

The PFV intasome consists of a tetrameric assembly of IN arranged around a dimer-of-dimers architecture<sup>[40]</sup> (Figure 3). The inner dimer is composed of two inner monomers (green and pink in Figure 3A), whereas each outer dimer is composed of an inner IN monomer and an outer IN monomer (cyan-green and pink-light grey in Figures 3 and 4). The inner IN monomers make all contacts with vDNA and thus are the catalytic subunits, with each of their constitutive domains mediating vDNA in addition to IN-IN contacts. As previously alluded to, the catalytic subunits are established via a domain sharing mechanism whereby the NTD of each inner IN monomer interacts intimately with the CCD of the opposing IN monomer. The outer IN dimers center around the extensive CCD dimeric interface observed in prior retroviral IN CCD crystal structures<sup>[85,87-97]</sup>. The CTDs, NTDs, and NEDs of the outer IN monomers are not resolved in the electron density maps, and it is currently unclear what precise role(s) they may play in the catalysis of vDNA integration<sup>[131]</sup>. It is generally thought that the outer IN monomers mainly play a supportive architectural role to truss the inner IN monomers and vDNA together. As the outer CTDs can contribute to nucleosome binding in vitro<sup>[130]</sup>, it seems possible they might play a role during vDNA integration into chromatinized templates, as occurs during virus infection. The NTD-CCD and CCD-CTD linkers, which are only visible for the inner IN monomers in the crystal structures, adopt extended conformations and contact the vDNA<sup>[40]</sup>.

## MMTV AND RSV INTASOME STRUCTURES

MMTV and RSV intasome structures were recently solved using single-particle cryo-EM<sup>[26]</sup> and X-ray crystallography<sup>[61]</sup>, respectively. The MMTV intasome was assembled using pre-processed 22 bp vDNA, and thus represents the CDC<sup>[26]</sup>. The RSV intasome structure by contrast is the STC, which was assembled using a socalled X-mer disintegration substrate<sup>[132]</sup> where three oligonucleotide strands were annealed together to yield a synapsed complex composed of two 22 bp vDNA branches covalently linked through a central 6 bp stagger to a 38 bp palindromic tDNA<sup>[61]</sup>. The crystal structure of the PFV STC assembled with its analogous X-mer DNA substrate<sup>[63]</sup> was virtually identical to the structure that was solved when the CDC integrated into tDNA during crystallogenesis<sup>[62]</sup>, validating the X-mer substrate design approach for RSV STC crystallography.

Although the tetrameric IN<sub>4</sub>-to-vDNA<sub>2</sub> stoichiometry represented by the PFV intasome was generally thought to be evolutionarily conserved across the retroviruses<sup>[54,55,57,58]</sup>, the intasome structures of MMTV and RSV strikingly revealed octameric IN assemblies<sup>[26,61]</sup> (Figures 3 and 4). The MMTV and RSV intasomes comprise a core density region consisting of IN dimers A and B, as well as flanking density regions that consist of IN dimers C and D (Figure 3). Analogous to the PFV structure, core inner IN monomers IN1 and IN3 intimately contact the vDNA ends and are catalytically active, with their NTDs reaching out and contacting the CCDs of the opposing inner monomer (Figure 4). The core structure moreover is primarily

#### Grawenhoff J et al. Structural analysis of retroviral integrase and intasomes



Figure 3 Comparison of prototype foamy virus, Rous sarcoma virus and mouse mammary tumor virus intasomes. A: The PFV intasome comprises two catalytic inner subunits (green and pink) and two outer supportive INs (cyan and light grey). Only the CCDs of the outer subunits are discernable in crystallographic electron density maps. RSV and MMTV share the PFV intasome core architecture and employ two additional flanking IN dimers (orange-purple and yellow-dark pink) to complete the intasome structures; B: Three-dimensional alignment of RSV (grey, PDB accession code 5EJK), PFV (yellow, PDB code 3L2Q), and MMTV (red, PDB code 3JCA) intasome structures was performed using Chimera. For the MMTV intasome, flanking dimers were unambiguously positioned into the intasome core of the cryo-EM map *via* rigid-body docking. The alignment reveals a high degree of flexibility (approximately 30-40 Å) for the flanking RSV and MMTV dimers relative to the common intasome core structures (arrows). PFV: Prototype foamy virus; RSV: Rous sarcoma virus; MMTV: Mouse mammary tumor virus.

supported through CCD dimerization interfaces with outer IN monomers IN2 and IN4. In contrast to PFV, flanking structures in the MMTV and RSV intasomes constitute additional IN dimers, which on their own multimerize primarily through the familiar CCD dimer interface<sup>[26,61]</sup>. The NTD-CCD linker that is extended in IN1 and IN3 to contact the opposing CCD in trans is contracted in the other IN monomers<sup>[26]</sup>. This observation highlights the necessity for NTD-CCD linker flexibility: Though principally contracted, it must also possess the ability to extend when situated at the IN1 and IN3 positions to support IN catalytic function. In hindsight, it is not surprising that the linker regions in the original HIV-1 IN NTD-CCD structure, which lacked LEDGF/p75 or DNA binding partners, were untraceable<sup>[103]</sup>. Of note, whereas the crystallographic PFV intasome structure is rather rigid, the flanking dimer regions in the MMTV and RSV intasome structures reveal significant flexibility (Figure 3B). As small angle X-ray scattering analysis of the PFV intasome revealed significant conformational flexibility for the outer subunit NEDs, NTDs and CTDs of the IN tetramer<sup>[79]</sup>, it is tempting to describe retroviral

intasomes as common rigid core structures surrounded by extraneous elements that, although likely to play physiologically relevant roles during virus infection, display marked movement as purified biochemical entities.

The most striking difference between the tetrameric and octameric IN assemblies is the unique function attributed to the CTDs of the flanking dimers in the MMTV and RSV intasome structures. While contacts with vDNA in the PFV structure are restricted to the inner IN1 and IN3 subunits, MMTV and RSV INs donate their CTDs in trans to the core region of the intasome<sup>[26,61]</sup>. The locations of six CTDs, including those of the flanking IN dimers, are conserved in the MMTV and RSV intasomes (Figure 4). The exclusive conformation of the CTDs allows them to tightly associate near the vDNA and assume positions resembling those of the inner PFV CTDs (Figure 4). Biochemical complementation assays revealed that the flanking MMTV IN dimers are crucial for IN catalytic function<sup>[26]</sup>. Intriguingly, the length of the CCD-CTD linker is guite variable among retroviral INs, amounting to about 50 residues for PFV, but only to 8 residues for MMTV and RSV IN<sup>[26]</sup> (Figure 2). The extended conformation of the

WJBC www.wjgnet.com

#### Grawenhoff J et al. Structural analysis of retroviral integrase and intasomes



Figure 4 Integrase domain organizations within the prototype foamy virus, Rous sarcoma virus and mouse mammary tumor virus intasome structures. Separate integrase (IN) domains are labeled, with IN monomer coloring code retained from Figure 3. The green IN1 and pink IN3 monomers donate their active sites for catalysis of 3' processing and strand transfer across the structures. Circled areas represent similarly positioned CTDs. While these emanate from inner IN1 and IN3 monomers in the PFV structure, they originate from flanking MMTV and RSV IN monomers IN6 and IN8. PDB accession codes same as in Figure 3. PFV: Prototype foamy virus; RSV: Rous sarcoma virus; MMTV: Mouse mammary tumor virus; CCD: Catalytic core domain; NTD: N-terminal domain; CTD: C-terminal domain.

PFV IN 49-mer CTD-CCD linker affords the positioning of IN1 and IN3 CTDs to enable critical contacts with vDNA and tDNA during integration<sup>[40,62]</sup>. The analogous HIV-1 IN linker, composed of 20 residues (Figure 2), could be stretched to similarly position inner IN monomer CTDs in

a molecular model of the HIV-1 intasome based on the PFV structure<sup>[133]</sup>. However, it is physically impossible for an 8 amino acid region to span the required distance. MMTV and RSV accordingly solve this conundrum by employing additional IN molecules to donate their CTDs to the required positions in the intasome core structure (Figure 4). Hence, retroviral IN CTD-CCD linker length is suggested to be a key determinant for the higher-order architecture of the respective intasome structures<sup>[26,61]</sup>.

## TARGET DNA BINDING AND STRAND TRANSFER

The integration of vDNA into tDNA does not occur randomly in the host genome, with integration site selection preferences varying among retroviruses (recently reviewed in<sup>[134]</sup>). Whereas HIV-1 and other lentiviruses favor integration into highly expressed genes that are rich in introns<sup>[135-139]</sup>, the spumavirus PFV avoids active gene regions<sup>[130,140,141]</sup>. Interestingly,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -retroviruses such as RSV and MMTV are the least selective in integration site selection, displaying patterns that much more closely approach random<sup>[138,142,143]</sup>.

The co-crystallization of the PFV intasome with an oligonucleotide tDNA<sup>[62]</sup> derived from the PFV consensus integration sequence<sup>[121,140]</sup> elucidated the mechanism of strand transfer. Whereas crystallization in the absence of Mg<sup>2+</sup> or the presence of a dideoxy viral 3' end led to high-resolution TCC structures, the addition of Mg<sup>2+</sup> with the normal vDNA end afforded integration during crystallogenesis, yielding the first high-resolution structure of a retroviral or bacterial transposon STC<sup>[62]</sup> (Figure 5). The tDNA adopted a highly bent conformation at the PFV DNA insertion sites, with the major groove widened to 26.3 Å and the minor groove compressed to 9.6  $Å^{[62]}$ . This conformation enables the accommodation of the inner IN1 and IN3 D,DX35E catalytic triads to the scissile phosphodiester bonds of tDNA, thus promoting integration<sup>[62]</sup>. As SN2 transesterification reactions are isoenergetic, they have the potential to reverse direction if chemical leaving groups remain associated with the catalytic active site. Following strand transfer, the newly formed phosphodiester bonds are displaced by 2.3 Å from the IN active sites, effectively suppressing the probability for strand transfer reversal<sup>[62]</sup>. A similar displacement is described for the tDNA in the RSV intasome<sup>[61]</sup>.

Early studies revealed that retroviral INs prefer chromatinized tDNA templates over naked DNA for integration *in vitro*<sup>[144-147]</sup>, and subsequent work revealed the propensity to similarly target nucleosomes during virus infection<sup>[135,148]</sup>. PFV IN prefers relatively flexible tDNA sequences for integration<sup>[62]</sup>, and a cryo-EM structure of an intasome-nucleosome complex revealed the same degree of local tDNA distortion can occur on the nucleosome surface during PFV integration<sup>[130]</sup>. Since spumaviral INs cleave tDNA with a 4 bp stagger, it has been suggested that the degree of tDNA kink



WJBC | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Superposition of prototype foamy virus strand transfer complex, Rous sarcoma virus strand transfer complex, and mouse mammary tumor virus cleaved donor complex structures with respect to vDNA and tDNA. For simplicity, integrase content is either partially transparent or omitted. Color-coding is as following: PFV DNA: Black; RSV DNA: Grey; MMTV DNA: Purple. 90° rotations show different angles of the intasomes. PDB accession codes: PFV STC: 3OS0, RSV STC: 5EJK, MMTV CDC: 3JCA. PFV: Prototype foamy virus; RSV: Rous sarcoma virus; MMTV: Mouse mammary tumor virus; STC: Strand transfer complex; CDC: Cleaved donor complex.

has to be greater for spumaviral integration than for viruses that cleave target DNA with a 6 bp stagger, such as the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -retroviruses<sup>[149]</sup>. Although the IN1 and IN3 catalytic triads of the PFV and MMTV intasomes are superimposable, modeling of tDNA into the MMTV CDC revealed a relatively unbent conformation to accommodate a 6 bp staggered cut as compared to the highly bent tDNA conformation for the 4 bp stagger in the PFV TCC<sup>[26]</sup> (Figure 5).

The RSV STC harbors a highly bent tDNA conformation despite the fact that RSV IN cleaves the DNA with a 6 bp stagger (Figure 5). Kinks located at the vDNA/tDNA junctions of the RSV intasome provoke a 20 Å shift in the helical axis, leading to an overall tDNA twist<sup>[61]</sup>. Hence, the tDNA conformation in the RSV STC differs significantly from the tDNA conformation in the PFV structure (Figure 5) and also from the relatively unbent tDNA confirmation in the MMTV TCC model<sup>[26]</sup>. These observations suggest potentially different modes of integration into nucleosomal DNA among the studied viruses. Whereas PFV and RSV are predicted to target chromatinized DNA during virus infection, MMTV was unique among a study of 10 exogenous retroviruses for its apparent avoidance of nucleosomal DNA in vivo<sup>[149]</sup>. Elucidation of high-resolution MMTV STC/TCC structures will help to illuminate the degree of tDNA bending that occurs during MMTV integration.

Based on the variety of tDNA structural properties that influence target site selectivity, including bendability<sup>[62,149-152]</sup>, major groove widening, and nucleosomal packaging<sup>[144-147,153,154]</sup>, retroviral INs can be classified as shape-readout DNA binding proteins<sup>[155]</sup>. DNA minicircles, which mimic nucleosome-induced tDNA circularization in the absence of histones, represent a relatively new tool to tease out physiologically-relevant influences of tDNA structure on integration site selectivity *in vitro*, and the roles of IN-binding cofactors such as LEDGF/p75<sup>[156]</sup>.

## CONCLUSION

The study of retroviral integration has come a long way since its beginnings in the late 1970s. The relatively large repertoire of individual and two-domain retroviral IN structures that were solved initially has since expanded to a set of high-resolution intasome structures, including those from the spumavirus PFV,  $\beta$ -retrovirus MMTV, and  $\alpha$ -retrovirus RSV. To date, the plethora of PFV intasome structures represents a remarkable advance for the field of retroviral integration. Not only have they elucidated the mechanism of INSTI action, they provide high-resolution structures of the entire set of complexes (SSC, CDC, TCC and STC) that mediate retroviral DNA integration<sup>[40,43,62,63]</sup>.

The recently emerged octameric intasome structures of MMTV<sup>[26]</sup> and RSV<sup>[61]</sup> reveal an unexpected evolutionary diversity among retroviruses. As the intasomal core is conserved among the three studied retroviruses, the utilization of flanking dimers to complete the functional MMTV and RSV intasome structures represents a remarkable example of convergent evolution of the DNA integration apparatus<sup>[26,61]</sup>. Considering CCD-CTD linker length as a predictor of the state of IN multimerization within functional intasomes<sup>[26]</sup>, it remains to be investigated whether retroviral INs with intermediary linker lengths, including those of HIV-1 and the  $\delta$ -retrovirus human T-cell lymphotropic virus, which harbor 20 and 19 residues, respectively<sup>[26]</sup>, will reveal tetrameric, octameric, or perhaps even higher-order IN assemblies.

Motivated by the recent advances in the intasome field, new IN-DNA complexes are currently being investigated in various laboratories, including those derived from lentiviruses. The emergence of new threedimensional intasome structures will help to model novel interactions between HIV-1 IN and DNA, and thus should reveal new insights into the mechanisms of emergence of drug resistance to clinical INSTIS.

#### REFERENCES

- Iordanskiy S, Bukrinsky M. Reverse transcription complex: the key player of the early phase of HIV replication. *Future Virol* 2007; 2: 49-64 [PMID: 23658595 DOI: 10.2217/17460794.2.1.49]
- 2 Bowerman B, Brown PO, Bishop JM, Varmus HE. A nucleoprotein complex mediates the integration of retroviral DNA. *Genes Dev* 1989; 3: 469-478 [PMID: 2721960 DOI: 10.1101/gad.3.4.469]
- 3 **Farnet CM**, Haseltine WA. Determination of viral proteins present in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complex. *J Virol* 1991; **65**: 1910-1915 [PMID: 2002549]
- 4 Bukrinsky MI, Sharova N, McDonald TL, Pushkarskaya T, Tarpley WG, Stevenson M. Association of integrase, matrix, and reverse transcriptase antigens of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with viral nucleic acids following acute infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1993; **90**: 6125-6129 [PMID: 7687060 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.90.13.6125]
- 5 Miller MD, Farnet CM, Bushman FD. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition. *J Virol* 1997; 71: 5382-5390 [PMID: 9188609]
- 6 Raghavendra NK, Shkriabai N, Graham RLj, Hess S, Kvaratskhelia M, Wu L. Identification of host proteins associated with HIV-1 preintegration complexes isolated from infected CD4+ cells. *Retrovirology* 2010; 7: 66 [PMID: 20698996 DOI: 10.1186/1742-4690-7-66]
- 7 Schweitzer CJ, Jagadish T, Haverland N, Ciborowski P, Belshan M. Proteomic analysis of early HIV-1 nucleoprotein complexes. J Proteome Res 2013; 12: 559-572 [PMID: 23282062 DOI: 10.1021/ pr300869h]
- 8 Vande Woude GF, Oskarsson M, Enquist LW, Nomura S, Sullivan M, Fischinger PJ. Cloning of integrated Moloney sarcoma proviral DNA sequences in bacteriophage lambda. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1979; 76: 4464-4468 [PMID: 159456 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.76.9.4464]
- 9 Van Beveren C, Goddard JG, Berns A, Verma IM. Structure of Moloney murine leukemia viral DNA: nucleotide sequence of the 5' long terminal repeat and adjacent cellular sequences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1980; 77: 3307-3311 [PMID: 6251455 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.77.6.3307]
- 10 Ju G, Skalka AM. Nucleotide sequence analysis of the long terminal repeat (LTR) of avian retroviruses: structural similarities with transposable elements. *Cell* 1980; 22: 379-386 [PMID: 6256079 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(80)90348-7]
- 11 Engelman A, Mizuuchi K, Craigie R. HIV-1 DNA integration: mechanism of viral DNA cleavage and DNA strand transfer. *Cell* 1991; 67: 1211-1221 [PMID: 1760846 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(91) 90297-C]
- 12 Pauza CD. Two bases are deleted from the termini of HIV-1 linear DNA during integrative recombination. *Virology* 1990; 179: 886-889 [PMID: 2238479 DOI: 10.1016/0042-6822(90)90161-J]
- 13 Roth MJ, Schwartzberg PL, Goff SP. Structure of the termini of DNA intermediates in the integration of retroviral DNA: dependence on IN function and terminal DNA sequence. *Cell* 1989; 58: 47-54 [PMID: 2546673 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90401-7]
- Lee YM, Coffin JM. Relationship of avian retrovirus DNA synthesis to integration in vitro. *Mol Cell Biol* 1991; 11: 1419-1430 [PMID: 1847499 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.11.3.1419]
- 15 Fujiwara T, Mizuuchi K. Retroviral DNA integration: structure of an integration intermediate. *Cell* 1988; 54: 497-504 [PMID: 3401925 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(88)90071-2]
- 16 Brown PO, Bowerman B, Varmus HE, Bishop JM. Retroviral integration: structure of the initial covalent product and its precursor, and a role for the viral IN protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1989; 86: 2525-2529 [PMID: 2539592 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.86.8.2525]

- 17 Lesbats P, Engelman AN, Cherepanov P. Retroviral DNA Integration. *Chem Rev* 2016; 116: 12730-12757 [PMID: 27198982 DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00125]
- 18 Schweizer M, Fleps U, Jäckle A, Renne R, Turek R, Neumann-Haefelin D. Simian foamy virus type 3 (SFV-3) in latently infected Vero cells: reactivation by demethylation of proviral DNA. *Virology* 1993; **192**: 663-666 [PMID: 8380669 DOI: 10.1006/viro.1993.1084]
- 19 Neves M, Périès J, Saïb A. Study of human foamy virus proviral integration in chronically infected murine cells. *Res Virol* 1998; 149: 393-401 [PMID: 9923015 DOI: 10.1016/S0923-2516(99)80007-7]
- 20 Vincent KA, York-Higgins D, Quiroga M, Brown PO. Host sequences flanking the HIV provirus. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1990; 18: 6045-6047 [PMID: 2235486 DOI: 10.1093/nar/18.20.6045]
- 21 Vink C, Groenink M, Elgersma Y, Fouchier RA, Tersmette M, Plasterk RH. Analysis of the junctions between human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proviral DNA and human DNA. *J Virol* 1990; 64: 5626-5627 [PMID: 2214029]
- 22 Majors JE, Varmus HE. Nucleotide sequences at host-proviral junctions for mouse mammary tumour virus. *Nature* 1981; 289: 253-258 [PMID: 6256658 DOI: 10.1038/289253a0]
- 23 Hishinuma F, DeBona PJ, Astrin S, Skalka AM. Nucleotide sequence of acceptor site and termini of integrated avian endogenous provirus ev1: integration creates a 6 bp repeat of host DNA. *Cell* 1981; 23: 155-164 [PMID: 6260371 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(81)90 280-4]
- 24 Hughes SH, Mutschler A, Bishop JM, Varmus HE. A Rous sarcoma virus provirus is flanked by short direct repeats of a cellular DNA sequence present in only one copy prior to integration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1981; 78: 4299-4303 [PMID: 6270669 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.78.7.4299]
- 25 Grandgenett DP, Pandey KK, Bera S, Aihara H. Multifunctional facets of retrovirus integrase. *World J Biol Chem* 2015; 6: 83-94 [PMID: 26322168 DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v6.i3.83]
- 26 Ballandras-Colas A, Brown M, Cook NJ, Dewdney TG, Demeler B, Cherepanov P, Lyumkis D, Engelman AN. Cryo-EM reveals a novel octameric integrase structure for betaretroviral intasome function. *Nature* 2016; 530: 358-361 [PMID: 26887496 DOI: 10.1038/ nature16955]
- 27 Andrake MD, Skalka AM. Retroviral Integrase: Then and Now. Annu Rev Virol 2015; 2: 241-264 [PMID: 26958915 DOI: 10.1146/ annurev-virology-100114-055043]
- 28 Kulkosky J, Jones KS, Katz RA, Mack JP, Skalka AM. Residues critical for retroviral integrative recombination in a region that is highly conserved among retroviral/retrotransposon integrases and bacterial insertion sequence transposases. *Mol Cell Biol* 1992; 12: 2331-2338 [PMID: 1314954 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.12.5.2331]
- 29 Engelman A, Craigie R. Identification of conserved amino acid residues critical for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase function in vitro. *J Virol* 1992; 66: 6361-6369 [PMID: 1404595]
- 30 Burke CJ, Sanyal G, Bruner MW, Ryan JA, LaFemina RL, Robbins HL, Zeft AS, Middaugh CR, Cordingley MG. Structural implications of spectroscopic characterization of a putative zinc finger peptide from HIV-1 integrase. *J Biol Chem* 1992; 267: 9639-9644 [PMID: 1577801]
- 31 Bushman FD, Engelman A, Palmer I, Wingfield P, Craigie R. Domains of the integrase protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 responsible for polynucleotidyl transfer and zinc binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1993; 90: 3428-3432 [PMID: 8386373 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.90.8.3428]
- 32 Woerner AM, Klutch M, Levin JG, Marcus-Sekura CJ. Localization of DNA binding activity of HIV-1 integrase to the C-terminal half of the protein. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 1992; 8: 297-304 [PMID: 1540416 DOI: 10.1089/aid.1992.8.297]
- 33 Khan E, Mack JP, Katz RA, Kulkosky J, Skalka AM. Retroviral integrase domains: DNA binding and the recognition of LTR sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1991; 19: 851-860 [PMID: 1850126 DOI: 10.1093/nar/19.6.1358]
- 34 Cai M, Zheng R, Caffrey M, Craigie R, Clore GM, Gronenborn

AM. Solution structure of the N-terminal zinc binding domain of HIV-1 integrase. *Nat Struct Biol* 1997; **4**: 567-577 [PMID: 9228950 DOI: 10.1038/nsb0797-567]

- 35 Eijkelenboom AP, van den Ent FM, Vos A, Doreleijers JF, Hård K, Tullius TD, Plasterk RH, Kaptein R, Boelens R. The solution structure of the amino-terminal HHCC domain of HIV-2 integrase: a three-helix bundle stabilized by zinc. *Curr Biol* 1997; **7**: 739-746 [PMID: 9368756 DOI: 10.1016/S0960-9822(06)00332-0]
- 36 Zheng R, Jenkins TM, Craigie R. Zinc folds the N-terminal domain of HIV-1 integrase, promotes multimerization, and enhances catalytic activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1996; 93: 13659-13664 [PMID: 8942990 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.93.24.13659]
- 37 Lee SP, Han MK. Zinc stimulates Mg2+-dependent 3'-processing activity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase in vitro. *Biochemistry* 1996; 35: 3837-3844 [PMID: 8620007 DOI: 10.1021/ bi952056p]
- 38 Drelich M, Wilhelm R, Mous J. Identification of amino acid residues critical for endonuclease and integration activities of HIV-1 IN protein in vitro. *Virology* 1992; 188: 459-468 [PMID: 1585629 DOI: 10.1016/0042-6822(92)90499-F]
- 39 Leavitt AD, Shiue L, Varmus HE. Site-directed mutagenesis of HIV-1 integrase demonstrates differential effects on integrase functions in vitro. *J Biol Chem* 1993; 268: 2113-2119 [PMID: 8420982]
- 40 Hare S, Gupta SS, Valkov E, Engelman A, Cherepanov P. Retroviral intasome assembly and inhibition of DNA strand transfer. *Nature* 2010; 464: 232-236 [PMID: 20118915 DOI: 10.1038/nature08784]
- 41 Mizuuchi K. Polynucleotidyl transfer reactions in transpositional DNA recombination. *J Biol Chem* 1992; 267: 21273-21276 [PMID: 1383220]
- Yang W, Lee JY, Nowotny M. Making and breaking nucleic acids: two-Mg2+-ion catalysis and substrate specificity. *Mol Cell* 2006; 22: 5-13 [PMID: 16600865 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.013]
- Hare S, Maertens GN, Cherepanov P. 3'-processing and strand transfer catalysed by retroviral integrase in crystallo. *EMBO J* 2012;
   31: 3020-3028 [PMID: 22580823 DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2012.118]
- 44 Eijkelenboom AP, Lutzke RA, Boelens R, Plasterk RH, Kaptein R, Hård K. The DNA-binding domain of HIV-1 integrase has an SH3like fold. *Nat Struct Biol* 1995; 2: 807-810 [PMID: 7552753 DOI: 10.1038/nsb0995-807]
- 45 Lodi PJ, Ernst JA, Kuszewski J, Hickman AB, Engelman A, Craigie R, Clore GM, Gronenborn AM. Solution structure of the DNA binding domain of HIV-1 integrase. *Biochemistry* 1995; 34: 9826-9833 [PMID: 7632683 DOI: 10.1021/bi00031a002]
- 46 Engelman A, Hickman AB, Craigie R. The core and carboxylterminal domains of the integrase protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 each contribute to nonspecific DNA binding. *J Virol* 1994; 68: 5911-5917 [PMID: 8057470]
- 47 Andrake MD, Skalka AM. Multimerization determinants reside in both the catalytic core and C terminus of avian sarcoma virus integrase. *J Biol Chem* 1995; 270: 29299-29306 [PMID: 7493962 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.270.49.29299]
- 48 Jenkins TM, Engelman A, Ghirlando R, Craigie R. A soluble active mutant of HIV-1 integrase: involvement of both the core and carboxyl-terminal domains in multimerization. *J Biol Chem* 1996; 271: 7712-7718 [PMID: 8631811 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.271.13.7712]
- 49 Krishnan L, Engelman A. Retroviral integrase proteins and HIV-1 DNA integration. *J Biol Chem* 2012; 287: 40858-40866 [PMID: 23043109 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.R112.397760]
- 50 Jones KS, Coleman J, Merkel GW, Laue TM, Skalka AM. Retroviral integrase functions as a multimer and can turn over catalytically. *J Biol Chem* 1992; 267: 16037-16040 [PMID: 1322888]
- 51 Engelman A, Bushman FD, Craigie R. Identification of discrete functional domains of HIV-1 integrase and their organization within an active multimeric complex. *EMBO J* 1993; 12: 3269-3275 [PMID: 8344264]
- 52 van Gent DC, Vink C, Groeneger AA, Plasterk RH. Complementation between HIV integrase proteins mutated in different domains. *EMBO J* 1993; 12: 3261-3267 [PMID: 8344263]
- 53 Jonsson CB, Donzella GA, Gaucan E, Smith CM, Roth MJ.

Functional domains of Moloney murine leukemia virus integrase defined by mutation and complementation analysis. *J Virol* 1996; **70**: 4585-4597 [PMID: 8676485]

- 54 Bao KK, Wang H, Miller JK, Erie DA, Skalka AM, Wong I. Functional oligomeric state of avian sarcoma virus integrase. *J Biol Chem* 2003; 278: 1323-1327 [PMID: 12446721 DOI: 10.1074/jbc. C200550200]
- 55 Faure A, Calmels C, Desjobert C, Castroviejo M, Caumont-Sarcos A, Tarrago-Litvak L, Litvak S, Parissi V. HIV-1 integrase crosslinked oligomers are active in vitro. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005; 33: 977-986 [PMID: 15718297 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gki241]
- 56 Guiot E, Carayon K, Delelis O, Simon F, Tauc P, Zubin E, Gottikh M, Mouscadet JF, Brochon JC, Deprez E. Relationship between the oligomeric status of HIV-1 integrase on DNA and enzymatic activity. *J Biol Chem* 2006; 281: 22707-22719 [PMID: 16774912 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M602198200]
- 57 Li M, Mizuuchi M, Burke TR, Craigie R. Retroviral DNA integration: reaction pathway and critical intermediates. *EMBO J* 2006; 25: 1295-1304 [PMID: 16482214 DOI: 10.1038/sj.emboj. 7601005]
- 58 Bera S, Pandey KK, Vora AC, Grandgenett DP. Molecular Interactions between HIV-1 integrase and the two viral DNA ends within the synaptic complex that mediates concerted integration. *J Mol Biol* 2009; **389**: 183-198 [PMID: 19362096 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jmb.2009.04.007]
- 59 Wei SQ, Mizuuchi K, Craigie R. A large nucleoprotein assembly at the ends of the viral DNA mediates retroviral DNA integration. *EMBO J* 1997; 16: 7511-7520 [PMID: 9405379 DOI: 10.1093/ emboj/16.24.7511]
- 60 Chen H, Wei SQ, Engelman A. Multiple integrase functions are required to form the native structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type I intasome. *J Biol Chem* 1999; 274: 17358-17364 [PMID: 10358097 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.274.24.17358]
- 61 Yin Z, Shi K, Banerjee S, Pandey KK, Bera S, Grandgenett DP, Aihara H. Crystal structure of the Rous sarcoma virus intasome. *Nature* 2016; 530: 362-366 [PMID: 26887497 DOI: 10.1038/ nature16950]
- 62 Maertens GN, Hare S, Cherepanov P. The mechanism of retroviral integration from X-ray structures of its key intermediates. *Nature* 2010; 468: 326-329 [PMID: 21068843 DOI: 10.1038/nature09517]
- 63 Yin Z, Lapkouski M, Yang W, Craigie R. Assembly of prototype foamy virus strand transfer complexes on product DNA bypassing catalysis of integration. *Protein Sci* 2012; 21: 1849-1857 [PMID: 23011895 DOI: 10.1002/pro.2166]
- 64 Kotova S, Li M, Dimitriadis EK, Craigie R. Nucleoprotein intermediates in HIV-1 DNA integration visualized by atomic force microscopy. *J Mol Biol* 2010; **399**: 491-500 [PMID: 20416324 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2010.04.026]
- 65 Kessl JJ, Li M, Ignatov M, Shkriabai N, Eidahl JO, Feng L, Musier-Forsyth K, Craigie R, Kvaratskhelia M. FRET analysis reveals distinct conformations of IN tetramers in the presence of viral DNA or LEDGF/p75. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2011; **39**: 9009-9022 [PMID: 21771857 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkr581]
- 66 Pandey KK, Bera S, Zahm J, Vora A, Stillmock K, Hazuda D, Grandgenett DP. Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 concerted integration by strand transfer inhibitors which recognize a transient structural intermediate. *J Virol* 2007; 81: 12189-12199 [PMID: 17804497 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.02863-06]
- 67 **Brown PO**, Bowerman B, Varmus HE, Bishop JM. Correct integration of retroviral DNA in vitro. *Cell* 1987; **49**: 347-356 [PMID: 3032450 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(87)90287-X]
- 68 Farnet CM, Haseltine WA. Integration of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1990; 87: 4164-4168 [PMID: 2349226 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.87.11.4164]
- 69 Ellison V, Abrams H, Roe T, Lifson J, Brown P. Human immunodeficiency virus integration in a cell-free system. *J Virol* 1990; 64: 2711-2715 [PMID: 2335814]
- 70 Wei SQ, Mizuuchi K, Craigie R. Footprints on the viral DNA ends in moloney murine leukemia virus preintegration complexes reflect a specific association with integrase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*

USA 1998; **95**: 10535-10540 [PMID: 9724738 DOI: 10.1073/pnas. 95.18.10535]

- 71 Bushman FD, Fujiwara T, Craigie R. Retroviral DNA integration directed by HIV integration protein in vitro. *Science* 1990; 249: 1555-1558 [PMID: 2171144 DOI: 10.1126/science.2171144]
- 72 Katzman M, Katz RA, Skalka AM, Leis J. The avian retroviral integration protein cleaves the terminal sequences of linear viral DNA at the in vivo sites of integration. *J Virol* 1989; 63: 5319-5327 [PMID: 255556]
- 73 Katz RA, Merkel G, Kulkosky J, Leis J, Skalka AM. The avian retroviral IN protein is both necessary and sufficient for integrative recombination in vitro. *Cell* 1990; 63: 87-95 [PMID: 2170022 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90290-U]
- 74 Pahl A, Flügel RM. Endonucleolytic cleavages and DNA-joining activities of the integration protein of human foamy virus. *J Virol* 1993; 67: 5426-5434 [PMID: 7688824]
- 75 Sherman PA, Fyfe JA. Human immunodeficiency virus integration protein expressed in Escherichia coli possesses selective DNA cleaving activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1990; 87: 5119-5123 [PMID: 2164223 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.87.13.5119]
- 76 Craigie R, Fujiwara T, Bushman F. The IN protein of Moloney murine leukemia virus processes the viral DNA ends and accomplishes their integration in vitro. *Cell* 1990; 62: 829-837 [PMID: 2167180 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90126-Y]
- 77 Bushman FD, Craigie R. Activities of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) integration protein in vitro: specific cleavage and integration of HIV DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1991; 88: 1339-1343 [PMID: 1847518 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.88.4.1339]
- 78 Jaskolski M, Alexandratos JN, Bujacz G, Włodawer A. HIV-1 Integrase. Neamati N, editor. Hoboken (NJ): John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2011: 35-49 [DOI: 10.1002/9781118015377.ch4]
- 79 Gupta K, Curtis JE, Krueger S, Hwang Y, Cherepanov P, Bushman FD, Van Duyne GD. Solution conformations of prototype foamy virus integrase and its stable synaptic complex with U5 viral DNA. *Structure* 2012; 20: 1918-1928 [PMID: 23000384 DOI: 10.1016/j.str.2012.08.023]
- 80 Zhao Z, McKee CJ, Kessl JJ, Santos WL, Daigle JE, Engelman A, Verdine G, Kvaratskhelia M. Subunit-specific protein footprinting reveals significant structural rearrangements and a role for N-terminal Lys-14 of HIV-1 Integrase during viral DNA binding. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 283: 5632-5641 [PMID: 18093980 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M705241200]
- 81 Jaskolski M, Alexandratos JN, Bujacz G, Wlodawer A. Piecing together the structure of retroviral integrase, an important target in AIDS therapy. *FEBS J* 2009; 276: 2926-2946 [PMID: 19490099 DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07009.x]
- 82 Li X, Krishnan L, Cherepanov P, Engelman A. Structural biology of retroviral DNA integration. *Virology* 2011; 411: 194-205 [PMID: 21216426 DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.008]
- 83 Jenkins TM, Hickman AB, Dyda F, Ghirlando R, Davies DR, Craigie R. Catalytic domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase: identification of a soluble mutant by systematic replacement of hydrophobic residues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1995; **92**: 6057-6061 [PMID: 7597080 DOI: 10.1073/pnas. 92.13.6057]
- 84 Engelman A, Liu Y, Chen H, Farzan M, Dyda F. Structure-based mutagenesis of the catalytic domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase. *J Virol* 1997; 71: 3507-3514 [PMID: 9094622]
- 85 Dyda F, Hickman AB, Jenkins TM, Engelman A, Craigie R, Davies DR. Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of HIV-1 integrase: similarity to other polynucleotidyl transferases. *Science* 1994; 266: 1981-1986 [PMID: 7801124 DOI: 10.1126/science.7801124]
- 86 Engelman A. In vivo analysis of retroviral integrase structure and function. *Adv Virus Res* 1999; **52**: 411-426 [PMID: 10384245 DOI: 10.1016/S0065-3527(08)60309-7]
- 87 Bujacz G, Alexandratos J, Qing ZL, Clément-Mella C, Wlodawer A. The catalytic domain of human immunodeficiency virus integrase: ordered active site in the F185H mutant. *FEBS Lett* 1996; **398**: 175-178 [PMID: 8977101 DOI: 10.1016/S0014-5793(96)01236-7]

- 88 Goldgur Y, Craigie R, Cohen GH, Fujiwara T, Yoshinaga T, Fujishita T, Sugimoto H, Endo T, Murai H, Davies DR. Structure of the HIV-1 integrase catalytic domain complexed with an inhibitor: a platform for antiviral drug design. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 1999; 96: 13040-13043 [PMID: 10557269 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.96.23.13040]
- 89 Bujacz G, Jaskólski M, Alexandratos J, Włodawer A, Merkel G, Katz RA, Skałka AM. High-resolution structure of the catalytic domain of avian sarcoma virus integrase. *J Mol Biol* 1995; 253: 333-346 [PMID: 7563093 DOI: 10.1006/jmbi.1995.0556]
- 90 Goldgur Y, Dyda F, Hickman AB, Jenkins TM, Craigie R, Davies DR. Three new structures of the core domain of HIV-1 integrase: an active site that binds magnesium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1998; 95: 9150-9154 [PMID: 9689049 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.95.16.9150]
- 91 Greenwald J, Le V, Butler SL, Bushman FD, Choe S. The mobility of an HIV-1 integrase active site loop is correlated with catalytic activity. *Biochemistry* 1999; 38: 8892-8898 [PMID: 10413462 DOI: 10.1021/bi9907173]
- 92 Maignan S, Guilloteau JP, Zhou-Liu Q, Clément-Mella C, Mikol V. Crystal structures of the catalytic domain of HIV-1 integrase free and complexed with its metal cofactor: high level of similarity of the active site with other viral integrases. *J Mol Biol* 1998; 282: 359-368 [PMID: 9735293 DOI: 10.1006/jmbi.1998.2002]
- 93 Molteni V, Greenwald J, Rhodes D, Hwang Y, Kwiatkowski W, Bushman FD, Siegel JS, Choe S. Identification of a small-molecule binding site at the dimer interface of the HIV integrase catalytic domain. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* 2001; **57**: 536-544 [PMID: 11264582 DOI: 10.1107/S0907444901001652]
- 94 Bujacz G, Alexandratos J, Wlodawer A, Merkel G, Andrake M, Katz RA, Skalka AM. Binding of different divalent cations to the active site of avian sarcoma virus integrase and their effects on enzymatic activity. *J Biol Chem* 1997; 272: 18161-18168 [PMID: 9218451 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.272.29.18161]
- 95 Bujacz G, Jaskólski M, Alexandratos J, Włodawer A, Merkel G, Katz RA, Skalka AM. The catalytic domain of avian sarcoma virus integrase: conformation of the active-site residues in the presence of divalent cations. *Structure* 1996; 4: 89-96 [PMID: 8805516 DOI: 10.1016/S0969-2126(96)00012-3]
- 96 Lubkowski J, Yang F, Alexandratos J, Merkel G, Katz RA, Gravuer K, Skalka AM, Wlodawer A. Structural basis for inactivating mutations and pH-dependent activity of avian sarcoma virus integrase. *J Biol Chem* 1998; 273: 32685-32689 [PMID: 9830010 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.273.49.32685]
- 97 Lubkowski J, Dauter Z, Yang F, Alexandratos J, Merkel G, Skalka AM, Wlodawer A. Atomic resolution structures of the core domain of avian sarcoma virus integrase and its D64N mutant. *Biochemistry* 1999; 38: 13512-13522 [PMID: 10521258 DOI: 10.1021/bi995092n]
- 98 Eijkelenboom AP, Sprangers R, Hård K, Puras Lutzke RA, Plasterk RH, Boelens R, Kaptein R. Refined solution structure of the C-terminal DNA-binding domain of human immunovirus-1 integrase. *Proteins* 1999; 36: 556-564 [PMID: 10450096 DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0134(19990901)36:4<556::AID-PROT18>3.0. CO;2-6]
- 99 Eijkelenboom AP, van den Ent FM, Wechselberger R, Plasterk RH, Kaptein R, Boelens R. Refined solution structure of the dimeric N-terminal HHCC domain of HIV-2 integrase. *J Biomol NMR* 2000; 18: 119-128 [PMID: 11101216 DOI: 10.1023/A: 1008342312269]
- 100 Chen JC, Krucinski J, Miercke LJ, Finer-Moore JS, Tang AH, Leavitt AD, Stroud RM. Crystal structure of the HIV-1 integrase catalytic core and C-terminal domains: a model for viral DNA binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000; **97**: 8233-8238 [PMID: 10890912 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.150220297]
- 101 Chen Z, Yan Y, Munshi S, Li Y, Zugay-Murphy J, Xu B, Witmer M, Felock P, Wolfe A, Sardana V, Emini EA, Hazuda D, Kuo LC. X-ray structure of simian immunodeficiency virus integrase containing the core and C-terminal domain (residues 50-293)--an initial glance of the viral DNA binding platform. *J Mol Biol* 2000; **296**: 521-533 [PMID: 10669606 DOI: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.3451]
- 102 Yang ZN, Mueser TC, Bushman FD, Hyde CC. Crystal structure

of an active two-domain derivative of Rous sarcoma virus integrase. *J Mol Biol* 2000; **296**: 535-548 [PMID: 10669607 DOI: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.3463]

- 103 Wang JY, Ling H, Yang W, Craigie R. Structure of a two-domain fragment of HIV-1 integrase: implications for domain organization in the intact protein. *EMBO J* 2001; 20: 7333-7343 [PMID: 11743009 DOI: 10.1093/emboj/20.24.7333]
- 104 Hare S, Di Nunzio F, Labeja A, Wang J, Engelman A, Cherepanov P. Structural basis for functional tetramerization of lentiviral integrase. *PLoS Pathog* 2009; 5: e1000515 [PMID: 19609359 DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000515]
- 105 Busschots K, Vercammen J, Emiliani S, Benarous R, Engelborghs Y, Christ F, Debyser Z. The interaction of LEDGF/p75 with integrase is lentivirus-specific and promotes DNA binding. *J Biol Chem* 2005; 280: 17841-17847 [PMID: 15749713 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M411681200]
- 106 Cherepanov P, Maertens G, Proost P, Devreese B, Van Beeumen J, Engelborghs Y, De Clercq E, Debyser Z. HIV-1 integrase forms stable tetramers and associates with LEDGF/p75 protein in human cells. *J Biol Chem* 2003; 278: 372-381 [PMID: 12407101 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M209278200]
- 107 Maertens G, Cherepanov P, Pluymers W, Busschots K, De Clercq E, Debyser Z, Engelborghs Y. LEDGF/p75 is essential for nuclear and chromosomal targeting of HIV-1 integrase in human cells. *J Biol Chem* 2003; 278: 33528-33539 [PMID: 12796494 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M303594200]
- 108 Cherepanov P. LEDGF/p75 interacts with divergent lentiviral integrases and modulates their enzymatic activity in vitro. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2007; 35: 113-124 [PMID: 17158150 DOI: 10.1093/nar/ gkl885]
- 109 Llano M, Vanegas M, Fregoso O, Saenz D, Chung S, Peretz M, Poeschla EM. LEDGF/p75 determines cellular trafficking of diverse lentiviral but not murine oncoretroviral integrase proteins and is a component of functional lentiviral preintegration complexes. *J Virol* 2004; **78**: 9524-9537 [PMID: 15308744 DOI: 10.1128/jvi.78.17.95 24-9537.2004]
- 110 Engelman A, Cherepanov P. The lentiviral integrase binding protein LEDGF/p75 and HIV-1 replication. *PLoS Pathog* 2008; 4: e1000046 [PMID: 18369482 DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000046]
- 111 Poeschla EM. Integrase, LEDGF/p75 and HIV replication. Cell Mol Life Sci 2008; 65: 1403-1424 [PMID: 18264802 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-008-7540-5]
- 112 Cherepanov P, Devroe E, Silver PA, Engelman A. Identification of an evolutionarily conserved domain in human lens epitheliumderived growth factor/transcriptional co-activator p75 (LEDGF/ p75) that binds HIV-1 integrase. *J Biol Chem* 2004; **279**: 48883-48892 [PMID: 15371438 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M406307200]
- 113 McKee CJ, Kessl JJ, Shkriabai N, Dar MJ, Engelman A, Kvaratskhelia M. Dynamic modulation of HIV-1 integrase structure and function by cellular lens epithelium-derived growth factor (LEDGF) protein. *J Biol Chem* 2008; **283**: 31802-31812 [PMID: 18801737 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M805843200]
- 114 Cherepanov P, Ambrosio AL, Rahman S, Ellenberger T, Engelman A. Structural basis for the recognition between HIV-1 integrase and transcriptional coactivator p75. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005; 102: 17308-17313 [PMID: 16260736 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0506924102]
- 115 Hare S, Shun MC, Gupta SS, Valkov E, Engelman A, Cherepanov P. A novel co-crystal structure affords the design of gain-of-function lentiviral integrase mutants in the presence of modified PSIP1/ LEDGF/p75. *PLoS Pathog* 2009; **5**: e1000259 [PMID: 19132083 DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000259]
- 116 Cherepanov P, Sun ZY, Rahman S, Maertens G, Wagner G, Engelman A. Solution structure of the HIV-1 integrase-binding domain in LEDGF/p75. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2005; 12: 526-532 [PMID: 15895093 DOI: 10.1038/nsmb937]
- Engelman A, Kessl JJ, Kvaratskhelia M. Allosteric inhibition of HIV-1 integrase activity. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 2013; 17: 339-345 [PMID: 23647983 DOI: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.04.010]
- 118 Wang H, Shun MC, Li X, Di Nunzio F, Hare S, Cherepanov P, Engelman A. Efficient Transduction of LEDGF/p75 Mutant Cells

by Gain-of-Function HIV-1 Integrase Mutant Viruses. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* 2014; **1** [PMID: 25383358 DOI: 10.1038/ mtm.2013.2]

- 119 Espeseth AS, Felock P, Wolfe A, Witmer M, Grobler J, Anthony N, Egbertson M, Melamed JY, Young S, Hamill T, Cole JL, Hazuda DJ. HIV-1 integrase inhibitors that compete with the target DNA substrate define a unique strand transfer conformation for integrase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000; **97**: 11244-11249 [PMID: 11016953 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.200139397]
- 120 Beck-Engeser GB, Eilat D, Harrer T, Jäck HM, Wabl M. Early onset of autoimmune disease by the retroviral integrase inhibitor raltegravir. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2009; 106: 20865-20870 [PMID: 19923437 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0908074106]
- 121 Valkov E, Gupta SS, Hare S, Helander A, Roversi P, McClure M, Cherepanov P. Functional and structural characterization of the integrase from the prototype foamy virus. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2009; 37: 243-255 [PMID: 19036793 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkn938]
- 122 Koh Y, Matreyek KA, Engelman A. Differential sensitivities of retroviruses to integrase strand transfer inhibitors. *J Virol* 2011; 85: 3677-3682 [PMID: 21270168 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.02541-10]
- 123 Pandey KK, Bera S, Grandgenett DP. The HIV-1 integrase monomer induces a specific interaction with LTR DNA for concerted integration. *Biochemistry* 2011; 50: 9788-9796 [PMID: 21992419 DOI: 10.1021/bi201247f]
- 124 Li M, Jurado KA, Lin S, Engelman A, Craigie R. Engineered hyperactive integrase for concerted HIV-1 DNA integration. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e105078 [PMID: 25119883 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0105078]
- 125 Zhao XZ, Smith SJ, Maskell DP, Metifiot M, Pye VE, Fesen K, Marchand C, Pommier Y, Cherepanov P, Hughes SH, Burke TR. HIV-1 Integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitors with Reduced Susceptibility to Drug Resistant Mutant Integrases. ACS Chem Biol 2016; 11: 1074-1081 [PMID: 26808478 DOI: 10.1021/acschembio.5b00948]
- 126 Raheem IT, Walji AM, Klein D, Sanders JM, Powell DA, Abeywickrema P, Barbe G, Bennet A, Childers K, Christensen M, Clas SD, Dubost D, Embrey M, Grobler J, Hafey MJ, Hartingh TJ, Hazuda DJ, Kuethe JT, McCabe Dunn J, Miller MD, Moore KP, Nolting A, Pajkovic N, Patel S, Peng Z, Rada V, Rearden P, Schreier JD, Sisko J, Steele TG, Truchon JF, Wai J, Xu M, Coleman PJ. Discovery of 2-Pyridinone Aminals: A Prodrug Strategy to Advance a Second Generation of HIV-1 Integrase Strand Transfer Inhibitors. *J Med Chem* 2015; **58**: 8154-8165 [PMID: 26397965 DOI: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01037]
- 127 Métifiot M, Maddali K, Johnson BC, Hare S, Smith SJ, Zhao XZ, Marchand C, Burke TR, Hughes SH, Cherepanov P, Pommier Y. Activities, crystal structures, and molecular dynamics of dihydro-1H-isoindole derivatives, inhibitors of HIV-1 integrase. ACS Chem Biol 2013; 8: 209-217 [PMID: 23075516 DOI: 10.1021/ cb300471n]
- 128 Hare S, Smith SJ, Métifiot M, Jaxa-Chamiec A, Pommier Y, Hughes SH, Cherepanov P. Structural and functional analyses of the second-generation integrase strand transfer inhibitor dolutegravir (S/GSK1349572). *Mol Pharmacol* 2011; **80**: 565-572 [PMID: 21719464 DOI: 10.1124/mol.111.073189]
- 129 Hare S, Vos AM, Clayton RF, Thuring JW, Cummings MD, Cherepanov P. Molecular mechanisms of retroviral integrase inhibition and the evolution of viral resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2010; 107: 20057-20062 [PMID: 21030679 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.1010246107]
- 130 Maskell DP, Renault L, Serrao E, Lesbats P, Matadeen R, Hare S, Lindemann D, Engelman AN, Costa A, Cherepanov P. Structural basis for retroviral integration into nucleosomes. *Nature* 2015; 523: 366-369 [PMID: 26061770 DOI: 10.1038/nature14495]
- 131 Li M, Lin S, Craigie R. Outer domains of integrase within retroviral intasomes are dispensible for catalysis of DNA integration. *Protein Sci* 2016; 25: 472-478 [PMID: 26537415 DOI: 10.1002/pro.2837]
- 132 Mazumder A, Engelman A, Craigie R, Fesen M, Pommier Y. Intermolecular disintegration and intramolecular strand transfer activities of wild-type and mutant HIV-1 integrase. *Nucleic*

Acids Res 1994; 22: 1037-1043 [PMID: 8152908 DOI: 10.1093/ nar/22.6.1037]

- 133 Krishnan L, Li X, Naraharisetty HL, Hare S, Cherepanov P, Engelman A. Structure-based modeling of the functional HIV-1 intasome and its inhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010; 107: 15910-15915 [PMID: 20733078 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1002346107]
- 134 Serrao E, Engelman AN. Sites of retroviral DNA integration: From basic research to clinical applications. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* 2016; 51: 26-42 [PMID: 26508664 DOI: 10.3109/10409238.2 015.1102859]
- 135 Wang GP, Ciuffi A, Leipzig J, Berry CC, Bushman FD. HIV integration site selection: analysis by massively parallel pyrosequencing reveals association with epigenetic modifications. *Genome Res* 2007; 17: 1186-1194 [PMID: 17545577 DOI: 10.1101/ gr.6286907]
- 136 Schröder AR, Shinn P, Chen H, Berry C, Ecker JR, Bushman F. HIV-1 integration in the human genome favors active genes and local hotspots. *Cell* 2002; 110: 521-529 [PMID: 12202041 DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00864-4]
- 137 Singh PK, Plumb MR, Ferris AL, Iben JR, Wu X, Fadel HJ, Luke BT, Esnault C, Poeschla EM, Hughes SH, Kvaratskhelia M, Levin HL. LEDGF/p75 interacts with mRNA splicing factors and targets HIV-1 integration to highly spliced genes. *Genes Dev* 2015; 29: 2287-2297 [PMID: 26545813 DOI: 10.1101/gad.267609.115]
- 138 Mitchell RS, Beitzel BF, Schroder AR, Shinn P, Chen H, Berry CC, Ecker JR, Bushman FD. Retroviral DNA integration: ASLV, HIV, and MLV show distinct target site preferences. *PLoS Biol* 2004; 2: E234 [PMID: 15314653 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020234]
- 139 Sowd GA, Serrao E, Wang H, Wang W, Fadel HJ, Poeschla EM, Engelman AN. A critical role for alternative polyadenylation factor CPSF6 in targeting HIV-1 integration to transcriptionally active chromatin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2016; **113**: E1054-E1063 [PMID: 26858452 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1524213113]
- 140 Trobridge GD, Miller DG, Jacobs MA, Allen JM, Kiem HP, Kaul R, Russell DW. Foamy virus vector integration sites in normal human cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006; 103: 1498-1503 [PMID: 16428288 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0510046103]
- 141 Nowrouzi A, Dittrich M, Klanke C, Heinkelein M, Rammling M, Dandekar T, von Kalle C, Rethwilm A. Genome-wide mapping of foamy virus vector integrations into a human cell line. *J Gen Virol* 2006; 87: 1339-1347 [PMID: 16603537 DOI: 10.1099/vir.0.81554-0]
- 142 Faschinger A, Rouault F, Sollner J, Lukas A, Salmons B, Günzburg WH, Indik S. Mouse mammary tumor virus integration site selection in human and mouse genomes. *J Virol* 2008; 82: 1360-1367 [PMID: 18032509 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.02098-07]
- 143 Narezkina A, Taganov KD, Litwin S, Stoyanova R, Hayashi J, Seeger C, Skalka AM, Katz RA. Genome-wide analyses of avian sarcoma virus integration sites. *J Virol* 2004; 78: 11656-11663 [PMID: 15479807 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.78.21.11656-11663.2004]
- 144 Pryciak PM, Varmus HE. Nucleosomes, DNA-binding proteins, and DNA sequence modulate retroviral integration target site selection. *Cell* 1992; 69: 769-780 [PMID: 1317268 DOI: 10.1016/

0092-8674(92)90289-O]

- 145 Pryciak PM, Sil A, Varmus HE. Retroviral integration into minichromosomes in vitro. *EMBO J* 1992; 11: 291-303 [PMID: 1310932]
- 146 Pruss D, Bushman FD, Wolffe AP. Human immunodeficiency virus integrase directs integration to sites of severe DNA distortion within the nucleosome core. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1994; 91: 5913-5917 [PMID: 8016088 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.91.13.5913]
- 147 Pruss D, Reeves R, Bushman FD, Wolffe AP. The influence of DNA and nucleosome structure on integration events directed by HIV integrase. *J Biol Chem* 1994; 269: 25031-25041 [PMID: 7929189]
- 148 Roth SL, Malani N, Bushman FD. Gammaretroviral integration into nucleosomal target DNA in vivo. *J Virol* 2011; 85: 7393-7401 [PMID: 21561906 DOI: 10.1128/JVI00635-11]
- 149 Serrao E, Ballandras-Colas A, Cherepanov P, Maertens GN, Engelman AN. Key determinants of target DNA recognition by retroviral intasomes. *Retrovirology* 2015; 12: 39 [PMID: 25924943 DOI: 10.1186/s12977-015-0167-3]
- 150 Müller HP, Varmus HE. DNA bending creates favored sites for retroviral integration: an explanation for preferred insertion sites in nucleosomes. *EMBO J* 1994; 13: 4704-4714 [PMID: 7925312]
- 151 Wu X, Li Y, Crise B, Burgess SM, Munroe DJ. Weak palindromic consensus sequences are a common feature found at the integration target sites of many retroviruses. *J Virol* 2005; **79**: 5211-5214 [PMID: 15795304 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.79.8.5211-5214.2005]
- 152 Serrao E, Krishnan L, Shun MC, Li X, Cherepanov P, Engelman A, Maertens GN. Integrase residues that determine nucleotide preferences at sites of HIV-1 integration: implications for the mechanism of target DNA binding. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2014; 42: 5164-5176 [PMID: 24520116 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gku136]
- 153 Taganov KD, Cuesta I, Daniel R, Cirillo LA, Katz RA, Zaret KS, Skalka AM. Integrase-specific enhancement and suppression of retroviral DNA integration by compacted chromatin structure in vitro. *J Virol* 2004; 78: 5848-5855 [PMID: 15140982 DOI: 10.1128/ JVI.78.11.5848-5855.2004]
- 154 Benleulmi MS, Matysiak J, Henriquez DR, Vaillant C, Lesbats P, Calmels C, Naughtin M, Leon O, Skalka AM, Ruff M, Lavigne M, Andreola ML, Parissi V. Intasome architecture and chromatin density modulate retroviral integration into nucleosome. *Retrovirology* 2015; 12: 13 [PMID: 25807893 DOI: 10.1186/s12977-015-0145-9]
- 155 Naughtin M, Haftek-Terreau Z, Xavier J, Meyer S, Silvain M, Jaszczyszyn Y, Levy N, Miele V, Benleulmi MS, Ruff M, Parissi V, Vaillant C, Lavigne M. DNA Physical Properties and Nucleosome Positions Are Major Determinants of HIV-1 Integrase Selectivity. *PLoS One* 2015; **10**: e0129427 [PMID: 26075397 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0129427]
- 156 Pasi M, Mornico D, Volant S, Juchet A, Batisse J, Bouchier C, Parissi V, Ruff M, Lavery R, Lavigne M. DNA minicircles clarify the specific role of DNA structure on retroviral integration. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2016; 44: 7830-7847 [PMID: 27439712 DOI: 10.1093/ nar/gkw651]

P- Reviewer: Arriagada GL, Kodama EN, Pandey KK S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D





WJBC www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 45-56

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.45

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

REVIEW

## Role of microRNAs in translation regulation and cancer

Stefania Oliveto, Marilena Mancino, Nicola Manfrini, Stefano Biffo

Stefania Oliveto, Marilena Mancino, Nicola Manfrini, Stefano Biffo, INGM, National Institute of Molecular Genetics "Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi", 20122 Milano, Italy

Stefano Biffo, Department of Biosciences, University of Milan, 20133 Milano, Italy

Author contributions: Oliveto S collected the data and wrote the manuscript; Mancino M collected the data; Manfrini N and Biffo S critically revised the article.

Supported by Fondazione BUZZI Unicem.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Stefano Biffo, PhD, Program Leader of INGM, Professor of Cell Biology and Comparative Anatomy, Department of Biosciences, University of Milan, Piazza dell' Ateneo Nuovo 1, 20133 Milano, Italy. biffo@ingm.org Telephone: +39-02-00660304

Received: August 23, 2016 Peer-review started: August 24, 2016 First decision: October 8, 2016 Revised: December 30, 2016 Accepted: January 16, 2017 Article in press: January 18, 2017 Published online: February 26, 2017

## Abstract

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are pervasively expressed and

regulate most biological functions. They function by modulating transcriptional and translational programs and therefore they orchestrate both physiological and pathological processes, such as development, cell differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis and tumor growth. miRNAs work as small guide molecules in RNA silencing, by negatively regulating the expression of several genes both at mRNA and protein level, by degrading their mRNA target and/or by silencing translation. One of the most recent advances in the field is the comprehension of their role in oncogenesis. The number of miRNA genes is increasing and an alteration in the level of miRNAs is involved in the initiation, progression and metastases formation of several tumors. Some tumor types show a distinct miRNA signature that distinguishes them from normal tissues and from other cancer types. Genetic and biochemical evidence supports the essential role of miRNAs in tumor development. Although the abnormal expression of miRNAs in cancer cells is a widely accepted phenomenon, the cause of this dysregulation is still unknown. Here, we discuss the biogenesis of miRNAs, focusing on the mechanisms by which they regulate protein synthesis. In addition we debate on their role in cancer, highlighting their potential to become therapeutic targets.

Key words: MicroRNA; Translation; Cancer; OncomiR; Tumor suppressor

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are short non-coding RNAs (19-25 bp in length) which negatively regulate gene expression at the mRNA and protein level. By binding coding transcripts, miRNAs cause degradation or translation inhibition of their target genes and affect a multitude of biological processes, such as proliferation and tumor growth. In this review we critically analyze the mechanism of action of miRNAs and their potential role in cancer, opening a window on future perspectives for their use as novel therapeutic targets.

WJBC | www.wjgnet.com

Oliveto S, Mancino M, Manfrini N, Biffo S. Role of microRNAs in translation regulation and cancer. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 45-56 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/ full/v8/i1/45.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.45

## INTRODUCTION

Recent advances in transcriptome analysis and highthroughput technologies highlighted an impressive complexity in the RNA world. The most studied RNA regions are protein-coding genes, mRNAs, accounting for around 1.5% of the human genome<sup>[1]</sup>. The importance of coding mRNAs is undisputable as they have been for years the building brick of experimental biology, culminating in the systematic deletion of coding genes in several species. Not less important are retrotransposons, specific genetic elements which are known to regulate gene expression<sup>[2,3]</sup>. Since RNA was identified as the crux of genetic regulation, the idea that it carries fundamental information has been extended to novel classes of RNA. More recently, the nonprotein coding portion of the genome gained attention due to its unexpected role in regulating development and disease<sup>[4]</sup>. Nowadays, most scientists agree in stating that transcription of the human genome is pervasive, therefore raising questions on the function of many uncharacterized RNAs.

The discovery of non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) has changed the way we look at the human genome and led the scientific world to characterize the different types of ncRNAs transcribed in human cells. Although there is not a clear delineation of ncRNA classes, they are usually classified, according to their nucleotides length, in three main groups: Short ncRNAs, mid-size ncRNAs and long ncRNAs<sup>[5]</sup>. Among short ncRNAs we can distinguish between microRNAs (miRNA) and piwiinteracting RNAs (piRNAs), respectively 19-25 base pairs (bp) and 26-31 bp long. miRNAs are involved in the regulation of gene expression at the translational and stability level<sup>[6-8]</sup>, while piRNAs are involved in DNA methylation and transposon repression<sup>[9-11]</sup>. Small nucleolar RNAs (60-300 bp) are part of mid-size RNAs and act as guides for rRNA modifications<sup>[12]</sup>, Promoter Associated RNAs (22-200 bp) belong to the same group but their function is obscure<sup>[13]</sup>. Last but not least, long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) comprise all ncRNAs longer than 200 nucleotides and include the largest portion of the non-coding transcriptome<sup>[4]</sup>. IncRNAs are involved in several biological and pathological processes, such as genomic imprinting, telomere regulation, X-chromosome inactivation, development, stem cell pluripotency, immune regulation, cancer progression and in metastatic potential<sup>[14,15]</sup>. In particular, a subset of lncRNAs, the T-UCR, themselves target specific miRNAs. The binding between these IncRNAs and miRNAs prevents target transcription degradation determining an intricate coregulation between IncRNAs and miRNAs<sup>[16-18]</sup> and strictly linking these two different types of ncRNAs. It should

be however stressed out that the definition of ncRNA relies mainly on bioinformatic tools that are likely to be challenged in the next future. In particular, open reading frames (ORF) shorter than 100 nucleotides and/or lacking a strong ATG consensus sequence for translational start are considered noncoding. In view of the emergence of alternative translational start sites<sup>[19]</sup>, we may discover that at least some ncRNAs are indeed "coding" for small peptides.

The relevance of the non-coding transcriptome in the comprehension of human diseases is highlighted by the impressive number of ncRNAs that are abnormally expressed in cancer, in neurological and heart diseases or in immune disorders. In this context, short RNAs have attracted the attention of most researchers. Here, we focus on miRNA and on their role in translation regulation and cancer. In particular we zoom in the known mechanisms of miRNA-regulated translation, after a brief elucidation of their discovery and biogenesis. Finally, we account for the aberrant expression of miRNAs in cancer and for their therapeutical potential as new drugs.

#### miRNA: DISCOVERY AND BIOGENESIS

#### A brief history

miRNAs are endogenous, non-coding single stranded RNAs of approximately 19-25 nucleotides in length, found both in animals and plants and involved in post transcriptional regulation<sup>[7,20]</sup>. Two decades ago the existence of miRNAs was obscure and the scientific community was focused largely on protein-coding genes.

However in 1993 the discovery of the first small ncRNA lin-4, in C. elegans, has totally changed the scientists' point of view<sup>[21]</sup>. At the time of the first discoveries, two main questions were raised: (1) what is the role of *lin-4*; and (2) what is its mechanism of action? Genetic studies showed that lin-4 is one of the most relevant genes involved in the control of temporal development of larval stages<sup>[22,23]</sup>. Almost simultaneously, Lee and collaborators discovered that null mutations of the lin-14 gene were able to cause an opposite phenotype to null lin-4 mutations, suggesting that lin-4 could regulate lin-14<sup>[23,24]</sup>. How was this regulation taking place? Several groups unequivocally demonstrated that the introduction of mutations in the putative ORF of the lin-4 gene, did not affect its function, concluding that lin-4 did not encode for a protein. Mature *lin-4* was found to be present in two small transcripts with different lengths, 22 and 61 nucleotides<sup>[24]</sup>. Furthermore, mutations in the 3'UTR of lin-14 mRNA and gene fusion experiments showed that lin-14 was downregulated posttranscriptionally by lin-4, delineating the 3'UTR of lin-14 as necessary for the regulation of LIN-4 protein levels<sup>[25,26]</sup>. These data led to a unified conclusion: lin-4 transcripts were complementary to the 3'UTR of the lin-14 gene and regulated its expression by annealing to its 3'UTR. With a similar approach, seven years later another miRNA was discovered, let-7, which was able to regulate *lin-41* expression by binding to its 3'UTR<sup>[27,28]</sup>. Further, the sequence of let-7 was found conserved among species,



from flies to humans. A new era in transcriptomics was now open for study by the entire scientific world!

#### miRNA biogenesis and function

miRNA biogenesis occurs in two main steps that take place in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm. miRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II and processed through both a canonical and a non-canonical biogenesis pathway. During canonical biogenesis primary miRNAs (pri-miRNAs) are processed into the nucleus by the RNase III Drosha generating an approximately 70 nucleotidelong precursor miRNA (pre-miRNA) product. In the noncanonical pathway pre-miRNAs are instead generated by the mRNA splicing machinery, avoiding Drosha digestion<sup>[29]</sup>. The subsequent steps are identical in both the canonical and non-canonical pathways. Pre-miRNAs are recognized by the Ran-GTP dependent transporter Exportin 5, which mediates their translocation to the cytoplasm. Here, Dicer, an other RNase type III enzyme, cleaves the pre-miRNA hairpins and the mature miRNAs generated by this mechanism are loaded into miRISC (miRNA associated RNA induced silencing complex), where, with the help of Argonaute proteins, they act as posttranscriptional regulators<sup>[30]</sup>. It is clear that, due to its complexity, the system of miRNA biogenesis requires a tight control. Transcriptional regulation remains the preferential process of miRNA expression control<sup>[31]</sup>. Knockout of Drosha causes the entire ablation of canonical miRNA production, suggesting its essential role in miRNA biogenesis<sup>[32]</sup>. DGCR8 is able to stabilize the Drosha complex by binding to Drosha itself. Drosha reduces DGCR8 expression<sup>[33,34]</sup>. It has also been shown that high levels of DGCR8 compromise Drosha activity<sup>[35]</sup>. Thus, complex networks may regulate Drosha complex activity. Dicer-deleted cells, instead, show some detectable canonical miRNAs, even if at reduced levels. What is more, Dicer is destabilized by low expression of TRBP. These data reveal the important, but not essential contribution of Dicer in the miRNA biogenesis pathway<sup>[32,36,37]</sup>.

miRNA biogenesis is characterized by a physical separation between Drosha (nucleus) and Dicer (cytoplasm). Nervertheless, several mature miRNAs are located in the nucleus, like miR-29<sup>[38,39]</sup>, or in the mithocondria, such as miR-1 and miR-181<sup>[40-42]</sup>, or in small vesicles, suggesting non-canonical roles for miRNAs. Particularly, several studies reveal that miRNAs are transported into the nucleus, where they regulate the maturation of other miRNAs, by targeting their primary transcript, or control their own expression. Here, they can also bind long ncRNAs and thus regulate their expression and maturation<sup>[43]</sup>. In conclusion, it would be important for miRNA characterization to explore potential roles in non-canonical functions.

The function of miRNAs was first defined 20 years ago. A mature miRNA loaded into the RISC, is capable to bind and regulate the expression of target mRNA *via* base-pairing. In particular, miRNAs bind the 3'UTR of target mRNAs through a sequence of 2-8 nucleotides

in their 5'end, termed seed region (Figure 1A). The partial or perfect complementarity between miRNAs and target mRNAs causes repression of translation or mRNA degradation, respectively<sup>[44]</sup> (Figure 1B). Owing to the short base pairing between a miRNA and the 3'UTR of its target mRNA, the interaction is dynamic: One miRNA can bind sequentially to hundreds of target mRNAs and a single mRNA can be targeted by several miRNAs<sup>[20]</sup>. miRNAs are able to select and interact with their targets based on I ) their expression levels or II ) expression levels of their mRNA targets. Since the expression and function of some miRNAs are species- and/or tissuespecific, the co-localization of a miRNA with its mRNA target is clearly necessary for its functionality<sup>[45]</sup>. Moreover, tissue-specific miRNAs can localize both in intragenic and intergenic regions, and consequently they could be under the control of host gene promoters or, alternatively, they could hold their own promoter. Hence, for the intragenic miRNAs, expression could also be dependent on the transcription of host genes<sup>[46]</sup>, suggesting the latter to be able to influence miRNA function.

Summarizing, by selecting their targets in a dosedependent manner, miRNAs could control the balance of specific cellular processes.

Recent reports have suggested that in addition to the classical binding of miRNAs to the 3'UTR of mRNAs, they are able to bind also the 5'UTR region and ORF<sup>[47,48]</sup>. Sites located in coding regions and in 5'UTRs appear to be less robust than those in 3'UTR and, surprisingly, determine translational activation, and not repression, of miRNA-targeted mRNAs. This situation has been described upon growth arrest conditions<sup>[49,50]</sup> (Figure 1C). However, these models are not universally accepted because ribosomes that scan the 5'UTR and the ORF are expected to remove annealed miRNAs.

Nowadays, the miRNA landscape is very tangled as the number of miRNA genes is exponentially growing<sup>[51]</sup>, rendering it much more difficult to clearly define their function. miRNA genes have been clustered into different groups, known as miRNA families, based on the sequence of mature miRNAs or on the structure of premiRNAs. This clusterization is really relevant for studying miRNA functions, since miRNA genes belonging to the same family co-localize and take place in the same specific mechanism, e.g., immune system regulation, development or cancer<sup>[52]</sup>. Moreover, the increasing number of novel miRNAs reveals that some of them are evolutionarily conserved whilst others are species- and/or tissues-specific. The expression levels of both the newly discovered and the long-known miRNAs are different from tissue to tissue, unraveling a differential tissue- and cell specific-functional impact of miRNAs<sup>[53]</sup>.

## miRNAs AND TRANSLATION REGULATION

mRNA translation is a cellular process finely regulated during growth and development, and its control is

Oliveto S et al. miRNAs in translation regulation and cancer



Figure 1 Mechanisms of action of microRNAs. A: miRNAs bind the 3'UTR of a target gene by base pairing. The binding between the miRNA seed sequence (nucleotides 2-8 at the 5'end of the miRNA sequence) and the miRNA regulatory element (MRE) at the 3'UTR of a target gene determines the specific type of regulation; B: miRNAs act as inhibitors of translation when the binding at the 3'UTR of target genes is only partially complementary. Instead, when the binding complementarity is perfect, miRNAs induce mRNA degradation; C: miRNAs can also function in an unconventional manner: Under specific conditions, particularly during quiescence, they can activate translation by binding non canonical sites in the 5'UTR of target genes. ORF: Open reading frames.

essential to maintain physiological processes in the cell. Translational control plays the major role in regulation of gene expression<sup>[54]</sup> and miRNAs take part in the regulation of mRNA translation.

Since a miRNA binds the 3'UTR of a target mRNA, how can it inhibit its translation? To date it is very clear that miRNAs contribute to the regulation of protein synthesis in two ways, mRNA destabilization or translational repression. Unfortunately, to date, a general mechanism for the translational inhibition by miRNAs has not been widely accepted; we rely on several different models that will be critically presented<sup>[55]</sup>. mRNA translation is divided in four phases: Initiation, elongation, termination and recycling. Here we will review in detail how miRNAs can repress translation at the initiation, post-initiation and elongation steps (Figure 2).

#### Initiation of translation

Initiation is the rate-limiting step in translation of a given mRNA and leads to the formation of the ribosome-tRNA-mRNA complex. The golden method to analyze the step at which the translation of a specific mRNA is blocked is measuring the localization of the same mRNA in a sucrose polysome gradient. The general assumption is that a translated mRNA associates with multiple ribosomes (polysomes) and co-sediments to the heavy part of the gradient. Several *in vitro* studies reveal that repressed

mRNAs shift to the lighter region of the sedimentation gradient, indicating reduced ribosome loading of the repressed mRNAs<sup>[56]</sup>. The mechanistic effect of miRNAs at initiation is confirmed by studies in which Ago was found bound to the translational machinery. Briefly, mammalian Ago2 is able to bind the m<sup>7</sup>G-cap of mRNA directly, suggesting that Ago2 and the cap binding protein eIF4E compete for association with the cap structure<sup>[57]</sup>. In this model miRNAs prevent translation of capped but not Internal Ribosome Entry Site (IRES) containing mRNAs. The discovery of a specific Ago2 domain responsible for the interaction with the cap structure supports the above hypothesis. Mutation of two key amino acids in Ago2 disrupts cap-Ago2 binding, and abolishes also the association between Ago2 and GW182, the latter being an important factor in miRNA mediated repression<sup>[58,59]</sup>.

*In vitro* studies suggest other mechanisms of miRNA repression at the initiation step. For some studies, the presence of the m<sup>7</sup>G-cap is necessary for translational inhibition. Other studies demonstrated that miRNA-mediated repression impairs also cap-independent, IRES-initiated translation, and exclude eIF4E-cap recognition as a target for miRNA function<sup>[60,61]</sup>. This consideration is complicated by kinetic issues, as IRES-containing mRNAs are in general less efficiently translated, but also by the fact that some mRNAs have both a m<sup>7</sup>G-cap and an IRES.

WJBC | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Schematic representation of microRNAs role in translation. miRNAs can inhibit protein synthesis at three different stages of translation: Initiation, the rate limiting step, post initiation and elongation. For details refer to text.

Studies performed on D. Melanogaster and mouse cells indicate that miRNAs impair the association of mRNAs to 40S or 80S ribosomes, probably disrupting the mRNA-40S complex<sup>[62]</sup>. In this study an excess of eIF4F ameliorates the miRNA mediated inhibition of a specific mRNA. Other in vitro studies confirmed that translational repression exists only in the presence of both the m'G cap and poly-A tail, indicating that polyadenylation itself may have a role in miRNA mediated repression<sup>[63-66]</sup>. Several hypotheses were proposed: (1) the CCR4-NOT deadenylation complex is sufficient to mediate silencing and could inhibit mRNA translation independently of its deadenylation activity<sup>[67,68]</sup>; (2) miRISC is able to inhibit 43S scanning by impairing eIF4F function<sup>[69,70]</sup>, in particular NOT1 interaction with eIF4A2 could block eIF4A2 function and consequently 43S scanning; and (3) in contrast to hypothesis 2, a very recent study suggests that eIF4A activity and 43S ribosomal scanning are not required for miRNA silencing. In this context AGOs, GW182, CCR4-NOT and DDX6 complexes are able to repress and degrade mRNAs in a 43S scanningindependent manner<sup>[65]</sup>. It is evident that conflicting reports may be due to difficulties in the analysis of the fast translation inhibition driven by miRNAs.

In addition, in the intertwined scenario of mRNA translational inhibition and mRNA degradation driven by miRNAs, the recurrent question is which step precedes the other. Recent studies performed in human cells, zebrafish, and *D. Melanogaster*, show that miRNAs reduce translation just before mRNA deadenylation and decay. Kinetic analysis monitoring in parallel the level of mRNAs, proteins and poly-A tail lengths coupled with ribosome profiling data, revealed that protein levels are affected prior to mRNA stability and poly-A tail length<sup>[63,64,71]</sup>. A recent work presents another interesting hypothesis: miRNAs destabilize mRNAs when they are in a ribosome free state, but at the same time mRNAs targeted by miRNAs are fully polysome associated. The authors demonstrate that while mRNAs are associated with

polysomes, the decapping mechanism occurs proceeding in a 5' to 3' direction following the last translating ribosome<sup>[66]</sup>. According to this model miRNA mediated mRNA decay occurs cotranslationally, providing a solution to this complex mistery.

Finally, it has been also suggested that miRNAs act at the level of active 80S complex formation, by affecting 60S joining. Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 6 (eIF6) associates with the 60S ribosomal subunit and is able to coimmunoprecipitate with the Ago2-Dicer-TRBP complex. Studies in human cells and C. Elegans led to the conclusion that miRISC, when associated with eIF6, abolishes polysome formation, disrupting 80S ribosomes assembly<sup>[72]</sup>. However, these results were not confirmed in D. Melanogaster cells, where depletion of eIF6 had no effect in miRNA-mediated inhibition<sup>[73]</sup>. Furthermore all published data converge on the idea that eIF6 acts as an anti-association factor that, by binding the 60S ribosomal subunit, prevents the formation of active 80S<sup>[74,75]</sup>. This mechanism is regulated by post-translational modifications. Indeed eIF6 is activated downstream of the RACK1-PKC  $\beta\, \mathrm{II}\, axis^{\scriptscriptstyle [76,77]}$  through phosphorylation on residue Ser235, an event which is found deregulated in several types of cancer<sup>[78-80]</sup>.

#### Post-initiation and elongation of translation

At the end of the initiation step, the mRNA is positioned on the ribosome and amino acids are bound together to form a polypeptide chain, thus determining the intermediate step of translation. Since 1999, by sedimentation velocity ultracentrifugation in a sucrose gradient, it has been reported that some miRNAs fully associate with polysomes<sup>[81,82]</sup>. The copurification of miRNAs with polysomes, confirmed by many studies in the last years, not only proves that miRNAs are involved in translational repression, but suggests that miRNA targets are actively translated. Taken together, these data suggest that mRNAs could be silenced by miRNAs at the post initiation step. Some examples will clarify the situation. Most miRNAs are shown to be associated with polysomes and in particular let-7 is capable to cosediment with polyribosomes<sup>[82,83]</sup>. When translation is blocked, by either hypertonic stress or puromycin treatment, miRNAs are no longer associated with polysomes, differently from their mRNA targets. The latter in fact dissociate from polyribosomes only partially, suggesting a reduction of translational elongation or impairment of the post initiation step. The capability of miRNAs to repress translation could also depend on their strength in associating with polyribosomes, *i.e.*, the amount of a specific miRNA in polysomes relative to its total quantity. Molotski and coworkers quantified the association of miRNAs with polysomes<sup>[83]</sup>, and, in line with this study, we discovered that in a Mesothelioma cellular model, only 8% of the miRNAs analyzed is stable and enriched on polysomes (data not published), suggesting that the preference for a microRNA to bind polyribosomes might depend on: (1) the specific seed sequence of the microRNA; (2) the level of



Oliveto S et al. miRNAs in translation regulation and cancer

	Cancer type
OncomiRs	
miR17-92 <sup>[108]</sup>	B-cell lymphoma, small cell lung cancer,
	colon cancer, gastric cancer
miR-21 <sup>[107]</sup>	Breast, colon and lung cancer, glioblastoma
miR-106 <sup>[133]</sup>	Gastric cancer, colorectal cancer
miR-10b <sup>[113]</sup>	Breast cancer
miR-191 <sup>[134,135]</sup>	Human colorectal and breast cancer
Tumor suppressor miRNAs	
let-7 <sup>[105,106]</sup>	Lung cancer, Burkitt lymphoma
miR-15a, miR16-1 <sup>[103,104]</sup>	CLL, prostate cancer, mesothelioma
miR-29 <sup>[136]</sup>	Lung cancer, breast cancer
miR-34a <sup>[116]</sup>	Prostate cancer, mesothelioma, HCC
miR-126 <sup>[114]</sup>	Lung and breast cancer
Both O and TS	
miR-24 <sup>[137,138]</sup>	Breast cancer, glioma (O)
	Laryngeal carcinoma (TS)
miR-125 <sup>[122,123]</sup>	Pancreatic and prostate cancer (O)
	Melanoma, osteosarcoma, ovarian
	cancer (TS)
miR-155 <sup>[120,121]</sup>	Lymphoma, breast cancer (O)
	Melanoma, ovarian and gastric cancer (TS)
miR-221/222 <sup>[139]</sup>	Glioblastoma, HCC, breast cancer (O)
	Tongue squamous cell carcinoma (TS)
miR-106 <sup>[133]</sup> miR-10b <sup>[113]</sup> miR-191 <sup>[134,135]</sup> Tumor suppressor miRNAs let-7 <sup>[105,106]</sup> miR-15a, miR16-1 <sup>[103,104]</sup> miR-29 <sup>[136]</sup> miR-34a <sup>[116]</sup> miR-126 <sup>[114]</sup> Both O and TS miR-24 <sup>[137,138]</sup> miR-125 <sup>[122,123]</sup> miR-125 <sup>[120,121]</sup> miR-221/222 <sup>[139]</sup>	Gastric cancer, colorectal cancer Breast cancer Human colorectal and breast cancer Lung cancer, Burkitt lymphoma CLL, prostate cancer, mesothelioma Lung cancer, breast cancer Prostate cancer, mesothelioma, HCC Lung and breast cancer Breast cancer, glioma (O) Laryngeal carcinoma (TS) Pancreatic and prostate cancer (O) Melanoma, osteosarcoma, ovarian cancer (TS) Lymphoma, breast cancer (O) Melanoma, ovarian and gastric cancer (TS) Glioblastoma, HCC, breast cancer (O) Tongue squamous cell carcinoma (TS)

 Table 1
 List of selected tumor suppressor microRNAs and oncomiRs in cancer

CLL: Chronic lymphocytic leukemia; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; O: OncomiR; TS: Tumor suppressor miRNA.

pairing energy between the miRNA and its target mRNA; and (3) the fact that target mRNAs are being translated or not. Overall what these data suggest is that the miRNA ability to repress translation could also depend on the rate of association with polysomes. However, how these small non-coding RNAs are capable to impair elongation or termination of translation is unclear. It has been also proposed that proteins synthesized from miRNA-targeted mRNAs are not able to accumulate because they are degraded by certain proteases employed by microRNA ribonucleoprotein complexes (miRNPs)<sup>[81]</sup>, thus proposing another mechanism on how miRNAs might function.

## miRNA "surprise" role: miRNA-dependent activation of translation

The dynamic interactions between miRNAs and mRNAs open new frontiers in the field of miRNome studies. Most miRNAs negatively regulate gene expression and led scientists to deeply characterize the binding mechanism of miRNAs seed sequence to mRNAs. It is clear that miRNAs bind 3'UTRs and repress translation of target mRNAs. The demonstration that miR-369 has the capacity to either activate or repress protein translation<sup>[84]</sup> raised the question on why and how miRNAs activate translation of their target mRNAs. When cells are grown in normal growth factor conditions, target mRNAs are translationally inhibited or decayed. Instead, in the absence of growth factors, *i.e.*, in serum starved conditions, the same miRNAs are able to activate translation and increase the protein levels of their target mRNAs, as it happens with miR-369 and its target TNF

alfa<sup>[84-86]</sup>. Nevertheless this is not true for all miRNAs. For example, when miR-16 targets TNF alfa in a different 3' UTR region from that targeted by miR-369, it inhibits translation also in quiescent conditions<sup>[86,87]</sup>. This suggests that, when a cell exits the cell cycle, activation of translation depends on miRNAs seed sequences and on miRNA-mRNA base pairing. It has also been demonstrated that the repression or activation of translation requires the FXR1 protein and Ago2, and that other miRNAs, among which *let-7*, respond to serum starvation upregulating translation of their target mRNAs<sup>[85,86]</sup>.

New paradigms discovered more recently make the mechanism of miRNA regulation even more puzzling. In the recent years, non-canonical sites of binding have been reported. Such sites map to the 5'UTR and coding regions of mRNAs<sup>[88,89]</sup>. Several studies reported that miR-122 and miR-103a-3p have their target sites in 5' UTR<sup>[90,91]</sup>, and that some miRNAs are even able to target both 3' and 5'UTRs. Moreover, under cellular stress miR-10a activates translation by binding the 5'UTR of its target ribosomal protein coding mRNA<sup>[48]</sup>. All of these mechanisms, and probably several others yet unknown, render the landscape of miRNAs mode of action even more difficult to assess. In conclusion, it is essential to study the function of each miRNA singularly and in a specific cellular context in order to understand its precise function.

## miRNAs AND CANCER

Cancer is a pathological condition in which gene expression is dramatically deregulated. miRNAs affect all steps of tumor progression including tumor growth, invasion, metastatic capability and angiogenesis. The relevance of miRNAs in cancer has been highlighted by alterations in their expression (Table 1) and consequently by the deregulation of the expression of their target mRNAs<sup>[92,93]</sup>. The first evidence of the involvement of miRNA in cancer derived from studies on chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Croce's group discovered that two miRNAs, miR-15a and miR-16-1 derive from the same polycistronic RNA which is transcribed from a specific region of chromosome 13, frequently found deleted in CLL. Analyzing a set of CLL patients, they found that 69% of them presented the deletion of miR-15-a and miR-16-1<sup>[44]</sup>. Moreover, they realized that a significant percentage of miRNA genes localizes in fragile sites and/ or in genome regions which often show chromosomal alterations, including amplifications or deletions. This last finding suggested that miRNAs are a new class of genes important in regulating cancer pathogenesis and development. These relevant and preliminary observations implemented the need for investigation with new advanced technologies. All known miRNAs are now mapped and the development of several new platforms is helpful to study the miRNome in both normal and pathological tissues and for the estabilishment of tumor classification, diagnosis and prognosis by miRNA profiling<sup>[94-96]</sup>.

Just like classical protein-coding genes, also miRNA





Figure 3 Roles of microRNAs in cancer. miRNAs suppress the expression of their target genes. An oncogenic miRNA, termed oncomiR, can repress the translation of a tumor suppressor gene, stimulating tumorigenesis and leading to tumor formation. Conversely, a tumor suppressor miRNA is able to inhibit the expression of oncogenes, blocking the tumorigenesis process and consequently the development of cancer.

genes can be altered by promoter methylation, chromosomal amplifications, deletions and transcriptional activation. Genetic alterations may involve the miRNA machinery<sup>[97]</sup> or alter the target binding site<sup>[98]</sup>, the processing of miRNAs and their post-transcriptional editing<sup>[99]</sup>. In cancer, dysregulated miRNAs can act as oncogenic miRNAs (oncomiRs) or tumor suppressor miRNAs, based on their capability to repress the expression of tumor suppressor genes or oncogenes, respectively (Figure 3). The inhibition or stimulation of oncomiRs or tumor suppressor miRNAs modulates cancer cell proliferation, tumor growth, metastasis formation and cell survival<sup>[100]</sup>. Generally, oncomiRs, which modulate tumor suppressor proteins, are overexpressed in cancer, whilst tumor suppressor miRNAs, which target oncoproteins, are downregulated or deleted. Tumor suppressors miR-15a and miR-16-1, whose target is Bcl-2<sup>[101,102]</sup>, are downregulated in several cancers, such as mesothelioma<sup>[103]</sup>, CLL and prostate carcinoma<sup>[104]</sup>, tumor suppressor let-7 targets RAS and Myc<sup>[105,106]</sup>, while oncomiR miR-21 is overexpressed in breast cancer, colon cancer and glioblastoma and targets PTEN in non-small cell lung cancer<sup>[107]</sup>. Furthermore, the most studied miRNA cluster, miR17-92 is able to induce lymphomagenesis in a B-cell specific transgenic mice<sup>[108]</sup>, and miR-19, miR-20a and miR-92, which are part of this cluster, promote T cell ALL development in mouse models<sup>[109]</sup>. It has been established that knocking down the upregulated oncomiRs reduces cell proliferation and tumor growth both in vitro and in vivo tumor systems<sup>[110-112]</sup>. In addition to classical tumor suppressor or oncogene functions, miRNAs are also involved in cell migration and metastasis formation. In breast cancer miR-10b modulation increases cell invasion and migration by targeting HOXD10 and eliciting the expression of the pro-metastatic gene RHOC<sup>[113]</sup>. Other examples are miR-335 and miR-126, which act as negative regulators of metastasis and tumor invasion in lung

and breast cancer<sup>[114,115]</sup>. miR-34a, instead, is lost in several tumors and is involved in the p53 pathway<sup>[116]</sup>. Moreover, miR-34a is able to inhibit migration and invasion downregulating MET expression in HCC cells<sup>[117]</sup>.

Several miRNAs cannot be clearly and unequivocally categorized as tumor suppressors or oncomiRs given that the data in our hands are guite intricate and conflicting since they could act as tumor suppressors in one scenario or as oncomiRs in the other (Table 1). This is not surprising considering that the same miRNA may regulate from ten to hundreds of genes involved in completely different cellular pathways. If we consider miR-155, it works as an oncomiR in solid and hematological malignancies, such as lymphoma and breast cancer<sup>[118,119]</sup>, but in melanoma, as well as in ovarian and gastric cancer, it shows a tumor suppressor role<sup>[120,121]</sup>. Another relevant example is represented by miR-125, which shows tumor suppressor properties in several cancers, like melanoma, osteosarcoma, ovarian and breast cancer, and tumor promoting functions in pancreatic and prostate cancers<sup>[122,123]</sup>. It is clear that the dual role of miRNAs could be due to the heterogeneity and variability of cancer, causing the same miRNA to carry out different effects in different tumors.

miRNAs have also an important role in the clinic where they are useful in terms of diagnosis, prognosis and prediction of therapy response. In this context miRNAs expression can be used as a tool to predict tumorigenesis and overall survival, but also to classify malignant and non-malignant tissues. To date, the clinical importance of miRNAs has been demonstrated for several types of cancers and by using also biopsies or surgery specimens<sup>[124]</sup>.

To avoid the invasiveness of surgery techniques, several studies focused their attention on analyzing miRNA expression levels in human fluids, such as plasma/serum, saliva and urine, speculating the idea that circulating miRNAs could be stable and therefore useful clinical biomarkers. To support this idea, to date, miRNA deregulation in serum of cancer patients has been described for several types of tumors such as leukemia, lymphoma, gastric, lung, ovarian, prostate, pancreatic and breast cancer<sup>[125]</sup>. Most miRNAs found outside of cells, particularly in body fluids, are stable, and this is quite surprising since most RNA molecules in the extracellular environment are subjected to ribonucleases. These observations suggest that secreted miRNAs could be protected by degradation possibly by being packed in particular extracellular vesicles<sup>[126]</sup>.

Among extracellular vesicles, exosomes turn out to be the most studied membrane bound vesicles released from cells into the extracellular space<sup>[127]</sup>. Exosomes play an important role in exchanging information between cancer cells, and such cell-to-cell communication is essential for tumor survival and progression and for metastases formation. Several studies identified exosomes as the key components of this process, and the idea that extracellular miRNA are among the mediators used by exosomes for this inter-cell communication makes this model even more attractive. In line with these data, several studies showed that exosomal miRNA expression is altered in cancer<sup>[128,129]</sup>. The function of exosomal miRNAs is poorly understood, but some reports showed that in this context they carry out their conventional role of negative regulators of gene expression. One example is miR-105 which, once released from breast cancer cell lines, reduces ZO-1 gene expression and promotes metastases formation in the lung and brain<sup>[130]</sup>. Recently, a novel and peculiar function of exosomal miR-21 and miR-29a was demonstrated: Such miRNAs are capable to activate immune cells, by acting as toll-like receptors ligands<sup>[131]</sup>.

These observations and future progresses in the miRNA research field will be very helpful for the development of new therapeutical strategies to fight cancer. Indeed, when a cancer is characterized by the overexpression of specific miRNAs, the use of antimiRs as drugs could help restoring the non-pathological condition. On the contrary, the same results could be obtained by the use of miRNA mimics in cancers in which specific miRNAs are downregulated. A similar approach was described by Kota *et al*<sup>[132]</sup>: The restoring of miR-26a in hepatocellular carcinoma is able to reduce cancer cell proliferation by triggering apoptosis. These data widely show that miRNAs have a precious potential to act as therapeutical targets.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusions, the miRNA world is fascinating and mysterious. The number of miRNA genes that are being discovered is increasing and novel mechanisms of action might reveal possible new therapeutic strategies. The fact that miRNAs use non-canonical target sites to perform their function opens a puzzling scenario that could lead researchers to discover completely new miRNA functions and modes of action. Although great strides have been made in the recent years, the comprehension of the global miRNome and the establishment of functional therapeutic strategies in miRNA cancer research are yet far from being achieved. The discovery and development of miRNA inhibitors or miRNA mimics as novel drugs will offer new hopes in the fight against cancer.

#### REFERENCES

- Alexander RP, Fang G, Rozowsky J, Snyder M, Gerstein MB. Annotating non-coding regions of the genome. *Nat Rev Genet* 2010; 11: 559-571 [PMID: 20628352 DOI: 10.1038/nrg2814]
- 2 **Spadafora C**. A LINE-1-encoded reverse transcriptase-dependent regulatory mechanism is active in embryogenesis and tumorigenesis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2015; **1341**: 164-171 [PMID: 25586649 DOI: 10.1111/nyas.12637]
- 3 Elbarbary RA, Lucas BA, Maquat LE. Retrotransposons as regulators of gene expression. *Science* 2016; 351: aac7247 [PMID: 26912865 DOI: 10.1126/science.aac7247]
- 4 Mercer TR, Dinger ME, Mattick JS. Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. *Nat Rev Genet* 2009; 10: 155-159 [PMID: 19188922 DOI: 10.1038/nrg2521]
- 5 Esteller M. Non-coding RNAs in human disease. *Nat Rev Genet* 2011; 12: 861-874 [PMID: 22094949 DOI: 10.1038/nrg3074]
- 6 Mihailescu R. Gene expression regulation: lessons from noncoding RNAs. RNA 2015; 21: 695-696 [PMID: 25780195 DOI: 10.1261/rna.050815.115]
- 7 Croce CM. Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet* 2009; 10: 704-714 [PMID: 19763153 DOI: 10.1038/nrg2634]
- 8 Mendell JT. MicroRNAs: critical regulators of development, cellular physiology and malignancy. *Cell Cycle* 2005; 4: 1179-1184 [PMID: 16096373 DOI: 10.4161/cc.4.9.2032]
- 9 Watanabe T, Tomizawa S, Mitsuya K, Totoki Y, Yamamoto Y, Kuramochi-Miyagawa S, Iida N, Hoki Y, Murphy PJ, Toyoda A, Gotoh K, Hiura H, Arima T, Fujiyama A, Sado T, Shibata T, Nakano T, Lin H, Ichiyanagi K, Soloway PD, Sasaki H. Role for piRNAs and noncoding RNA in de novo DNA methylation of the imprinted mouse Rasgrf1 locus. *Science* 2011; 332: 848-852 [PMID: 21566194 DOI: 10.1126/science.1203919]
- 10 Brennecke J, Aravin AA, Stark A, Dus M, Kellis M, Sachidanandam R, Hannon GJ. Discrete small RNA-generating loci as master regulators of transposon activity in Drosophila. *Cell* 2007; **128**: 1089-1103 [PMID: 17346786 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell. 2007.01.043]
- 11 Kuramochi-Miyagawa S, Watanabe T, Gotoh K, Takamatsu K, Chuma S, Kojima-Kita K, Shiromoto Y, Asada N, Toyoda A, Fujiyama A, Totoki Y, Shibata T, Kimura T, Nakatsuji N, Noce T, Sasaki H, Nakano T. MVH in piRNA processing and gene silencing of retrotransposons. *Genes Dev* 2010; 24: 887-892 [PMID: 20439430 DOI: 10.1101/gad.1902110]
- 12 Deschamps-Francoeur G, Garneau D, Dupuis-Sandoval F, Roy A, Frappier M, Catala M, Couture S, Barbe-Marcoux M, Abou-Elela S, Scott MS. Identification of discrete classes of small nucleolar RNA featuring different ends and RNA binding protein dependency. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2014; 42: 10073-10085 [PMID: 25074380 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gku664]
- 13 Taft RJ, Kaplan CD, Simons C, Mattick JS. Evolution, biogenesis and function of promoter-associated RNAs. *Cell Cycle* 2009; 8: 2332-2338 [PMID: 19597344 DOI: 10.4161/cc.8.15.9154]
- 14 Geisler S, Coller J. RNA in unexpected places: long non-coding RNA functions in diverse cellular contexts. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2013; 14: 699-712 [PMID: 24105322 DOI: 10.1038/nrm3679]
- 15 Morceau F, Chateauvieux S, Gaigneaux A, Dicato M, Diederich M. Long and short non-coding RNAs as regulators of hematopoietic differentiation. *Int J Mol Sci* 2013; 14: 14744-14770 [PMID: 23860209 DOI: 10.3390/ijms140714744]



- 16 Calin GA, Liu CG, Ferracin M, Hyslop T, Spizzo R, Sevignani C, Fabbri M, Cimmino A, Lee EJ, Wojcik SE, Shimizu M, Tili E, Rossi S, Taccioli C, Pichiorri F, Liu X, Zupo S, Herlea V, Gramantieri L, Lanza G, Alder H, Rassenti L, Volinia S, Schmittgen TD, Kipps TJ, Negrini M, Croce CM. Ultraconserved regions encoding ncRNAs are altered in human leukemias and carcinomas. *Cancer Cell* 2007; 12: 215-229 [PMID: 17785203 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.07.027]
- 17 Scaruffi P, Stigliani S, Moretti S, Coco S, De Vecchi C, Valdora F, Garaventa A, Bonassi S, Tonini GP. Transcribed-Ultra Conserved Region expression is associated with outcome in high-risk neuroblastoma. *BMC Cancer* 2009; **9**: 441 [PMID: 20003513 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-441]
- 18 Tay Y, Rinn J, Pandolfi PP. The multilayered complexity of ceRNA crosstalk and competition. *Nature* 2014; 505: 344-352 [PMID: 24429633 DOI: 10.1038/nature12986]
- 19 de Klerk E, 't Hoen PA. Alternative mRNA transcription, processing, and translation: insights from RNA sequencing. *Trends Genet* 2015; **31**: 128-139 [PMID: 25648499 DOI: 10.1016/j.tig. 2015.01.001]
- 20 Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 2009; 136: 215-233 [PMID: 19167326 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cell.2009.01.002]
- 21 **Bartel DP**. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* 2004; **116**: 281-297 [PMID: 14744438 DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00045-5]
- 22 **Horvitz HR**, Sulston JE. Isolation and genetic characterization of cell-lineage mutants of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* 1980; **96**: 435-454 [PMID: 7262539]
- 23 Lee R, Feinbaum R, Ambros V. A short history of a short RNA. Cell 2004; 116: S89-S92, 1 p following S96 [PMID: 15055592]
- 24 Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 1993; 75: 843-854 [PMID: 8252621]
- 25 Wightman B, Ha I, Ruvkun G. Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by lin-4 mediates temporal pattern formation in C. elegans. *Cell* 1993; **75**: 855-862 [PMID: 8252622]
- 26 Wightman B, Bürglin TR, Gatto J, Arasu P, Ruvkun G. Negative regulatory sequences in the lin-14 3'-untranslated region are necessary to generate a temporal switch during Caenorhabditis elegans development. *Genes Dev* 1991; 5: 1813-1824 [PMID: 1916264]
- 27 Reinhart BJ, Slack FJ, Basson M, Pasquinelli AE, Bettinger JC, Rougvie AE, Horvitz HR, Ruvkun G. The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* 2000; 403: 901-906 [PMID: 10706289 DOI: 10.1038/35002607]
- 28 Vella MC, Choi EY, Lin SY, Reinert K, Slack FJ. The C. elegans microRNA let-7 binds to imperfect let-7 complementary sites from the lin-41 3'UTR. *Genes Dev* 2004; 18: 132-137 [PMID: 14729570 DOI: 10.1101/gad.1165404]
- 29 Li Z, Rana TM. Therapeutic targeting of microRNAs: current status and future challenges. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2014; 13: 622-638 [PMID: 25011539 DOI: 10.1038/nrd4359]
- 30 Li Z, Rana TM. Molecular mechanisms of RNA-triggered gene silencing machineries. *Acc Chem Res* 2012; 45: 1122-1131 [PMID: 22304792 DOI: 10.1021/ar200253u]
- Krol J, Loedige I, Filipowicz W. The widespread regulation of microRNA biogenesis, function and decay. *Nat Rev Genet* 2010; 11: 597-610 [PMID: 20661255 DOI: 10.1038/nrg2843]
- 32 Kim YK, Kim B, Kim VN. Re-evaluation of the roles of DROSHA, Export in 5, and DICER in microRNA biogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2016; 113: E1881-E1889 [PMID: 26976605 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1602532113]
- 33 Han J, Pedersen JS, Kwon SC, Belair CD, Kim YK, Yeom KH, Yang WY, Haussler D, Blelloch R, Kim VN. Posttranscriptional crossregulation between Drosha and DGCR8. *Cell* 2009; 136: 75-84 [PMID: 19135890 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.10.053]
- 34 Triboulet R, Chang HM, Lapierre RJ, Gregory RI. Posttranscriptional control of DGCR8 expression by the Microprocessor. *RNA* 2009; 15: 1005-1011 [PMID: 19383765 DOI: 10.1261/ rna.1591709]
- 35 Gregory RI, Yan KP, Amuthan G, Chendrimada T, Doratotaj B,

Cooch N, Shiekhattar R. The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. *Nature* 2004; **432**: 235-240 [PMID: 15531877 DOI: 10.1038/nature03120]

- 36 Melo SA, Ropero S, Moutinho C, Aaltonen LA, Yamamoto H, Calin GA, Rossi S, Fernandez AF, Carneiro F, Oliveira C, Ferreira B, Liu CG, Villanueva A, Capella G, Schwartz S, Shiekhattar R, Esteller M. A TARBP2 mutation in human cancer impairs microRNA processing and DICER1 function. *Nat Genet* 2009; 41: 365-370 [PMID: 19219043 DOI: 10.1038/ng.317]
- 37 Paroo Z, Ye X, Chen S, Liu Q. Phosphorylation of the human microRNA-generating complex mediates MAPK/Erk signaling. *Cell* 2009; **139**: 112-122 [PMID: 19804757 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cell.2009.06.044]
- 38 Hwang HW, Wentzel EA, Mendell JT. A hexanucleotide element directs microRNA nuclear import. *Science* 2007; 315: 97-100 [PMID: 17204650 DOI: 10.1126/science.1136235]
- 39 Roberts TC. The MicroRNA Biology of the Mammalian Nucleus. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2014; 3: e188 [PMID: 25137140 DOI: 10.1038/mtna.2014.40]
- 40 Zhang J, Li S, Li L, Li M, Guo C, Yao J, Mi S. Exosome and exosomal microRNA: trafficking, sorting, and function. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics* 2015; 13: 17-24 [PMID: 25724326 DOI: 10.1016/j.gpb.2015.02.001]
- 41 Zhang X, Zuo X, Yang B, Li Z, Xue Y, Zhou Y, Huang J, Zhao X, Zhou J, Yan Y, Zhang H, Guo P, Sun H, Guo L, Zhang Y, Fu XD. MicroRNA directly enhances mitochondrial translation during muscle differentiation. *Cell* 2014; **158**: 607-619 [PMID: 25083871 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.05.047]
- 42 Das S, Bedja D, Campbell N, Dunkerly B, Chenna V, Maitra A, Steenbergen C. miR-181c regulates the mitochondrial genome, bioenergetics, and propensity for heart failure in vivo. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e96820 [PMID: 24810628 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0096820]
- 43 Chen X, Liang H, Zhang CY, Zen K. miRNA regulates noncoding RNA: a noncanonical function model. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2012; 37: 457-459 [PMID: 22963870 DOI: 10.1016/j.tibs.2012.08.005]
- 44 Iorio MV, Croce CM. Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation. *Cancer J* 2012; 18: 215-222 [PMID: 22647357 DOI: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e318250c001]
- 45 Shu J, Xia Z, Li L, Liang ET, Slipek N, Shen D, Foo J, Subramanian S, Steer CJ. Dose-dependent differential mRNA target selection and regulation by let-7a-7f and miR-17-92 cluster microRNAs. *RNA Biol* 2012; 9: 1275-1287 [PMID: 22995834 DOI: 10.4161/ma.21998]
- 46 Lutter D, Marr C, Krumsiek J, Lang EW, Theis FJ. Intronic microRNAs support their host genes by mediating synergistic and antagonistic regulatory effects. *BMC Genomics* 2010; 11: 224 [PMID: 20370903 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2164-11-224]
- 47 Moretti F, Thermann R, Hentze MW. Mechanism of translational regulation by miR-2 from sites in the 5' untranslated region or the open reading frame. *RNA* 2010; 16: 2493-2502 [PMID: 20966199 DOI: 10.1261/rna.2384610]
- 48 Ørom UA, Nielsen FC, Lund AH. MicroRNA-10a binds the 5' UTR of ribosomal protein mRNAs and enhances their translation. *Mol Cell* 2008; 30: 460-471 [PMID: 18498749 DOI: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2008.05.001]
- Fabian MR, Sonenberg N, Filipowicz W. Regulation of mRNA translation and stability by microRNAs. *Annu Rev Biochem* 2010; 79: 351-379 [PMID: 20533884 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060308-103103]
- 50 Vasudevan S, Tong Y, Steitz JA. Cell-cycle control of microRNAmediated translation regulation. *Cell Cycle* 2008; 7: 1545-1549 [PMID: 18469529 DOI: 10.4161/cc.7.11.6018]
- 51 Kamanu TK, Radovanovic A, Archer JA, Bajic VB. Exploration of miRNA families for hypotheses generation. *Sci Rep* 2013; 3: 2940 [PMID: 24126940 DOI: 10.1038/srep02940]
- 52 Mathelier A, Carbone A. Large scale chromosomal mapping of human microRNA structural clusters. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2013; 41: 4392-4408 [PMID: 23444140 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkt112]
- 53 Londin E, Loher P, Telonis AG, Quann K, Clark P, Jing Y,



#### Oliveto S et al. miRNAs in translation regulation and cancer

Hatzimichael E, Kirino Y, Honda S, Lally M, Ramratnam B, Comstock CE, Knudsen KE, Gomella L, Spaeth GL, Hark L, Katz LJ, Witkiewicz A, Rostami A, Jimenez SA, Hollingsworth MA, Yeh JJ, Shaw CA, McKenzie SE, Bray P, Nelson PT, Zupo S, Van Roosbroeck K, Keating MJ, Calin GA, Yeo C, Jimbo M, Cozzitorto J, Brody JR, Delgrosso K, Mattick JS, Fortina P, Rigoutsos I. Analysis of 13 cell types reveals evidence for the expression of numerous novel primate- and tissue-specific microRNAs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2015; **112**: E1106-E1115 [PMID: 25713380 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1420955112]

- 54 Gebauer F, Hentze MW. Molecular mechanisms of translational control. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2004; 5: 827-835 [PMID: 15459663 DOI: 10.1038/nrm1488]
- 55 Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya SN, Sonenberg N. Mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? *Nat Rev Genet* 2008; 9: 102-114 [PMID: 18197166 DOI: 10.1038/nrg2290]
- 56 Pillai RS, Bhattacharyya SN, Artus CG, Zoller T, Cougot N, Basyuk E, Bertrand E, Filipowicz W. Inhibition of translational initiation by Let-7 MicroRNA in human cells. *Science* 2005; 309: 1573-1576 [PMID: 16081698 DOI: 10.1126/science.1115079]
- 57 Kiriakidou M, Tan GS, Lamprinaki S, De Planell-Saguer M, Nelson PT, Mourelatos Z. An mRNA m7G cap binding-like motif within human Ago2 represses translation. *Cell* 2007; 129: 1141-1151 [PMID: 17524464 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.016]
- 58 Kinch LN, Grishin NV. The human Ago2 MC region does not contain an eIF4E-like mRNA cap binding motif. *Biol Direct* 2009; 4: 2 [PMID: 19159466 DOI: 10.1186/1745-6150-4-2]
- 59 Su H, Trombly MI, Chen J, Wang X. Essential and overlapping functions for mammalian Argonautes in microRNA silencing. *Genes Dev* 2009; 23: 304-317 [PMID: 19174539 DOI: 10.1101/ gad.1749809]
- 60 Petersen CP, Bordeleau ME, Pelletier J, Sharp PA. Short RNAs repress translation after initiation in mammalian cells. *Mol Cell* 2006; 21: 533-542 [PMID: 16483934 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel. 2006.01.031]
- 61 Lytle JR, Yario TA, Steitz JA. Target mRNAs are repressed as efficiently by microRNA-binding sites in the 5' UTR as in the 3' UTR. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007; 104: 9667-9672 [PMID: 17535905 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0703820104]
- 62 Mathonnet G, Fabian MR, Svitkin YV, Parsyan A, Huck L, Murata T, Biffo S, Merrick WC, Darzynkiewicz E, Pillai RS, Filipowicz W, Duchaine TF, Sonenberg N. MicroRNA inhibition of translation initiation in vitro by targeting the cap-binding complex eIF4F. *Science* 2007; **317**: 1764-1767 [PMID: 17656684 DOI: 10.1126/science.1146067]
- 63 Bazzini AA, Lee MT, Giraldez AJ. Ribosome profiling shows that miR-430 reduces translation before causing mRNA decay in zebrafish. *Science* 2012; 336: 233-237 [PMID: 22422859 DOI: 10.1126/science.1215704]
- 64 Djuranovic S, Nahvi A, Green R. miRNA-mediated gene silencing by translational repression followed by mRNA deadenylation and decay. *Science* 2012; 336: 237-240 [PMID: 22499947 DOI: 10.1126/science.1215691]
- 65 Kuzuoğlu-Öztürk D, Bhandari D, Huntzinger E, Fauser M, Helms S, Izaurralde E. miRISC and the CCR4-NOT complex silence mRNA targets independently of 43S ribosomal scanning. *EMBO J* 2016; 35: 1186-1203 [PMID: 27009120 DOI: 10.15252/ embj.201592901]
- 66 Tat TT, Maroney PA, Chamnongpol S, Coller J, Nilsen TW. Cotranslational microRNA mediated messenger RNA destabilization. *Elife* 2016; 5: pii: e12880 [PMID: 27058298 DOI: 10.7554/eLife.12880]
- 67 Bawankar P, Loh B, Wohlbold L, Schmidt S, Izaurralde E. NOT10 and C2orf29/NOT11 form a conserved module of the CCR4-NOT complex that docks onto the NOT1 N-terminal domain. *RNA Biol* 2013; 10: 228-244 [PMID: 23303381 DOI: 10.4161/rna.23018]
- 68 Zekri L, Kuzuoğlu-Öztürk D, Izaurralde E. GW182 proteins cause PABP dissociation from silenced miRNA targets in the absence of deadenylation. *EMBO J* 2013; 32: 1052-1065 [PMID: 23463101

DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2013.44]

- 69 Fukao A, Mishima Y, Takizawa N, Oka S, Imataka H, Pelletier J, Sonenberg N, Thoma C, Fujiwara T. MicroRNAs trigger dissociation of eIF4AI and eIF4AII from target mRNAs in humans. *Mol Cell* 2014; 56: 79-89 [PMID: 25280105 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.09.005]
- 70 Ricci EP, Limousin T, Soto-Rifo R, Rubilar PS, Decimo D, Ohlmann T. miRNA repression of translation in vitro takes place during 43S ribosomal scanning. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2013; 41: 586-598 [PMID: 23161679 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gks1076]
- 71 Béthune J, Artus-Revel CG, Filipowicz W. Kinetic analysis reveals successive steps leading to miRNA-mediated silencing in mammalian cells. *EMBO Rep* 2012; 13: 716-723 [PMID: 22677978 DOI: 10.1038/embor.2012.82]
- 72 Chendrimada TP, Finn KJ, Ji X, Baillat D, Gregory RI, Liebhaber SA, Pasquinelli AE, Shiekhattar R. MicroRNA silencing through RISC recruitment of eIF6. *Nature* 2007; 447: 823-828 [PMID: 17507929 DOI: 10.1038/nature05841]
- 73 Eulalio A, Huntzinger E, Izaurralde E. GW182 interaction with Argonaute is essential for miRNA-mediated translational repression and mRNA decay. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2008; 15: 346-353 [PMID: 18345015 DOI: 10.1038/nsmb.1405]
- 74 Brina D, Miluzio A, Ricciardi S, Biffo S. eIF6 anti-association activity is required for ribosome biogenesis, translational control and tumor progression. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2015; **1849**: 830-835 [PMID: 25252159 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.09.010]
- 75 Sanvito F, Piatti S, Villa A, Bossi M, Lucchini G, Marchisio PC, Biffo S. The beta4 integrin interactor p27(BBP/eIF6) is an essential nuclear matrix protein involved in 60S ribosomal subunit assembly. *J Cell Biol* 1999; 144: 823-837 [PMID: 10085284 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.144.5.823]
- 76 Gallo S, Manfrini N. Working hard at the nexus between cell signaling and the ribosomal machinery: An insight into the roles of RACK1 in translational regulation. *Translation* (Austin) 2015; 3: e1120382 [PMID: 26824030 DOI: 10.1080/21690731.2015.1120382]
- 77 Ceci M, Gaviraghi C, Gorrini C, Sala LA, Offenhäuser N, Marchisio PC, Biffo S. Release of eIF6 (p27BBP) from the 60S subunit allows 80S ribosome assembly. *Nature* 2003; 426: 579-584 [PMID: 14654845 DOI: 10.1038/nature02160]
- 78 Miluzio A, Beugnet A, Grosso S, Brina D, Mancino M, Campaner S, Amati B, de Marco A, Biffo S. Impairment of cytoplasmic eIF6 activity restricts lymphomagenesis and tumor progression without affecting normal growth. *Cancer Cell* 2011; 19: 765-775 [PMID: 21665150 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.04.018]
- 79 Miluzio A, Beugnet A, Volta V, Biffo S. Eukaryotic initiation factor 6 mediates a continuum between 60S ribosome biogenesis and translation. *EMBO Rep* 2009; 10: 459-465 [PMID: 19373251 DOI: 10.1038/embor.2009.70]
- 80 Miluzio A, Oliveto S, Pesce E, Mutti L, Murer B, Grosso S, Ricciardi S, Brina D, Biffo S. Expression and activity of eIF6 trigger malignant pleural mesothelioma growth in vivo. *Oncotarget* 2015; 6: 37471-37485 [PMID: 26462016 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.5462]
- 81 Olsen PH, Ambros V. The lin-4 regulatory RNA controls developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans by blocking LIN-14 protein synthesis after the initiation of translation. *Dev Biol* 1999; 216: 671-680 [PMID: 10642801 DOI: 10.1006/dbio. 1999.9523]
- 82 Maroney PA, Yu Y, Fisher J, Nilsen TW. Evidence that microRNAs are associated with translating messenger RNAs in human cells. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2006; 13: 1102-1107 [PMID: 17128271 DOI: 10.1038/nsmb1174]
- 83 Molotski N, Soen Y. Differential association of microRNAs with polysomes reflects distinct strengths of interactions with their mRNA targets. *RNA* 2012; 18: 1612-1623 [PMID: 22836355 DOI: 10.1261/rna.033142.112]
- 84 Buchan JR, Parker R. Molecular biology. The two faces of miRNA. *Science* 2007; 318: 1877-1878 [PMID: 18096794 DOI: 10.1126/science.1152623]
- 85 Vasudevan S, Tong Y, Steitz JA. Switching from repression to activation: microRNAs can up-regulate translation. *Science* 2007;



#### Oliveto S et al. miRNAs in translation regulation and cancer

318: 1931-1934 [PMID: 18048652 DOI: 10.1126/science.1149460]

- 86 Truesdell SS, Mortensen RD, Seo M, Schroeder JC, Lee JH, LeTonqueze O, Vasudevan S. MicroRNA-mediated mRNA translation activation in quiescent cells and oocytes involves recruitment of a nuclear microRNP. *Sci Rep* 2012; 2: 842 [PMID: 23150790 DOI: 10.1038/srep00842]
- 87 Jing Q, Huang S, Guth S, Zarubin T, Motoyama A, Chen J, Di Padova F, Lin SC, Gram H, Han J. Involvement of microRNA in AU-rich element-mediated mRNA instability. *Cell* 2005; 120: 623-634 [PMID: 15766526 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.12.038]
- 88 Brümmer A, Hausser J. MicroRNA binding sites in the coding region of mRNAs: extending the repertoire of post-transcriptional gene regulation. *Bioessays* 2014; 36: 617-626 [PMID: 24737341 DOI: 10.1002/bies.201300104]
- 89 Cipolla GA. A non-canonical landscape of the microRNA system. Front Genet 2014; 5: 337 [PMID: 25295056 DOI: 10.3389/ fgene.2014.00337]
- 90 Roberts AP, Lewis AP, Jopling CL. miR-122 activates hepatitis C virus translation by a specialized mechanism requiring particular RNA components. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2011; **39**: 7716-7729 [PMID: 21653556 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkr426]
- 91 Zhou H, Rigoutsos I. MiR-103a-3p targets the 5' UTR of GPRC5A in pancreatic cells. *RNA* 2014; 20: 1431-1439 [PMID: 24984703 DOI: 10.1261/rna.045757.114]
- 92 **Choudhury M**, Friedman JE. Epigenetics and microRNAs in preeclampsia. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 2012; **34**: 334-341 [PMID: 22468840 DOI: 10.3109/10641963.2011.649931]
- Stahlhut C, Slack FJ. MicroRNAs and the cancer phenotype: profiling, signatures and clinical implications. *Genome Med* 2013;
   5: 111 [PMID: 24373327 DOI: 10.1186/gm516]
- 94 Volinia S, Calin GA, Liu CG, Ambs S, Cimmino A, Petrocca F, Visone R, Iorio M, Roldo C, Ferracin M, Prueitt RL, Yanaihara N, Lanza G, Scarpa A, Vecchione A, Negrini M, Harris CC, Croce CM. A microRNA expression signature of human solid tumors defines cancer gene targets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006; 103: 2257-2261 [PMID: 16461460 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0510565103]
- 95 Gasparini P, Cascione L, Fassan M, Lovat F, Guler G, Balci S, Irkkan C, Morrison C, Croce CM, Shapiro CL, Huebner K. micro-RNA expression profiling identifies a four microRNA signature as a novel diagnostic and prognostic biomarker in triple negative breast cancers. *Oncotarget* 2014; 5: 1174-1184 [PMID: 24632568 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.1682]
- 96 Yan W, Li R, Liu Y, Yang P, Wang Z, Zhang C, Bao Z, Zhang W, You Y, Jiang T. MicroRNA expression patterns in the malignant progression of gliomas and a 5-microRNA signature for prognosis. *Oncotarget* 2014; 5: 12908-12915 [PMID: 25415048 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.2679]
- 97 Melo SA, Moutinho C, Ropero S, Calin GA, Rossi S, Spizzo R, Fernandez AF, Davalos V, Villanueva A, Montoya G, Yamamoto H, Schwartz S, Esteller M. A genetic defect in exportin-5 traps precursor microRNAs in the nucleus of cancer cells. *Cancer Cell* 2010; 18: 303-315 [PMID: 20951941 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr. 2010.09.007]
- 98 Ziebarth JD, Bhattacharya A, Cui Y. Integrative analysis of somatic mutations altering microRNA targeting in cancer genomes. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e47137 [PMID: 23091610 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0047137]
- 99 Sun G, Yan J, Noltner K, Feng J, Li H, Sarkis DA, Sommer SS, Rossi JJ. SNPs in human miRNA genes affect biogenesis and function. *RNA* 2009; 15: 1640-1651 [PMID: 19617315 DOI: 10.1261/rna.1560209]
- 100 Svoronos AA, Engelman DM, Slack FJ. OncomiR or Tumor Suppressor? The Duplicity of MicroRNAs in Cancer. *Cancer Res* 2016; **76**: 3666-3670 [PMID: 27325641 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-16-0359]
- 101 Cimmino A, Calin GA, Fabbri M, Iorio MV, Ferracin M, Shimizu M, Wojcik SE, Aqeilan RI, Zupo S, Dono M, Rassenti L, Alder H, Volinia S, Liu CG, Kipps TJ, Negrini M, Croce CM. miR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005; **102**: 13944-13949 [PMID: 16166262 DOI: 10.1073/

pnas.0506654102]

- 102 Pekarsky Y, Croce CM. Role of miR-15/16 in CLL. Cell Death Differ 2015; 22: 6-11 [PMID: 24971479 DOI: 10.1038/cdd.2014.87]
- 103 Reid G. MicroRNAs in mesothelioma: from tumour suppressors and biomarkers to therapeutic targets. J Thorac Dis 2015; 7: 1031-1040 [PMID: 26150916 DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015. 04.56]
- 104 Aqeilan RI, Calin GA, Croce CM. miR-15a and miR-16-1 in cancer: discovery, function and future perspectives. *Cell Death Differ* 2010; 17: 215-220 [PMID: 19498445 DOI: 10.1038/ cdd.2009.69]
- 105 Sampson VB, Rong NH, Han J, Yang Q, Aris V, Soteropoulos P, Petrelli NJ, Dunn SP, Krueger LJ. MicroRNA let-7a downregulates MYC and reverts MYC-induced growth in Burkitt lymphoma cells. *Cancer Res* 2007; 67: 9762-9770 [PMID: 17942906 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2462]
- 106 Wang X, Cao L, Wang Y, Wang X, Liu N, You Y. Regulation of let-7 and its target oncogenes (Review). *Oncol Lett* 2012; 3: 955-960 [PMID: 22783372 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2012.609]
- 107 Liu ZL, Wang H, Liu J, Wang ZX. MicroRNA-21 (miR-21) expression promotes growth, metastasis, and chemo- or radioresistance in non-small cell lung cancer cells by targeting PTEN. *Mol Cell Biochem* 2013; **372**: 35-45 [PMID: 22956424 DOI: 10.1007/s11010-012-1443-3]
- 108 Sandhu SK, Fassan M, Volinia S, Lovat F, Balatti V, Pekarsky Y, Croce CM. B-cell malignancies in microRNA Eμ-miR-17~92 transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2013; 110: 18208-18213 [PMID: 24145403 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1315365110]
- 109 Mavrakis KJ, Van Der Meulen J, Wolfe AL, Liu X, Mets E, Taghon T, Khan AA, Setty M, Rondou P, Vandenberghe P, Delabesse E, Benoit Y, Socci NB, Leslie CS, Van Vlierberghe P, Speleman F, Wendel HG. A cooperative microRNA-tumor suppressor gene network in acute T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL). *Nat Genet* 2011; 43: 673-678 [PMID: 21642990 DOI: 10.1038/ng.858]
- 110 Iorio MV, Ferracin M, Liu CG, Veronese A, Spizzo R, Sabbioni S, Magri E, Pedriali M, Fabbri M, Campiglio M, Ménard S, Palazzo JP, Rosenberg A, Musiani P, Volinia S, Nenci I, Calin GA, Querzoli P, Negrini M, Croce CM. MicroRNA gene expression deregulation in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 2005; **65**: 7065-7070 [PMID: 16103053 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1783]
- 111 Schetter AJ, Leung SY, Sohn JJ, Zanetti KA, Bowman ED, Yanaihara N, Yuen ST, Chan TL, Kwong DL, Au GK, Liu CG, Calin GA, Croce CM, Harris CC. MicroRNA expression profiles associated with prognosis and therapeutic outcome in colon adenocarcinoma. *JAMA* 2008; 299: 425-436 [PMID: 18230780 DOI: 10.1001/jama.299.4.425]
- 112 Ventura A, Young AG, Winslow MM, Lintault L, Meissner A, Erkeland SJ, Newman J, Bronson RT, Crowley D, Stone JR, Jaenisch R, Sharp PA, Jacks T. Targeted deletion reveals essential and overlapping functions of the miR-17 through 92 family of miRNA clusters. *Cell* 2008; **132**: 875-886 [PMID: 18329372 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.019]
- 113 Tian Y, Luo A, Cai Y, Su Q, Ding F, Chen H, Liu Z. MicroRNA-10b promotes migration and invasion through KLF4 in human esophageal cancer cell lines. *J Biol Chem* 2010; 285: 7986-7994 [PMID: 20075075 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M109.062877]
- 114 Wang CZ, Yuan P, Li Y. MiR-126 regulated breast cancer cell invasion by targeting ADAM9. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* 2015; 8: 6547-6553 [PMID: 26261534]
- 115 Gong M, Ma J, Guillemette R, Zhou M, Yang Y, Yang Y, Hock JM, Yu X. miR-335 inhibits small cell lung cancer bone metastases via IGF-IR and RANKL pathways. *Mol Cancer Res* 2014; **12**: 101-110 [PMID: 23966614 DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-13-0136]
- 116 Rokavec M, Li H, Jiang L, Hermeking H. The p53/miR-34 axis in development and disease. *J Mol Cell Biol* 2014; 6: 214-230 [PMID: 24815299 DOI: 10.1093/jmcb/mju003]
- 117 Li N, Fu H, Tie Y, Hu Z, Kong W, Wu Y, Zheng X. miR-34a inhibits migration and invasion by down-regulation of c-Met expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cancer Lett* 2009; 275: 44-53 [PMID: 19006648 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2008.09.035]

- 118 Babar IA, Cheng CJ, Booth CJ, Liang X, Weidhaas JB, Saltzman WM, Slack FJ. Nanoparticle-based therapy in an in vivo microRNA-155 (miR-155)-dependent mouse model of lymphoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012; 109: E1695-E1704 [PMID: 22685206 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1201516109]
- 119 Kong W, He L, Coppola M, Guo J, Esposito NN, Coppola D, Cheng JQ. MicroRNA-155 regulates cell survival, growth, and chemosensitivity by targeting FOXO3a in breast cancer. *J Biol Chem* 2010; 285: 17869-17879 [PMID: 20371610 DOI: 10.1074/ jbc.M110.101055]
- 120 Levati L, Pagani E, Romani S, Castiglia D, Piccinni E, Covaciu C, Caporaso P, Bondanza S, Antonetti FR, Bonmassar E, Martelli F, Alvino E, D'Atri S. MicroRNA-155 targets the SKI gene in human melanoma cell lines. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* 2011; 24: 538-550 [PMID: 21466664 DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-148X.2011.00857.x]
- 121 Li CL, Nie H, Wang M, Su LP, Li JF, Yu YY, Yan M, Qu QL, Zhu ZG, Liu BY. microRNA-155 is downregulated in gastric cancer cells and involved in cell metastasis. *Oncol Rep* 2012; 27: 1960-1966 [PMID: 22426647 DOI: 10.3892/or.2012.1719]
- 122 Shaham L, Binder V, Gefen N, Borkhardt A, Izraeli S. MiR-125 in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. *Leukemia* 2012; 26: 2011-2018 [PMID: 22456625 DOI: 10.1038/leu.2012.90]
- 123 Sun YM, Lin KY, Chen YQ. Diverse functions of miR-125 family in different cell contexts. *J Hematol Oncol* 2013; 6: 6 [PMID: 23321005 DOI: 10.1186/1756-8722-6-6]
- 124 Garzon R, Calin GA, Croce CM. MicroRNAs in Cancer. Annu Rev Med 2009; 60: 167-179 [PMID: 19630570 DOI: 10.1146/ annurev.med.59.053006.104707]
- 125 Almeida MI, Reis RM, Calin GA. MicroRNA history: discovery, recent applications, and next frontiers. *Mutat Res* 2011; 717: 1-8 [PMID: 21458467 DOI: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.03.009]
- 126 Gibbings DJ, Ciaudo C, Erhardt M, Voinnet O. Multivesicular bodies associate with components of miRNA effector complexes and modulate miRNA activity. *Nat Cell Biol* 2009; 11: 1143-1149 [PMID: 19684575 DOI: 10.1038/ncb1929]
- Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. *J Proteomics* 2010; 73: 1907-1920 [PMID: 20601276 DOI: 10.1016/j.jprot. 2010.06.006]
- 128 Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, Dingli F, Loew D, Tkach M, Théry C. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2016; 113: E968-E977 [PMID: 26858453 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.1521230113]
- 129 Minciacchi VR, Freeman MR, Di Vizio D. Extracellular vesicles in cancer: exosomes, microvesicles and the emerging role of large oncosomes. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 2015; 40: 41-51 [PMID: 25721812 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.02.010]

- 130 Zhou W, Fong MY, Min Y, Somlo G, Liu L, Palomares MR, Yu Y, Chow A, O'Connor ST, Chin AR, Yen Y, Wang Y, Marcusson EG, Chu P, Wu J, Wu X, Li AX, Li Z, Gao H, Ren X, Boldin MP, Lin PC, Wang SE. Cancer-secreted miR-105 destroys vascular endothelial barriers to promote metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 2014; 25: 501-515 [PMID: 24735924 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.03.007]
- 131 Fabbri M, Paone A, Calore F, Galli R, Gaudio E, Santhanam R, Lovat F, Fadda P, Mao C, Nuovo GJ, Zanesi N, Crawford M, Ozer GH, Wernicke D, Alder H, Caligiuri MA, Nana-Sinkam P, Perrotti D, Croce CM. MicroRNAs bind to Toll-like receptors to induce prometastatic inflammatory response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012; 109: E2110-E2116 [PMID: 22753494 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.1209414109]
- 132 Kota J, Chivukula RR, O'Donnell KA, Wentzel EA, Montgomery CL, Hwang HW, Chang TC, Vivekanandan P, Torbenson M, Clark KR, Mendell JR, Mendell JT. Therapeutic microRNA delivery suppresses tumorigenesis in a murine liver cancer model. *Cell* 2009; **137**: 1005-1017 [PMID: 19524505 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cell.2009.04.021]
- 133 Hou X, Zhang M, Qiao H. Diagnostic significance of miR-106a in gastric cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2015; 8: 13096-13101 [PMID: 26722506]
- 134 Nagpal N, Ahmad HM, Chameettachal S, Sundar D, Ghosh S, Kulshreshtha R. HIF-inducible miR-191 promotes migration in breast cancer through complex regulation of TGFβ-signaling in hypoxic microenvironment. *Sci Rep* 2015; **5**: 9650 [PMID: 25867965 DOI: 10.1038/srep09650]
- 135 Zhang XF, Li KK, Gao L, Li SZ, Chen K, Zhang JB, Wang D, Tu RF, Zhang JX, Tao KX, Wang G, Zhang XD. miR-191 promotes tumorigenesis of human colorectal cancer through targeting C/ EBPβ. *Oncotarget* 2015; 6: 4144-4158 [PMID: 25784653 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.2864]
- 136 Muniyappa MK, Dowling P, Henry M, Meleady P, Doolan P, Gammell P, Clynes M, Barron N. MiRNA-29a regulates the expression of numerous proteins and reduces the invasiveness and proliferation of human carcinoma cell lines. *Eur J Cancer* 2009; **45**: 3104-3118 [PMID: 19818597 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2009.09.014]
- 137 Guo Y, Fu W, Chen H, Shang C, Zhong M. miR-24 functions as a tumor suppressor in Hep2 laryngeal carcinoma cells partly through down-regulation of the S100A8 protein. *Oncol Rep* 2012; 27: 1097-1103 [PMID: 22139384 DOI: 10.3892/or.2011.1571]
- 138 Zhao G, Liu L, Zhao T, Jin S, Jiang S, Cao S, Han J, Xin Y, Dong Q, Liu X, Cui J. Upregulation of miR-24 promotes cell proliferation by targeting NAIF1 in non-small cell lung cancer. *Tumour Biol* 2015; 36: 3693-3701 [PMID: 25725584 DOI: 10.1007/s13277-014-3008-4]
- 139 Garofalo M, Quintavalle C, Romano G, Croce CM, Condorelli G. miR221/222 in cancer: their role in tumor progression and response to therapy. *Curr Mol Med* 2012; 12: 27-33 [PMID: 22082479]

P- Reviewer: Bai G, Witzany G S- Editor: Kong JX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D







# **Biological Chemistry**

Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.57

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 57-80

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

REVIEW

## Challenges in the chemotherapy of Chagas disease: Looking for possibilities related to the differences and similarities between the parasite and host

Vitor Sueth-Santiago, Debora Decote-Ricardo, Alexandre Morrot, Celio Geraldo Freire-de-Lima, Marco Edilson Freire Lima

Vitor Sueth-Santiago, Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Rio de Janeiro, Campus São Gonçalo, Rua José Augusto Pereira dos Santos, São Gonçalo, CEP 24425-004, Brazil

Vitor Sueth-Santiago, Marco Edilson Freire Lima, Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro, Instituto de Ciências Exatas, Departamento de Química, Seropédica, CEP 23890-000, Brazil

Debora Decote-Ricardo, Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro, Instituto de Veterinária, Departamento de Microbiologia e Imunologia Veterinária, Seropédica, CEP 23890-000, Brazil

Alexandre Morrot, Celio Geraldo Freire-de-Lima, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, CEP 21941-902, Brazil

Author contributions: Sueth-Santiago V and Lima MEF wrote the paper; Decote-Ricardo D, Morrot A and Freire-de-Lima CG perfomed the collected the data.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. Marco Edilson Freire Lima, Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro, Instituto de Ciências Exatas, Departamento de Química, Rodovia BR 465, Km 7, Seropédica, CEP 23890-000, Brazil. marco@ufrrj.br Telephone: +55-21-25626523 Fax: +55-21-22808193

Received: August 27, 2016 Peer-review started: August 29, 2016 First decision: November 14, 2016 Revised: December 30, 2016 Accepted: January 11, 2017 Article in press: January 14, 2017 Published online: February 26, 2017

## Abstract

Almost 110 years after the first studies by Dr. Carlos Chagas describing an infectious disease that was named for him, Chagas disease remains a neglected illness and a death sentence for infected people in poor countries. This short review highlights the enormous need for new studies aimed at the development of novel and more specific drugs to treat chagasic patients. The primary tool for facing this challenge is deep knowledge about the similarities and differences between the parasite and its human host.

Key words: Trypanosoma cruzi; Trans-sialidase; Trypanothione reductase; CYP51; Cruzipain; Tubulin

© The Author(s) 2017. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Chagas disease remains the most neglected parasitic illness the world. Here, we note that detailed knowledge of both the differences and similarities between the Trypanosoma cruzi parasite and the human host's biochemical targets may be the key to developing novel effective drugs to treat patients who are suffering with this severe and debilitating sickness.

WJBC www.wjgnet.com

Sueth-Santiago V, Decote-Ricardo D, Morrot A, Freire-de-Lima CG, Lima MEF. Challenges in the chemotherapy of Chagas disease: Looking for possibilities related to the differences and similarities between the parasite and host. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 57-80 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/57.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/ wjbc.v8.i1.57

## INTRODUCTION

American trypanosomiasis (or Chagas disease) is a parasitic illness that results from infection by the hemoflagellate protozoan Trypanosoma cruzi (T. cruzi). The discovery of this parasite was made in 1908 by Chagas<sup>[1]</sup>, and it was followed by his complete description of the disease's pathology<sup>[2]</sup>, as well as diagnostic methods<sup>[3]</sup>. This sequence of events has established Carlos Chagas as the only scientist in the entire history of medicine to elucidate all aspects of an infectious disease completely, from the etiological agent to the vector, transmission, and its hosts and clinical manifestations<sup>[4]</sup>. Carlos Chagas' discoveries were characterized by their unusual deductive reasoning steps: The initial identification of the etiologic agent in primates from Minas Gerais State (and not the disease itself), followed by the identification of vectors and their association with the occurrence of recurring infestations caused by triatomines in the region [predominantly blood-feeding insects such as Triatoma infestans (T. infestans)]. The confirmation of the disease, which is usually the first step in the elucidation of an infectious disease process, was subsequently performed by observing the protozoa in the blood of individuals who were living under the precarious health conditions of the people in the region; they presented the lethargic symptoms of some well-known parasitic infections<sup>[5]</sup>. This unusual sequence of stages to understanding Chagas disease is the result of a process of social stratification in which the poorest individuals, who lived in wattle-and-daub houses in rural areas, were more vulnerable to T. infestans exposure. Almost one hundred years after an important speech by Carlos Chagas for his inaugural lecture as the Professor of the Tropical Medicine Course<sup>[6]</sup> in which Chagas said that tropical diseases should not be analyzed through a simplistic approach, but as a biologically, culturally and economically complex phenomenon, Chagas disease remains neglected in all its aspects. At present, there is no effective drug that can cure chagasic patients.

After the publication of the first studies on Chagas disease in the early twentieth century, there was a series of disparaging campaigns against the relevance of Carlos Chagas' work that were led by members of the Brazilian National Academy of Medicine<sup>[7]</sup>; it undermined the interest of Brazilian researchers in the disease during the years that followed. However, studies on Chagas disease continued to be performed around the world, and we highlight the contributions of the Argentine re-

searcher Cecilio Romaña as one of the most important. Romaña made a great contribution to the classification of vectors as well as knowledge of the transmission and diagnosis of Chagas disease. Romaña described the first pathognomonic symptom associated with Chagas disease as follows: A one-sided bipalpebral inflammatory edema called unilateral conjunctivitis, which became known as the "mark of Romaña" in accordance with the recommendations of Evandro Chagas (Medical Doctor and son of Carlos Chagas), in recognition of Cecilio Romaña's contributions to our knowledge of the disease<sup>[8]</sup>.

The transmission of Chagas disease occurs primarily through the bite of an infected triatomine bug on an individual. Triatomines are insects that usually belong to the genera Triatoma, Rhodnius or Panstrongylus, which are commonly known as "barbeiros" in Brazil and "kissing bugs" in the United States, due to their preference for biting the faces of sleeping people. These insect genera include more than 140 species, of which 61 are endemic to Brazil<sup>[9]</sup>. The insect's bite itself does not cause the transmission of viable forms of T. cruzi. However, the triatomine's physiology is characterized by a short digestive apparatus, leading these insects to defecate upon blood suction, releasing the infective trypomastigote forms of the parasite, which are present in high quantities in their feces. The itching caused by the bite causes the individual to move the infective forms to the wound, where the parasite enters the bloodstream<sup>[10]</sup>, causing infection. Despite the fact that the primary form of contamination is due to vector bites, there are other clinically relevant transmission pathways, with blood transfusion and organ transplantation among them<sup>[11]</sup>. Vertically, transmission can occur via the placenta or breastfeeding<sup>[12]</sup> or less commonly by oral contamination due to the consumption of fresh infected food<sup>[13]</sup>. After infection, the disease in the human host has two phases: Acute and chronic. The acute phase occurs during the first months after infection, and it is characterized by a high parasitic load in the host's bloodstream. It may be asymptomatic, or it may present moderate symptoms that are of low diagnostic value. These characteristics hinder drug intervention at this stage. Although the acute phase is asymptomatic, sometimes it leads to the enlargement of the liver and lymph nodes, rashes, a loss of appetite, a swelling at the bite site (chagoma), and, occasionally, the Romaña's mark<sup>[14]</sup>. After the acute phase, infected individuals spend long periods without symptoms, after which some patients evolve to the chronic phase. This stage of the infection is characterized by the appearance of severe degenerative disorders in the host's vital organs including megacolon, megaesophagus and cardiomegaly<sup>[15]</sup>.

## SOCIO-ECONOMIC IMPACT OF CHAGAS DISEASE

Damage to vital organs such as the heart contributes

Baishideng®

Table 1	Estimated number of Disability-Adjust	Life Year (× 1000) by	v cause and by region (excludir	ig the Europe)	2004
---------	---------------------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------------	----------------	------

Neglected disease	World <sup>2</sup>		Region (OMS criteria)				
		Africa	Americas	East of Mediterran	Southeast Asia	Pacific West	
Sleeping sickness	1673	1609	0	62	0	0	
Chagas disease	430	0	426	0	0	0	
Schistosomiasis	1707	1502	46	145	0	13	
Leishmaniasis	1974	328	45	281	1264	51	
Filariasis	5941	2263	10	75	3525	65	
Onchocerciasis	389	375	1	11	0	0	
Leprosy	194	25	16	22	118	13	
Dengue	670	9	73	28	391	169	
Trichomoniasis	1334	601	15	208	88	419	
Ascaridiasis <sup>3</sup>	1851	915	60	162	404	308	
Trichiuriasis <sup>3</sup>	1012	236	73	61	372	269	
Ancylostomiasis <sup>3</sup>	1092	377	20	43	286	364	

<sup>1</sup>Source: The global burden of disease: 2004 update. Geneva, World Health Organization<sup>[18]</sup>, <sup>2</sup>Europe was ommited, so the sum of the regions will not be equal to the total value; <sup>3</sup>Soil-transmitted helminthiasis.

greatly to the reduced economic capacity of a population of individuals and influences their economic and social conditions. This approach is currently used by the World Health Organization, through the use of a modern indicator for measuring the economic impact of diseases over certain regions using a number called the Disability-Adjusted Life Year (DALY). This number corresponds to the number of productive years lost to death or disability resulting from an illness in a given population<sup>[16]</sup>. This indicator has the advantage of accounting for two complementary factors as follows: Mortality, as measured by the number of years lost due to premature death [Years of Life Lost (YLL)]; and a new parameter for years lived with disability and economic output [Years Lived with Disability (YLD)]. The YLD indicator also indicates the burden to social security systems as a result of early retirement<sup>[17]</sup>. The YLL values are calculated by multiplying the number of deaths for the life expectancy of a particular group of individuals; the YLD can be calculated as the product of the number of cases, the duration of the disease (a parameter that is particularly relevant for chronic diseases) and a constant for each disease [disability weight (DW)] that varies depending on the severity of the disability caused, ranging from zero (healthy) to one (dead). The resulting formula is shown below:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{DALY} &= \mathsf{YLL} + \mathsf{YLD} \\ \mathsf{YLL} &= \mathsf{N} \times \mathsf{L} \\ \mathsf{YLD} &= \mathsf{I} \times \mathsf{DW} \times \mathsf{L}' \end{aligned}$$

Where N = number of deaths, L = life expectancy, I = number of individuals affected by the disease, and DW = disability weight; L' = duration of the disease. Table 1 shows the impacts of various neglected diseases on the economies of certain regions.

A closer look at Latin America shows that the geographical regions that are affected by higher rates of *T. cruzi* infection are also those in which the population is traditionally poorer. In countries such as Panama, Costa Rica, Bolivia and Venezuela and the hinterlands of northeastern Brazil and Northern Argentina<sup>[19]</sup>, there is an estimated loss of 752000 d of work per year due to the early deaths of individuals with Chagas disease. In addition, United States \$1.2 billion is lost each year from Latin American countries, with at least United States \$ 5.6 million lost from Brazil<sup>[20]</sup>. Taking into account that this financial loss is absorbed mostly by a specific group of people, it makes the discussion of Chagas disease even more complex since it is no longer a consequence of poverty but an agent that maintains poverty. These findings are due to decreasing productive capacities with a consequent reduction in the capital movement of a particular group of people in these geographical areas<sup>[21]</sup>.

The governmental programs aimed at both insect control and the quality of the blood used in transfusions in the countries where Chagas disease is endemic (primarily in Central and Latin America) led to an important decrease in the notifications of new cases. However, in non-endemic countries such as the United States and some countries in Europe, there was a significant increase in the number of infected individuals<sup>[22]</sup>. First, this increase is associated with the increased migratory flux of people that has occurred in recent decades. Additionally, there is an expectation that global warming could also contribute to the advance of vector-transmitted tropical diseases, including American trypanosomiasis<sup>[23]</sup>. There are several species of triatomine bugs that are capable of vectoring *Trypanosoma cruzi* in United States<sup>[22]</sup>. In a recent study conducted in the metropolitan area of Tucson, Arizona (United States), investigators found that 41.5% of 164 triatomine bugs collected tested positive for *T. cruzi*<sup>[24]</sup>. These data are alarming, and they show that the population of the southern part of the United States is exposed and at risk of infection by T. cruzi.

## THE AVAILABLE TREATMENTS FOR CHAGAS DISEASE: OLD AND INEFFECTIVE DRUGS

The prevalence of Chagas disease in certain regions over



WJBC | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Chemical structures of benznidazole (1) and nifurtimox (2).

many years is primarily due to a lack of interest among pharmaceutical companies in developing drugs to treat Chagas disease. Despite the existence of a high demand, the potential consumers have no money to pay for medicines. In other words, there is demand, but there is no market. In this scenario, only two almost 100-yearold drugs are used to treat Chagas disease, namely the heterocyclic derivatives benznidazole (1) and nifurtimox (2), as shown in Figure 1. However, neither of these drugs is effective during the chronic phase of the disease, and both of them cause numerous toxic side effects.

Nifurtimox (2) is a 5-nitrofuran that is commercially available under the name Lampit<sup>®</sup>, and it was initially described as a promising alternative for the treatment of Chagas disease. This drug was developed by Bayer® under the name Bay-2502. It was shown to be effective for treating sleeping sickness (or African trypanosomiasis), which is caused by the trypanosomatid Trypanosoma bruce<sup>[25]</sup>. In 1969, this compound yielded a total of 11 publications in the Bulletin of the Chilean Parasitology, in which the clinical outcomes of patients with the disease were described, as well as the biological properties of the drug *in vivo*<sup>[26]</sup>. Despite the fact that nifurtimox (2) is still on the list of essential medicines<sup>[27]</sup>, its distribution has been discontinued due to its low efficacy during the chronic phase of the disease, as well as its severe adverse effects, such as gastrointestinal problems, central nervous system disturbances and peripheral neuropathy<sup>[28]</sup>. Its mechanism of action (Figure 2) involves the participation of the type I and II nitroreductases that are present in the parasite.

Type II nitroreductases cause electron transfer, converting nitrofuran (2) into the corresponding nitroanion radical through the conversion of molecular oxygen to a superoxide anion radical. These reactive oxygen species (ROS) are substrates of superoxide dismutase, which disproportionates superoxide into molecular oxygen and hydrogen peroxide (other ROS). Hydrogen peroxide is converted into water through the oxidation of the trypanothione in its reduced form, which is  $T(SH)_2$ . This process is reversed by the action of the trypanothione reductase (TR) enzyme.  $H_2O_2$  can also oxidize ferrous ions from microsomal systems using the classical Haber-Weiss reaction to form hydroxyl radicals, which is harmful to the parasite<sup>[29,30]</sup>.

Through the action of type I nitroreductases, the transfer of two electrons takes place (provided by NADH), and nitrofuran (2) is reduced directly to the nitroso derivative that is sequentially reduced to N-furan-

2-yl-hydroxylamine. The hydroxylamine intermediate undergoes ring opening after losing water through the generation of an unsaturated nitrile, which is reduced again to the corresponding saturated derivative<sup>[31]</sup>. The unsaturated nitrile is toxic to both the parasite and to the host cells. This high toxicity is due to the presence of a Michael-type acceptor that can bind bionucleophiles from both the host and parasite irreversibly<sup>[32]</sup>. Although it has relevant activity against the intracellular form of the parasite, nifurtimox (2) is no longer marketed in Brazil due to the emergence of many resistant *T. cruzi* strains<sup>[28]</sup> and the significant genotoxic effects<sup>[33]</sup> caused by metabolites derived from the opening of its nitro-furan rings<sup>[34]</sup>.

Benznidazole (1), a 2-nitroimidazole, is the drug of choice for treating patients who are infected with T. cruzi, and it was introduced to the market by Roche under the name Rochagan<sup>®</sup>. The rights to the drug were given to the Brazilian government in 2003, allowing the Pharmaceutical Laboratory of the State of Pernambuco to prepare and market benznidazole. Despite having a nitro-heterocyclic fragment in its structure, the mechanism of anti-chagasic action of benznidazole (1) differs from the proposed mechanism for nifurtimox (2) because its 2-nitroimidazole subunit has a lower electrochemical potential for the reduction when compared to the 5-nitrofuran moiety. Thus, the concentration of superoxide anion radicals is sufficiently low for the parasite to perform the detoxification on its own<sup>[35]</sup>. The selective toxicity shown by benznidazole (1) is due to the transfer of an electron to its nitro-aryl motif, which disproportionates<sup>[36]</sup>, then generating nitroimidazole and a nitrosoimidazol that binds irreversibly to trypanothione, which is an essential cofactor for the viability of parasite cells<sup>[37]</sup>. The addition reaction may happen to the nitrous group, but the work of Trochine *et al*<sup>[38]</sup> showed that adducts are also formed by an aromatic electrophilic substitution at position 4 of the imidazole ring. Another possible mechanism of action for benznidazole is proposed by Patterson et al<sup>[31]</sup>, in which the drug is converted to an N-aryl-hydroxylamine in the same way as it occurs with nifurtimox (2). Then, a number of non-enzymatic reactions take place, culminating in the formation of a metabolite containing a guanidine subunit and a glyoxal molecule, which has cytotoxic properties; these properties could explain the trypanocidal activity shown by benznidazole (1). Figure 3 shows the two possible mechanisms of benznidazole activation.

However, nifurtimox (2) and benznidazole (1) are active only during the acute phase of the disease, which is usually asymptomatic and has a short duration. During the chronic phase, the long-term administration of these two nitroderivatives leads to the development of severe side effects in patients, making treatment with these compounds non-viable.

Based on the information provided above, there is a clear need for new studies on the development of novel and more specific drugs with low toxicities to the host. An important point to highlight here is the lack



Figure 2 Nifurtimox (2) as a generator of reactive oxygen species. SOD: Superoxide dismutase; TR: Trypanothione reductase; NTR: Nitroreductases; T(SH)<sub>2</sub>: Reduced trypanothione; TS<sub>2</sub>: Oxidized trypanothione.

of interest of big pharmaceutical corporations in the development of new and more effective therapeutic alternatives for the treatment of Chagas patients. This lack of interest is one of the most important factors that contributes to the fact that this disease remains a death sentence for infected people in poor countries. Chagas disease and other parasitic illnesses have left a huge mark of destruction and economic loss on humanity.

## POTENTIAL TARGETS FOR TRYPANOCIDAL DRUGS: *T. CRUZI* VIRULENCE FACTORS AS A TARGET

The search for novel compounds that are selectively

harmful to the parasite without compromising the host's health is the primary paradigm in the search for new antiparasitic drugs. The approach to antiparasitic chemotherapy is usually based on two broad classes of targets, namely those targets that are specific to the parasite (such as trypanothione and cruzipain) and those shared between the parasite and the host (such as tubulin and sterol 14 $\alpha$ -demethylase). When a common target is shared between the parasite and host cells, there should be some selectivity by the bioactive substance for the receptors/enzymes of the parasite, to the detriment of those related to the host cells, with the aim of exerting greater effects on the parasite and fewer effects on the host.

Some of the most common targets for Chagas



Sueth-Santiago V et al. Chemotherapy of Chagas disease



Figure 3 Benznidazole (1) is converted to nitroso metabolites and N-Aryl hydroxylamine, which can be enzymatically reduced to the corresponding 2-aminoimidazole derivative or nitrenio ion, which then is spontaneously di-hydroxylated generating a glyoxal molecule and guanidine derived.



Figure 4 Search results of the terms "Trans-sialidase", "Trypanothione reductase", "Cruzipain and/or Cruzain", "CYP 51 and/or sterol 14 $\alpha$ -demethylase" and "Tubulin" with "Trypanosoma cruzi". The results show the evolution of the number of papers published since 1995, grouped in 5-year intervals. TS: Trans-sialidase; TR: Trypanothione reductase.

disease are shown below (Figure 4). These targets were chosen as some of the most relevant ones on the basis of research from the Scopus database, in which the term "*T. cruzi*" was searched together with the target's name. The numbers of published papers available on the Scopus database (https://www.scopus.com/) were compared, resulting in the graph shown in Figure 4.

This result shows that some targets, such as transsialidase and trypanothione reductase, are well-known targets with a high average number of papers published in the last two decades. Cruzipain appears to have had a significant increase in the number of papers, possibly due to the large number of deposits that contain crystalline structures with better resolution in databases such as the Protein Data Bank, which enhances the search for new substances that are capable of acting as enzyme inhibitors. Tubulin and CYP51 have a smaller number of published papers, despite their importance. These two targets, which also have distinct isoforms in human cells, have shown an increased growth trend in publications over the past five years. This trend could provide a possible increase in their relevance to antichagasic chemotherapy over the next decade. In this particular case, the selectivity needs to be considered because the modification of these substance dynamics in human cells can cause severe side effects in the host. Therefore, this review aims to present a literature review and critical analysis of the importance of each one of these targets in the development of substances with possible antichagasic activity.

## CRUZIPAIN

Cruzipain<sup>[39]</sup>, which is also called GP 57/51 (recombinant cruzain), is a cysteine protease from the papain family; its primary feature is an atypical *C*-terminal segment that is highly glycosylated<sup>[40]</sup>. Cruzipain is encoded by a polymorphic gene (*i.e.*, its expression is regulated differently at different developmental stages of the parasite), which suggests the existence of specific functions for the enzyme in each form of the parasite.



Figure 5 Structures of cruzain and its ligands. A: Three-dimensional structural representation of cruzain crystallized with vinyl sulfone derivative (3). Structure deposited in the Protein Data Bank under the code 1F2C<sup>[45]</sup>; B: Schematic representation in two dimensions of the binding mode of (3) to cruzain generated by LigPlot<sup>\*</sup> software upon the PDB file; C: Structures of the cruzain inhibitor derivatives (3) and (4).

In trypomastigotes, cruzipain is located in lysosomes, whereas in the amastigote form, it is present primarily at the cell surface. However, in the epimastigote form, cruzipain is compartmentalized in reservosomes, which are related to penetration processes in the host cell, intracellular nutrition and the escape mechanism from the cell for the trypomastigote form<sup>[41-43]</sup>. Because they are cysteine proteases, the first cruzipain inhibitors were thought to be peptoids that were capable of binding irreversibly to the enzyme, *e.g.*, vinyl sulfone (3). Next, computational tools were used to design non-peptide derivatives, such as  $(4)^{[44]}$ , which was a more potent inhibitor of the enzyme (Figure 5, entry A)<sup>[45]</sup>.

## **TRYPANOTHIONE REDUCTASE**

TR, an enzyme that is present in many trypanosomatids (*e.g., Trypanosoma, Leishmania* and *Crithidia sp.*), is responsible for the catalysis reaction shown in Figure 6. This enzyme maintains the redox balance of trypanothione and is responsible for maintaining an intracellular reducing environment by decreasing the concentration of ROS and other free radicals, which are consumed by the reduced form of trypanothione<sup>[46]</sup>.

The inhibition of this enzyme leads to the accumulation of ROS in the parasite cell, causing a potentially lethal oxidative stress in *T. cruzi*. The development of TR inhibitors began in 1992 with the work of Benson et al<sup>[47]</sup>, who isolated the TR and performed in vitro assays of enzymatic inhibition with some selected synthetic compounds. These studies identified clomipramine (5) as the first prototype for TR selective inhibition in vitro based on the redox potential of the glutathione system that is present in the vertebrate host<sup>[47]</sup>. In the work of Benson et al<sup>[47]</sup>, compound 5 has an inhibition constant of Ki = 6.53  $\pm$  0.59  $\mu$ mol/L for *T. cruzi* TR and no inhibition of human glutathione reductase at the maximum concentration of 1 mmol/L. In the early 90s, most rationally planned TR inhibitors were structurally related to the substrate, which usually led to irreversible inhibitions and little selectivity. The work of Zhang et  $al^{(48)}$  made an important contribution to the development of TR inhibitors because it was the very first one that was planned through computational studies of nonpeptidic inhibitors that were rationally designed with structural information from the target (Figure 7). Zhang et al<sup>[48]</sup> used the known crystallographic structure of trypanothione reductase from Crithidia fasciculata to create a homology model for the corresponding enzyme in T. cruzi. C. fasciculata is a kinetoplastid that is able to parasitize mosquitoes but is harmless to humans. TR from C. fasciculata shares 69% of its identity with the trypanosome TR, especially in terms of the active sites of the two enzymes<sup>[49]</sup>. In the same year, Jacoby

Sueth-Santiago V et al. Chemotherapy of Chagas disease



Figure 6 The equilibrium between the oxidized (TS<sub>2</sub>) and reduced [T(SH)<sub>2</sub>] forms of trypanothione. The reduction process takes place with catalysis of trypanothione reductase and the oxidation process occurs spontaneoulsy by oxidative action of reactive oxygen species (ROS).



Figure 7 Structure of some non-peptidic T. cruzi trypanothione reductase inhibitors.

*et al*<sup>[50]</sup> elucidated the structure of the enzyme from the crystallography of TR that was co-crystallized with mepacrine (6). Since then, several TR inhibitors have been discovered by using the models of Zhang and Jacoby, especially the aminoacridine (7), a higher homolog of (6), as described by Bonse *et al*<sup>[51]</sup>, and a pyridazine (8) and a carbazole (9) described by Horvath<sup>[52]</sup>. More recently, the inhibitory activity of more potent derivatives such as thioridazine (10) and aminoquinoline (11) was described by Lo Presti *et al*<sup>[53]</sup> and Sola *et al*<sup>[54]</sup>, respectively.

A series of twenty-one small peptides or peptide conjugates were assessed by McKie *et al*<sup>[55]</sup>. Among all the evaluated peptidic derivatives, two of them, namely *N*-benzyloxycarbonyl-Ala-Arg-Arg-4-methoxy- $\beta$ -naph-thylamide (12) and Bz-Leu-Arg-Arg- $\beta$ -naphthylamide (13, Figure 8), showed good inhibitory activity against TR with

Ki values of 2.4  $\mu$ mol/L and 13.8  $\mu$ mol/L, respectively. Additionally, the former derivative showed good selectivity for the parasitic enzyme (TR) compared to the host enzyme (human glutathione reductase).

#### TRANS-SIALIDASE

Another conspicuous target on *T. cruzi* is *trans*-sialidase (TcTS), an enzyme that was more often expressed on the trypomastigote forms of the parasite. *Trans*-sialidase is associated with the infective process, and it is a key component of the parasite's biology and its ability to evade both the innate and adaptive immune systems of the host<sup>[56]</sup>. The cell recognition processes can occur in mammals, through sugars that are present in the cell glycocalyx. One of the sugars with fundamental

#### Sueth-Santiago V et al. Chemotherapy of Chagas disease



Figure 8 Structure of peptidic inhibitors of T. cruzi trypanothione reductase.



Figure 9 Transfer of sialic acid from a host glycoprotein to a  $\beta$ -galactopyranose from the parasite. This transfer occurs at the position 3 of the terminal sugar of the oligosaccharide which it is attached. Adapted from GIORGI and LEDERKREMER<sup>[60]</sup>.

importance in mammalian cell recognition is sialic acid, which is not produced by *T. cruzi*<sup>[57]</sup>. The parasite has developed an enzyme that is capable of transferring sialic acid from the host cell to its own. Therefore, the parasite is no longer recognizable as a foreign agent and can then infect host cells without triggering the immune response<sup>[58]</sup>. In trypomastigotes, *trans*-sialidase is anchored as a non-integral membrane protein to glycosyl-phosphatidyl inositol<sup>[59]</sup>. This enzyme has the ability to sialylate mucin, a very abundant glycoprotein in the cell membrane of the parasite<sup>[60]</sup>, through the transfer of sialic acid from the host membrane to a  $\beta$ -galactopyranose that is present at the glycosylated hydrophilic site of the parasite's mucin (Figure 9). Thus, by using a specific carbohydrate in the host membrane, the parasite can engage in a non-phagocytic invasion process without activating an immune response<sup>[61]</sup>.

To understand the *trans*-sialidase kinetic properties, Damager *et al*<sup>[62]</sup> performed studies on the enzyme catalytic properties using *in vitro* studies in which sialyllactose was used as a sialic acid donor, and *N*-acetyllactosamine was used as an acceptor. The kinetic isotopic effect studies led to the proposal of a so-called "ping-pong mechanism", in which the sialic acid donor binds first, followed by the acceptor, suggesting two near-lactosebinding sites leading to the chemical mechanism proposed in Figure 10.

The classical inhibitors of trans-sialidase are all weak and non-specific, with an inhibition constant (Ki) being at the millimolar order, and some of them are shown in


Figure 10 Proposed mechanism for the sialic acid transfer on the TcTS, showing Tyrosine 342 as the nucleophilic residue<sup>[62]</sup>.



Figure 11 Chemical structures of the first *T. cruzi trans*-sialidase inhibitors (14-18). The more potent is (18), with a Ki =  $300 \ \mu$ mol/L.

Figure 11. 2-Deoxy-2,3-didehydro-D-*N*-acetylneuraminic acid (DANA, 14) was used by Paris *et al*<sup>(63]</sup> to compare the inhibition of *T. cruzi trans*-sialidase and *Trypanosoma rangeli* sialidase (TrSA, an enzyme that hydrolyzes sialic acid but lacks transglycosidase ability). Despite being a potent inhibitor of TrSA (Ki = 1.5  $\mu$ mol/L), DANA was reported to inhibit TcTS at a very high concentration, at Ki = 12.3 mmol/L<sup>[63]</sup>. Watts *et al*<sup>[64]</sup> used 2.3-difluorosialic acid (15) to show the covalent binding of sialic acid with Tyr342 by mass spectra analysis. The TcTS complexed with (15) was readily subjected to peptide digestion. The LC-MS analysis of the hydrolysis product shows an m/z fragment of 1392, which corresponds to the peptide DENSAYSSVL+30HSial. The ESI tandem MS daughter ion spectrum of this fragment shows a pattern in which only the fragments with tyrosine included the 3-hydroxy sialil label, indicating that sialic acid would probably bind covalently to that area<sup>[64]</sup>. Lactitol (16) also acts as an inhibitor, competing with the parasite's sugars (e.g., lactose) for the sialic acid, inhibiting TcTS activity toward conventional substrates. However, this inhibition demands a high concentration of (16), which shows that these lactose analogs are not suitable inhibitors for *in vivo* studies<sup>[65]</sup>. With the aim of synthesizing analogs that can inhibit the transfer of sialic acid into different organisms, Streicher and Buse planned a series of pseudo-sialosides with a cyclohexene and a phosphonate ester moiety, and they tested it against some transsialidases, including TcTS<sup>[66]</sup>. However, the most active compound (17) showed an  $IC_{50} = 4.7 \text{ mmol/L}$ , or the same magnitude as the previous inhibitors (14-16). With a different approach, Neres et al<sup>[67]</sup> designed a series of benzoic acid derivative analogs to pyridoxal phosphate, a well-known TcTS inhibitor with a Ki = 7.3 mmol/L. This strategy was useful in the inhibition of the influenza virus neuraminidase, and it acted by replacing sialic acid with more simple structures such as benzene and pyridine.



Figure 12 Chemical structures of the sulfonamide-chalcone derivatives designed by Kim et al<sup>681</sup> (19, IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.9 μmol/L; 20, IC<sub>50</sub> = 2.5 μmol/L; 21, IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.6 μmol/L).



Figure 13 Chemical structures of myricetin (22, IC<sub>50</sub> = 17  $\mu$ mol/L) and the anthraquinone (23, IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.58  $\mu$ mol/L), TcTS inhibitors found by Arioka *et al*<sup>(69)</sup> from a natural products library.

The compound (18) was the most potent among the synthesized compounds, with a Ki = 300  $\mu mol/L.$ 

Because the previous inhibitors described here were not very active against TcTS, a search for more potent scaffolds was led Kim *et al*<sup>[68]</sup> to explore novel chemical scaffolds by assessing the TcTS inhibition properties of non-sialyl derivatives. The capacity of sulfonamide chalcones to inhibit  $\alpha$ -glucosidase was previously described, and since both enzymes have a sugar subtraction, Kim *et al*<sup>[68]</sup> planned and synthesized a series of chalcones based on the bioisosteric relationship between the carboxylic acid subunit of sialic acid with the sulfonamide moiety of the compounds (19-21, Figure 12). This synthesis resulted in the identification of the first TcTS inhibitors with an IC<sub>50</sub> of lower than ten micromolar.

The need to find new chemical scaffolds of TcTS inhibitors led Arioka et al<sup>[69]</sup> to design a massive in vitro screening from a natural product library containing 2283 compounds, to search for more potent derivatives. The first trial selected the hit compounds that showed TcT inhibition above 40% at a 1 µmol/L concentration, resulting in 103 compounds. Then, the second screening selected those compounds with IC  $_{50}$  < 100  $\mu$ mol/L, picking out a group of 50 compounds. The promiscuous inhibitors were excluded by a data analysis of the IC50 determination in the presence of 0.1% Triton X-100, and the resulting 16 selected compounds were critically evaluated using the Lipinski rules, culminating in the choice of two lead compounds called myricetin (22) and 6-chloro-9,10-dihydro-4,5,7-trihydroxy-9,10-dioxo-2-anthracenecarboxylic acid (23). These compounds represented novel chemical scaffolds in the scope of TcTS inhibition, and they were submitted to structure/ activity relationship (SAR) studies with the aim of optimizing these leads. Despite their great contributions to understanding the SAR of these scaffolds, none of the new derivatives were more potent than the natural prototypes shown in Figure 13. After a paper was published by Arioka *et al*<sup>(69]</sup>, many groups synthesized TcTS inhibitors (all sialyl mimetics), but none of them were more potent than compound (23).

#### STEROL 14 $\alpha$ -DEMETHYLASE (CYP51)

In addition to those mentioned above, many other targets have been investigated for their antichagasic activities. One of the studied targets acts in regulating parasite cell membrane steroids, which play a fundamental role in cell division (since they are the primary components of the cell membrane) and cell maintenance (since its presence on the membrane is fundamental for maintaining selective permeability). As a class of molecules that are essential to the maintenance of cell viability, steroids are lipophilic biomolecules that act on the cell membrane, modulating its fluidity, integrity and permeability. The biosynthesis of steroids differs significantly between the Kingdoms<sup>[70]</sup>, and squalene oxide is a key intermediate in all eukaryotes. From this point, there is a divergence in the biosynthetic pathways that leads to different steroids; among animals, the major steroid is cholesterol (24). In fungi and protozoa, the primary steroid is ergosterol (25); and in plants, it is sitosterol (26), as shown above.

The differences shown in Figure 14 may be an advantage in the design of biologically active compounds that target enzymes involved in the biosynthetic pathways since this condition allows for the search for new derivatives possessing toxicity that is selective for parasites. The clinical use of the azole derivatives that modulate steroid biosynthesis is well established and clinically useful for fungal infection chemotherapy. In infections caused by trypanosomatids, the use of an azole derivative previously known as an antifungal called ketoconazole (28) was studied by McCabe et al<sup>[71]</sup>, and the results led to a series of studies about the enzyme



Figure 14 Comparative biosynthesis of natural membrane steroids of different organisms.

sterol 14 $\alpha$ -demethylase (or CYP51), a key enzyme in the regulation of sterol biosynthesis in eukaryotes<sup>[72]</sup> (Figure 15).

The endogenous steroids in T. cruzi have a direct role in the cell viability and activity regulation of cell membrane enzymes<sup>[73]</sup>. Although ergosterol is a final product of biosynthetic pathways that are common to both trypanosomatids and fungi, there are specificities regarding the synthesis of this lipid, principally during the demethylation step mediated by the CYP51 of each species. Despite the low similarity between the different isoforms of CYP51<sup>[74]</sup>, all the enzymes have both high regio- and stereoselectivity to the reactions they catalyze, which reduces the number of possible substrates. There are three known substrates in all the sterol-14 $\alpha$ demethylases families; for example, lanosterol (29), eburicol (31) and obtusifoliol (32)<sup>[75]</sup>. However, this phenomenon diminishes the possibility that an azole is capable of inhibiting CYP51 from both protozoa and fungi since each isoenzyme possesses different affinities for ligands (Figure 16).

The inhibitors of T. cruzi CYP51 are the only class

of drug candidates that have reached clinical trials for Chagas disease chemotherapy<sup>[76]</sup>. One example is the imidazole derivative VNI (33), which was found to be active during the chronic phase of the disease in in vivo experiments<sup>[77]</sup>. The use of trypanocidal CYP51 inhibitors occurred before this enzyme was identified as a potential target. Antifungal agents such as itraconazole (34), fluconazole (35) and ketoconazole (28) were assessed in vitro and in vivo in Chagas models in the 80s, and they led to reductions in the parasite load in infected animals<sup>[71,78]</sup>. The motivation for the first work involving ketoconazole (28) activity in a murine model of T. cruzi infection was derived from previous reports of its activity against Plasmodium falciparum<sup>[79]</sup> and Leishmania tropica<sup>[80]</sup>. The azole compounds act on *T. cruzi* CYP51 through interactions with the nitrogen heterocycles and the iron atom present in the central HEME (Figure 17) enzyme. This enzyme is responsible for the demethylation of eburicol, preventing the formation of a zymosterol intermediate (30) from lanosterol (29), thereby preventing the formation of ergosterol (25)<sup>[73,81]</sup>. Thus, the consequence of inhibiting the final stages of ergosterol



Figure 15 Ergosterol (25) biosynthesis in yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae), from squalene oxide.

biosynthesis is the accumulation of toxic biosynthetic precursors in the *T. cruzi* cell membrane, compromising its integrity, which is similar to what happens in yeast<sup>[82,83]</sup> (Figure 18). This finding suggests that CYP51 inhibition as a promising approach to the development of new antichagasic molecules.

Recently, Franklim *et al*<sup>[84]</sup> described the synthesis of a novel series of triazole derivatives that were prepared from the natural amide piperine (36), and they were designed as CYP51 inhibitors of *T. cruzi* based on the bioisosteric relationship between the amide from (36) and the 1,2,4-triazole-3-thione from the antifungal drug prothioconazole (37). Derivative (38), as shown in Figure 19, showed the best trypanocidal profile.

Despite their potential as trypanocidal agents, the new CYP51 inhibitors should be developed very carefully since these compounds can inhibit other enzymes that are involved in the hepatic microsomal system, leading to severe side effects such as hepatotoxicity and alterations in basal steroidogenesis. Long-term exposure to CYP51 inhibitors can cause deleterious effects on both the cellular biosynthesis of steroids and the phase I metabolism of drugs and xenobiotics, leading to a lack of clearance of toxic substances<sup>[85]</sup>. One of the most relevant side effects



Figure 16 Structure of CYP51 preferential substrates in fungi (29), T. cruzi (31) and T. brucei (32).

of the administration of CYP51 inhibitors is the nonspecific binding of these inhibitors to another important enzyme that is present in the hepatic microsomal system, which is known as CYP19 (aromatase). CYP19 is an enzyme that is located in the endoplasmic reticulum and is responsible for the demethylation of different steroids at position 10, *e.g.*, during the conversion of androstenedione (39) into estrone (40) or testosterone (41) to estradiol (42)<sup>[86]</sup>, as shown in Figure 20. The inhibition of CYP19 leads to the accumulation of (39) and (41) that impairs the balance between the steroid hormones, which is crucial for the development and maintenance of the reproductive system as well as for the differentiation of the sexual phenotype<sup>[87]</sup>.

#### TUBULIN

In addition to CYP51, tubulin is another promising target in the development of compounds that can modulate the cell cycle of *T. cruzi*. Tubulin is a class of globular protein whose isoforms comprise microtubules, which are cytoskeletal filaments that are responsible for maintaining the fundamental functions of eukaryotic cells. These functions include the segregation of chromosomes during cell division, the transport of intracellular components and the maintenance of the cell shape, cell motility and distribution of plasma membrane components<sup>[88]</sup>. Microtubule formation occurs through the polymerization of two tubulin isoforms called  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Both subunits form a heterodimer of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -tubulin, which polymerizes<sup>[89]</sup>, forming a filamentous cylindrical structure in the "head-to-tail" direction where the  $\alpha$  subunit of a dimer binds to the  $\beta$  unit of the other. This polymerization leads to an initial polymer protofilament, which is grouped with other similar protofilaments to form the microtubule itself<sup>[90]</sup>, as shown in Figure 21.

Once the microtubule is formed, it becomes a dynamic structure in which the continuous processes of polymerization and depolymerization take place in equilibrium. This feature makes it possible for the microtubule to change its size and adapt to different situations, such as those that occur during the cell cycle. The  $\alpha$ -terminal portion [or region (-)] is less dynamic, whereas the  $\beta$ -terminal [or region (+)] is more dynamic and can lengthen/shorten more quickly<sup>[91]</sup>. This characteristic confers polarity to microtubules, which gives the different (+) and (-) regions different properties and causes them to be oriented in different directions. This characteristic is given by the fact that each tubulin subunit (both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) has a binding site for guanosine triphosphate (GTP), which binds more strongly to  $\alpha$  than to  $\beta$ -tubulin. In this way, the GTP bound to  $\beta$ -tubulin is more easily hydrolyzed to guanosine-diphosphate (GDP) after polymerization<sup>[92]</sup>. The kinetics of polymerization in this case are more favorable than the kinetics of GTP hydrolysis, allowing the growth of the microtubule. In that case, the increase or decrease of the microtubule length in the region (+) closely depends on the nucleotide linked to  $\beta$ -tubulin; a microtubule with a GTP molecule tends to polymerize, while those associated with GDP will try to



Figure 17 Structures of azole derivatives active in *T. cruzi* infection model: Ketoconazole (28), VNI (33), itraconazole (34) and fluconazole (35). Crystallographic structure of *T. cruzi* CYP51 with fluconazole (35) linked to the catalytic site of the enzyme [available at Protein Data Bank under the code 2wx2 (left)]. Bidimensional scheme of fluconazole (35) binding interaction with the catalytic site of the enzyme, generated by the program LigPlot<sup>\*</sup> from the same code (right).

depolymerize<sup>[93]</sup>, as shown in Figure 22.

Since tubulin is a key component of cell proliferation, it is an important target in the development of cancer chemotherapy, and the tubulin inhibitors are some of the most effective anti-cancer drugs<sup>[94]</sup>. Similarly, tubulin plays the same role in cell division in parasites such as *T. cruzi* that possess cell proliferation kinetics comparable to

those found in cancer cells. The cell division processes in parasites are strictly dependent on the polymerization/ depolymerization equilibrium of tubulin<sup>[95]</sup>, and they act on the parasite motility process as well, which is essential for the maintenance of the host infection.

Although there is a strong shared identity between the sequences of tubulin amino acids from different



Figure 18 Schematic representation of the mechanism of actions of azolic compounds upon ergosterol (25) synthesis and subsequente alteration of composition and organization of cell membrane.



Figure 19 Structures of piperine (36), prothioconazole (37) and cycloexyltriazole (38), and its IC<sup>50</sup> values against epi- and amastigotes of *T. cruzi* and the toxic profile against murine macrophages.

organisms (*e.g.*, mammalian cells and yeast may have shared identities from 70% to 90% in their tubulin isoforms), there are several reports of tubulin inhibitor drugs being used in anti-parasitic chemotherapy in the literature. The antifungal benzimidazolic drug Benomyl<sup>®</sup> (43) has high selectivity for yeast tubulin; Kilmartin *et al*<sup>[96]</sup> showed that (43) is 300 times more potent at inhibiting *S. cerevisiae* tubulin than bovine brain tubulin. The deri-

vatives oxfendazole (44) and thiabendazole (45), as shown in Figure 23, are more selective for nematode tubulin than for mammalian tubulin<sup>[97]</sup>. Thus, despite the high structural similarity between tubulins from diverse species, the small differences are probably responsible for the selective recognition of these compounds in different organisms, making tubulin an important target for Chagas disease chemotherapy.



Figure 20 Reactions catalyzed by aromatase (CYP19): Conversion of androstenedione (39) to estrone (40) and testosterone (41) to oestradiol (42).



Figure 21 Schematic representation of protofilaments formed by polymerization of the heterodimers of alpha and beta tubulin.

The search for selective tubulin inhibitors is a current challenge in the development of new antichagasic drugs. The work of Werbovetz *et al*<sup>[98]</sup> identified some sulfonamidedinitroaniline derivatives that were structurally analogous to oryzalin (46), an herbicide that acts by depolymerizing microtubules from plants and thereby prevents its anisotropic growth. In this study, compound GB-II-5 (47) was found to have greater potency against kinetoplastids than mammalian cells, as shown in Figure 24.

The sulfonamide derivatives (46-48) bind in a tubulin region called "the colchicine site"<sup>[99]</sup>, which is a region between the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  tubulin subunits. This site is where colchicine (49, Figure 25) interacts with tubulin as a well-known tubulin inhibitor. Colchicine (49) is a natural product that is extracted from *Colchicum sp*. (*e.g.*, *Colchicum autumnale* or meadow saffron), which is used to treat gout<sup>[100]</sup>. When colchicine (49) binds to the region between two tubulin heterodimer subunits, it induces the depolymerization of microtubules by altering the conformation adopted by the  $\beta$  subunit after its binding. Once bound to (49), the dimer assumes a curved conformation that generates steric hindrance upon the formation of protofilaments that will generate the microtubules<sup>[101]</sup>.

Another binding site in the tubulin structure is located



Figure 22 Schematic representation of polymerization/depolymerization dynamics of microtubules. A: Formation of protofilament with alpha e betatubulin heterodimers; B: Formation of microtubule with regions (+) and (-); C: Relationship between polymerization and GTP hydrolysis equilibrium, where is perceived: (1) the polymerization of the GTP-terminal microtubule; (2) an intermediate where the kinetics of hydrolysis and polymerization are equivalent; (3) the microtubule depolymerizing when the hydrolisys rate is superior; and (4) the microtubule salvation mediated by GTP consumption.



Figure 23 Structure of benzimidazolic compounds active on yeast (43) and nematoda (44, 45) but inactive against mammalian tubulin.

at the interface of two heterodimers, more specifically, on the  $\beta$  subunit<sup>[102]</sup>. The vinca (*Catharanthus roseus*) alkaloids, e.g., vinblastine (50) and vincristine (51), bind to this site. Despite the fact that C. roseus had been used in popular medicine for a long time in various locations such as India, China and Hawaii, it attracted the interest of a group of Canadian scientists in the 1950s who wanted to study its popular use in a diabetes treatment from Jamaica<sup>[103]</sup>. Although their efforts to pursue antidiabetic substances did not succeed, strong cytostatic activity was identified in the crude extract of C. roseus, which led to the isolation of two alkaloids (50-51). These bis-indole monoterpenoid alkaloids are produced in very small quantities in the leaves of *C. roseus*<sup>[104]</sup> through the reaction of two other alkaloids called catharanthine (52) and vindoline (53)<sup>[105]</sup>, as shown in Figure 26. The mechanism of action of these alkaloids involves the suppression of their polymerization in the positive region<sup>[106]</sup> and the promotion of depolymerization in the negative region of the microtubules. This characteristic

 $0.41 \pm 0.02$ 

 $2.6 \pm 0.3$ 



0.73 ± 0.09

 $1.9 \pm 0.7$ 

Figure 24 Structures and IC<sup>50</sup> values (micromolar) of oryzalin (46) and the sulfonamide-dinitroanilin derivatives (47 and 48) against kinetoplastide and mamallian cells<sup>[98]</sup>.

29 ± 1

9.4 ± 2.0

35 ± 1

 $23 \pm 4$ 



5.0 ± 0.6

 $20 \pm 2$ 

GB- II -5 (47)

GB- II -46 (48)

Figure 25 Chemical structure of colchicine (49).

allows these alkaloid derivatives to be able to change their microtubule dynamics during the formation of the mitotic spindle in the cell division process<sup>[107]</sup>. In addition to the change in the polymerization/depolymerization dynamics, *Vinca* alkaloids also promote the fragmentation of the existing microtubules through the detachment of some regions near the (-) region of the biopolymer<sup>[108]</sup>.

The third-most common approach to the modulation of the microtubule dynamics does not involve increases in the depolymerization process, but instead involves its blockage. Thus, through the stabilization of microtubules, these organelles lose their dynamics, which is necessary for the maintenance of their functionality. This phenomenon occurs when paclitaxel (54, also known as Taxol<sup>®</sup>) binds to a specific site of the tubulin  $\beta$  subunit<sup>[109]</sup>. Paclitaxel (54) is a natural compound that was initially identified as a secondary metabolite of the Pacific yew (Taxus brevifolia). Due to the small amount of taxol available in the plant, together with the difficulty of sustainably managing T. brevifolia cultures, a semisynthetic method was employed to manufacture paclitaxel (54) based on the isolation of 10-deacetylbaccatin III (55) from the leaves of Taxus baccata. Ojima et al<sup>[110]</sup> developed a method in which compound (55) is coupled with the lactam at C-13 (56), as shown in Figure 27. Subsequently, a great number of biotechnological approaches involving cell culture and gene expression in bacteria allowed for the preparation of appreciable amounts of



Figure 26 Structures of the vinca alcaloids (50-51) and its biochemical precursors (52-53).

(54) in a less costly way. However,  $Taxol^{\$}$  remains a very expensive drug<sup>[111]</sup>.

In the  $\beta$ -terminal subunit of tubulin [region (+)], the nature of the anchored nucleotide determines whether there will be polymerization or depolymerization. The presence of GTP provides for polymerization, and the presence of GDP promotes microtubule depolymerization instead. These processes take place because GDP hydrolysis alters the conformation of the  $\beta$ -tubulin, which causes a cascade of events that changes the structure of protofilaments, making them more curved and causing them to protrude out of the microtubules (structure previously shown in Figure 22, item 3). The presence of paclitaxel (54) anchored in the region adjacent to the GDP-binding site (the so-called "taxol site") stabilizes the polymer structure, preventing the depolymerization needed to maintain the microtubule dynamic equilibrium. The microtubule stabilization compromises different processes that depend on the microtubules, such as mitosis, disabling cell duplication<sup>[93]</sup>. These three tubulin





Figure 27 Synthetic strategy developed by Ojima *et al*<sup>(110)</sup> on the synthesis of paclitaxel (54) from the natural precursor 10-deacetylbaccatin III (55).

binding sites are the primary paradigms in the research and development of bioactive compounds, with the aim of modulating cellular phenomena through involvement with microtubules, and they are shown in Figure 28. Each of these sites has a number of known ligands, the structures of which are depicted in Figure 29.

The first work reporting the capacity of taxol (54) to act against *T. cruzi* was published by Baum *et al*<sup>[112]</sup> in 1981, in which the authors used transmission and scanning electron microscopy experiments to find several parasites containing multiple flagella and multiple intracellular organelles such as the nucleus and kinetoplastids. However, cell division by binary fission does not occur, which corroborates the hypothesis of (54), showing that it acts on a specific structure during cytokinesis<sup>[112]</sup>. After that, other authors studied the effects of different compounds such as the natural amide piperine (36), as reported by Freire-de-Lima *et al*<sup>[113]</sup>. Natural piperine (36) acts in the blockage of cytokinesis of *T. cruzi* epimastigotes, and it leads to cellular ultra-structural alterations similar to those observed in taxol-treated parasites<sup>[113]</sup>.

Some of the well-known tubulin inhibitors can interact with other sites on the tubulin heterodimer. Curcumin (67, Figure 30), for example, is a natural diarylheptanoid with a recognized involvement in cell cycle modulation. It acts by binding to tubulin in HeLa and MCF-7 cells, reducing the GTPase activity and partially inhibiting the activity of colchicine (49) in these cells<sup>[114]</sup>. Banerjee *et al*<sup>[115]</sup> also reported that curcumin acts by suppressing the dynamic instability of microtubules in MCF-7 cells, maintaining



Figure 28 Representation of the binding site locations for the main tubulin ligands.

the microtubules in a metastable state, similar to paclitaxel (54). However, Banerjee's work suggested that curcumin did not interact with any of the three most popular binding sites of tubulin (taxol, vinca alkaloids and colchicine sites), which led Chakraborti *et al*<sup>[116]</sup> to</sup>perform experiments that allowed them to elucidate the binding site of curcumin (67) to tubulin. Using Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer, Chakraborti et  $al^{(116)}$  determined that curcumin (67) interacts between two  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -tubulins, which are heterodimers that are 32 Å away from the colchicine binding site. This interaction features a new binding site that is potentially useful for planning new antitubulin agents. Aiming to justify the trypanocidal properties of curcumin (67) and other natural diarylheptanoids, Sueth-Santiago et al<sup>[117]</sup> build a theoretical model of T. cruzi tubulin. Molecular docking studies have shown a good correlation between the binding scores and the trypanocidal activities of the four natural diarylheptanoids. The results obtained from the cell cycle studies corroborated this hypothesis, showing alterations on parasites cell cycle in the same way of the positive control with accumulation of parasite cells in the G2 phase<sup>[117]</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

Despite the fact that Chagas disease was described more than 100 years ago, it remains a death sentence to millions of people who are in the chronic phase of the illness. Due to the lack of interest of the pharmaceutical industry in developing new drugs to treat neglected illnesses such as Chagas disease, there is no effective treatment available at present. However, given that, we have found a huge and growing amount of information that has been published about the parasite and its complex relationship with the host, the discovery of an effective drug comes closer each day. In this sense, detailed knowledge of both the differences and similarities



Figure 29 Structures of some ligands of the three main binding sites of tubulin: Taxol site (red), vinca alkaloids site (green) and colchicine site (blue).



Figure 30 Chemical structure of curcumin (67), a natural product that stabilizes microtubules by binding in a unique binding site of tubulin.

between *T. cruzi* and its human host's biochemical targets may be the key for curing this severe and debilitating sickness.

#### REFERENCES

 Chagas C. Trypanosoma minasense (Nota preliminar). Brazil Médico 1908; 22: 48

- 2 Chagas C. Nova tripanosomiaze humana. Estudos sobre a morfolojía e o ciclo evolutivo do Schizotrypanum cruzi n. gen., n. sp., ajente etiolojico de nova entidade morbida do homen. *Mem I Oswaldo Cruz* 1909; 1: 159-218 [DOI: 10.1590/S0074-0276190900 0200008]
- 3 Chagas C. Nova entidade mórbida do homem. *Brazil Médico* 1910; 24: 423-447
- 4 Delaporte F. [Chagas, the logic and the discovery]. *Hist Cienc Saude Manguinhos* 1994; 1: 39-53 [PMID: 11625062 DOI: 10.1590/S0104-59701995000100004]
- 5 Kropf SP, Sá MR. The discovery of Trypanosoma cruzi and Chagas disease (1908-1909): tropical medicine in Brazil. *Hist Cienc Saude Manguinhos* 2009; 16 Suppl 1: 13-34 [PMID: 20027916 DOI: 10.1590/S0104-59702009000500002]
- 6 Chagas C. Aula inaugural da cadeira de medicina tropical 14 de setembro de 1926. In: Chagas, Carlos. Discursos e conferências. Rio de Janeiro: A Noite, 1935: 137-166
- 7 Coura JR. Síntese histórica e evolução dos conhecimentos sobre a doença de Chagas. Rio de Janeiro: Editora Fiocruz, 1997: 469-486
- 8 Dias JC. [Cecílio Romaña, Romaña's sign and Chagas' disease]. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop* 1997; 30: 407-413 [PMID: 9380903 DOI: 10.1590/S0037-86821997000500012]
- 9 Costa J, Peterson T. Ecological niche modeling as a tool for understanting distributions and interactions of vectors, hosts and etiologic agentes of Chagas disease. Rio de Janeiro: Editora Fiocruz, 2012: 59-70
- 10 Argolo AM, Felix M, Pacheco R, Costa J. Doença de Chagas e seus principais vetores no Brasil. Rio de Janeiro: Editora Fiocruz, 2008
- 11 Wendel S. Transfusion transmitted Chagas disease: is it really under control? *Acta Trop* 2010; **115**: 28-34 [PMID: 20044970 DOI: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2009.12.006]
- 12 Diaz-Luján C, Triquell MF, Mezzano L, Fretes RE. Placental infection by Trypanosoma cruzi, the causal agente of Chagas' disease. La Rioja: Intechopen, 2012: 127-148
- 13 Benchimol-Barbosa PR. Trends on acute Chagas' disease transmitted by oral route in Brazil: steady increase in new cases and a concealed residual fluctuation. *Int J Cardiol* 2010; 145: 494-496 [PMID: 19762096 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2009.08.030]
- 14 Rey L. Parasitologia. 3rd ed. Rio de Janeiro: Guanabara Koogan, 2001
- 15 Coura JR, Borges-Pereira J. Chronic phase of Chagas disease: why should it be treated? A comprehensive review. *Mem I Oswaldo Cruz* 2011; 106: 642-645 [DOI: 10.1590/S0074-02762011000600001]
- 16 World Health Organization. Death and DALY estimates for 2004 by cause for WHO Member States: Persons, all ages (XLS) 2002. [accessed 2016 Aug 2]. Available from: URL: http://www. who.int/entity/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/gbddeathdaly countryestimates2004.xls
- 17 World Health Organization. Metrics: Disability-Adjusted Life year (DALY). 2015. [accessed 2016 Aug 2]. Available from: URL: http:// www.who.int/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/metrics\_daly/en/
- 18 World Health Organization. The global burden of disease: 2004 update (PDF). 2008. [accessed 2016 Aug 2]. Available from: URL: http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/GBD\_report \_2004update\_full.pdf
- Reithinger R, Tarleton RL, Urbina JA, Kitron U, Gürtler RE. Eliminating Chagas disease: challenges and a roadmap. *BMJ* 2009; 338: b1283 [PMID: 19366739 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b1283]
- 20 Conteh L, Engels T, Molyneux DH. Socioeconomic aspects of neglected tropical diseases. *Lancet* 2010; 375: 239-247 [PMID: 20109925 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61422-7]
- 21 Hotez P, Ottesen E, Fenwick A, Molyuneux D. The neglected tropical diseases: the ancient afflictions of stigma and poverty and the prospects for theis control and elimination. In: Hot Topics in Infection and Immunity in Children. New York: Springer, 2006 [DOI: 10.1007/0-387-33026-7\_3]
- 22 **Bonney KM**. Chagas disease in the 21st century: a public health success or an emerging threat? *Parasite* 2014; **21**: 11 [PMID: 24626257 DOI: 10.1051/parasite/2014012]

- 23 Lafferty KD. The ecology of climate change and infectious diseases. *Ecology* 2009; **90**: 888-900 [PMID: 19449681 DOI: 10.1890/08-0079.1]
- Reisenman CE, Lawrence G, Guerenstein PG, Gregory T, Dotson E, Hildebrand JG. Infection of kissing bugs with Trypanosoma cruzi, Tucson, Arizona, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2010; 16: 400-405 [PMID: 20202413 DOI: 10.3201/eid1603.090648]
- 25 Pepin J, Milord F, Mpia B, Meurice F, Ethier L, DeGroof D, Bruneel H. An open clinical trial of nifurtimox for arseno-resistant Trypanosoma brucei gambiense sleeping sickness in central Zaire. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1989; 83: 514-517 [PMID: 2694491 DOI: 10.1016/0035-9203(89)90270-8]
- 26 Bock M, Gönnert R, Haberkorn A. Studies with Bay 2502 on animals. Bol Chil Parasitol 1969; 24: 13-19 [PMID: 4983545]
- 27 World Health Organization. WHO Model List of Essential Medicine. 2015. [accessed 2016 Aug 2]. Available from: URL: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/93142/1/EML\_18\_eng. pdf?ua=1
- 28 Rodriques Coura J, de Castro SL. A critical review on Chagas disease chemotherapy. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* 2002; 97: 3-24 [PMID: 11992141 DOI: 10.1590/S0074-02762002000100001]
- 29 Boiani M, Piacenza L, Hernández P, Boiani L, Cerecetto H, González M, Denicola A. Mode of action of nifurtimox and N-oxide-containing heterocycles against Trypanosoma cruzi: is oxidative stress involved? *Biochem Pharmacol* 2010; **79**: 1736-1745 [PMID: 20178775 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2010.02.009]
- 30 Haber F, Weiss J. Über die Katalyse des Hydroperoxydes. Naturwissenschaften 1932; 20: 948–950 [DOI: 10.1007/BF01504715]
- 31 Patterson S, Wyllie S. Nitro drugs for the treatment of trypanosomatid diseases: past, present, and future prospects. *Trends Parasitol* 2014; 30: 289-298 [PMID: 24776300 DOI: 10.1016/ j.pt.2014.04.003]
- 32 Barreiro EJ, Fraga CAM. Química medicinal: as bases moleculares da ação dos fármacos. 2ed. Porto Alegre: Artmed, 2008
- 33 Ohnishi T, Ohashi Y, Nozu K, Inoki S. Mutagenicity of nifurtimox in Escherichia coli. *Mutat Res* 1980; 77: 241-244 [DOI: 10.1016/0 165-1218(80)90056-7]
- 34 Nagel R. Genotoxicity studies with two antichagasic drugs. *Mutat Res* 1997; **191**: 17-20 [DOI: 10.1016/0165-7992(87)90164-3]
- 35 Docampo R. Sensitivity of parasites to free radical damage by antiparasitic drugs. *Chem Biol Interact* 1990; 73: 1-27 [PMID: 2406032 DOI: 10.1016/0009-2797(90)90106-W]
- 36 Maya JD, Bollo S, Nuñez-Vergara LJ, Squella JA, Repetto Y, Morello A, Périé J, Chauvière G. Trypanosoma cruzi: effect and mode of action of nitroimidazole and nitrofuran derivatives. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2003; 65: 999-1006 [PMID: 12623132 DOI: 10.1016/ S0006-2952(02)01663-5]
- 37 Mitscher LA, Lemke TL, Gentry EJ. Foye's Principles of Medicinal Chemistry. 6ed. Lippincott: Williams & Wilkins, 2012
- 38 Trochine A, Creek DJ, Faral-Tello P, Barrett MP, Robello C. Benznidazole biotransformation and multiple targets in Trypanosoma cruzi revealed by metabolomics. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2014; 8: e2844 [PMID: 24853684 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002844]
- 39 Murta AC, Persechini PM, Padron Tde S, de Souza W, Guimarães JA, Scharfstein J. Structural and functional identification of GP57/51 antigen of Trypanosoma cruzi as a cysteine proteinase. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 1990; **43**: 27-38 [PMID: 1705310 DOI: 10.1016/0166-6851(90)90127-8]
- 40 Mendonça-Previato L, Gorin PA, Braga AF, Scharfstein J, Previato JO. Chemical structure and antigenic aspects of complexes obtained from epimastigotes of Trypanosoma cruzi. *Biochemistry* 1983; 22: 4980-4987 [PMID: 6196053 DOI: 10.1021/bi00290a016]
- 41 Souto-Padrón T, Campetella OE, Cazzulo JJ, de Souza W. Cysteine proteinase in Trypanosoma cruzi: immunocytochemical localization and involvement in parasite-host cell interaction. J Cell Sci 1990; 96 (Pt 3): 485-490 [PMID: 2229199]
- 42 Alvarez VE, Niemirowicz GT, Cazzulo JJ. The peptidases of Trypanosoma cruzi: digestive enzymes, virulence factors, and mediators of autophagy and programmed cell death. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2012; **1824**: 195-206 [PMID: 21621652 DOI: 10.1016/

j.bbapap.2011.05.011]

- 43 Steert K, Berg M, Mottram JC, Westrop GD, Coombs GH, Cos P, Maes L, Joossens J, Van der Veken P, Haemers A, Augustyns K. α-ketoheterocycles as inhibitors of Leishmania mexicana cysteine protease CPB. *ChemMedChem* 2010; **5**: 1734-1748 [PMID: 20799311 DOI: 10.1002/cmdc.201000265]
- 44 Ferreira RS, Simeonov A, Jadhav A, Eidam O, Mott BT, Keiser MJ, McKerrow JH, Maloney DJ, Irwin JJ, Shoichet BK. Complementarity between a docking and a high-throughput screen in discovering new cruzain inhibitors. *J Med Chem* 2010; 53: 4891-4905 [PMID: 20540517 DOI: 10.1021/jm100488w]
- 45 Brinen LS, Hansell E, Cheng J, Roush WR, McKerrow JH, Fletterick RJ. A target within the target: probing cruzain's P1' site to define structural determinants for the Chagas' disease protease. *Structure* 2000; 8: 831-840 [PMID: 10997902 DOI: 10.1016/ S0969-2126(00)00173-8]
- 46 Heby O, Persson L, Rentala M. Targeting the polyamine biosynthetic enzymes: a promising approach to therapy of African sleeping sickness, Chagas' disease, and leishmaniasis. *Amino Acids* 2007; 33: 359-366 [PMID: 17610127 DOI: 10.1007/s00726-007-0537-9]
- 47 Benson TJ, McKie JH, Garforth J, Borges A, Fairlamb AH, Douglas KT. Rationally designed selective inhibitors of trypanothione reductase. Phenothiazines and related tricyclics as lead structures. *Biochem J* 1992; 286 (Pt 1): 9-11 [PMID: 1355650 DOI: 10.1042/bj2860009]
- 48 Zhang Y, Bond CS, Bailey S, Cunningham ML, Fairlamb AH, Hunter WN. The crystal structure of trypanothione reductase from the human pathogen Trypanosoma cruzi at 2.3 A resolution. *Protein Sci* 1996; **5**: 52-61 [PMID: 8771196 DOI: 10.1002/pro.5560050107]
- 49 Aboagye-Kwarteng T, Smith K, Fairlamb AH. Molecular characterization of the trypanothione reductase gene from Crithidia fasciculata and Trypanosoma brucei: comparison with other flavoprotein disulphide oxidoreductases with respect to substrate specificity and catalytic mechanism. *Mol Microbiol* 1992; 6: 3089-3099 [PMID: 1453951 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1992. tb01766.x]
- 50 Jacoby EM, Schlichting I, Lantwin CB, Kabsch W, Krauth-Siegel RL. Crystal structure of the Trypanosoma cruzi trypanothione reductase.mepacrine complex. *Proteins* 1996; 24: 73-80 [PMID: 8628734 DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0134(199601)24: 1<73::AID-PROT5>3.0.CO;2-P]
- 51 Bonse S, Santelli-Rouvier C, Barbe J, Krauth-Siegel RL. Inhibition of Trypanosoma cruzi trypanothione reductase by acridines: kinetic studies and structure-activity relationships. *J Med Chem* 1999; 42: 5448-5454 [PMID: 10639286 DOI: 10.1021/jm990386s]
- 52 Horvath D. A virtual screening approach applied to the search for trypanothione reductase inhibitors. *J Med Chem* 1997; 40: 2412-2423 [PMID: 9240356 DOI: 10.1021/jm9603781]
- 53 Lo Presti MS, Bazán PC, Strauss M, Báez AL, Rivarola HW, Paglini-Oliva PA. Trypanothione reductase inhibitors: Overview of the action of thioridazine in different stages of Chagas disease. *Acta Trop* 2015; 145: 79-87 [PMID: 25733492 DOI: 10.1016/j.acta tropica.2015.02.012]
- 54 Sola I, Castellà S, Viayna E, Galdeano C, Taylor MC, Gbedema SY, Pérez B, Clos MV, Jones DC, Fairlamb AH, Wright CW, Kelly JM, Muñoz-Torrero D. Synthesis, biological profiling and mechanistic studies of 4-aminoquinoline-based heterodimeric compounds with dual trypanocidal-antiplasmodial activity. *Bioorg Med Chem* 2015; 23: 5156-5167 [PMID: 25678015 DOI: 10.1016/j.bmc.2015.01.031]
- 55 McKie JH, Garforth J, Jaouhari R, Chan C, Yin H, Besheya T, Fairlamb AH, Douglas KT. Specific peptide inhibitors of trypanothione reductase with backbone structures unrelated to that of substrate: potential rational drug design lead frameworks. *Amino Acids* 2001; 20: 145-153 [PMID: 11332449 DOI: 10.1007/s007260 170055]
- 56 Nardy AF, Freire-de-Lima CG, Pérez AR, Morrot A. Role of Trypanosoma cruzi Trans-sialidase on the Escape from Host Immune Surveillance. *Front Microbiol* 2016; 7: 348 [PMID: 27047464 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00348]

- 57 Colli W. Trans-sialidase: a unique enzyme activity discovered in the protozoan Trypanosoma cruzi. *FASEB J* 1993; 7: 1257-1264 [PMID: 8405811]
- 58 Miller BR, Roitberg AE. Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase as a drug target against Chagas disease (American trypanosomiasis). *Future Med Chem* 2013; 5: 1889-1900 [PMID: 24144418 DOI: 10.4155/fmc.13.129]
- 59 Agusti R, Couto AS, Campetella OE, Frasch AC, de Lederkremer RM. The trans-sialidase of Trypanosoma cruzi is anchored by two different lipids. *Glycobiology* 1997; 7: 731-735 [PMID: 9376675 DOI: 10.1093/glycob/7.6.731]
- 60 Giorgi ME, de Lederkremer RM. Trans-sialidase and mucins of Trypanosoma cruzi: an important interplay for the parasite. *Carbohydr Res* 2011; 346: 1389-1393 [PMID: 21645882 DOI: 10.1016/j.carres.2011.04.006]
- 61 Pereira-Chioccola VL, Acosta-Serrano A, Correia de Almeida I, Ferguson MA, Souto-Padron T, Rodrigues MM, Travassos LR, Schenkman S. Mucin-like molecules form a negatively charged coat that protects Trypanosoma cruzi trypomastigotes from killing by human anti-alpha-galactosyl antibodies. *J Cell Sci* 2000; **113** (Pt 7): 1299-1307 [PMID: 10704380]
- 62 Damager I, Buchini S, Amaya MF, Buschiazzo A, Alzari P, Frasch AC, Watts A, Withers SG. Kinetic and mechanistic analysis of Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase reveals a classical ping-pong mechanism with acid/base catalysis. *Biochemistry* 2008; 47: 3507-3512 [PMID: 18284211 DOI: 10.1021/bi7024832]
- 63 Paris G, Ratier L, Amaya MF, Nguyen T, Alzari PM, Frasch AC. A sialidase mutant displaying trans-sialidase activity. *J Mol Biol* 2005; 345: 923-934 [PMID: 15588836 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.09.031]
- 64 Watts AG, Damager I, Amaya ML, Buschiazzo A, Alzari P, Frasch AC, Withers SG. Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase operates through a covalent sialyl-enzyme intermediate: tyrosine is the catalytic nucleophile. *J Am Chem Soc* 2003; **125**: 7532-7533 [PMID: 12812490 DOI: 10.1021/ja0344967]
- 65 Agustí R, París G, Ratier L, Frasch AC, de Lederkremer RM. Lactose derivatives are inhibitors of Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase activity toward conventional substrates in vitro and in vivo. *Glycobiology* 2004; 14: 659-670 [PMID: 15070857 DOI: 10.1093/ glycob/cwh079]
- 66 Streicher H, Busse H. Building a successful structural motif into sialylmimetics-cyclohexenephosphonate monoesters as pseudosialosides with promising inhibitory properties. *Bioorg Med Chem* 2006; 14: 1047-1057 [PMID: 16230015 DOI: 10.1016/j.bmc. 2005.09.025]
- 67 Neres J, Bonnet P, Edwards PN, Kotian PL, Buschiazzo A, Alzari PM, Bryce RA, Douglas KT. Benzoic acid and pyridine derivatives as inhibitors of Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase. *Bioorg Med Chem* 2007; 15: 2106-2119 [PMID: 17218104 DOI: 10.1016/j.bmc.2006.12.024]
- 68 Kim JH, Ryu HW, Shim JH, Park KH, Withers SG. Development of new and selective Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase inhibitors from sulfonamide chalcones and their derivatives. *Chembiochem* 2009; 10: 2475-2479 [PMID: 19780074 DOI: 10.1002/cbic.200900108]
- 69 Arioka S, Sakagami M, Uematsu R, Yamaguchi H, Togame H, Takemoto H, Hinou H, Nishimura S. Potent inhibitor scaffold against Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase. *Bioorg Med Chem* 2010; 18: 1633-1640 [PMID: 20097567 DOI: 10.1016/j.bmc.2009.12.062]
- 70 Brown GD. The biosynthesis of steroids and triterpenoids. *Nal Prod Rep* 1998; **15**: 653-696 [DOI: 10.1039/a815653y]
- 71 McCabe RE, Araujo FG, Remington JS. Ketoconazole protects against infection with Trypanosoma cruzi in a murine model. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 1983; 32: 960-962 [PMID: 6312824]
- 72 Sueth-Santiago V, Franklim TN, Lopes ND, Lima MEF. CYP51: uma boa ideia? *Rev Vir Quim* 2015; 7: 539-575 [DOI: 10.5935/198 4-6835.20150024]
- 73 Urbina JA. Lipid biosynthesis pathways as chemotherapeutic targets in kinetoplastid parasites. *Parasitology* 1997; 114 Suppl: S91-S99 [PMID: 9309771]
- 74 **Lepesheva GI**, Virus C, Waterman MR. Conservation in the CYP51 family. Role of the B' helix/BC loop and helices F and G



in enzymatic function. *Biochemistry* 2003; **42**: 9091-9101 [PMID: 12885242 DOI: 10.1021/bi034663f]

- 75 Lepesheva GI, Zaitseva NG, Nes WD, Zhou W, Arase M, Liu J, Hill GC, Waterman MR. CYP51 from Trypanosoma cruzi: a phylaspecific residue in the B' helix defines substrate preferences of sterol 14alpha-demethylase. *J Biol Chem* 2006; 281: 3577-3585 [PMID: 16321980 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M510317200]
- 76 Dias LC, Dessoy MA, Silva JJN, Thiemann OH, Oliva G, Andricopulo AD. Quimioterapia da doença de Chagas: estado da arte e perspectivas no desenvolvimento de novos fármacos. *Quím Nova* 2009; 32: 2444-2457 [DOI: 10.1590/S0100-40422009000900038]
- 77 Villalta F, Dobish MC, Nde PN, Kleshchenko YY, Hargrove TY, Johnson CA, Waterman MR, Johnston JN, Lepesheva GI. VNI cures acute and chronic experimental Chagas disease. *J Infect Dis* 2013; 208: 504-511 [PMID: 23372180 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jit042]
- 78 McCabe RE, Remington JS, Araujo FG. Ketoconazole promotes parasitological cure of mice infected with Trypanosoma cruzi. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1987; 81: 613-615 [PMID: 3127963 DOI: 10.1016/0035-9203(87)90430-5]
- 79 Pfaller MA, Krogstad DJ. Imidazole and polyene activity against chloroquine-resistant Plasmodium falciparum. *J Infect Dis* 1981; 144: 372-375 [PMID: 6270216 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/144.4.372]
- 80 Berman JD. Activity of imidazoles against Leishmania tropica in human macrophage cultures. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 1981; 30: 566-569 [PMID: 6266261]
- 81 Urbina JA. Ergosterol biosynthesis and drug development for Chagas disease. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* 2009; 104 Suppl 1: 311-318 [PMID: 19753490 DOI: 10.1590/S0074-02762009000 900041]
- 82 Shapiro RS, Robbins N, Cowen LE. Regulatory circuitry governing fungal development, drug resistance, and disease. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2011; 75: 213-267 [PMID: 21646428]
- 83 Abe F, Usui K, Hiraki T. Fluconazole modulates membrane rigidity, heterogeneity, and water penetration into the plasma membrane in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Biochemistry* 2009; 48: 8494-8504 [PMID: 19670905]
- 84 Franklim TN, Freire-de-Lima L, de Nazareth Sá Diniz J, Previato JO, Castro RN, Mendonça-Previato L, de Lima ME. Design, synthesis and trypanocidal evaluation of novel 1,2,4-triazoles-3-thiones derived from natural piperine. *Molecules* 2013; 18: 6366-6382 [PMID: 23760033 DOI: 10.3390/molecules18066366]
- 85 Warrilow AG, Parker JE, Kelly DE, Kelly SL. Azole affinity of sterol 14α-demethylase (CYP51) enzymes from Candida albicans and Homo sapiens. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2013; 57: 1352-1360 [PMID: 23274672 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.02067-12]
- 86 Conley A, Mapes S, Corbin CJ, Greger D, Walters K, Trant J, Graham S. A comparative approach to structure-function studies of mammalian aromatases. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2001; **79**: 289-297 [PMID: 11850235 DOI: 10.1016/S0960-0760(01)00145-5]
- 87 Zarn JA, Brüschweiler BJ, Schlatter JR. Azole fungicides affect mammalian steroidogenesis by inhibiting sterol 14 alphademethylase and aromatase. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111: 255-261 [PMID: 12611652 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.5785]
- 88 Heald R, Nogales E. Microtubule dynamics. J Cell Sci 2002; 115: 3-4 [PMID: 11801717]
- 89 Westermann S, Weber K. Post-translational modifications regulate microtubule function. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2003; 4: 938-947 [PMID: 14685172 DOI: 10.1038/nrm1260]
- 90 Perez EA. Microtubule inhibitors: Differentiating tubulin-inhibiting agents based on mechanisms of action, clinical activity, and resistance. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2009; 8: 2086-2095 [PMID: 19671735 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0366]
- 91 Zhou J, Giannakakou P. Targeting microtubules for cancer chemotherapy. *Curr Med Chem Anticancer Agents* 2005; 5: 65-71 [PMID: 15720262 DOI: 10.2174/1568011053352569]
- 92 Nogales E. Structural insight into microtubule function. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 2001; 30: 397-420 [PMID: 11441808 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.30.1.397]
- 93 Akhmanova A, Steinmetz MO. Tracking the ends: a dynamic protein network controls the fate of microtubule tips. *Nat Rev*

Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9: 309-322 [PMID: 18322465 DOI: 10.1038/ nrm2369]

- 94 **Kuppens IE**. Current state of the art of new tubulin inhibitors in the clinic. *Curr Clin Pharmacol* 2006; 1: 57-70 [PMID: 18666378 DOI: 10.2174/157488406775268200]
- 95 Werbovetz KA. Tubulin as an antiprotozoal drug target. *Mini Rev Med Chem* 2002; 2: 519-529 [PMID: 12370037 DOI: 10.2174/138 9557023405648]
- 96 Kilmartin JV. Purification of yeast tubulin by self-assembly in vitro. *Biochemistry* 1981; 20: 3629-3633 [PMID: 7020758 DOI: 10.1021/bi00515a050]
- 97 Dawson PJ, Gutteridge WE, Gull K. A comparison of the interaction of anthelmintic benzimidazoles with tubulin isolated from mammalian tissue and the parasitic nematode Ascaridia galli. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1984; 33: 1069-1074 [PMID: 6712717 DOI: 10.1016/0006-2952(84)90515-X]
- 98 Werbovetz KA, Sackett DL, Delfin D, Bhattacharya G, Salem M, Obrzut T, Rattendi D, Bacchi C. Selective antimicrotubule activity of N1-phenyl-3,5-dinitro-N4,N4-di-n-propylsulfanilamide (GB-II-5) against kinetoplastid parasites. *Mol Pharmacol* 2003; 64: 1325-1333 [PMID: 14645662 DOI: 10.1124/mol.64.6.1325]
- 99 Zhong B, Cai X, Chennamaneni S, Yi X, Liu L, Pink JJ, Dowlati A, Xu Y, Zhou A, Su B. From COX-2 inhibitor nimesulide to potent anti-cancer agent: synthesis, in vitro, in vivo and pharmacokinetic evaluation. *Eur J Med Chem* 2012; **47**: 432-444 [PMID: 22119125 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2011.11.012]
- 100 Lu Y, Chen J, Xiao M, Li W, Miller DD. An overview of tubulin inhibitors that interact with the colchicine binding site. *Pharm Res* 2012; 29: 2943-2971 [PMID: 22814904 DOI: 10.1007/s11095-012-0828-z]
- 101 Ravelli RB, Gigant B, Curmi PA, Jourdain I, Lachkar S, Sobel A, Knossow M. Insight into tubulin regulation from a complex with colchicine and a stathmin-like domain. *Nature* 2004; **428**: 198-202 [PMID: 15014504 DOI: 10.1038/nature02393]
- 102 Cormier A, Knossow M, Wang C, Gigant B. The binding of vinca domain agents to tubulin: structural and biochemical studies. *Methods Cell Biol* 2010; 95: 373-390 [PMID: 20466145 DOI: 10.1016/S0091-679X(10)95020-6]
- 103 Noble RL. The discovery of the vinca alkaloids--chemotherapeutic agents against cancer. *Biochem Cell Biol* 1990; 68: 1344-1351 [PMID: 2085431 DOI: 10.1139/o90-197]
- 104 Sottomayor M, López-Serrano M, DiCosmo F, Ros Barceló A. Purification and characterization of alpha-3',4'-anhydrovinblastine synthase (peroxidase-like) from Catharanthus roseus (L.) G. Don. *FEBS Lett* 1998; 428: 299-303 [PMID: 9654153 DOI: 10.1016/ S0014-5793(98)00551-1]
- 105 Almagro L, Fernández-Pérez F, Pedreño MA. Indole alkaloids from Catharanthus roseus: bioproduction and their effect on human health. *Molecules* 2015; 20: 2973-3000 [PMID: 25685907 DOI: 10.3390/molecules20022973]
- 106 Brandão HN, David JP, Couto RD, Nascimento JAP, David JM. Química e farmacologia dos quimioterápicos antineoplásicos derivados de plantas. *Quím Nova* 2010; 33: 1359-1369 [DOI: 10.1590/S0100-40422010000600026]
- 107 Panda D, Jordan MA, Chu KC, Wilson L. Differential effects of vinblastine on polymerization and dynamics at opposite microtubule ends. *J Biol Chem* 1996; 271: 29807-29812 [PMID: 8939919 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.271.47.29807]
- 108 Yang H, Ganguly A, Cabral F. Inhibition of cell migration and cell division correlates with distinct effects of microtubule inhibiting drugs. *J Biol Chem* 2010; 285: 32242-32250 [PMID: 20696757 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M110.160820]
- 109 Amos LA, Löwe J. How Taxol stabilises microtubule structure. Chem Biol 1999; 6: R65-R69 [PMID: 10074470 DOI: 10.1016/ S1074-5521(99)89002-4]
- 110 Ojima I, Habus I, Zhao M, Zucco M, Park YH, Sun CM, Brigaud T. New and efficient approaches to the semisynthesis of taxol and its C-13 side chain analogs by means of β-lactam synthon method. *Tetrahedron* 1992; 48: 6985-7012 [DOI: 10.1016/S0040-4020(01)91210-4]

- 111 Fu Y, Li S, Zu Y, Yang G, Yang Z, Luo M, Jiang S, Wink M, Efferth T. Medicinal chemistry of paclitaxel and its analogues. *Curr Med Chem* 2009; 16: 3966-3985 [PMID: 19747129 DOI: 10.2174/092986709789352277]
- 112 Baum SG, Wittner M, Nadler JP, Horwitz SB, Dennis JE, Schiff PB, Tanowitz HB. Taxol, a microtubule stabilizing agent, blocks the replication of Trypanosoma cruzi. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1981; 78: 4571-4575 [PMID: 6117077 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.78.7.4571]
- 113 Freire-de-Lima L, Ribeiro TS, Rocha GM, Brandão BA, Romeiro A, Mendonça-Previato L, Previato JO, de Lima ME, de Carvalho TM, Heise N. The toxic effects of piperine against Trypanosoma cruzi: ultrastructural alterations and reversible blockage of cyto-kinesis in epimastigote forms. *Parasitol Res* 2008; **102**: 1059-1067 [PMID: 18224488 DOI: 10.1007/s00436-008-0876-9]
- 114 Gupta KK, Bharne SS, Rathinasamy K, Naik NR, Panda D. Dietary antioxidant curcumin inhibits microtubule assembly through tubulin binding. *FEBS J* 2006; 273: 5320-5332 [PMID:

17069615 DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2006.05525.x]

- 115 Banerjee M, Singh P, Panda D. Curcumin suppresses the dynamic instability of microtubules, activates the mitotic checkpoint and induces apoptosis in MCF-7 cells. *FEBS J* 2010; 277: 3437-3448 [PMID: 20646066]
- 116 Chakraborti S, Das L, Kapoor N, Das A, Dwivedi V, Poddar A, Chakraborti G, Janik M, Basu G, Panda D, Chakrabarti P, Surolia A, Bhattacharyya B. Curcumin recognizes a unique binding site of tubulin. *J Med Chem* 2011; 54: 6183-6196 [PMID: 21830815 DOI: 10.1021/jm2004046]
- 117 Sueth-Santiago V, Moraes JB, Sobral Alves ES, Vannier-Santos MA, Freire-de-Lima CG, Castro RN, Mendes-Silva GP, Del Cistia CN, Magalhães LG, Andricopulo AD, Sant Anna CM, Decoté-Ricardo D, Freire de Lima ME. The Effectiveness of Natural Diarylheptanoids against Trypanosoma cruzi: Cytotoxicity, Ultrastructural Alterations and Molecular Modeling Studies. *PLoS One* 2016; **11**: e0162926 [PMID: 27658305 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0162926]

P- Reviewer: Carter WG, Chui YL, Wang Y S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.81

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 81-85

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

### Use of thyroglobulin as a tumour marker

Buddhike Sri Harsha Indrasena

Buddhike Sri Harsha Indrasena, Consultant General and Endocrine Surgeon, Kandy General Hospital (Teaching), Kandy 20000, Sri Lanka

Author contributions: Indrasena BSH performed the whole of the writing.

Conflict-of-interest statement: None

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Buddhike Sri Harsha Indrasena, MBBS (Hons), MS (Surgery), MSc (Statistics), MRCS(Ed), Consultant General and Endocrine Surgeon, Kandy General Hospital (Teaching), William Gopallawa Mawatha, Kandy 20000, Sri Lanka. indrasenaharsha@gmail.com Telephone: +94-718-713457 Fax: +94-812-233343

Received: September 28, 2016 Peer-review started: October 7, 2016 First decision: November 10, 2016 Revised: December 28, 2016 Accepted: January 11, 2017 Article in press: January 14, 2017 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

It is worthwhile to measure serum thyroglobulin (TG) level in thyroid cancer before subjecting patients to surgery for two reasons. Firstly, if the level is high, it may give a clue to the local and metastatic tumour burden at presentation; secondly, if the level is normal,

it identifies the patients who are unlikely to show rising TG levels in the presence of thyroid cancer. Those who have high serum TG before surgery will show up recurrence as rising serum TG during the postoperative period. Those who do not have high serum TG before surgery will not show up rising serum TG in the presence of recurrent disease. In the latter situation, normal TG level gives only a false reassurance regarding recurrence of disease. Nevertheless, rising serum TG during the postoperative period must be interpreted cautiously because this could be due to the enlargement of non-cancerous residual thyroid tissue inadvertently left behind during surgery.

**Key words:** Thyroglobulin; Thyroid cancer; Recurrent thyroid cancer; Anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; Tumour marker

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Although serum thyroglobulin (TG) is widely used as a tool to detect recurrence of thyroid cancer, it is widely held that preoperative TG measurement is unnecessary. It is true that preoperative TG level is hardly of much diagnostic value, but without a preoperative TG report, it is not possible to safely utilize serial serum TG subsequently as a monitoring tool. Routine measurement of serum TG before surgery is, therefore, recommended.

Indrasena BSH. Use of thyroglobulin as a tumour marker. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 81-85 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/i1/81.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.81

#### INTRODUCTION

Serial measurement of thyroglobulin (TG) is being practised by many clinicians to detect recurrence of thyroid cancer after surgery<sup>[1-3]</sup>. Apart from that, there is hardly



Indrasena BSH. LOCULA procedure for pilonidal sinus



Figure 1 Metabolism of thyroglobulin<sup>[20]</sup>.

any use of TG as a diagnostic modality of thyroid cancer because it is not tumour specific<sup>[4]</sup>. The serum level of TG reflects the thyroid tissue burden in the body regardless of underlying pathology whether benign or malignant. Since the serum levels are proportional to the volume of thyroid tissue, it can be used successfully to evaluate the "cancer burden" at presentation as well as to assess the adequacy of surgery, monitor the recurrences and progression of disease before and after cancer treatment. Its use as a monitoring tool is only valid provided certain precautions are seriously taken into account. Otherwise, false reassurance is inevitable in the presence of on going disease.

#### BIOCHEMISTRY

TG is a glycoprotein molecule synthesised exclusively by the thyroid follicular cells. These are stored as colloid within the thyroid follicles, iodinated and degraded to thyroxin and tri-iodothyronine. The whole process is regulated by thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) (Figure 1).

TG in serum has a half-life of 65  $h^{[5]}$ . The serum level TG is proportional to the volume of thyroid tissue in the body at a rate 1 ng/mL per 1 g of thyroid mass. Since the size of the normal thyroid gland is 20-25 g, the reference range has to be generally about 20 to 25 ng/mL. However, the normal serum TG level depends on the gender and the level of iodine intake of the patient. The gender specific reference range has been given as 1.40-29.2 ng/mL for males and 1.50-38.5 ng/mL for females<sup>[6]</sup>. In countries with iodine deficiency the reference range may be higher<sup>[7,8]</sup>. This is because of elevated TSH in serum in the presence of iodine deficiency; TSH stimulates the thyroid follicular cells to synthesise more TG. Apart from gender and iodine

intake, the measured TG level is also influenced by autoantibodies against TG (anti-TGAb), cigarette smoking and TSH status unrelated to iodine intake. The measured serum TG levels are masked by the presence of anti-TGAb in blood. Anti-TGAb bind to the TG molecules masking the epitopes on the TG molecule to which the antibodies of the radio immuno assay (RIA) test bind. As a result, the measured TG level by RIA in such patients, will be falsely low. Anti-TGAb can be seen in cases of Hashimoto's disease, Graves' disease, 20% of patients with thyroid carcinoma<sup>[9]</sup>, and 10% of normal population without any thyroid disease<sup>[10]</sup>.

#### **CLINICAL USES OF TG**

#### Evaluation of completeness of surgery

TG can be elevated in any thyroid pathology. Serum TG level is proportional to the thyroid mass rather than the type of pathology<sup>[8]</sup>. As a guide, one gram of normal thyroid tissue is equivalent to 1 ng/mL of TG in serum in euthyroid state; in a TSH suppressed state, this is equivalent to 0.5 ng/mL. After total thyroidectomy, theoretically, the level has to drop to zero because no thyroid tissue is expected to leave behind after total thyroidectomy. Persistent presence of TG after total thyroidectomy, even at low concentrations, points to the possibility of inadequate surgery leading to residual thyroid tissue at the thyroid bed (in the absence of local or distant metastases). After hemithyroidectomy, the preoperative level should theoretically drop to 50% of preoperative value. After near total thyroidectomy, i.e., total lobectomy on one side plus isthmusectomy plus subtotal lobectomy on the other side (leaving behind overall  $1/8^{th}$  of the size of a normal sized gland weighing 25 g), a TG level of 3-4 ng/mL can be expected to

present in serum when TSH is normal, and 1.5-2 ng/mL when TSH has been suppressed with high doses of thyroxine.

The serum TG level post surgery reflects the amount of residual thyroid mass. In the absence of metastatic disease, this reflects the size of the thyroid remnant left behind during surgery. Since TG has a half-life close to 3 d, it can be shown that the TG level has to be less than 0.5 ng/mL at the end of three weeks after total or near total thyroidectomy for a goitre of a size of three times normal. This can be used as a guide to initiate radio active iodine treatment for remnant ablation, the residual thyroid mass being as a result of inadequate surgery or metastatic disease. However, although such a hypothesis carries high positive predictive value, a negative result does not reliably exclude the possibility of residual disease. The TG serum level at 3 wk post surgery not only depends on the residual thyroid mass but also the size of the gland at the time of surgery as well as TG producing capacity of the tumour.

#### As a monitoring tool

TG can be secreted by differentiated cancer cells of the thyroid. This includes nearly two thirds of differentiated thyroid cancers (follicular neoplasms, all papillary carcinomas, Hurthle cell tumours of the thyroid), up to 50% of poorly differentiated and anaplastic carcinomas of thyroid and some medullary carcinomas. The cancerous nodules can be stained with immunohistochemical methods to specifically demonstrate TG. TG has been demonstrated in cancerous follicles both in the thyroid as well as in metastatic deposits in lymph nodes and elsewhere.

The use of TG as a screening and diagnostic tool of differentiated thyroid cancer is poor (Sensitivity and specificity is 70% and 80% respectively for follicular carcinoma) because both benign and malignant thyroid glands secrete TG<sup>[11]</sup>. Elevated TG levels can be seen in benign conditions like Graves' disease and thyroiditis, as well as in thyroid cancer. Further, there is a subset of thyroid cancer patients (12%) whose TG level is low or low-normal as opposed to a minority whose blood level is very high (> 1000 ng/mL). A level > 5000 ng/mL is indicative of metastatic disease<sup>[12]</sup>. Patients who develop cancer as a result of mutations of TG gene may not express TG even though they have a hypothyroid goitre (high TSH) as well as cancer<sup>[13]</sup>.

Those who have high serum TG one month after thyroidectomy are more likely to develop cancer recurrence, the value being proportional to the burden of remaining metastatic disease<sup>[14]</sup>. However, high serum TG could be due to distant metastatic disease or incomplete excision of the gland during thyroidectomy. Holsinger *et al*<sup>[15]</sup> reported that 57% of patients who were supposed to have had total thyroidectomy for thyroid cancer had residual thyroid tissue at the thyroid bed when tested by postoperative radioactive iodine uptake test. Therefore, the surgeon must be sure that the whole thyroid gland has been removed before utilizing TG as a prognostic indicator. Or else the patient must have undergone remnant ablation with radioactive iodine before TG testing.

TG has been used frequently to monitor recurrent disease after thyroidectomy. Not only the first recurrence but also subsequent recurrences can be detected by monitoring serum TG level. The TG level has to be done every 6 to 12 mo. However, certain points need to be kept in mind when utilizing TG alone as a tumour marker to detect recurrence. TG can rise after thyroidectomy when the residual thyroid gland enlarges even though it does not harbour malignant cells. This could happen after near total thyroidectomy (total lobectomy on one side plus isthmusectomy plus subtotal lobectomy on the other side) when about 4 g of the gland is left behind purposely on one side, or glandular tissue left behind inadvertently in the neck because of difficult thyroidectomy. In such instances, serum TG could give false positive result. Therefore, more often than not, surgeons prefer to subject all patients to remnant ablation therapy after thyroidectomy for cancer. Such patients are more suitable for monitoring by TG than otherwise.

It may not be able to see high serum TG after thyroidectomy if the TG level before surgery had been low or normal. Therefore, it is necessary to recognise patients who would not have rising TG in the presence of recurrence before using TG as a tumour marker. This can only be done if the serum TG level before the surgery is known. Those who have normal or low serum TG before surgery will not show rising serum TG when there is recurrence of disease<sup>[16]</sup>. This happens irrespective of the anti-TGAb status of the patient<sup>[17]</sup>. Such patients must be offered iodine scintigraphy to detect recurrence. Furthermore, there is a possibility of transforming a differentiated thyroid cancer to anaplastic variety over time<sup>[18]</sup>. In such a case, TG will not rise in the presence of recurrence.

#### PRECAUTIONS

It may take nearly one month (7 to 10  $t_{1/2}$ ) for the TG to disappear from the circulation after total thyroidectomy in the absence of metastases<sup>[5]</sup>.

Since there is a theoretical possibility of releasing TG in to the circulation following trauma, it would be a valid precaution to measure TG before FNAC test or 2 wk after FNAC, although there are no references to strongly recommend this approach.

In postoperative patients, thyroxin must preferably be stopped at least six weeks before the measurement of serum TG if the patient has been on thyroxine or two weeks before if the patient has been on liothyronine (tri-iodothyronine). The idea is to allow TSH level to rise from the suppressive levels to higher levels making the residual cancer tissue to synthesise and secrete TG stimulated by TSH. This is also the standard practice in postoperative use of radioactive iodine for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Alternatively, to minimize the risks associated with stopping thyroxin for six weeks, thyroxine can be stopped only for three weeks before the TG test,



Table 1 Interpretation and management of different serum thyroglobulin values								
Stage of disease		Serum TG level	Uses and further action					
	Low	Normal	Elevated					
Before surgery	Anti-TGAb or TG non	-secreting tumour	TG can not be used subsequently to monitor					
				disease activity				
			Benign or malignant	TG can be used subsequently to monitor				
			thyroid disease	disease activity				
3-4 wk after surgery	Anti-TGAb, successful			Do 125-Iodine scan to screen for residual local				
	local surgery or no			disease and distant metastases				
	metastatic disease							
		Incomplete local sur	gery, metastatic disease or	Remnant ablation therapy (131-Iodine or				
		rec	currence	further surgery) is indicated				
Long term follow-up	Anti-TGAb			Do other tests to monitor disease activity				
	Cure or stable	e disease		Disease activity can be monitored by periodic				
				TG measurements				
			Recurrence or	Further investigations and treatment				
			progression					

TG: Thyroglobulin; anti-TGAb: Autoantibodies against TG.

but the test may have to be repeated after six weeks of cessation of thyroxin if TG and TSH are normal<sup>[19]</sup>. Another alternative is to stop thyroxine six weeks before and to put the patient on liothyronine for four weeks and do the test two weeks later after stopping liothyronine. Liothyronine has a shorter half-life than thyroxine. Recombinant human TSH can also be used, instead, to stimulate residual thyroid tissue without stopping thyroid suppression treatment.

#### CONCLUSION

Interpretation of serum TG measurements could be a quite complex task. It may be elevated in both benign and malignant disease of the thyroid gland. Therefore, its use as a diagnostic tool of cancer is negligible. TG level 3-4 wk post surgery can be used to assess the size of the residual thyroid mass either locally or distally, and guide remnant ablation therapy. Rising levels in the postoperative period could happen due to progression of cancer or growth of residual thyroid tissue at the thyroid bed following inadequate surgery. It may remain normal in malignant thyroid disease both pre and post operatively due to non-secreting varieties of thyroid cancer or due to the presence of anti-TGAb in serum, and such cases could only be detected by checking TG levels before surgery.

The changes of TG that can be expected at different stages of the disease and how different TG levels assist in decision making and the management of thyroid cancer has been summarised in Table 1.

#### REFERENCES

- Ringel MD, Nabhan F. Approach to follow-up of the patient with differentiated thyroid cancer and positive anti-thyroglobulin antibodies. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2013; 98: 3104-3110 [PMID: 23922347 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2013-1412]
- 2 **Gibelli B**, Tredici P, De Cicco C, Bodei L, Sandri MT, Renne G, Bruschini R, Tradati N. Preoperative determination of serum

thyroglobulin to identify patients with differentiated thyroid cancer who may present recurrence without increased thyroglobulin. *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital* 2005; **25**: 94-99 [PMID: 16116831]

- 3 Frilling A, Görges R, Tecklenborg K, Gassmann P, Bockhorn M, Clausen M, Broelsch CE. Value of preoperative diagnostic modalities in patients with recurrent thyroid carcinoma. *Surgery* 2000; **128**: 1067-1074 [PMID: 11114644 DOI: 10.1067/msy. 2000.110771]
- 4 Yalcin S, Ulger BV, Parlak O, Ucar AE, Sarikaya SM, Ozer M, Korukluoglu B, Yalcin B, Kusdemir A. The role of preoperative serum thyroglobulin and thyroid auto-antibody levels before histopathological diagnosis of thyroid cancers. *Turk J Med Sci* 2011; 41: 487-493 [DOI: 10.3906/sag-1011-1]
- 5 Hocevar M, Auersperg M, Stanovnik L. The dynamics of serum thyroglobulin elimination from the body after thyroid surgery. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 1997; 23: 208-210 [PMID: 9236892]
- 6 Giovanella L, Imperiali M, Ferrari A, Palumbo A, Furlani L, Graziani MS, Castello R. Serum thyroglobulin reference values according to NACB criteria in healthy subjects with normal thyroid ultrasound. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2012; **50**: 891-893 [PMID: 22628333 DOI: 10.1515/cclm.2011.756]
- 7 Ovadia YS, Gefel D, Turkot S, Aharoni D, Fytlovich S, Troen AM. Elevated Serum Thyroglobulin and Low Iodine Intake Are Associated with Nontoxic Nodular Goiter among Adults Living near the Eastern Mediterranean Coast. *J Thyroid Res* 2014; 2014: 913672 [PMID: 25610705 DOI: 10.1155/2014/913672]
- 8 Knudsen N, Bülow I, Jørgensen T, Perrild H, Ovesen L, Laurberg P. Serum Tg--a sensitive marker of thyroid abnormalities and iodine deficiency in epidemiological studies. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2001; 86: 3599-3603 [PMID: 11502784 DOI: 10.1210/jcem.86.8.7772]
- 9 Ringel MD, Ladenson PW. Controversies in the follow-up and management of well-differentiated thyroid cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer* 2004; 11: 97-116 [PMID: 15027888]
- 10 Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, Hannon WH, Gunter EW, Spencer CA, Braverman LE. Serum TSH, T(4), and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 489-499 [PMID: 11836274 DOI: 10.1210/jcem.87.2.8182]
- 11 Hocevar M, Auersperg M. Role of serum thyroglobulin in the pre-operative evaluation of follicular thyroid tumours. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 1998; 24: 553-557 [PMID: 9870733]
- 12 Oltmann SC, Leverson G, Lin SH, Schneider DF, Chen H, Sippel RS. Markedly elevated thyroglobulin levels in the preoperative thyroidectomy patient correlates with metastatic burden. *J Surg Res* 2014; 187: 1-5 [PMID: 24411304 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.12.017]

#### Indrasena BSH. LOCULA procedure for pilonidal sinus

- 13 Agretti P, De Marco G, Di Cosmo C, Ferrarini E, Montanelli L, Bagattini B, Vitti P, Tonacchera M. Congenital hypothyroidism caused by a novel homozygous mutation in the thyroglobulin gene. *Eur J Pediatr* 2013; **172**: 959-964 [PMID: 23455760 DOI: 10.1007/ s00431-013-1976-9]
- 14 Lima N, Cavaliere H, Tomimori E, Knobel M, Medeiros-Neto G. Prognostic value of serial serum thyroglobulin determinations after total thyroidectomy for differentiated thyroid cancer. *J Endocrinol Invest* 2002; 25: 110-115 [PMID: 11929080 DOI: 10.1007/ BF03343973]
- 15 Holsinger FC, Ramaswamy U, Cabanillas ME, Lang J, Lin HY, Busaidy NL, Grubbs E, Rahim S, Sturgis EM, Lee JE, Weber RS, Clayman GL, Rohren EM. Measuring the extent of total thyroidectomy for differentiated thyroid carcinoma using radioactive iodine imaging: relationship with serum thyroglobulin and clinical outcomes. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2014; 140: 410-415 [PMID: 24700275 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoto.2014.264]
- 16 **Brendel AJ**, Lambert B, Guyot M, Jeandot R, Dubourg H, Roger P, Wynchauk S, Manciet G, Lefort G. Low levels of serum

thyroglobulin after withdrawal of thyroid suppression therapy in the follow up of differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *Eur J Nucl Med* 1990; **16**: 35-38 [PMID: 2307172]

- 17 Westbury C, Vini L, Fisher C, Harmer C. Recurrent differentiated thyroid cancer without elevation of serum thyroglobulin. *Thyroid* 2000; 10: 171-6 [DOI: 10.1089/thy.2000.10.171]
- 18 Camargo R, Limbert E, Gillam M, Henriques MM, Fernandes C, Catarino AL, Soares J, Alves VA, Kopp P, Medeiros-Neto G. Aggressive metastatic follicular thyroid carcinoma with anaplastic transformation arising from a long-standing goiter in a patient with Pendred's syndrome. *Thyroid* 2001; **11**: 981-988 [PMID: 11716048 DOI: 10.1089/105072501753211073]
- 19 Golger A, Fridman TR, Eski S, Witterick IJ, Freeman JL, Walfish PG. Three-week thyroxine withdrawal thyroglobulin stimulation screening test to detect low-risk residual/recurrent well-differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *J Endocrinol Invest* 2003; 26: 1023-1031 [PMID: 14759077 DOI: 10.1007/BF03348202]
- 20 Mikael Häggström. Medical gallery of Mikael Häggström. Wiki Journal of Medicine 2014 [DOI:10.15347/wjm/2014.008].

P- Reviewer: Salvatore B, Shi YF, Xie L S- Editor: Song XX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D







# **Biological Chemistry**

Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.86

**Basic Study** 

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 86-94

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## L-carnitine protects C2C12 cells against mitochondrial superoxide overproduction and cell death

Françoise Le Borgne, Gaétan Ravaut, Arnaud Bernard, Jean Demarguoy

Françoise Le Borgne, Gaétan Ravaut, Arnaud Bernard, Jean Demarquoy, Université de Bourgogne - UFR SVTE, 21000 Dijon, France

Jean Demarquoy, Faculté des Science Gabriel, 21000 Dijon, France

Author contributions: All authors designed and performed the research, analyzed the data; Le Borgne F and Demarquoy J wrote the paper.

Institutional review board statement: Not relevant no human or animal subjects were used in these experiments.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: Not relevant no animal were used in these experiments.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Each author declares no conflict of interest

Data sharing statement: All data are available on request.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Jean Demarquoy, PhD, Faculté des Science Gabriel, 6 Bd Gabriel, 21000 Dijon, France. jean.demarquoy@u-bourgogne.fr Telephone: +33-3-80396316 Fax: +33-3-80396250

Received: August 4, 2016 Peer-review started: August 5, 2016 First decision: September 2, 2016 Revised: November 4, 2016

Accepted: December 13, 2016 Article in press: December 14, 2016 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To identify and characterize the protective effect that L-carnitine exerted against an oxidative stress in C2C12 cells.

#### **METHODS**

Myoblastic C2C12 cells were treated with menadione, a vitamin K analog that engenders oxidative stress, and the protective effect of L-carnitine (a nutrient involved in fatty acid metabolism and the control of the oxidative process), was assessed by monitoring various parameters related to the oxidative stress, autophagy and cell death.

#### RESULTS

Associated with its physiological function, a muscle cell metabolism is highly dependent on oxygen and may produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), especially under pathological conditions. High levels of ROS are known to induce injuries in cell structure as they interact at many levels in cell function. In C2C12 cells, a treatment with menadione induced a loss of transmembrane mitochondrial potential, an increase in mitochondrial production of ROS; it also induces autophagy and was able to provoke cell death. Pre-treatment of the cells with L-carnitine reduced ROS production, diminished autophagy and protected C2C12 cells against menadione-induced deleterious effects.

#### **CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, L-carnitine limits the oxidative stress in these cells and prevents cell death.

Key words: Superoxide anions; Mitochondria; Reactive Autophagy; Muscle; Carnitine; Oxygen species; Cell death



© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** The overall goal of this study was to identify and characterize the protective effect of L-carnitine on oxidative stress in muscle cells. We, first, induced an oxidative stress in cultured muscle cells and parameters associated with the stress were measured. In another set of experiments, cells were treated with L-carnitine and the same parameters measured. The comparison among the data allowed showing that L-carnitine was able to fight against oxidative stress and dramatically limit cell death. In conclusion, our results show that, at least in muscle cells, L-carnitine can be considered as a nonconventional antioxidant.

Le Borgne F, Ravaut G, Bernard A, Demarquoy J. L-carnitine protects C2C12 cells against mitochondrial superoxide overproduction and cell death. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 86-94 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/ i1/86.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.86

#### INTRODUCTION

During oxidative stress, a massive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) induces alterations in cell structure. Oxidative stress may play a role in the onset of a wide variety of disorders<sup>[1]</sup> and participate at the ageing process<sup>[2]</sup>. ROS are able to interact with proteins, lipids and DNA leading to the formation of adducts accompanied with a loss of function<sup>[3]</sup>. These deleterious effects are normally kept under control by antioxidants. Most antioxidant systems are composed of an enzyme (e.g., superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase<sup>[4]</sup>) usually under the control of a nutrient (vitamins or minerals); but besides these "classical" systems, several compounds have been shown to regulate metabolic activity inside the cells preventing the overproduction of ROS. These molecules are not strictly antioxidants but are able to reduce ROS production. Melatonin<sup>[5]</sup>, creatine<sup>[6]</sup>, coenzyme  $Q10^{[7]}$  and carnitine<sup>[8]</sup> belong to this family.

An adult body contains around 25 g of L-carnitine<sup>[9]</sup>. L-Carnitine found in a human body is either derived from food stuff, especially from meat and dairy products<sup>[10]</sup>, or derived from an endogenous synthesis. In mammals, L-carnitine is mainly synthesized in the liver, the testis and the kidney, this biosynthesis requires lysine and methionine as ultimate precursors and five enzymatic reactions<sup>[11,12]</sup>.

Dietary or biosynthetic carnitine is excreted into the blood stream (at a concentration of 50-100  $\mu$ mol/L) and distributed to organs and tissues depending on L-carnitine. Among these, muscle concentrates most of the L-carnitine: In a human body, around 98% of all the L-carnitine is found in skeletal and heart muscles and the ratio between plasma and muscle carnitine concentration is around 1:50<sup>[13]</sup>. None of these organs is able to synthesize

L-carnitine and this molecule has to be imported from the blood stream using specific transporters<sup>[14]</sup>.

The primary role of carnitine is to permit the transport of long chain fatty acids into mitochondria where they can enter the  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway. L-carnitine is also a cofactor for peroxisomal enzymes<sup>[15]</sup> and recognized as an inhibitor for HDAC<sup>[16]</sup>. L-carnitine has also been used as a protective agent against neurotoxic agents. The precise mechanisms involved are still to be clearly identified and several hypotheses remain. L-carnitine may exert its protective effects as a regulatory element in energy production and/or by interacting with the production of free radicals<sup>[17]</sup>.

ROS production is associated with several muscle diseases<sup>[18]</sup> and it is clear that improving free radical metabolism could be beneficial to cells, animals or patients with muscle disorders<sup>[19]</sup>. The goal of this study was to evaluate the beneficial effect that L-carnitine treatment may exert on muscle cells undergoing an oxidative stress.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Chemicals

Culture media were purchased from Lonza (Levallois-Perret, France). L-Carnitine (carnipure<sup>™</sup>) was a generous gift from Lonza. Probes used for cytometry analyses were purchased from Molecular probes (Cergy-Pontoise, France). All others chemicals were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St Quentin Fallavier, France).

#### Cell culture

Murine myoblastic C2C12 cells were obtained from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC, Salisbury United Kingdom) and cultured according to their recommendations. Cells were grown in DMEM (Gibco, Cergy-Pontoise, France) with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS; Gibco), 4 mmol/L L-glutamine (Gibco) at 37  $^{\circ}$ C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were trypsinized when they reached semi confluence. Dishes were seeded at a density of 2000 cells per square centimetre.

#### Treatments

Menadione was dissolved in 70% ethanol and added to culture medium (without phenol red) at the desired concentration (from 0 to 12  $\mu$ mol/L); these varying concentrations were used as they may induce from moderate to severe oxidative stress<sup>[20]</sup>. Cells were treated for 1 to 24 h for all measured parameters. L-carnitine treated cells were cultured with L-carnitine at the final concentration of 500  $\mu$ mol/L, at all the stages of the experiment. L-carnitine was dissolved in DPBS, filtrated on a 22  $\mu$ m filter and added to the culture medium. This concentration was chosen as it remains in the physiological range (the extracellular concentration in carnitine is estimated to be in the 50-100  $\mu$ mol/L range and in the muscle cells this concentration is at least 20 times higher) and as preliminary data showed that this concentration was

Le Borgne F et al. L-carnitine limits superoxide production

efficient for limiting oxidative stress.

#### Flow cytometric analyses

All experiments were carried out with a Becton Dickinson Facscan equipped with a 488 nm Laser, and fluorescence signals were measured on three channels: FL1 (530/30 nm), FL2 (585/42 nm) and FL3 (670 nm LP). Data were acquired with the Cellquest software (BD Biosciences, Le Pont De Claix, France) and analyzed with the Cyflogic Software (http://www.cyflogic.com).

#### Propidium lodide assay

After treatment with menadione and/or L-carnitine, the culture medium was removed and stored in a 15 mL tube; cells were rinsed with DPBS and trypsinized. The culture medium, the DPBS used for washing and the trypsinized cells were collected and centrifuged at 600 g for 3 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in DPBS. Propidium iodide was added to the cell suspension at a final concentration of 5  $\mu$ g/mL. After a 5 min incubation, cells were analyzed with a flow cytometer<sup>[21]</sup>. FL3 fluorescence was recorded for 10000 cells. Lethal dose 50 was determined with the BioStat 2009 software (AnalystSoft) as described in<sup>[22]</sup>.

#### Identification of LC3-II

LC3 has been used as a marker for autophagy. Cells treated with either L-carnitine, menadione (as before) and 3methyadenine (final concentration of 5 mmol/L) were harvested, washed twice in ice-cold PBS and resuspended in a RIPA solution (Tris-HCl, 20 mmol/L pH 8.0; 150 mmol/L NaCl, 2 mmol/L Na2EDTA; 1% NP-40; 0.5% sodium deoxycholate; 0.1% SDS, 5 mmol/L sodium fluoride) containing protease inhibitors (0.1 mmol/L phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 5 µg/mL aprotinin, 5  $\mu$ g/mL pepstatin A and 1  $\mu$ g/mL chymostatin). The lysate was spun at 13000 g for 20 min at 4 °C. Protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay. Proteins (20 µg) were separated on a 15% SDS-PAGE and transferred onto a PVDF membrane. The membrane was first incubated with antibodies directed against LC3 (Sigma L8918; 1:2000) and then with secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz, France) coupled with HRP (1:5000). Immunoreactive proteins were visualized on a Biorad Imager and bands size and density were measured using the Image Lab Software. The data were normalized against actin as an internal control.

#### Tbars production

C2C12 cells (10<sup>6</sup> cells) were harvested and homogeneized in a Tris-HCl buffer (150 mmol/L, pH 7.1) and Tbars production determined as in<sup>[23]</sup>. The results were expressed as nmoles of MDA produced per mg of proteins. Protein amount was determined using the Bicinchoninic Acid Protein Assay (Pierce, France) with BSA as a standard.

Flow cytometric measurement of the superoxide production in the mitochondria with the MitoSox Red dye MitoSoxRed labeling was carried out according as recommended by the manufacturer (Molecular Probes). Cells were harvested as above and resuspended in fresh medium. The reaction was carried out for 15 min at 37 °C in the dark with a final concentration of 5  $\mu$ mol/L of MitoSox Red<sup>[24]</sup>. The cells were then centrifuged at 600 × g for 3 min and resuspended in DPBS. Analysis was performed using a Facscan cytometer (BD - Bioscience), using 10000 cells and fluorescence was recorded with the FL3 channel.

# Flow cytometric measurement of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential ( $\Delta \psi_m$ ) using the 3,3' -dihexvloxacarbocvanine iodide dve

After treatment, the cells were harvested, the culture medium was removed and kept in a 15 mL tube; the cells were washed with DPBS and trypsinized. The culture medium, washing DPBS and trypsinized cells were pooled and centrifuged at 600 g during 3 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in fresh medium. dihexyloxacarbocyanine iodide [DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3)] labeling was carried out according to Molecular Probes recommendations; briefly cells were incubated 20 min at 37 °C with 20 nmol/L of DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3), cells were then centrifuged at 600  $\times$  g for 3 min then resuspended in DPBS. The analysis was performed using a Facscan cytometer, counting 10000 cells and recording fluorescence with the FL1 channel.

#### **Cellular organization**

Cells were grown on Labtek slides and treated as described above. After treatment, cells were labeled with MitoSox Red<sup>[25]</sup> and Hoechst 33342 (final concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/mL). After staining, cells were fixed with 4% formaldehyde in DPBS during 1 h. Cells were mounted in Dakocytomation fluorescence medium (Dako, Copenhagen, Denmark) and after solidification of the mounting medium, cells were observed with a LSM confocal microscope (Zeiss) in plane mode with an EC Plan-Neofluar objective (40 ×/1.30 Oil DIC M27).

#### Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SD. The statistical significance of differences between treatments was determined with KaleidaGraph (Synergy software) using the ANOVA test with Dunnett Post Hoc test.

#### RESULTS

#### Menadione alters mitochondrial membrane potential in C2C12 cells, L-carnitine restores mitochondrial membrane potential

The effect of menadione on mitochondrial integrity was estimated by monitoring potential variations using the potential sensitive fluorochrome  $DiOC_6(3)$ . In the absence of menadione, no effect of L-carnitine was observed. In the presence of menadione, a significant decrease in the mitochondrial transmembrane potential was observed (Figure 1). This decrease appeared to be dose-dependent: While 77% of the cells were able to accumulate the fluorochrome in the absence of menadione, only 51%





Figure 1 Protection against menadione-induced mitochondrial depolarization with L-carnitine. C2C12 cells were either untreated (white histogram) or pretreated with 500  $\mu$ mol/L of L-carnitine (dark histogram) and incubated for 24 h with desired concentration of menadione (from 0 to 12  $\mu$ mol/L). Mitochondria integrity was evaluated using DiOC6(3) probe staining; fluorescent cells were counted using a cytometer. Results are presented as the mean value  $\pm$  SD. Two different values (P < 0.005) are indicated by a star above the two histograms.

were concentrating the Dioc in the presence of 6  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione and the percentage decreased to respectively 8% and 6% at concentrations of menadione of 9 and 12  $\mu$ mol/L. L-carnitine treatment appeared to prevent menadione-induced loss of mitochondrial transmembrane potential. As shown on Figure 1, the number of cells able to preserve their mitochondrial transmembrane potential was much higher among the L-carnitine treated cells than among untreated cells. At 9  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione and in the presence of L-carnitine, 70% of the cells exhibited fluorescence. At 12  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione and in the presence of carnitine, the percentage of mitochondrial integrity was much lower than in control cells, but was still higher than in menadione-only treated cells.

#### Mitochondrial morphology is altered by menadione

To evaluate intracellular organization of the nucleus and the mitochondria, cells were stained with Hoechst 33342 and MitosoxRed. Cells mounted in fluorescence medium were observed with a LSM confocal microscope in plane mode (Figure 2). Control cells exhibited well identified mitochondria, with a homogeneous repartition in the cytoplasm; the same organization was observed in cells treated with L-carnitine. After treatment with 9  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione during 24 h, the mitochondria located around the nucleus. Such modifications were not observed on cells simultaneously treated with 500  $\mu$ mol/L L-carnitine and with 9  $\mu$ mol/L menadione for 24 h. In these conditions, mitochondria and cell structure were similar to those of control cells.

# L-carnitine prevents menadione-induced free radical generation in the mitochondria

The global ROS production was evaluated by the measure of thiobarbituric reactive species. Thars production in C2C12 cells was determined at intervals from 0 to 24 h after treatment with four different concentrations of menadione (0 µmol/L: Figure 3A; 6 µmol/L: Figure 3B; 9  $\mu$ mol/L: Figure 3C and 12  $\mu$ mol/L: Figure 3D). In the absence of menadione, no effect on Tbars production was observed and L-carnitine supplementation remained without effect. In the presence of 6 µmol/L of menadione, Tbars production increased after 6 h of treatment, and was found to be maximal after 8 h of treatment. L-carnitine supplementation fully inhibited this increase and no differences were found among L-carnitine treated cells. With a treatment of 9  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, Tbars production was increased earlier than before and a significant difference was observed after 2 h of treatment. The effect of menadione was maximal after 4 h of treatment. Again, L-carnitine addition fully abolished the effect of menadione and in the presence of L-carnitine, no increase in Tbars production was observed. In the presence of 12  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, the increase in Tbars production was rapid and appeared to be maximal after 2 h of treatment. L-carnitine supplementation was able to prevent this increase, even if one can observe a slight increase after 24 h of treatment (Figure 3A).

The mitochondrial generation of ROS was evaluated by analyzing C2C12 cells stained with MitosoxRed by flow cytometry. Carnitine treatment did not alter the basal production of mitochondrial ROS. Menadione treatment was found to induce an increase in the production of ROS in the mitochondria in a dose dependent manner. At a concentration of 6  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, a significant increase in the number of cells producing ROS was observed (Figure 3B) and when the concentration of menadione reached 9  $\mu$ mol/L, more than 90% of the cells produced ROS. L-carnitine treatment was able to decrease the mitochondrial production of ROS for concentrations of menadione less than 12  $\mu$ mol/L.

#### L-carnitine limits the autophagy process induced by menadione in C2C12 cells

Microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 (LC3) is considered as one of the more accurate markers for autophagy<sup>[26]</sup>. During the initiation of autophagy, a cytosolic form of LC3 (LC3- I) is conjugated to phosphatidylethanolamine leading to the formation of LC3- II <sup>[27]</sup>. Due to its hydrophobic property, the PE group increases the migration of the LC3 protein in a SDS-PAGE gel. We examined the changes in endogenous LC3 after menadione and carnitine treatments in C2C12 cells.

Menadione significantly increased the level of LC3-II proteins in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 4). L-carnitine treatment did not modify autophagy in control cells (*i.e.*, untreated with menadione). At the concentrations of 6 and 9  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, adding carnitine decreases the level of LC3-II significantly suggesting a protective effect of carnitine on autophagy. At the concentration of 12  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, L-carnitine supplementation remained ineffective in reducing autophagy. At this concentration, the level of LC3-II was found to be the same between L-carnitine treated and untreated cells.

#### Le Borgne F et al. L-carnitine limits superoxide production



Figure 2 Prevention of menadione-induced mitochondrial distribution with L-carnitine. C2C12 cells were either untreated or pretreated with 500 µmol/L of L-carnitine and incubated for 24 h with menadione (0 and 9 µmol/L). Nucleus and mitochondria morphology was evaluated after staining with Hoechst 33342 and MitoSoxRed, respectively. From left to right, staining with nuclei, mitochondria and both. Cells mounted in fluorescence medium were observed with a LSM confocal microscope. A: C2C12 untreated with menadione and untreated with L-carnitine; B: C2C12 pretreated with L-carnitine and untreated with menadione; C: C2C12 untreated with L-carnitine and treated with 2 µmol/L of menadione; D: C2C12 pretreated with L-carnitine and treated with 9 µmol/L of menadione.

# Menadione induces cell death in C2C12 cells, L-carnitine has a protective effect

Cell death was evaluated by flow cytometry by measuring membrane permeability to propidium iodide (PI) (Figure 5). Treatment with menadione induced a significant decrease in cell survival. At a concentration of 6  $\mu mol/L$  of menadione, only 51% of the cells remain unstained by PI. The cell survival decreased as the menadione con-



Figure 3 Characterization of reactive oxygen species production. A-D: Tbars production was determined in C2C12 cells in the presence of various amounts of menadione from 1 to 24 h. Results were expressed in percentage of the control cell Tbars production. Tbars production was analyzed in the presence of 0 (A), 6 (B), 9 (C) and 12  $\mu$ mol/L (D) of menadione in control cells (empty circles and dashed line) and in cells pre-treated with 500  $\mu$ mol/L of carnitine (black squares and full line). An asterisk on top of a symbol indicates a significant difference (P < 0.05); E: Superoxide anion production at the mitochondrial level on menadione-treated C2C12 cells with MitoSoxRed. C2C12 cells were either untreated (white histogram) or pretreated with 500  $\mu$ mol/L of L-carnitine (black histogram) and incubated for 24 h with desired concentration of menadione (from 0 to 12  $\mu$ mol/L). MitoSoxRed (MSR) is a cell permeable dye that is targeted to the mitochondria, it is oxidized by superoxide and exhibit red fluorescence. Superoxide production was measured by cytometry after staining with MSR. Results are presented as the mean value ± SD. A star on the top of two histograms indicates statistical difference (P < 0.05) between these two values (Untreated *vs* L-carnitine treated cells).

centration increased.

Noteworthy, cells treated with L-carnitine were less sensitive to menadione. Whatever the concentration of menadione was, the number of viable cells was always higher with L-carnitine treatment. At a concentration of 9  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, only 5% of C2C12 cells cultured in the absence of L-carnitine remained unstained by PI and in the presence of L-carnitine, 79% were unstained. In the presence of 12  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, 23% of cells treated with L-carnitine were viable and this percentage was only of 5% in cells untreated with L-carnitine.

#### DISCUSSION

Due to the high rate of oxidative processes and the abundance of myoglobin, muscle cells are very susceptible to ROS damage which are responsible of various types of damages that can lead to cell death or to cell ineffectiveness<sup>[28]</sup>. It has been shown that ROS are implicated in the normal aging process but also in pathological processes. Muscle diseases like Duchenne

muscular dystrophy make muscle cells more susceptible to ROS damages<sup>[29,30]</sup>, leading to premature death or malfunction. Menadione (2-methyl-1, 4-naphthoquinone, vitamin K<sub>3</sub>) is a quinone-containing compound. Reductive enzymes such as microsomal NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase and mitochondrial NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase are able to metabolize menadione with the subsequent formation of unstable semiquinones. These molecules can enter into a redox cycle with molecular oxygen leading to the formation of quinone and the generation of reactive oxygen species, including H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup> and, in the presence of metal ions, to OH•<sup>[31]</sup>. Menadione is widely used to study the oxidative stress on various types of cells<sup>[29,31,32]</sup>.

In this study, we showed that menadione induced an oxidative stress in C2C12 cells leading to cell death. The lethal dose 50 was calculated and found to be 6  $\mu$ mol/L. In addition, menadione induced a significant increase in ROS generation in the mitochondria; at a dose of 6  $\mu$ mol/L of menadione, more than 67% of the cells were over producing ROS. Menadione was also able to



Figure 4 Menadione induces autophagy in C2C12 cells. A: Western blot for the determination of LC3 I and II forms. Initial cells were either treated with L-carnitine, menadione or 3-MA; B: LC3- I and II isoforms were detected by western blotting and quantified. The ratio between I and II forms was calculated and plotted in this figure. The black squares represent L-carnitine treated cells whereas empty circles represent C2C12 cells that were not pretreated with L-carnitine. Empty squares represent cells treated with 5 mmol/ L of 3-MA. Each point is the mean of 4 independent experiments (± standard values). For each concentration of menadione, a star indicates a significant difference between untreated and L-carnitine treated cells (P < 0.05).

induce autophagy in C2C12 cells. The oxidative stress is also associated with a rearrangement in mitochondrial distribution inside the muscle cell. This aspect is also encountered in several diseases associated with a loss of myofibrillar organization (*e.g.*, cells lacking desmin<sup>[33]</sup> or plectin<sup>[34]</sup>). It is very likely that the change in mitochondrial distribution impacts cell function.

The data presented in this paper are partly in agreement with those of Chiou et al<sup>[32]</sup> who described that menadione (used on C2C12 in a culture medium without FCS) was able to induce massive cell death. Privation of serum for C2C12 cells is known to initiate differentiation and deeply changes the phenotype of the cells<sup>[35]</sup>. In our experimental conditions, L-carnitine was added before the induction of the oxidative stress by menadione and appeared to protect C2C12 cells against ROS damages. For any concentration of menadione, L-carnitine treatment protected cells against menadione toxicity. This phenomenon is observed at all tested menadione concentrations and while the LD50 of untreated C2C12 was 6  $\mu$ mol/L, in the presence of L-carnitine, the LD50 was calculated at 11 µmol/L. In C2C12 cells, L-carnitine supplementation was able to diminish cell death but also to reduce ROS production and to protect against mitochondrial transmembrane depolarization.

Currently, it is known that L-carnitine is a cofactor in the channeling of fatty acids inside the cell. It is involved in fatty acid oxidation by playing a role of cofactor in



Figure 5 Protection of menadione-induced C2C12 cell death by L-carnitine. C2C12 cells were either untreated (white histogram) or pretreated with 500  $\mu$ mol/L of L-carnitine (dark histogram) and incubated for 24 h with desired concentration of menadione (from 0 to 12  $\mu$ mol/L). Cell survival was evaluated by the analysis of membrane permeability to PI measured by flow cytometry. Each value represents the average percentage of viable cells remaining in the total population  $\pm$  standard values. Black histograms indicate the proportion (%) of C2C12 that was not PI positive. White histograms indicate the proportion (%) of C2C12 pretreated with L-carnitine that was not PI positive. A star on top of two histograms indicates a significant difference between untreated and L-carnitine treated cells (P < 0.05).

the transport of acyl groups across the mitochondrial membrane<sup>[36]</sup>. Beside its role in fatty acid oxidation, L-carnitine, added to the food, has been shown to counteract some effects associated with aging on mitochondria and on muscle<sup>[37-39]</sup>. Moreover, L-carnitine has been shown to prevent oxidative stress, to regulate nitric oxide production and to control the activity of enzymes involved in the defense against oxidative damage<sup>[40]</sup> and mitochondrial dysfunction<sup>[41]</sup>. Among the enzymes whose activity is protected by L-carnitine are found the catalase and the superoxide dismutase<sup>[42]</sup>, two of three major enzymes involved in ROS detoxification. In this study we were able to prove that L-carnitine may act on the intracellular ROS status either by decreasing mitochondrial ROS production, either by increasing defense against these reactive molecules produced in mitochondria, or either by scavenging ROS at the mitochondrial level.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the Association Française contre les Myopathies for financial support.

#### COMMENTS

#### Background

By controlling metabolism, L-carnitine seems to be able to limit reactive oxygen species (ROS) production under certain circumstances. In this paper, the protective effect of L-carnitine was assessed on muscle cells. L-carnitine appeared to limit ROS production in muscle cells and protecting them against oxidative stress.

#### **Research frontiers**

Muscle is a tissue with a high concentration of mitochondria and likely to produce high level of ROS. ROS may then induce oxidative stress and damage to muscle cells. Protecting muscle cells against oxidative stress was the authors' objective.

#### Le Borgne F et al. L-carnitine limits superoxide production

#### Applications

Limiting oxidative stress may find many applications, especially in limiting damage to cells, organs and tissues.

#### Terminology

Oxidative stress theory: In this theory, highly reactive molecules, related to oxygen, interact and finally alter some vital molecules, leading to disease and sometimes to death. Carnitine: A small molecule that is involved in the metabolism of fat. Autophagy: Autophagy is a cellular mechanism consisting in the partial degradation of the cell cytoplasm by its own lysosomes. Depending on the circumstances, autophagy may lead to a large spectrum of effects: From cell repair to cell death.

#### Peer-review

The manuscript is interesting. The main objective study was to evaluate the beneficial effect that L-carnitine treatment may exert on muscle cells undergoing an oxidative stress.

#### REFERENCES

- Tidball JG, Wehling-Henricks M. The role of free radicals in the pathophysiology of muscular dystrophy. *J Appl Physiol* (1985) 2007; 102: 1677-1686 [PMID: 17095633 DOI: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.01145.2006]
- 2 Davalli P, Mitic T, Caporali A, Lauriola A, D'Arca D. ROS, Cell Senescence, and Novel Molecular Mechanisms in Aging and Age-Related Diseases. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* 2016; 2016: 3565127 [PMID: 27247702 DOI: 10.1155/2016/3565127]
- 3 Wang Y. Bulky DNA lesions induced by reactive oxygen species. *Chem Res Toxicol* 2008; **21**: 276-281 [PMID: 18189366 DOI: 10.1021/tx700411g]
- 4 Kahl R, Kampkötter A, Wätjen W, Chovolou Y. Antioxidant enzymes and apoptosis. *Drug Metab Rev* 2004; 36: 747-62 [PMID: 15554245 DOI: 10.1081/DMR-200033488]
- 5 Hibaoui Y, Roulet E, Ruegg UT. Melatonin prevents oxidative stress-mediated mitochondrial permeability transition and death in skeletal muscle cells. *J Pineal Res* 2009; 47: 238-252 [PMID: 19664004 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-079X.2009.00707.x]
- 6 Grundman M, Grundman M, Delaney P. Antioxidant strategies for Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Nutr Soc* 2002; 61: 191-202 [PMID: 12133201 DOI: 10.1079/PNS2002146]
- Littarru GP, Tiano L. Bioenergetic and antioxidant properties of coenzyme Q10: recent developments. *Mol Biotechnol* 2007; 37: 31-37 [PMID: 17914161 DOI: 10.1007/s12033-007-0052-y]
- 8 Block KI, Koch AC, Mead MN, Tothy PK, Newman RA, Gyllenhaal C. Impact of antioxidant supplementation on chemotherapeutic toxicity: a systematic review of the evidence from randomized controlled trials. *Int J Cancer* 2008; **123**: 1227-1239 [PMID: 18623084 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.23754]
- 9 Demarquoy J. L-carnitine: Structure and Function., In: eLS. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, 2011. Available from: URL: http:// www.els.net
- 10 Demarquoy J, Georges B, Rigault C, Royer M, Clairet A, Soty M, Lekounougou S, Le Borgne F. Radioisotopic determination of -carnitine content in foods commonly eaten in Western countries. *Food Chemistry* 2004; 86: 137-142 [DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem. 2003.09.023]
- 11 Rigault C, Le Borgne F, Demarquoy J. Genomic structure, alternative maturation and tissue expression of the human BBOX1 gene. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2006; 1761: 1469-1481 [PMID: 17110165 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2006.09.014]
- 12 Rigault C, Le Borgne F, Tazir B, Benani A, Demarquoy J. A high-fat diet increases L-carnitine synthesis through a differential maturation of the Bbox1 mRNAs. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2013; 1831: 370-377 [PMID: 23127966 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2012.10.007]
- 13 Siliprandi N, Sartorelli L, Ciman M, Di Lisa F. Carnitine: metabolism and clinical chemistry. *Clin Chim Acta* 1989; 183: 3-11 [PMID: 2670337 DOI: 10.1016/0009-8981(89)90267-2]

- 14 Longo N, Amat di San Filippo C, Pasquali M. Disorders of carnitine transport and the carnitine cycle. *Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet* 2006; 142: 77-85 [PMID: 16602102 DOI: 10.1002/ ajmg.c.30087]
- 15 Le Borgne F, Ben Mohamed A, Logerot M, Garnier E, Demarquoy J. Changes in carnitine octanoyltransferase activity induce alteration in fatty acid metabolism. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2011; 409: 699-704 [PMID: 21619872 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.05.068]
- 16 Huang H, Liu N, Guo H, Liao S, Li X, Yang C, Liu S, Song W, Liu C, Guan L, Li B, Xu L, Zhang C, Wang X, Dou QP, Liu J.L-carnitine is an endogenous HDAC inhibitor selectively inhibiting cancer cell growth in vivo and in vitro. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e49062 [PMID: 23139833 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049062]
- 17 DiMauro S, Hirano M, Schon EA. Approaches to the treatment of mitochondrial diseases. *Muscle Nerve* 2006; 34: 265-283 [PMID: 16810684 DOI: 10.1002/mus.20598]
- 18 Westerblad H, Allen DG. Emerging roles of ROS/RNS in muscle function and fatigue. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2011; 15: 2487-2499 [PMID: 21375476 DOI: 10.1089/ars.2011.3909]
- 19 Zuo L, Pannell BK2.Redox Characterization of Functioning Skeletal Muscle. *Front Physiol* 2015; 6: 338 [PMID: 26635624 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00338]
- 20 Comporti M. Three models of free radical-induced cell injury. Chem Biol Interact 1989; 72: 1-56 [PMID: 2684438 DOI: 10.1016/ 0009-2797(89)90016-1]
- 21 Zhang L, Mizumoto K, Sato N, Ogawa T, Kusumoto M, Niiyama H, Tanaka M. Quantitative determination of apoptotic death in cultured human pancreatic cancer cells by propidium iodide and digitonin. *Cancer Lett* 1999; **142**: 129-137 [PMID: 10463768 DOI: 10.1016/S0304-3835(99)00107-X]
- 22 Rosiello AP, Essignmann JM, Wogan GN. Rapid and accurate determination of the median lethal dose (LD50) and its error with a small computer. *J Toxicol Environ* Health 1977; 3: 797-809 [PMID:599579 DOI: 10.1080/15287397709529614]
- 23 Buege JA, Aust SD. Microsomal lipid peroxidation. *Methods Enzymol* 1978; **52**: 302-310 [PMID: 672633 DOI: 10.1016/S0076-6879(78)52032-6]
- 24 Robinson KM, Janes MS, Beckman JS. The selective detection of mitochondrial superoxide by live cell imaging. *Nat Protoc* 2008; 3: 941-947 [PMID: 18536642 DOI: 10.1038/nprot.2008.56]
- 25 Marella M, Seo BB, Matsuno-Yagi A, Yagi T. Mechanism of cell death caused by complex I defects in a rat dopaminergic cell line. *J Biol Chem* 2007; 282: 24146-24156 [PMID: 17581813 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M701819200]
- 26 Mancias JD, Kimmelman AC. Mechanisms of Selective Autophagy in Normal Physiology and Cancer. J Mol Biol 2016; 428: 1659-1680 [PMID: 26953261 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2016.02.027]
- 27 Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E. LC3 and Autophagy. *Methods Mol Biol* 2008; 445: 77-88 [PMID: 18425443 DOI: 10.1007/978-1 -59745-157-4\_4]
- 28 Mattiasson G. Analysis of mitochondrial generation and release of reactive oxygen species. *Cytometry A* 2004; 62: 89-96 [PMID: 15517564 DOI: 10.1002/cyto.a.20089]
- 29 Rando TA, Crowley RS, Carlson EJ, Epstein CJ, Mohapatra PK. Overexpression of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase: a novel cause of murine muscular dystrophy. *Ann Neurol* 1998; 44: 381-386 [PMID: 9749606 DOI: 10.1002/ana.410440315]
- 30 Disatnik MH, Dhawan J, Yu Y, Beal MF, Whirl MM, Franco AA, Rando TA. Evidence of oxidative stress in mdx mouse muscle: studies of the pre-necrotic state. *J Neurol Sci* 1998; 161: 77-84 [PMID: 9879685 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-510X(98)00258-5]
- 31 Criddle DN, Gillies S, Baumgartner-Wilson HK, Jaffar M, Chinje EC, Passmore S, Chvanov M, Barrow S, Gerasimenko OV, Tepikin AV, Sutton R, Petersen OH. Menadione-induced reactive oxygen species generation via redox cycling promotes apoptosis of murine pancreatic acinar cells. *J Biol Chem* 2006; 281: 40485-40492 [PMID: 17088248 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M607704200]
- 32 Chiou TJ, Chu ST, Tzeng WF. Protection of cells from menadioneinduced apoptosis by inhibition of lipid peroxidation. *Toxicology* 2003; **191**: 77-88 [PMID: 12965111 DOI: 10.1016/S0300-483X (03)00189-6]

#### Le Borgne F et al. L-carnitine limits superoxide production

- 33 Milner DJ, Mavroidis M, Weisleder N, Capetanaki Y. Desmin cytoskeleton linked to muscle mitochondrial distribution and respiratory function. *J Cell Biol* 2000; 150: 1283-1298 [PMID: 10995435 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.150.6.1283]
- 34 Winter L, Kuznetsov AV, Grimm M, Zeöld A, Fischer I, Wiche G. Plectin isoform P1b and P1d deficiencies differentially affect mitochondrial morphology and function in skeletal muscle. *Hum Mol Genet* 2015; 24: 4530-4544 [PMID: 26019234 DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddv184]
- 35 Blau HM, Pavlath GK, Hardeman EC, Chiu CP, Silberstein L, Webster SG, Miller SC, Webster C. Plasticity of the differentiated state. *Science* 1985; 230: 758-766 [PMID: 2414846 DOI: 10.1126/ science.2414846]
- 36 Zammit VA, Ramsay RR, Bonomini M, Arduini A. Carnitine, mitochondrial function and therapy. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2009; 61: 1353-1362 [PMID: 19716391 DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.04.024]
- 37 Kumaran S, Subathra M, Balu M, Panneerselvam C. Supplementation of L-carnitine improves mitochondrial enzymes in heart and skeletal muscle of aged rats. *Exp Aging Res* 2005; 31: 55-67 [PMID: 15842073 DOI: 10.1080/03610730590882846]

- 38 Le Borgne F, Guyot S, Logerot M, Beney L, Gervais P, Demarquoy J. Exploration of lipid metabolism in relation with plasma membrane properties of Duchenne muscular dystrophy cells: influence of L-carnitine. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e49346 [PMID: 23209572 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049346]
- 39 Bernard A, Rigault C, Mazue F, Le Borgne F, Demarquoy J. L-carnitine supplementation and physical exercise restore ageassociated decline in some mitochondrial functions in the rat. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2008; 63: 1027-1033 [PMID: 18948552 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/63.10.1027]
- Kremser K, Stangl H, Pahan K, Singh I. Nitric oxide regulates peroxisomal enzyme activities. *Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem* 1995; 33: 763-774 [PMID: 8620052 DOI: 10.1515/cclm.1995.33.11.763]
- 41 Lohrke B, Xu J, Weitzel JM, Kruger B, Goldammer T, Viergutz T. N-acetylcysteine impairs survival of luteal cells through mitochondrial dysfunction. *Cytometry A* 2010; 77: 310-320 [PMID: 20151456 DOI: 10.1002/cyto.a.20873]
- 42 **Binienda ZK**, Ali SF. Neuroprotective role of L-carnitine in the 3-nitropropionic acid induced neurotoxicity. *Toxicol Lett* 2001; **125**: 67-73 [PMID: 11701224 DOI: 10.1016/S0378-4274(01)00415-5]

P- Reviewer: Cui YP, Freire-De-Lima CG S- Editor: Song XX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D







# **Biological Chemistry**

Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/

DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.95

World J Biol Chem 2017 February 26; 8(1): 95-101

ISSN 1949-8454 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Case Control Study**

### Device-associated infection rates, mortality, length of stay and bacterial resistance in intensive care units in Ecuador: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium's findings

Estuardo Salgado Yepez, Maria M Bovera, Victor D Rosenthal, Hugo A González Flores, Leonardo Pazmiño, Francisco Valencia, Nelly Alguinga, Vanessa Ramirez, Edgar Jara, Miguel Lascano, Veronica Delgado, Cristian Cevallos, Gasdali Santacruz, Cristian Pelaéz, Celso Zaruma, Diego Barahona Pinto

Estuardo Salgado Yepez, Hugo A González Flores, Francisco Valencia, Vanessa Ramirez, Miguel Lascano, Cristian Cevallos, Cristian Pelaéz, Clínica la Merced, Quito 170401, Ecuador

Maria M Bovera, Leonardo Pazmiño, Nelly Alquinga, Edgar Jara, Veronica Delgado, Gasdali Santacruz, Celso Zaruma, Diego Barahona Pinto, Hospital de los Valles, Quito 170901, Ecuador

Victor D Rosenthal, International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium, Buenos Aires 1429, Argentina

Author contributions: All authors were involved in study conception and design, drafting of the manuscript, provision of study patients, collection of data, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and final approval of the manuscript; Rosenthal VD was responsible for software development, data assembly, analysis, and interpretation, epidemiologic analysis, statistical analysis and technical support.

Institutional review board statement: Every hospital's Institutional Review Board agreed to the study protocol, and patient confidentiality was protected by codifying the recorded information, making it only identifiable to the infection control team

Informed consent statement: All involved persons (subjects or legally authorized representative) gave their informed consent prior to study inclusion.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors report no conflicts of interest related to this article.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at victor rosenthal@inicc.org.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Victor D Rosenthal, MD, Chairman, International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium, 11 de Septiembre 4567, Floor 12, Apt 1201, Buenos Aires 1429, Argentina. victor rosenthal@inicc.org Telephone: +54-11-47047227

Received: September 17, 2016 Peer-review started: September 19, 2016 First decision: November 14, 2016 Revised: December 31, 2016 Accepted: January 16, 2017 Article in press: January 18, 2017 Published online: February 26, 2017

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To report the results of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) study conducted in Quito, Ecuador.

#### **METHODS**

A device-associated healthcare-acquired infection (DA-



HAI) prospective surveillance study conducted from October 2013 to January 2015 in 2 adult intensive care units (ICUs) from 2 hospitals using the United States Centers for Disease Control/National Healthcare Safety Network (CDC/NHSN) definitions and INICC methods.

#### RESULTS

We followed 776 ICU patients for 4818 bed-days. The central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) rate was 6.5 per 1000 central line (CL)-days, the ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP) rate was 44.3 per 1000 mechanical ventilator (MV)-days, and the catheterassociated urinary tract infection (CAUTI) rate was 5.7 per 1000 urinary catheter (UC)-days. CLABSI and CAUTI rates in our ICUs were similar to INICC rates [4.9 (CLABSI) and 5.3 (CAUTI)] and higher than NHSN rates [0.8 (CLABSI) and 1.3 (CAUTI)] - although device use ratios for CL and UC were higher than INICC and CDC/NSHN's ratios. By contrast, despite the VAP rate was higher than INICC (16.5) and NHSN's rates (1.1), MV DUR was lower in our ICUs. Resistance of A. baumannii to imipenem and meropenem was 75.0%, and of Pseudomonas aeruginosa to ciprofloxacin and piperacillin-tazobactam was higher than 72.7%, all them higher than CDC/NHSN rates. Excess length of stay was 7.4 d for patients with CLABSI, 4.8 for patients with VAP and 9.2 for patients CAUTI. Excess crude mortality in ICUs was 30.9% for CLABSI, 14.5% for VAP and 17.6% for CAUTI.

#### CONCLUSION

DA-HAI rates in our ICUs from Ecuador are higher than United States CDC/NSHN rates and similar to INICC international rates.

Key words: Ventilator-associated pneumonia; Catheterassociated urinary tract infection; Healthcare-associated infection; Antibiotic resistance; Developing countries; Intensive care unit; Surveillance; Central line-associated bloodstream infections; Hospital infection

© **The Author(s) 2017.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** This is a prospective, cohort, surveillance study on device-associated infection rates, mortality, length of stay and bacterial resistance conducted in intensive care units (ICUs) in Ecuador from October 2013 to January 2015. Device-associated healthcare-acquired infection rates in our ICUs from Ecuador are significantly higher than United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Healthcare Safety Network's rates and similar to International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium's international rates.

Salgado Yepez E, Bovera MM, Rosenthal VD, González Flores HA, Pazmiño L, Valencia F, Alquinga N, Ramirez V, Jara E, Lascano M, Delgado V, Cevallos C, Santacruz G, Pelaéz C, Zaruma C, Barahona Pinto D. Device-associated infection rates, mortality, length of stay and bacterial resistance in intensive care

units in Ecuador: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium's findings. *World J Biol Chem* 2017; 8(1): 95-101 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8454/full/v8/ i1/95.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v8.i1.95

#### INTRODUCTION

Device-associated healthcare-acquired infections (DA-HAIs) are one of the main threats to the safety of patients, causing patient morbidity, mortality, excess costs and prolonged length of hospital stay (LOS), particularly in intensive care settings of limited-resource countries<sup>[1-3]</sup>.

Multifaceted infection prevention programs integrating target DA-HAI surveillance methods were proved effective in several United States studies, which showed the occurrence of DA-HAI could be reduced by more than 30%, along with an analogous reduction in DA-HAIrelated hospital costs<sup>[4]</sup>.

Antimicrobial-resistant infections is another primary issue that needs to be addressed in infection control programs in order to prevent the spread of resistant strains through the report of DA-HAI-associated pathogens and their susceptibility to antibiotics<sup>[5]</sup>.

During the last four decades, the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)'s National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN)<sup>[6]</sup> has developed benchmarking data on DA-HAIs in intensive care unit (ICU) patients, which has afforded the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) an essential insight<sup>[5]</sup>.

The INICC is an open, international, non-profit, collaborative healthcare-associated infection (HAI) control network comprised of 2000 hospitals in 500 different cities in 66 countries in Africa, Asia, Eastern Europe, Latin America and the Middle East transcontinental region<sup>[5,7]</sup>. Since it was established in 1998 in Argentina, it has been the first multi centre surveillance and research network centered on the reduction of the rates of DA-HAI in the ICU and of hospital-wide surgical site infections through tools and resources provided for free to healthcare centers to assist them in with the prevention and control this public health burden through the implementation of infection prevention programs<sup>[6-9]</sup>. The INICC network operates by means of an online surveillance system - the INICC Surveillance Online System (ISOS) - and a systematic multidimensional approach - the INICC Multidimensional Approach (IMA) - whose effectiveness for the decrease of DA-HAI rates was shown in the scientific literature<sup>[8-23]</sup>. The ISOS applies the definitions of HAIs developed by the CDC/NHSN and standardized methodologies, thereby promoting applied research and evidence-based infection prevention practices.

This is the first study to report an analysis of data on DA-HAI rates from Ecuador using ISOS between October 2013 and January 2015 in 2 ICUs from 2 hospitals of the INICC network<sup>[5]</sup>.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Background on INICC**

The INICC is focused on the surveillance and prevention of HAI in adult, pediatric ICUs and neonatal ICUs, step down units, inpatient wards, and of surgical site infections in surgical procedures hospital wide<sup>[5]</sup>. Through the ISOS, INICC provides free training and surveillance tools to hospitals worldwide, which allows them to measure HAI consequences, and to evaluate the impact of infection control and prevention practices<sup>[24]</sup>.

#### Study design and setting

This is a prospective surveillance, cohort study made on all the patients admitted, between October 2013 and January 2015, to 2 adult medical/surgical ICUs from 2 medium-sized hospitals (1 private and 1 public hospital) in Quito, Ecuador, through the implementation of the IMA. The IMA uses 6 components for HAI control to be applied simultaneously, as follows: (1) bundles of infection control interventions; (2) educational and training sessions; (3) outcome surveillance on HAI-related rates; (4) process surveillance; (5) feedback on HAI rates and their related adverse effects; and (6) feedback on health care workers' performance<sup>[5]</sup>.

In accordance with the INICC protocol, hospitals' identities are kept under confidentiality and patient data was anonymized. Due to the fact that this was an epidemiological surveillance study, which did not include tests of experimental drugs, biomedical devices or products, and that patient data were anonymized, an informed consent was not necessary according to the ethics committees that evaluated and approved the study.

#### ISOS

The ISOS applied CDC/NSHN's methods and definitions published in January 2015<sup>[25]</sup>, and also included INICC methodology. The methods developed by the CDC/NSHN to determine HAI rates indicate that the numerators are the total number of each type of HAIs, and the denominators are the device days recorded from all ICU patients, in the form of pooled data; that is, the number of device days and the characteristics of a particular patient are not calculated<sup>[25]</sup>. By contrast, the INICC methodology, through the implementation of the ISOS, included the collection of data per specific patient, from all ICU patients (with and without HAI), including surrogates of HAI (low blood pressure, high temperature, antibiotic therapy, results of cultures, LOS and mortality), and data on risk factors, including invasive devices. To have data on all ICU patients enabled a match of patients with and without HAI by various patient features necessary to calculate excess mortality, LOS and HAIrelated hospital cost<sup>[5]</sup>.

#### Analysis and collection of data

Infection control professionals (ICPs) uploaded their daily-collected data on DA-HAIs using ISOS. Data on

central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI), ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP), and catheterassociated urinary tract infection (CAUTI), denominator data, patient-days and specific device-days in the ICUs were used to determine the rates of each DA-HAI per 1000 device days, LOS and mortality, as follows: (1) device days equaled the number of central line (CL)-days, mechanical ventilator (MV)-days and urinary catheter (UC)-days; (2) DA-HAI crude excess mortality equaled crude mortality of patients with DA-HAI hospitalized in the ICU minus crude mortality of ICU patients who had not acquired a DA-HAI; (3) DA-HAI crude excess LOS equaled crude LOS of patients with DA-HAI hospitalized in the ICU minus crude LOS of patients ICU patients who had not acquired a DA-HAI; and (4) Device utilization ratio (DUR) equaled the number of device days divided by the number of bed days<sup>[5]</sup>.

#### Training

ICPs were trained at hospitals by the INICC team. Instruction manuals, training tools and tutorial movies describing in detail how to conduct surveillance and upload data to ISOS were also provided to ICPs. Finally, ICPs received technical and methodological support from the INICC team *via* email, telephone calls and webinars.

#### Definitions

The ISOS applied the definitions and criteria published in 2015 by CDC's NHSN for HAI surveillance<sup>[25]</sup>.

#### Statistical analysis

Data analysis and the calculation of rates of DA-HAI, LOS, mortality, device utilization were done using ISOS version 2.0 (City of Buenos Aires, Argentina). Relative risk ratios, *P*-values and 95% confidence intervals were calculated using SPSS 16.0 (SPSS Inc. an IBM company, Chicago, Illinois, United States) and EpiInfo<sup>®</sup> version 6.04b (CDC, Atlanta, GA, United States). The statistical review of the study was done by a biomedical statistician.

#### RESULTS

From October  $1^{st}$  2013 to January  $30^{th}$  2015, 776 patients were admitted to the 2 participating medical/surgical ICUs, for a total of 4818 bed days. During the study period, the mean length of participation of each ICU was as follows: + SD 14.5 + 2.1 mo, range from 13 to 16 mo.

Table 1 provides data on crude excess LOS and mortality in all patients (with and without DA-HAI) admitted to the ICUs over the period of study. CLABSI was associated with the highest pooled excess mortality in the ICUs. The excess LOS of patients with CAUTI was the greatest among the analyzed DA-HAIs.

Table 2 shows the DA-HAI rates and related results of this report from Ecuador benchmarked against the INICC report of data from 43 countries for the period 2007-2012, against the United States CDC/NHSN report of 2013 and against the United States NHSN report of 2009-2010<sup>[6,26,27]</sup>.



stay, of adult intensive care unit patients with and without device-associated healthcare-acquired infection							
Patients	Patients, n	Deaths, <i>n</i>	Pooled crude mortality, %	Pooled crude excess mortality, % (95%CI)	LOS, total days	Pooled average, LOS (d)	Pooled average, excess LOS (d) (95%CI)
Without DA-HAI	678	107	15.80	-	3579	5.3	
With CLABSI	15	7	46.70	30.9 (8.1-54.7)	190	12.7	7.4 (5.8-9.2)
With CAUTI	12	4	33.30	17.6 (-3.2-46.4)	174	14.5	9.2 (7.3-11.4)
With VAP	43	13	30.20	14.5 (4.1-27.4)	434	10.1	4.8 (4.1-5.7)

DA-HAI: Device-associated healthcare-acquired infection; CLABSI: Central line-associated bloodstream infection; VAP: Ventilator-associated pneumonia; CAUTI: Catheter-associated urinary tract infection; LOS: Length of stay.

DA-HAI rates pooled means were as follows: 6.5 (n, 39) CLASBIs per 1000 CL-days, with a DUR of 1.24 for 5998 CL-days; 44.3 (n, 69) VAPs per 1000 MV-days, with a DUR of 0.32 for 1559 MV-days, and 5.7 (n, 21) CAUTIS per 1000 UC-days, with a DUR of 0.77 for 3699 UC-days.

Overall, our CLABSI and CAUTI rates were similar to the INICC report data, but our VAP rate was substantially higher than INICC's. On the other hand, the incidence rates of DA-HAI were higher compared with United States NHSN report data. Our DURs for CL and UC were higher compared both to United States NHSN's and INICC's; however, our DUR for MV was lower than INICC's. Most of the resistance rates found in our ICUs were significantly higher than those found in the US ICUs as reported by the CDC's NHSN.

#### DISCUSSION

DA-HAIs in Ecuador have not been systematically analyzed in the scientific literature to date. The incidence of DA-HAIs in this study is significantly higher than other recent analogous studies carried out in Latin America. In Colombia, it was recently shown that DA-HAI rates per 1000 device days were higher than ours: The CLABSI rate was 47.4, the VAP rate was 32.3, and the CAUTI rate was 20.3<sup>[28]</sup>. By contrast, pooled crude mortality was higher in our study than in a study conducted in Colombia, whose findings showed the crude unadjusted mortality attributable to DA-HAI was 18.5% for patients with CLABSI (95%CI: 1.42-2.87); 16.9% for patients with VAP (95%CI: 1.24-3.00); and 10.5% for patients with CAUTI (95%CI: 0.78-3.18)<sup>[28]</sup>. In Peru, Cuellar et al<sup>[29]</sup> found a CAUTI rate of 5.1 per 1000 UC days, a VAP rate of 31.3 per 1000 MV days and a CLABSI rate of 7.7 per 1000 CL-days. In a comparable study conducted in Brazil, Salomao et al<sup>[30]</sup> found a rate of 20.9 VAPs per 1000 MV days, a CAUTI rate of 9.6 per 1000 UC days and a CLABSI rate of 9.1 per 1000 CL days.

The statistically significantly higher rates of DA-HAI rates and DURs found in the analyzed ICUs of Ecuador compared with the rates reported by the US CDC's NHSN represent the current burden of HAIs in high-income countries<sup>[6]</sup>. On the other hand, CLAB and CAUTI rates found in the international INICC Report (2007-2012) for 43 countries<sup>[26]</sup>, which would represent middle and low-income economies, were similar to our rates, although

our pooled DURs were higher for CL and UC<sup>(6,26)</sup>. By contrast, although our VAP rate was remarkably higher than INICC's, our DUR for MV was lower, which means there are other risk factors different from DURs influencing DA-HAI rates. Regarding antimicrobial resistance, the resistance percentages found in this study were also higher than those found in United States CDC's NHSN<sup>[27]</sup> and INICC<sup>[26]</sup> reports' for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* as resistant to piperacillin-tazobactam, ciprofloxacin, amikacin, and imipenem or meropenem, as well as the resistance percentages determined for *Acinetobacter baumanii* to imipenem or meropenem.

Different factors can elucidate the possible reasons for these higher DA-HAI rates compared with the United States CDC's NHSN and INICC's reports. As also occurs in other developing countries, we consider that adherence to infection control bundles in Ecuador is variable, there is frequently a low nurse-patient staffing ratio (with a nurse-patient ratio higher than 4:1) and the number of experienced nurses or trained healthcare workers is deficient - which has been demonstrated as significantly associated with considerably high DA-HAI incidence rates in the ICU patient<sup>[31]</sup>. In addition, there is hospital over-crowding. According to World Health Organization standards<sup>[32]</sup>, there should be between 8 and 10 hospital beds available per 1000 persons, but in 2011, in Ecuador, there were only 1.5 per 1000, with many hospitals remaining at full capacity<sup>[33]</sup>.

The risk of infection of patients hospitalized in ICUs can be reduced though the implementation of surveillance targeted on DA-HAI, because it is successful to focus on characteristics of the burden of DA-HAIs. These surveillance data is necessary to increase ICPS's sensitivity and aids them to detecting HAIs and avoiding underreporting<sup>[5]</sup>.

In addition, surveillance should be complemented with the performance of other practices for DA-HAI control and prevention<sup>[34,35]</sup>. Therefore, INICC has played a crucial by facilitating free infection prevention tools and resources through the use of ISOS, as well as by fostering increasing awareness about the risks posed by DA-HAIs amongst health care professionals<sup>[5,36]</sup>.

#### Limitations

The difference in time periods for the diverse data sources was not considered for the benchmarking of our findings against the United States CDC's NSHN and



Table 2 Benchmarking of device-associated healthcare-acquired infection rates, device utilization and antimicrobial resistance in this report against the report of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (2007-2012) and the reports of the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Healthcare Safety Network data (2013 and 2009-2010)

	This report 95%Cl	INICC report (2007-2012) <sup>[26]</sup> 95%Cl	United States CDC/NHSN report (2013) <sup>[6]</sup> /2009-2010 <sup>[27]</sup>
Medical/surgical ICU			
Central line, DUR	1.24 (1.21-1.27)	0.54 (0.54-0.54)	0.37
CLABSI rate	6.5 (4.6-8.9)	4.9 (4.8-5.1)	0.8
Mechanical ventilator, DUR	0.32 (0.31-0.34)	0.36 (0.36-0.36)	0.24
VAP rate	44.3 (34.4-56.0)	16.5 (16.1-16.8)	1.1
Urinary catheter, DUR	0.77 (0.74-0.79)	0.62 (0.62-0.62)	0.54
CAUTI rate	5.7 (3.5-8.7)	5.3 (5.2-5.8)	1.3
Antimicrobial resistance % (n)			
Pathogen, antimicrobial	CLABSI (n)	CLABSI	CLABSI
Staphylococcus aureus			
Oxacillin	60% (5)	61.20%	54.60%
Pseudomonas aeruginosa			
Ciprofloxacin	71.4% (7)	37.50%	30.50%
Piperacillin or piperacillin-tazobactam	100% (5)	33.50%	17.40%
Amikacin	71.4% (7)	42.80%	10.00%
Imipenem or meropenem	71.4% (7)	42.40%	26.10%
Klebsiella pneumoniae			
Ceftriaxone or ceftazidime	60% (5)	71.20%	28.80%
Imipenem or meropenem	20% (5)	19.60%	12.80%
Acinetobacter baumanii			
Imipenem or meropenem	100% (2)	66.30%	62.60%

ICU: Intensive care unit; CLABSI: Central line-associated bloodstream infection; VAP: Ventilator-associated pneumonia; CAUTI: Catheter-associated urinary tract infection; DUR: Device use ratio; CI: Confidence interval; INICC: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium; United States CDC/ NSHN: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Healthcare Safety Network of the United States.

INICC reports. Due to the low economic resources of our ICUs, very few cultures were taken, which could have influenced the rates of CLABSI and CAUTI, as they could not be document because they did not fulfill all the United States CDC/NHSN criteria. In addition, the number of patients to whom blood and/or urine cultures should have been taken, but were actually not due to lack of economic resources, is unknown as this data was not registered.

#### Conclusions

The findings of this study highlight that DA-HAIs pose major challenges for public health and the wellbeing of patients in Ecuador. One of INICC's primary goals is to provide health care facilities worldwide with free tools and resources to support the introduction of systematic infection prevention practices in order to address this burden effectively by accomplishing a reduction in DA-HAI rates and their adverse effects.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the many healthcare professionals at each member hospital who assisted with the conduct of surveillance in their hospital; Mariano Vilar and Débora López Burgardt, who work at INICC headquarters in Buenos Aires; the INICC Country Directors and Secretaries (Haifaa Hassan Al-Mousa, Hail Alabdaley, Areej Alshehri, Altaf Ahmed, Carlos A Álvarez-Moreno, Anucha Apisarnthanarak, Bijie Hu, Hakan Leblebicioglu, Yatin Mehta, Toshihiro Mitsuda, and Lul Raka); and the INICC Advisory Board (Carla J Alvarado, Nicholas Graves, William R Jarvis, Patricia Lynch, Dennis Maki, Toshihiro Mitsuda, Cat Murphy, Russell N Olmsted, Didier Pittet, William Rutala, Syed Sattar, and Wing Hong Seto), who have so generously supported this unique international infection control network.

#### COMMENTS

#### Background

The International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) program is focused on surveillance of device-associated healthcare-acquired infections (DA-HAIs) in the intensive care units (ICUs), step down units and general wards, and surveillance of SSIs hospital wide. This particular study was focused on ICUs, because they are the healthcare settings that represent the highest HAI rates, due to patients' critical condition and exposure to invasive devices. Through the last 12 years, INICC has undertaken a global effort in Africa, Eastern Mediterranean, Europe, Latin America, South East Asia and Western Pacific to prevent and control DA-HAIs, and has achieved extremely successful results, by increasing hand hygiene compliance, improving compliance with other infection control bundles and interventions as described in several INICC publications, and consequently reducing the rates of DA-HAI and mortality. To compare a hospital's DA-HAI rates with the rates identified in this report, it is required that the hospital team concerned collect their data by applying the methods and methodology described for United States NHSN and INICC, and then calculate infection rates and DU ratios for the DA-HAI Module.

#### Applications

The particular and primary application of these data is to serve as a guide for the implementation of prevention strategies and other quality improvement efforts in Ecuador for the reduction of DA-HAI rates to the minimum possible level.

#### Peer-review

This is a nice prospective multi-center trial showing similar nosocomial infection



rates in Ecuadorian hospitals as compared with international hospitals.

#### REFERENCES

- Rosenthal VD, Jarvis WR, Jamulitrat S, Silva CP, Ramachandran B, Dueñas L, Gurskis V, Ersoz G, Novales MG, Khader IA, Ammar K, Guzmán NB, Navoa-Ng JA, Seliem ZS, Espinoza TA, Meng CY, Jayatilleke K. Socioeconomic impact on device-associated infections in pediatric intensive care units of 16 limited-resource countries: international Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium findings. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2012; 13: 399-406 [PMID: 22596065 DOI: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e318238b260]
- 2 Rosenthal VD, Lynch P, Jarvis WR, Khader IA, Richtmann R, Jaballah NB, Aygun C, Villamil-Gómez W, Dueñas L, Atencio-Espinoza T, Navoa-Ng JA, Pawar M, Sobreyra-Oropeza M, Barkat A, Mejía N, Yuet-Meng C, Apisarnthanarak A. Socioeconomic impact on device-associated infections in limited-resource neonatal intensive care units: findings of the INICC. Infection 2011; 39: 439-450 [PMID: 21732120 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-011-0136-2]
- Gopal Katherason S, Naing L, Jaalam K, Imran Musa K, Nik 3 Mohamad NA, Aiyar S, Bhojani K, Harussani N, Abdul Rahman A, Ismail A. Ventilator-associated nosocomial pneumonia in intensive care units in Malaysia. J Infect Dev Ctries 2009; 3: 704-710 [PMID: 19858572 DOI: 10.3855/jidc.115]
- 4 Gozu A, Clay C, Younus F. Hospital-wide reduction in central lineassociated bloodstream infections: a tale of two small community hospitals. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2011; 32: 619-622 [PMID: 21558777 DOI: 10.1086/660098]
- Rosenthal VD. International Nosocomial Infection Control 5 Consortium (INICC) resources: INICC multidimensional approach and INICC surveillance online system. Am J Infect Control 2016; 44: e81-e90 [PMID: 26975716 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.01.005]
- 6 Dudeck MA, Edwards JR, Allen-Bridson K, Gross C, Malpiedi PJ, Peterson KD, Pollock DA, Weiner LM, Sievert DM. National Healthcare Safety Network report, data summary for 2013, Deviceassociated Module. Am J Infect Control 2015; 43: 206-221 [PMID: 25575913 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.11.014]
- 7 Horan TC, Andrus M, Dudeck MA. CDC/NHSN surveillance definition of health care-associated infection and criteria for specific types of infections in the acute care setting. Am J Infect Control 2008; 36: 309-332 [PMID: 18538699 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic. 2008.03.002]
- 8 Rosenthal VD, Richtmann R, Singh S, Apisarnthanarak A, Kübler A, Viet-Hung N, Ramírez-Wong FM, Portillo-Gallo JH, Toscani J, Gikas A, Dueñas L, El-Kholy A, Ghazal S, Fisher D, Mitrev Z, Gamar-Elanbya MO, Kanj SS, Arreza-Galapia Y, Leblebicioglu H, Hlinková S, Memon BA, Guanche-Garcell H, Gurskis V, Alvarez-Moreno C, Barkat A, Mejía N, Rojas-Bonilla M, Ristic G, Raka L, Yuet-Meng C. Surgical site infections, International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) report, data summary of 30 countries, 2005-2010. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2013; 34: 597-604 [PMID: 23651890 DOI: 10.1086/670626]
- 9 Rosenthal VD, Maki DG, Graves N. The International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC): goals and objectives, description of surveillance methods, and operational activities. Am J Infect Control 2008; 36: e1-12 [PMID: 18992646 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ajic.2008.06.003]
- 10 Rosenthal VD, Guzman S, Crnich C. Impact of an infection control program on rates of ventilator-associated pneumonia in intensive care units in 2 Argentinean hospitals. Am J Infect Control 2006; 34: 58-63 [PMID: 16490607 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2005.11.002]
- Tao L, Hu B, Rosenthal VD, Zhang Y, Gao X, He L. Impact of a 11 multidimensional approach on ventilator-associated pneumonia rates in a hospital of Shanghai: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium. J Crit Care 2012; 27: 440-446 [PMID: 22386222 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2011.12.018]
- 12 Guanche-Garcell H, Morales-Pérez C, Rosenthal VD. Effectiveness of a multidimensional approach for the prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia in an adult intensive care unit in Cuba: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control

Consortium (INICC). J Infect Public Health 2013; 6: 98-107 [PMID: 23537822 DOI: 10.1016/j.jiph.2012.11.009]

- Leblebicioglu H, Yalcin AN, Rosenthal VD, Koksal I, Sirmatel F, 13 Unal S, Turgut H, Ozdemir D, Ersoz G, Uzun C, Ulusoy S, Esen S, Ulger F, Dilek A, Yilmaz H, Turhan O, Gunay N, Gumus E, Dursun O, Yýlmaz G, Kaya S, Ulusoy H, Cengiz M, Yilmaz L, Yildirim G, Topeli A, Sacar S, Sungurtekin H, Uğurcan D, Geyik MF, Şahin A, Erdogan S, Kaya A, Kuyucu N, Arda B, Bacakoglu F. Effectiveness of a multidimensional approach for prevention of ventilatorassociated pneumonia in 11 adult intensive care units from 10 cities of Turkey: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC). Infection 2013; 41: 447-456 [PMID: 23355330 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-013-0407-1]
- 14 Mehta Y, Jaggi N, Rosenthal VD, Rodrigues C, Todi SK, Saini N, Udwadia FE, Karlekar A, Kothari V, Myatra SN, Chakravarthy M, Singh S, Dwivedy A, Sen N, Sahu S. Effectiveness of a multidimensional approach for prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia in 21 adult intensive-care units from 10 cities in India: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC). Epidemiol Infect 2013; 141: 2483-2491 [PMID: 23477492 DOI: 10.1017/S0950268813000381]
- 15 Rosenthal VD, Álvarez-Moreno C, Villamil-Gómez W, Singh S, Ramachandran B, Navoa-Ng JA, Dueñas L, Yalcin AN, Ersoz G, Menco A, Arrieta P, Bran-de Casares AC, de Jesus Machuca L, Radhakrishnan K, Villanueva VD, Tolentino MC, Turhan O, Keskin S, Gumus E, Dursun O, Kaya A, Kuyucu N. Effectiveness of a multidimensional approach to reduce ventilator-associated pneumonia in pediatric intensive care units of 5 developing countries: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium findings. Am J Infect Control 2012; 40: 497-501 [PMID: 22054689 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ajic.2011.08.005]
- Rosenthal VD, Rodríguez-Calderón ME, Rodríguez-Ferrer M, Singhal T, Pawar M, Sobreyra-Oropeza M, Barkat A, Atencio-Espinoza T, Berba R, Navoa-Ng JA, Dueñas L, Ben-Jaballah N, Ozdemir D, Ersoz G, Aygun C. Findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC), Part II: Impact of a multidimensional strategy to reduce ventilator-associated pneumonia in neonatal intensive care units in 10 developing countries. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2012; 33: 704-710 [PMID: 22669232 DOI: 10.1086/666342]
- 17 Rosenthal VD, Ramachandran B, Villamil-Gómez W, Armas-Ruiz A, Navoa-Ng JA, Matta-Cortés L, Pawar M, Nevzat-Yalcin A, Rodríguez-Ferrer M, Yıldızdaş RD, Menco A, Campuzano R, Villanueva VD, Rendon-Campo LF, Gupta A, Turhan O, Barahona-Guzmán N, Horoz OO, Arrieta P, Brito JM, Tolentino MC, Astudillo Y, Saini N, Gunay N, Sarmiento-Villa G, Gumus E, Lagares-Guzmán A, Dursun O. Impact of a multidimensional infection control strategy on central line-associated bloodstream infection rates in pediatric intensive care units of five developing countries: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC). Infection 2012; 40: 415-423 [PMID: 22371234 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-012-0246-5]
- Rosenthal VD, Guzman S, Pezzotto SM, Crnich CJ. Effect of 18 an infection control program using education and performance feedback on rates of intravascular device-associated bloodstream infections in intensive care units in Argentina. Am J Infect Control 2003; **31**: 405-409 [PMID: 14639436 DOI: 10.1067/mic.2003.52]
- 19 Higuera F, Rosenthal VD, Duarte P, Ruiz J, Franco G, Safdar N. The effect of process control on the incidence of central venous catheter-associated bloodstream infections and mortality in intensive care units in Mexico. Crit Care Med 2005: 33: 2022-2027 [PMID: 16148475 DOI: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000178190.89663.E5]
- 20 Jaggi N, Rodrigues C, Rosenthal VD, Todi SK, Shah S, Saini N, Dwivedy A, Udwadia FE, Mehta P, Chakravarthy M, Singh S, Sahu S, Govil D, Hegd A, Kapadia F, Bhakta A, Bhattacharyya M, Singhal T, Naik R, Kothari V, Gupta A, Shetty S, Binu S, Pinto P, Poojary A, Koppikar G, Bhandarkar L, Jadhav S, Chavan N, Bahirune S, Durgad S, Nataraj G, Surase P, Gokul BN, Sukanya R, Pushparaj L, Radhakrishnan K. Impact of an international nosocomial infection control consortium multidimensional approach



on central line-associated bloodstream infection rates in adult intensive care units in eight cities in India. *Int J Infect Dis* 2013; **17**: e1218-e1224 [PMID: 24084244 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2013.07.007]

- 21 Leblebicioglu H, Öztürk R, Rosenthal VD, Akan ÖA, Sirmatel F, Ozdemir D, Uzun C, Turgut H, Ersoz G, Koksal I, Özgültekin A, Esen S, Ulger F, Dilek A, Yilmaz H, Dikmen Y, Aygún G, Tulunay M, Oral M, Ünal N, Cengiz M, Yilmaz L, Geyik MF, Şahin A, Erdogan S, Sacar S, Sungurtekin H, Uğurcan D, Kaya A, Kuyucu N, Yýlmaz G, Kaya S, Ulusoy H, İnan A. Impact of a multidimensional infection control approach on central line-associated bloodstream infections rates in adult intensive care units of 8 cities of Turkey: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC). Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob 2013; 12: 10 [PMID: 23641950 DOI: 10.1186/1476-0711-12-10]
- 22 Rosenthal VD, Guzman S, Safdar N. Effect of education and performance feedback on rates of catheter-associated urinary tract infection in intensive care units in Argentina. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2004; 25: 47-50 [PMID: 14756219 DOI: 10.1086/502291]
- 23 Leblebicioglu H, Ersoz G, Rosenthal VD, Yalcin AN, Akan OA, Sirmatel F, Turgut H, Ozdemir D, Alp E, Uzun C, Ulusoy S, Esen S, Ulger F, Dilek A, Yilmaz H, Kaya A, Kuyucu N, Turhan O, Gunay N, Gumus E, Dursun O, Tulunay M, Oral M, Unal N, Cengiz M, Yilmaz L, Sacar S, Sungurtekin H, Uğurcan D, Geyik MF, Sahin A, Erdogan S, Aygen B, Arda B, Bacakoglu F. Impact of a multidimensional infection control approach on catheter-associated urinary tract infection rates in adult intensive care units in 10 cities of Turkey: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium findings (INICC). *Am J Infect Control* 2013; **41**: 885-891 [PMID: 23623158 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2013.01.028]
- 24 Kanj SS, Zahreddine N, Rosenthal VD, Alamuddin L, Kanafani Z, Molaeb B. Impact of a multidimensional infection control approach on catheter-associated urinary tract infection rates in an adult intensive care unit in Lebanon: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) findings. *Int J Infect Dis* 2013; 17: e686-e690 [PMID: 23490089 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2013.01.020]
- 25 Navoa-Ng JA, Berba R, Rosenthal VD, Villanueva VD, Tolentino MC, Genuino GA, Consunji RJ, Mantaring JB. Impact of an International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium multi-dimensional approach on catheter-associated urinary tract infections in adult intensive care units in the Philippines: International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) findings. J Infect Public Health 2013; 6: 389-399 [PMID: 23999340 DOI: 10.1016/j.jiph.2013.03.002]
- Rosenthal VD, Maki DG, Mehta Y, Leblebicioglu H, Memish ZA, 26 Al-Mousa HH, Balkhy H, Hu B, Alvarez-Moreno C, Medeiros EA, Apisarnthanarak A, Raka L, Cuellar LE, Ahmed A, Navoa-Ng JA, El-Kholy AA, Kanj SS, Bat-Erdene I, Duszynska W, Van Truong N, Pazmino LN, See-Lum LC, Fernández-Hidalgo R, Di-Silvestre G, Zand F, Hlinkova S, Belskiy V, Al-Rahma H, Luque-Torres MT, Bayraktar N, Mitrev Z, Gurskis V, Fisher D, Abu-Khader IB, Berechid K, Rodríguez-Sánchez A, Horhat FG, Requejo-Pino O, Hadjieva N, Ben-Jaballah N, García-Mayorca E, Kushner-Dávalos L, Pasic S, Pedrozo-Ortiz LE, Apostolopoulou E, Mejía N, Gamar-Elanbya MO, Jayatilleke K, de Lourdes-Dueñas M, Aguirre-Avalos G. International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) report, data summary of 43 countries for 2007-2012. Deviceassociated module. Am J Infect Control 2014; 42: 942-956 [PMID: 25179325 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.05.029]
- 27 Sievert DM, Ricks P, Edwards JR, Schneider A, Patel J, Srinivasan A, Kallen A, Limbago B, Fridkin S. Antimicrobial-resistant pathogens associated with healthcare-associated infections: summary of data reported to the National Healthcare Safety Network at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009-2010. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2013; 34: 1-14 [PMID: 23221186 DOI: 10.1086/668770]

- 28 Moreno CA, Rosenthal VD, Olarte N, Gomez WV, Sussmann O, Agudelo JG, Rojas C, Osorio L, Linares C, Valderrama A, Mercado PG, Bernate PH, Vergara GR, Pertuz AM, Mojica BE, Navarrete Mdel P, Romero AS, Henriquez D. Device-associated infection rate and mortality in intensive care units of 9 Colombian hospitals: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2006; 27: 349-356 [PMID: 16622811 DOI: 10.1086/503341]
- 29 Cuellar LE, Fernandez-Maldonado E, Rosenthal VD, Castaneda-Sabogal A, Rosales R, Mayorga-Espichan MJ, Camacho-Cosavalente LA, Castillo-Bravo LI. Device-associated infection rates and mortality in intensive care units of Peruvian hospitals: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium. *Rev Panam Salud Publica* 2008; 24: 16-24 [PMID: 18764990 DOI: 10.1590/S1020-49892008000700002]
- 30 Salomao R, Rosenthal VD, Grimberg G, Nouer S, Blecher S, Buchner-Ferreira S, Vianna R, Maretti-da-Silva MA. Device-associated infection rates in intensive care units of Brazilian hospitals: findings of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium. *Rev Panam Salud Publica* 2008; 24: 195-202 [PMID: 19115547 DOI: 10.1590/S1020-49892008000900006]
- 31 Rosenthal VD, Maki DG, Salomao R, Moreno CA, Mehta Y, Higuera F, Cuellar LE, Arikan OA, Abouqal R, Leblebicioglu H. Device-associated nosocomial infections in 55 intensive care units of 8 developing countries. *Ann Intern Med* 2006; 145: 582-591 [PMID: 17043340 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-8-200610170-00007]
- 32 Salmon S, Pittet D, Sax H, McLaws ML. The 'My five moments for hand hygiene' concept for the overcrowded setting in resourcelimited healthcare systems. *J Hosp Infect* 2015; 91: 95-99 [PMID: 25997803 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2015.04.011]
- 33 Pan American Health Organization, Health Information and Analysis Unit. Regional Core Health Data Initiative. Washington DC, 2015
- 34 Rosenthal VD, Pawar M, Leblebicioglu H, Navoa-Ng JA, Villamil-Gómez W, Armas-Ruiz A, Cuéllar LE, Medeiros EA, Mitrev Z, Gikas A, Yang Y, Ahmed A, Kanj SS, Dueñas L, Gurskis V, Mapp T, Guanche-Garcell H, Fernández-Hidalgo R, Kübler A. Impact of the International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) multidimensional hand hygiene approach over 13 years in 51 cities of 19 limited-resource countries from Latin America, Asia, the Middle East, and Europe. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2013; 34: 415-423 [PMID: 23466916 DOI: 10.1086/669860]
- 35 Rosenthal VD, Maki DG, Rodrigues C, Alvarez-Moreno C, Leblebicioglu H, Sobreyra-Oropeza M, Berba R, Madani N, Medeiros EA, Cuéllar LE, Mitrev Z, Dueñas L, Guanche-Garcell H, Mapp T, Kanj SS, Fernández-Hidalgo R. Impact of International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) strategy on central line-associated bloodstream infection rates in the intensive care units of 15 developing countries. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2010; **31**: 1264-1272 [PMID: 21029008 DOI: 10.1086/657140]
- Rosenthal VD, Al-Abdely HM, El-Kholy AA, AlKhawaja SA, 36 Leblebicioglu H, Mehta Y, Rai V, Hung NV, Kanj SS, Salama MF, Salgado-Yepez E, Elahi N, Morfin Otero R, Apisarnthanarak A, De Carvalho BM, Ider BE, Fisher D, Buenaflor MC, Petrov MM, Quesada-Mora AM, Zand F, Gurskis V, Anguseva T, Ikram A, Aguilar de Moros D, Duszynska W, Mejia N, Horhat FG, Belskiv V. Miolievic V. Di Silvestre G. Furova K. Ramos-Ortiz GY, Gamar Elanbya MO, Satari HI, Gupta U, Dendane T, Raka L, Guanche-Garcell H, Hu B, Padgett D, Jayatilleke K, Ben Jaballah N, Apostolopoulou E, Prudencio Leon WE, Sepulveda-Chavez A, Telechea HM, Trotter A, Alvarez-Moreno C, Kushner-Davalos L. International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium report, data summary of 50 countries for 2010-2015: Device-associated module. Am J Infect Control 2016; 44: 1495-1504 [PMID: 27742143 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.08.007]

P- Reviewer: Gonzalez-Reimers E, Rodricks MB S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Li D




## Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com

